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Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

For purposes of this Quarterly report, the terms “Oracle,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Oracle Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. This Quarterly report on
Form 10-Q contains statements that are not historical in nature, are predictive in nature, or that depend upon or refer to future events or conditions or otherwise contain
forward-looking  statements  within  the meaning  of  Section 21 of  the Securities  Exchange Act  of  1934,  as  amended,  and the Private  Securities  Litigation reform Act  of
1995. These include, among other things, statements regarding:

  • the possible impact of the russia-Ukraine situation on our business, including our belief that our profitability and the generation of positive cash
flow from our operations will not be jeopardized by the current situation;

  • our expectations regarding the impacts on our business as a result of the global COVID-19 pandemic;

  • our expectation that we may acquire companies, products, services and technologies to further our corporate strategy as compelling opportunities
become available;

  • our expectations regarding the proposed acquisition of Cerner Corporation;

  • our expectation that, on a constant currency basis, our total cloud and license revenues generally will continue to increase due to expected growth
in our cloud services and our license support offerings, and continued demand for our cloud license and on-premise license offerings;

  • our expectation that substantially all of our customers will renew their license support contracts annually;

  • our expectation that our hardware business will have lower operating margins as a percentage of revenues than our cloud and license business;

  • our expectation that we will continue to make significant investments in research and development, and our belief that research and development
efforts are essential to maintaining our competitive position;

  • our expectation that our international operations will continue to provide a significant portion of our total revenues and expenses;

  • our expectation that variable expenditures that were curtailed primarily in response to COVID-19 may normalize in future periods provided global
economic and health conditions improve;

  • our  expectation  that  the  proportion  of  our  cloud  services  and  license  support  revenues  relative  to  our  cloud  license  and  on-premise  license
revenues, hardware revenues and services revenues will continue to increase;

  • the  sufficiency  of  our  sources  of  funding  for  working  capital,  capital  expenditures,  contractual  obligations,  acquisitions,  dividends,  stock
repurchases, debt repayments and other matters;

  • our belief that we have adequately provided under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for outcomes related to our tax audits and that the
final outcome of our tax-related examinations, agreements or judicial proceedings will not have a material effect on our results of operations, our
belief that our net deferred tax assets will likely be realized in the foreseeable future, and our expectations regarding the “Build Back Better Act”
budget reconciliation bill;

  • our belief that the outcome of certain legal proceedings and claims to which we are a party will not, individually or in the aggregate, result in losses
that are materially in excess of amounts already recognized, if any;

  • our expectation that certain litigation related charges will not recur;

  • the possibility that certain legal proceedings to which we are a party could have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations;
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  • the timing and amount of expenses we expect to incur;

  • the cost savings we expect to realize pursuant to our Fiscal 2022 Oracle restructuring Plan;

  • declarations of future cash dividend payments and the timing and amount of future stock repurchases, including our expectation that the levels of
our future stock repurchase activity may be modified in comparison to past periods in order to use available cash for other purposes;

  • our expectations regarding the impact of recent accounting pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements;

  • our expectation that,  to the extent  customers  renew support  contracts  or  cloud SaaS and IaaS contracts  from companies  that  we have acquired
prior to fiscal 2022, we will recognize revenues for the full contracts’ values over the respective renewal periods;

  • our ability to predict revenues, particularly certain cloud license and on-premise license revenues and hardware revenues;

  • the percentages of remaining performance obligations that we expect to recognize as revenues over respective future periods;

as well as other statements regarding our future operations, financial condition and prospects, and business strategies. Forward-looking statements may be preceded by,
followed by or include the words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” “strives,” “endeavors,” “estimates,” “will,” “should,” “is designed to”
and similar expressions. we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation reform Act of 1995 for all
forward-looking statements. we have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. These forward-looking
statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about our business that could affect our future results and could cause those results or other outcomes to
differ  materially  from  those  expressed  or  implied  in  the  forward-looking  statements.  Factors  that  might  cause  or  contribute  to  such  differences  include,  but  are  not
limited to, those discussed in “risk Factors” included in documents we file from time to time with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), including our
Annual report on Form 10-k for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2021 and our other Quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed by us in our fiscal 2022, which runs from June 1,
2021 to May 31, 2022.

we have no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or risks, except to the extent
required by applicable securities laws. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will make additional updates with
respect to those or other forward-looking statements. New information, future events or risks could cause the forward-looking events we discuss in this Quarterly report
not to occur. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect our expectations only as of the date of this Quarterly report.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021
(Unaudited)

 

(in millions, except per share data)  
February 28,

2022   
May 31,

2021  
ASSETS         

Current assets:         
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 22,682  $ 30,098 
Marketable securities   707   16,456 
Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $367 and $373 as of February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021, respectively   4,588   5,409 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,698   3,604 

Total current assets   31,675   55,567 
Non-current assets:         

Property, plant and equipment, net   8,609   7,049 
Intangible assets, net   1,688   2,430 
goodwill, net   43,833   43,935 
Deferred tax assets   13,109   13,636 
Other non-current assets   9,730   8,490 

Total non-current assets   76,969   75,540 
Total assets  $ 108,644  $ 131,107 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY         
Current liabilities:         

Notes payable, current  $ 6,248  $ 8,250 
Accounts payable   1,124   745 
Accrued compensation and related benefits   1,626   2,017 
Deferred revenues   7,871   8,775 
Other current liabilities   3,964   4,377 

Total current liabilities   20,833   24,164 
Non-current liabilities:         

Notes payable and other borrowings, non-current   72,165   75,995 
Income taxes payable   12,168   12,345 
Deferred tax liabilities   6,462   7,864 
Other non-current liabilities   5,227   4,787 

Total non-current liabilities   96,022   100,991 
Commitments and contingencies         
Oracle Corporation stockholders’ (deficit) equity:         

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value—authorized: 1.0 shares; outstanding: none   —   — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paid in capital—authorized: 11,000 shares; outstanding: 2,668 shares and 2,814 shares as

of February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021, respectively   26,129   26,533 
Accumulated deficit   (33,147)   (20,120)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (1,678)   (1,175)

Total Oracle Corporation stockholders’ (deficit) equity   (8,696)   5,238 
Noncontrolling interests   485   714 

Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity   (8,211)   5,952 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity  $ 108,644  $ 131,107

 

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Three and Nine Months Ended February 28, 2022 and 2021
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions, except per share data)  2022   2021   2022   2021  

revenues:                 
Cloud services and license support  $ 7,637  $ 7,252  $ 22,562  $ 21,311 
Cloud license and on-premise license   1,289   1,276   3,339   3,254 
hardware   798   820   2,328   2,478 
Services   789   737   2,371   2,209 

Total revenues   10,513   10,085   30,600   29,252 
Operating expenses:                 

Cloud services and license support(1)   1,305   1,064   3,778   3,139 
hardware(1)   244   230   718   719 
Services   669   621   1,984   1,875 
Sales and marketing(1)   2,004   1,915   5,811   5,605 
research and development   1,816   1,621   5,254   4,812 
general and administrative   335   330   953   949 
Amortization of intangible assets   279   347   882   1,037 
Acquisition related and other   20   13   4,707   107 
restructuring   19   66   89   337 

Total operating expenses   6,691   6,207   24,176   18,580 
Operating income   3,822   3,878   6,424   10,672 
Interest expense   (667)   (585)   (2,051)   (1,799)
Non-operating expenses, net   (315)   (17)   (348)   (30)
Income before income taxes   2,840   3,276   4,025   8,843 
(Provision for) benefit from income taxes   (521)   1,745   (497)   871 
Net income  $ 2,319  $ 5,021  $ 3,528  $ 9,714 
Earnings per share:                 

Basic  $ 0.87  $ 1.72  $ 1.30  $ 3.26 
Diluted  $ 0.84  $ 1.68  $ 1.26  $ 3.19 

weighted average common shares outstanding:                 
Basic   2,670   2,913   2,711   2,977 
Diluted   2,754   2,994   2,800   3,049

 

 

(1) Exclusive of amortization of intangible assets, which is shown separately.
 

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Three and Nine Months Ended February 28, 2022 and 2021
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021    2022   2021  

Net income  $ 2,319  $ 5,021   $ 3,528  $ 9,714 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:                  

Net foreign currency translation (losses) gains   (63)   132    (508)   504 
Net unrealized gains on defined benefit plans   1   10    5   66 
Net unrealized losses on marketable securities   —   (4)    —   (1)
Net unrealized losses on cash flow hedges   —   (7)    —   (8)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net   (62)   131    (503)   561 
Comprehensive income  $ 2,257  $ 5,152   $ 3,025  $ 10,275

 

 

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

For the Three and Nine Months Ended February 28, 2022 and 2021
(Unaudited)

 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions, except per share data)  2022   2021   2022   2021  

Common stock and additional paid in capital                 
Balance, beginning of period  $ 25,591  $ 26,298  $ 26,533  $ 26,486 
Common stock issued   52   143   357   915 
Stock-based compensation   674   479   1,900   1,395 
repurchases of common stock   (65)   (567)   (1,648)   (1,922)
Other, net   (123)   (92)   (1,013)   (613)
Balance, end of period  $ 26,129  $ 26,261  $ 26,129  $ 26,261 
Accumulated deficit                 
Balance, beginning of period  $ (34,076)  $ (17,095)  $ (20,120)  $ (12,696)
repurchases of common stock   (535)   (3,433)   (13,952)   (11,078)
Cash dividends declared   (855)   (699)   (2,603)   (2,146)
Net income   2,319   5,021   3,528   9,714 
Balance, end of period  $ (33,147)  $ (16,206)  $ (33,147)  $ (16,206)
Other stockholders’ (deficit) equity, net                 
Balance, beginning of period  $ (1,173)  $ (587)  $ (461)  $ (1,073)
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net   (62)   131   (503)   561 
Other, net   42   38   (229)   94 
Balance, end of period  $ (1,193)  $ (418)  $ (1,193)  $ (418)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity  $ (8,211)  $ 9,637  $ (8,211)  $ 9,637 
Cash dividends declared per common share  $ 0.32  $ 0.24  $ 0.96  $ 0.72

 

 

 
 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Nine Months Ended February 28, 2022 and 2021
(Unaudited)

 

   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021  
Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net income  $ 3,528  $ 9,714 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation   1,409   1,127 
Amortization of intangible assets   882   1,037 
Deferred income taxes   (983)   (2,475)
Stock-based compensation   1,900   1,395 
Other, net   82   227 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:         

Decrease in trade receivables, net   652   1,089 
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets   71   609 
Decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities   (683)   (247)
Decrease in income taxes payable   (661)   (1,181)
Decrease in deferred revenues   (643)   (250)

Net cash provided by operating activities   5,554   11,045 
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Purchases of marketable securities and other investments   (10,134)   (26,775)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities and other investments   25,735   19,035 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (132)   (29)
Capital expenditures   (3,088)   (1,418)

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities   12,381   (9,187)
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Payments for repurchases of common stock   (15,654)   (12,958)
Proceeds from issuances of common stock   357   915 
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings upon vesting of restricted stock-based awards   (1,011)   (597)
Payments of dividends to stockholders   (2,603)   (2,146)
repayments of borrowings   (5,750)   (2,631)
Other, net   (439)   241 

Net cash used for financing activities   (25,100)   (17,176)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (251)   400 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (7,416)   (14,918)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   30,098   37,239 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 22,682  $ 22,321 
Non-cash financing activities:         

Change in unsettled repurchases of common stock  $ (54)  $ 42
 

 
 

 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

February 28, 2022
(Unaudited)

 

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS AND OTHER

Basis of Presentation

we  have  prepared  the  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  included  herein  pursuant  to  the  rules  and  regulations  of  the  U.S.  Securities  and  Exchange
Commission  (SEC).  Certain  information  and  footnote  disclosures  normally  included  in  financial  statements  prepared  in  accordance  with  U.S.  generally  accepted
accounting principles (gAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. however, we believe that the disclosures herein are adequate to
ensure  the  information  presented  is  not  misleading.  These  unaudited  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  should  be  read  in  conjunction  with  the  audited
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2021.

we believe that all necessary adjustments, which consisted only of normal recurring items, have been included in the accompanying financial statements to present fairly
the results of the interim periods. The results of operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the operating results to be expected for any
subsequent interim period or for our fiscal year ending May 31, 2022.

The comparability of our condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the nine months ended February 28, 2022 was impacted by $4.7 billion of certain
litigation related charges that are more fully described in Note 11 below. The comparability of our condensed consolidated financial statements for the three and nine
months ended February 28, 2021 was impacted by a $2.3 billion net income tax benefit related to the partial realignment of our legal entity structure that resulted in the
intra-group transfer of certain intellectual property rights (refer to Notes 1 and 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual report on Form
10-k for the year ended May 31, 2021 for additional information).

During the first nine months of fiscal 2022, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes; and ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers, neither of which had a
material  impact  to  our  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  as  of  and  for  the  nine  months  ended  February  28,  2022.  There  have  been  no  changes  to  our
significant accounting policies as disclosed in our Annual  report on Form 10-k for the fiscal  year ended May 31,  2021 that had a significant impact on our condensed
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto as of and for the nine months ended February 28, 2022.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

restricted cash that was included within cash and cash equivalents as presented within our condensed consolidated balance sheets as of February 28, 2022 and May 31,
2021 and our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine months ended February 28, 2022 and 2021 was nominal.

Remaining Performance Obligations from Contracts with Customers

Trade  receivables,  net  of  allowance  for  doubtful  accounts,  and  deferred  revenues  are  reported  net  of  related  uncollected  deferred  revenues  in  our  condensed
consolidated  balance  sheets  as  of  February  28,  2022  and  May  31,  2021.  The  revenues  recognized  during  the  nine  months  ended  February  28,  2022  and  2021,
respectively, that were included in the opening deferred revenues balances as of May 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, were approximately $8.1 billion and $7.4 billion,
respectively. revenues recognized from performance obligations satisfied in prior periods and impairment losses recognized on our receivables were immaterial in each
of the three and nine months ended February 28, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

remaining performance obligations, as defined in Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal year
ended May 31, 2021, were $38.5 billion as of February 28,
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

February 28, 2022
(Unaudited)

 

2022, approximately 59% of which we expect to recognize as revenues over the next twelve months, 30% over the subsequent month 13 to month 36, and the remainder
thereafter.

Sales of Financing Receivables

we offer certain of our customers the option to acquire certain of our cloud and license, hardware and services offerings through separate long-term payment contracts.
we  generally  sell  these  contracts  that  we  have  financed  for  our  customers  on  a  non-recourse  basis  to  financial  institutions  within  90  days  of  the  contracts’  dates  of
execution.  we  record  the  transfers  of  amounts  due  from  customers  to  financial  institutions  as  sales  of  financing  receivables  because  we  are  considered  to  have
surrendered control of these financing receivables. Financing receivables sold to financial institutions were $352 million and $1.4 billion for the three and nine months
ended February 28, 2022, respectively, and $338 million and $1.3 billion for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2021, respectively.

Non-Marketable Investments

Our non-marketable  debt  investments  and equity  securities  and related instruments  totaled $1.3  billion and $971 million as  of  February  28,  2022 and May 31,  2021,
respectively, and are included either in other current assets or in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are subject to periodic
impairment reviews. Certain of these instruments are adjusted for observable price changes from orderly transactions. The substantial majority of the non-marketable
debt  investments  and  equity  securities  and  related  instruments  held  as  of  these  dates  were  with  a  related  party  entity  for  which  we  follow  the  equity  method  of
accounting.  we are also a  counterparty  to certain  options to acquire  additional  equity  interests  in  that  entity  at  various times through December 2023 and we could
obtain control of that entity should such options be exercised.

Acquisition Related and Other Expenses

Acquisition  related  and  other  expenses  consist  of  personnel  related  costs  for  transitional  and  certain  other  employees,  certain  business  combination  adjustments,
including adjustments after the measurement period has ended, and certain other operating items, net. For the nine months ended February 28, 2022, acquisition related
and other expenses included certain litigation related charges that we generally do not expect to recur as further described in Note 11 below.
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021    2022   2021  

Transitional and other employee related costs  $ 2  $ 1   $ 6  $ 4 
Business combination adjustments, net   5   2    8   3 
Other, net   13   10    4,693   100 

Total acquisition related and other expenses  $ 20  $ 13   $ 4,707  $ 107
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ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

February 28, 2022
(Unaudited)

 

Non-Operating Expenses, net

Non-operating expenses, net consists primarily of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses, the noncontrolling interests in the net profits of our majority-
owned subsidiaries (primarily Oracle Financial Services Software Limited and Oracle Corporation Japan) and net other income and expenses, including net realized gains
and losses related to all of our investments, net unrealized gains and losses related to the small portion of our investment portfolio related to our deferred compensation
plan,  net  unrealized gains  and losses  related to equity  securities,  losses  attributable  to  equity  method investments,  and non-service  net  periodic  pension income and
losses.
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021    2022   2021  

Interest income  $ 16  $ 23   $ 56  $ 80 
Foreign currency losses, net   (29)   (18)    (109)   (84)
Noncontrolling interests in income   (42)   (46)    (131)   (127)
Other, net   (260)   24    (164)   101 

Total non-operating expenses, net  $ (315)  $ (17)   $ (348)  $ (30)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Financial Instruments:  In  March  2020,  the  Financial  Accounting  Standards  Board  (FASB)  issued  ASU  2020-04, Reference  Rate  Reform  (Topic  848):  Facilitation  of  the
Effects  of  Reference  Rate  Reform on Financial  Reporting and  also  issued  subsequent  amendments  to  the  initial  guidance  (collectively,  Topic  848).  Topic  848  provides
optional guidance for contract modifications and certain hedging relationships associated with the transition from reference rates that are expected to be discontinued.
we will adopt Topic 848 when our relevant contracts are modified upon transition to alternative reference rates and expect this to occur through December 31, 2022. we
do not expect our adoption of Topic 848 to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
 

2. ACQUISITIONS

Proposed Acquisition of Cerner Corporation

On  December  20,  2021,  we  entered  into  an  Agreement  and  Plan  of  Merger  (Merger  Agreement)  with  Cerner  Corporation  (Cerner),  a  provider  of  digital  information
systems used within hospitals and health systems that are designed to enable medical professionals to deliver better healthcare to individual patients and communities.

On January 19, 2022, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, we commenced a tender offer to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Cerner
at a purchase price of $95.00 per share, net to the seller in cash, without interest thereon, based upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Offer to
Purchase (Offer) dated January 19, 2022, and the related Letter of Transmittal. The tender offer period is scheduled to expire on March 16, 2022; however, the parties
anticipate extending the tender offer period to allow additional time for the satisfaction of the remaining conditions to the tender offer. The consummation of the Offer is
subject to the valid tender of a majority of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Cerner shares. On February 23, 2022, the waiting period expired under the
hart-Scott-rodino  Antitrust  Improvements  Act  of  1976,  as  amended,  but  the  consummation  of  the  Offer  remains  conditioned  on:  (i)  receipt  of  certain  regulatory
approvals  and,  if  applicable,  approval  under  certain  other  foreign  antitrust  laws;  and  (ii)  other  customary  conditions.  After  the  consummation  of  the  Offer  and  the
satisfaction  of  certain  conditions,  a  wholly-owned  subsidiary  of  Oracle  will  merge  with  and  into  Cerner.  In  addition,  the  unvested  equity  awards  to  acquire  Cerner
common stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the consummation of the merger will generally be assumed by Oracle and
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converted into equity awards denominated in shares of Oracle common stock based on formulas contained in the Merger Agreement. Vested equity awards outstanding
immediately prior to the consummation of the merger generally will be cancelled in exchange for the right to receive an amount in cash based on a formula contained in
the Merger Agreement. The preliminary estimated total purchase price for Cerner is approximately $28.5 billion.

Other Fiscal 2022 and 2021 Acquisitions

During  the first  nine  months  of  fiscal  2022 and full  year  fiscal  2021,  we acquired certain  other  companies  and purchased certain  technology  and development  assets
primarily to expand our products and services offerings. These acquisitions were not significant individually or in the aggregate to our condensed consolidated financial
statements.
 
 

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

we perform fair value measurements in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value Measurement. ASC 820 defines fair value as the
price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. when
determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at their fair values, we consider the principal or most advantageous market in
which we would transact and consider assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the assets or liabilities, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions
and risk of nonperformance.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring
fair value. An asset’s or a liability’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
ASC 820 establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

  • Level 1:  quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

  • Level 2:  inputs other than Level 1 that are observable,  either directly or indirectly,  such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities,
quoted  prices  for  identical  or  similar  assets  or  liabilities  in  markets  that  are  not  active,  or  other  inputs  that  are  observable  or  can  be  corroborated  by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; or

  • Level 3:  unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are defined above):
 

   February 28, 2022   May 31, 2021  

  
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types       
Fair Value Measurements

Using Input Types      
(in millions)  Level 1   Level 2   Total   Level 1   Level 2   Total  

Assets:                         
Money market funds  $ 12,877  $ —  $ 12,877  $ 12,263  $ —  $ 12,263 
Corporate debt securities and other   275   440   715   1,250   8,220   9,470 
Commercial paper debt securities   —   —   —   —   11,712   11,712 
Derivative financial instruments   —   —   —   —   73   73 

Total assets  $ 13,152  $ 440  $ 13,592  $ 13,513  $ 20,005  $ 33,518 
Liabilities:                         

Derivative financial instruments  $ —  $ 33  $ 33  $ —  $ —  $ —
 

 

we classify our marketable debt securities as available-for-sale securities at the time of purchase and reevaluate such classification as of each balance sheet date. Our
marketable  securities  investments  consist  of  money  market  funds,  Tier  1  commercial  paper  debt  securities,  corporate  debt  securities  and  certain  other  securities.
Marketable securities as presented per our condensed consolidated balance sheets included debt securities with original maturities at the time of purchase greater than
three months and the remainder of the debt securities were included in cash and cash equivalents. As of February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021, substantially all of our
marketable debt securities investments mature within one year. Our valuation techniques used to measure the fair values of our instruments that were classified as Level
1 in  the table above were derived from quoted market  prices and active markets for  these instruments  that  exist.  Our valuation techniques used to measure the fair
values  of  Level  2  instruments  listed  in  the  table  above  were  derived  from the  following:  non-binding  market  consensus  prices  that  were  corroborated  by  observable
market  data,  quoted  market  prices  for  similar  instruments,  or  pricing  models,  such  as  discounted  cash  flow  techniques,  with  all  significant  inputs  derived  from  or
corroborated by observable market data including reference rate yield curves, among others.

Based on the trading prices of the $78.4 billion and $84.2 billion of senior notes and the related fair value hedges that we had outstanding as of February 28, 2022 and
May 31, 2021, respectively, the estimated fair values of the senior notes and the related fair value hedges using Level 2 inputs at February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021
were $76.6 billion and $89.6 billion, respectively.
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

The changes in intangible assets for fiscal 2022 and the net book value of intangible assets as of February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021 were as follows:
 

   Intangible Assets, Gross   Accumulated Amortization   Intangible Assets, Net   
Weighted
Average
Useful
Life(2)

 

(Dollars in millions)  
May 31,

2021   
Additions &

Adjustments, net(1)    
February 28,

2022   
May 31,

2021   Expense   
February 28,

2022   
May 31,

2021   
February 28,

2022    
Developed technology  $ 4,237   $ 145   $ 4,382   $ (3,621 )  $ (364 )  $ (3,985 )  $ 616   $ 397    3  
Cloud services and license support agreements and related

relationships   5,497    (5 )   5,492    (3,834 )   (455 )   (4,289 )   1,663    1,203   N.A.  
Other   1,269    —   1,269    (1,118 )   (63)   (1,181 )   151    88   N.A.  

Total intangible assets, net  $ 11,003   $ 140   $ 11,143   $ (8,573 )  $ (882 )  $ (9,455 )  $ 2,430   $ 1,688     
 

 

(1) Amounts also included any changes in intangible asset balances for the periods presented that resulted from foreign currency translations.
(2) represents weighted-average useful lives (in years) of intangible assets acquired during fiscal 2022.

As of February 28, 2022, estimated future amortization expenses related to intangible assets were as follows (in millions):
 
remainder of fiscal 2022  $ 267 
Fiscal 2023   744 
Fiscal 2024   501 
Fiscal 2025   142 
Fiscal 2026   24 
Fiscal 2027   6 
Thereafter   4 

Total intangible assets, net  $ 1,688
 

 

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill, net, which is generally not deductible for tax purposes, for our operating segments for the nine months ended February
28, 2022 were as follows:
 

(in millions)  Cloud and License   Hardware   Services   Total Goodwill, net  

Balances as of May 31, 2021  $ 39,786  $ 2,367  $ 1,782  $ 43,935 
goodwill adjustments, net(1)   165   —   (267)   (102)

Balances as of February 28, 2022  $ 39,951  $ 2,367  $ 1,515  $ 43,833
 

 

(1) Amounts include any changes in goodwill balances for the period presented that resulted from foreign currency translations and the realignment of an operating segment component.
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5. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES

Fiscal 2022 Oracle Restructuring Plan

During fiscal 2022, our management approved, committed to and initiated plans to restructure and further improve efficiencies in our operations due to our acquisitions
and certain  other  operational  activities  (2022 restructuring  Plan).  The total  estimated restructuring  costs  associated with the 2022 restructuring  Plan are  up to $353
million and will be recorded to the restructuring expense line item within our condensed consolidated statements of operations as they are incurred. we recorded $117
million  of  restructuring  expenses  in  connection  with  the  2022  restructuring  Plan  in  the  first  nine  months  of  fiscal  2022  and  we  expect  to  incur  the  majority  of  the
estimated remaining $236 million through the end of fiscal 2023. Any changes to the estimates or timing of executing the 2022 restructuring Plan will be reflected in our
future results of operations.

Summary of All Plans
 

   
Accrued
May 31,
2021(2)

  Nine Months Ended February 28, 2022   
Accrued

February 28,
2022(2)

  Total
Costs

Accrued
to Date

  Total
Expected
Program

Costs

 

(in millions)     
Initial

Costs(3)    
Adj. to
Cost(4)    

Cash
Payments   Others(5)          

2022 Restructuring Plan(1)                                 
Cloud and license  $ —  $ 69  $ (1)  $ (37)  $ (1)  $ 30  $ 68  $ 247 
hardware   —   7   1   (4)   —   4   8   26 
Services   —   11   —   (5)   —   6   11   37 
Other(6)   —   31   (1)   (19)   1   12   30   43 

Total 2022 restructuring Plan  $ —  $ 118  $ (1)  $ (65)  $ —  $ 52  $ 117  $ 353 
Total other restructuring plans(7)  $ 225  $ —  $ (28)  $ (94)  $ (11)  $ 92         

Total restructuring plans  $ 225  $ 118  $ (29)  $ (159)  $ (11)  $ 144        
 

 

(1) restructuring costs recorded for individual line items primarily related to employee severance costs.
(2) As of February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021, substantially all restructuring liabilities have been recorded in other current liabilities within our condensed consolidated balance sheets.
(3) Costs recorded for the respective restructuring plans during the current period presented.
(4) All plan adjustments were changes in estimates whereby increases and decreases in costs were generally recorded to operating expenses in the period of adjustments.
(5) represents foreign currency translation and certain other adjustments.
(6) represents employee related severance costs for functions that are not included within our operating segments and certain other restructuring costs.
(7) Other restructuring plans presented in the table above included condensed information for other Oracle based plans and other plans associated with certain of our acquisitions whereby we continued to make cash

outlays to settle obligations under these plans during the period presented but for which the periodic impact to our condensed consolidated statements of operations was not significant.
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6. DEFERRED REVENUES

Deferred revenues consisted of the following:
 

(in millions)  
February 28,

2022   
May 31,

2021  

Cloud services and license support  $ 6,911  $ 7,728 
hardware   505   618 
Services   398   399 
Cloud license and on-premise license   57   30 

Deferred revenues, current   7,871   8,775 
Deferred revenues, non-current (in other non-current liabilities)   743   679 

Total deferred revenues  $ 8,614  $ 9,454
 

 

Deferred cloud services and license support revenues and deferred hardware revenues substantially represent customer payments made in advance for cloud or support
contracts  that  are  typically  billed  in  advance  with  corresponding  revenues  generally  being  recognized  ratably  or  based  upon  customer  usage  over  the  respective
contractual periods. Deferred services revenues include prepayments for our services business and revenues for these services are generally recognized as the services
are performed. Deferred cloud license and on-premise license revenues typically resulted from customer payments that related to undelivered products and services or
specified enhancements.
 
 

 

7. STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Common Stock Repurchases

Our Board of  Directors  has approved a program for  us  to repurchase shares of  our  common stock.  On December 9,  2021,  we announced that  our  Board of  Directors
approved an expansion of our stock repurchase program by an additional $10.0 billion. As of February 28, 2022, approximately $10.0 billion remained available for stock
repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase program. we repurchased 177.9 million shares for $15.6 billion during the nine months ended February 28, 2022 (including
0.2 million shares for $13 million that were repurchased but not settled) and 222.2 million shares for $13.0 billion during the nine months ended February 28, 2021 under
the stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activity will depend on factors such as our working capital needs, our
cash  requirements  for  acquisitions  and  dividend  payments,  our  debt  repayment  obligations  or  repurchases  of  our  debt,  our  stock  price,  and  economic  and  market
conditions. Our stock repurchases may be effected from time to time through open market purchases or pursuant to a rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repurchase program
may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.
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Dividends on Common Stock

In March 2022, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.32 per share of our outstanding common stock. The dividend is payable on April 21, 2022
to stockholders of record as of the close of business on April  8,  2022. Future declarations of dividends and the establishment of future record and payment dates are
subject to the final determination of our Board of Directors.

Fiscal 2022 Stock‑‑Based Awards Activity and Compensation Expense

During the first nine months of fiscal 2022, we issued 58 million restricted stock-based units (rSUs), the significant majority of which were issued as a part of our annual
stock-based award process and are subject to service-based vesting restrictions. These fiscal 2022 stock-based award issuances were partially offset by stock-based award
forfeitures and cancellations of 7 million shares during the first nine months of fiscal 2022.

The rSUs that were granted during the nine months ended February 28, 2022 have similar vesting restrictions and contractual lives and were valued using methodologies
of a similar nature as those described in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal year ended May
31, 2021.

Further, during the first nine months of fiscal 2022, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors approved an amendment to the terms of the performance-
based stock options (PSOs) granted on July 20, 2017 to our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technology Officer. The amendment extends the term of the performance
period for each of the six tranches of the PSOs that require the attainment of both a performance metric and a market capitalization metric by three additional fiscal
years from May 31, 2022 to May 31, 2025. A seventh PSO tranche that was based upon a market-based metric was achieved and accordingly the tranche vested in the
first nine months of fiscal 2022 without any amendment. If any of the remaining operational and market capitalization performance goals are achieved before May 31,
2025  additional  tranches  may vest.  Upon amendment,  we estimated the  revised  fair  values  of  the  six  unvested  tranches  of  the  PSOs  using  a  Monte  Carlo  simulation
approach.  we are recognizing incremental  stock-based compensation expense related to these amended awards for  any of  the remaining unvested tranches that  are
probable of achievement over the longer of the (a) estimated implicit service period for performance-metric achievement, or (b) derived service period for market-based
metric achievement. we have preliminarily estimated service periods for those tranches that have been deemed probable of achievement as of the amendment date to
be approximately three to four years.

Stock-based compensation expense is included in the following operating expense line items in our condensed consolidated statements of operations:
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021   2022   2021  

Cloud services and license support  $ 55  $ 33  $ 145  $ 99 
hardware   4   2   11   8 
Services   17   15   49   41 
Sales and marketing   113   82   328   233 
research and development   421   307   1,188   897 
general and administrative   64   40   179   117 

Total stock-based compensation  $ 674  $ 479  $ 1,900  $ 1,395
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8. INCOME TAXES

Our effective tax rates for each of the periods presented are the result of the mix of income and losses earned in various tax jurisdictions that apply a broad range of
income  tax  rates.  Our  (provision  for)  benefit  from  income  taxes  varied  from  that  computed  at  the  U.S.  federal  statutory  income  tax  rate  for  the  periods  presented
primarily due to earnings in foreign operations, state taxes, the U.S. research and development tax credit, settlements with tax authorities, the tax effects of stock-based
compensation, the Foreign Derived Intangible Income deduction and the tax effect of global Intangible Low-Taxed Income. In addition, for the three and nine months
ended February 28, 2021, our benefit from income taxes varied from the tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily due to a total net deferred
tax benefit of $2.3 billion as a result of a partial realignment of our legal entity structure that resulted in the intra-group transfer of certain intellectual property rights
(refer  to  Notes  1  and  14  in  Notes  to  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  included  in  our  Annual  report  on  Form 10-k  for  the  year  ended  May  31,  2021  for  additional
information). Our effective tax rates were 18.4% and 12.3% for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2022, respectively, and our effective tax benefit rates were
(53.3%) and (9.8%) for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2021, respectively. 

In November 2021, the U.S. house of representatives passed the “Build Back Better Act” budget reconciliation bill (the Bill). To date, the Bill has failed to advance in the
Senate.  If  the  Bill  as  currently  drafted  (or  a  modified  version  containing  similar  revenue  provisions)  were  enacted,  it  would  substantially  increase  U.S.  taxes  on
corporations, including, among other changes, raising the level of U.S. tax on profits earned outside the U.S. and further restricting the deductibility of interest expense.
Such changes, if enacted, likely would have a material adverse impact on our future tax liabilities and consolidated financial results.

Our net deferred tax assets were $6.6 billion and $5.8 billion as of February 28, 2022 and May 31, 2021, respectively. we believe that it is more likely than not that the
net deferred tax assets will be realized in the foreseeable future. realization of our net deferred tax assets is dependent upon our generation of sufficient taxable income
in future years in appropriate tax jurisdictions to obtain benefit from the reversal of temporary differences, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards.
The amount of net deferred tax assets considered realizable is subject to adjustment in future periods if estimates of future taxable income change.

Domestically, U.S. federal and state taxing authorities are currently examining income tax returns of Oracle and various acquired entities for years through fiscal 2020.
Our U.S. federal income tax returns have been examined for all years prior to fiscal 2010 and, with some exceptions, we are no longer subject to audit for those periods.
Our U.S. state income tax returns, with some exceptions, have been examined for all years prior to fiscal 2007, and we are no longer subject to audit for those periods.

Internationally,  tax  authorities  for  numerous  non-U.S.  jurisdictions  are  also  examining  returns  affecting  our  unrecognized  tax  benefits.  with  some exceptions,  we  are
generally no longer subject to tax examinations in non-U.S. jurisdictions for years prior to fiscal 2001.

we are under audit  by the IrS and various other domestic  and foreign tax authorities  with regards to income tax and indirect  tax matters and are involved in various
challenges and litigation in a number of countries, including, in particular, Australia, Brazil, Canada, India, Indonesia, Israel, Italy, Mexico, New zealand, Pakistan, Saudi
Arabia, South korea and Spain, where the amounts under controversy are significant. In some, although not all, cases, we have reserved for potential adjustments to our
provision for income taxes and accrual of indirect taxes that may result from examinations by, or any negotiated agreements with, these tax authorities or final outcomes
in judicial proceedings, and we believe that the final outcome of these examinations, agreements or judicial proceedings will not have a material effect on our results of
operations. If events occur which indicate payment of these amounts is unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities would result in the recognition of benefits in the period
we determine
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the  liabilities  are  no  longer  necessary.  If  our  estimates  of  the  federal,  state,  and  foreign  income  tax  liabilities  and  indirect  tax  liabilities  are  less  than  the  ultimate
assessment, it could result in a further charge to expense.

we believe that we have adequately provided under gAAP for outcomes related to our tax audits. however, there can be no assurances as to the possible outcomes or
any related financial statement effect thereof.
 
 

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise
about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to
allocate  resources  and  in  assessing  performance.  Our  chief  operating  decision  makers  (CODMs)  are  our  Chief  Executive  Officer  and  Chief  Technology  Officer.  we are
organized by  line  of  business  and geographically.  while  our  CODMs evaluate  results  in  a  number  of  different  ways,  the  line  of  business  management  structure  is  the
primary basis for which the allocation of resources and financial results are assessed. The tabular information below presents financial information that is provided to our
CODMs for their review and assists our CODMs with evaluating the company’s performance and allocating company resources.

we have three businesses—cloud and license, hardware and services—each of which is comprised of a single operating segment. All three of our businesses market and
sell our offerings globally to businesses of many sizes, government agencies, educational institutions and resellers with a worldwide sales force positioned to offer the
combinations that best meet customer needs.

Our cloud and license business engages in the sale, marketing and delivery of our enterprise applications and infrastructure technologies through cloud and on-premise
deployment models including our cloud services and license support offerings; and our cloud license and on-premise license offerings. Cloud services and license support
revenues are generated from offerings that are typically contracted with customers directly, billed to customers in advance, delivered to customers over time with our
revenue  recognition  occurring  over  the  contractual  terms,  and  renewed  by  customers  upon  completion  of  the  contractual  terms.  Cloud  services  and  license  support
contracts provide customers with access to the latest updates to the applications and infrastructure technologies as they become available and for which the customer
contracted  and  also  include  related  technical  support  services  over  the  contractual  term.  Cloud  license  and  on-premise  license  revenues  represent  fees  earned  from
granting customers licenses, generally on a perpetual basis, to use our database and middleware and our applications software products within cloud and on-premise IT
environments. we generally recognize revenues at the point in time the software is made available to the customer to download and use, which typically is immediate
upon signature of the license contract. In each fiscal year, our cloud and license business’ contractual activities are typically highest in our fourth fiscal quarter and the
related cash flows are typically highest in the following quarter (i.e., in the first fiscal quarter of the next fiscal year) as we receive payments from these contracts.

Our  hardware  business  provides  infrastructure  technologies  including  Oracle  Engineered  Systems,  servers,  storage,  industry-specific  hardware,  operating  systems,
virtualization,  management  and  other  hardware-related  software  to  support  diverse  IT  environments.  Our  hardware  business  also  offers  hardware  support,  which
provides customers with software updates for the software components that are essential to the functionality of their hardware products and can also include product
repairs, maintenance services and technical support services that are typically delivered and recognized ratably over the contractual term.
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Our  services  business  provides  services  to  customers  and  partners  to  help  maximize  the  performance  of  their  investments  in  Oracle  applications  and  infrastructure
technologies.

we do not track our assets for each business. Consequently, it is not practical to show assets by operating segment.

The following table presents summary results for each of our three businesses:
 

  
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021   2022   2021  

Cloud and license:                 
revenues(1)  $ 8,926  $ 8,529  $ 25,901  $ 24,567 
Cloud services and license support expenses   1,231   1,011   3,568   2,977 
Sales and marketing expenses   1,760   1,694   5,083   4,947 
Margin(2)  $ 5,935  $ 5,824  $ 17,250  $ 16,643 

hardware:                 
revenues  $ 798  $ 820  $ 2,328  $ 2,478 
hardware products and support expenses   237   223   696   698 
Sales and marketing expenses   88   95   265   287 
Margin(2)  $ 473  $ 502  $ 1,367  $ 1,493 

Services:                 
revenues  $ 789  $ 737  $ 2,371  $ 2,209 
Services expenses   633   587   1,873   1,767 
Margin(2)  $ 156  $ 150  $ 498  $ 442 

Totals:                 
revenues(1)  $ 10,513  $ 10,086  $ 30,600  $ 29,254 
Expenses   3,949   3,610   11,485   10,676 
Margin(2)  $ 6,564  $ 6,476  $ 19,115  $ 18,578

 

 

(1) Cloud and license revenues and total revenues presented for management reporting for the fiscal 2021 periods presented included revenues related to cloud and license obligations that would have otherwise
been  recorded  by  the  acquired  businesses  as  independent  entities  but  were  not  recognized  in  our  condensed  consolidated  statements  of  operations  due  to  business  combination  accounting  rules  that  were
applicable to acquisitions closed prior to fiscal 2022. The table below provides a reconciliation of our total operating segment revenues to our total revenues as reported in our condensed consolidated statements
of operations for all periods presented.

(2) The margins reported reflect only the direct controllable costs of each line of business and do not include allocations of research and development, general and administrative and certain other allocable expenses,
net. Additionally, the margins reported above do not reflect amortization of intangible assets, acquisition related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, stock-based compensation, interest expense or certain
other non-operating expenses, net.
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The following table reconciles total operating segment revenues to total revenues as well as total operating segment margin to income before income taxes:
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021   2022   2021  

Total revenues for operating segments  $ 10,513  $ 10,086  $ 30,600  $ 29,254 
Cloud and license revenues(1)   —   (1)   —   (2)

Total revenues  $ 10,513  $ 10,085  $ 30,600  $ 29,252
 

Total margin for operating segments  $ 6,564  $ 6,476  $ 19,115  $ 18,578 
Cloud and license revenues(1)   —   (1)   —   (2)
research and development   (1,816)   (1,621)   (5,254)   (4,812)
general and administrative   (335)   (330)   (953)   (949)
Amortization of intangible assets   (279)   (347)   (882)   (1,037)
Acquisition related and other   (20)   (13)   (4,707)   (107)
restructuring   (19)   (66)   (89)   (337)
Stock-based compensation for operating segments   (189)   (132)   (533)   (381)
Expense allocations and other, net   (84)   (88)   (273)   (281)
Interest expense   (667)   (585)   (2,051)   (1,799)
Non-operating expenses, net   (315)   (17)   (348)   (30)

Income before income taxes  $ 2,840  $ 3,276  $ 4,025  $ 8,843
 

 

(1) Cloud and license revenues presented for management reporting for the fiscal 2021 periods presented included revenues related to cloud and license obligations that would have otherwise been recorded by the
acquired businesses as independent entities but were not recognized in our condensed consolidated statements of operations due to business combination accounting rules that were applicable to acquisitions
closed prior to fiscal 2022. This table includes a reconciliation of our total operating segment revenues to our total revenues as reported in our condensed consolidated statements of operations for all periods
presented.

Disaggregation of Revenues

we  have  considered  information  that  is  regularly  reviewed  by  our  CODMs  in  evaluating  financial  performance,  and  disclosures  presented  outside  of  our  financial
statements in our earnings releases and used in investor presentations to disaggregate revenues to depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues
and cash flows are affected by economic factors. The principal category we use to disaggregate revenues is the nature of our products and services as presented in our
condensed consolidated statements of operations, the total of which is reconciled to revenues from our reportable segments as per the preceding tables of this footnote.

The following table is a summary of our total revenues by geographic region.
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021    2022   2021  

Americas  $ 5,849  $ 5,424   $ 16,905   $ 15,751 
EMEA(1)   3,014   2,981    8,751    8,571 
Asia Pacific   1,650   1,680    4,944    4,930 

Total revenues  $ 10,513  $ 10,085   $ 30,600   $ 29,252
 

 

(1) Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa
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The following table presents our cloud services and license support revenues by applications and infrastructure ecosystems.
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021    2022   2021  

Applications cloud services and license support  $ 3,187  $ 2,952   $ 9,377   $ 8,669 
Infrastructure cloud services and license support   4,450   4,300    13,185    12,642 

Total cloud services and license support revenues  $ 7,637  $ 7,252   $ 22,562   $ 21,311
 

 
 

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed by dividing net income for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus the dilutive
effect of outstanding restricted stock-based awards, stock options, and shares issuable under the employee stock purchase plan as applicable pursuant to the treasury
stock method. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions, except per share data)  2022   2021    2022   2021  

Net income  $ 2,319  $ 5,021   $ 3,528  $ 9,714 
weighted average common shares outstanding   2,670   2,913    2,711   2,977 
Dilutive effect of employee stock plans   84   81    89   72 
Dilutive weighted average common shares outstanding   2,754   2,994    2,800   3,049 
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.87  $ 1.72   $ 1.30  $ 3.26 
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.84  $ 1.68   $ 1.26  $ 3.19 
Shares subject to anti-dilutive restricted stock-based awards and stock options excluded from

calculation(1)   33   36    32   36
 

 

(1) Substantially all of these weighted shares related to contingently issuable shares pursuant to PSO arrangements that could be dilutive in the future.
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11. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Hewlett-Packard Company Litigation

On June 15, 2011,  hewlett-Packard Company, now hewlett Packard Enterprise Company (hP),  filed a complaint in the California Superior Court,  County of Santa Clara
against Oracle Corporation alleging numerous causes of action including breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, defamation, intentional
interference with prospective economic advantage and violation of the California Unfair Business Practices Act. The complaint alleged that when Oracle announced on
March 22 and 23, 2011 that it would no longer develop future versions of its software to run on hP’s Itanium-based servers, it breached a settlement agreement signed
on  September  20,  2010  (the  hP  Settlement  Agreement),  resolving  litigation  between  hP  and  one  of  Oracle’s  former  CEOs  who  had  previously  acted  as  hP’s  chief
executive officer and chairman of hP’s board of directors. hP sought a judicial declaration of the parties’ rights and obligations under the hP Settlement Agreement and
other equitable and monetary relief. Oracle answered the complaint and filed cross-claims.

After a bench trial on the meaning of the hP Settlement Agreement, the court found that the hP Settlement Agreement required Oracle to continue to develop certain of
its software products for use on hP’s Itanium-based servers at no cost to hP. The case proceeded to a jury trial in May 2016. On June 30, 2016, the jury returned a verdict
in  favor  of  hP  on  its  claims  for  breach  of  contract  and  breach  of  the  implied  covenant  of  good  faith  and  fair  dealing  and  against  Oracle  on  its  cross-claims.  The  jury
awarded hP $3.0 billion in damages. Under the court’s rulings, hP is entitled to post-judgment interest, but not pre-judgment interest, on this award.

After the trial court denied Oracle’s motion for a new trial, Oracle filed a notice of appeal on January 17, 2017. On February 2, 2017, hP filed a notice of appeal of the trial
court’s  denial  of  pre-judgment  interest.  Oral  argument was held on May 27,  2021.  On June 14,  2021,  the Court  of  Appeal  affirmed both the judgment  against  Oracle
noted above, and the denial of pre-judgment interest. On June 29, 2021, Oracle filed a Petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeal, which was denied on July 8, 2021.
On July 26, 2021, Oracle filed a Petition for review with the California Supreme Court, which was denied on September 29, 2021.

During the nine months ended February 28, 2022, Oracle remitted the entirety of the $3.0 billion judgment and related $1.7 billion of accrued post-judgment interest and
awarded costs and recorded such amounts as acquisition related and other expenses as presented per our condensed consolidated statements of operations.

we continue to believe that errors were made in the proceedings. On January 27, 2022, Oracle filed a Petition for a writ of Certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court to
challenge the judgment amount awarded to hP. Litigation is inherently unpredictable, and the outcome of any actions we pursue related to this action is uncertain.

Derivative Litigation Concerning Oracle’s NetSuite Acquisition

On May 3 and July 18, 2017, two alleged stockholders filed separate derivative lawsuits in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, purportedly on Oracle’s behalf.
Thereafter, the court consolidated the two derivative cases and designated the July 18, 2017 complaint as the operative complaint. The consolidated lawsuit was brought
against  all  the  then-current  members  and  one  former  member  of  our  Board  of  Directors,  and  Oracle  as  a  nominal  defendant.  Plaintiff  alleged  that  the  defendants
breached their fiduciary duties by causing Oracle to agree to purchase NetSuite Inc. (NetSuite) at an excessive price. The complaint sought (and the operative complaint
continues to seek) declaratory relief, unspecified monetary damages (including interest), and attorneys’ fees and costs. The defendants filed a motion to dismiss, which
the court denied on March 19, 2018.
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On May 4, 2018, our Board of Directors established a Special Litigation Committee (the SLC) to investigate the allegations in this derivative action. Three non-employee
directors served on the SLC. On August 15, 2019, the SLC filed a letter with the court, stating that the SLC believed that plaintiff should be allowed to proceed with the
derivative litigation on behalf of Oracle. After the SLC advised the Board that it had fulfilled its duties and obligations, the Board withdrew the SLC’s authority, except that
the SLC maintained certain authority to respond to discovery requests in the litigation.

After plaintiff filed the July 18, 2017 complaint, an additional plaintiff joined the case. Plaintiffs filed several amended complaints, and filed their most recent amended
complaint on December 11, 2020. The operative complaint asserts claims for breach of fiduciary duty against our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Technology Officer, the
estate of Mark hurd (our former Chief Executive Officer who passed away on October 18, 2019), and two other members of our Board of Directors. Oracle is named as a
nominal  defendant.  On  December  11,  2020,  the  estate  of  Mark  hurd  and  the  two  other  members  of  our  Board  of  Directors  moved  to  dismiss  this  complaint,  and  a
hearing on this motion was held on February 16, 2021. On June 21, 2021, the court granted this motion as to the estate of Mark hurd and one Board member and denied
the  motion  as  to  the  other  Board  member,  who  filed  an  answer  to  the  complaint  on  August  9,  2021.  On  December  28,  2020,  our  Chief  Executive  Officer,  our  Chief
Technology Officer, and Oracle as a nominal defendant filed answers to the operative complaint.

Expert discovery has concluded. On December 23, 2021, the Board-member defendant brought a motion for summary judgment. A hearing on this motion is scheduled
for March 11, 2022. Trial is scheduled to commence on July 18, 2022.

while Oracle continues to evaluate these claims, we do not believe this litigation will have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Securities Class Action and Derivative Litigation Concerning Oracle’s Cloud Business

On August 10, 2018, a putative class action, brought by an alleged stockholder of Oracle, was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California against
us, our Chief Technology Officer, our then-two Chief Executive Officers, two other Oracle executives, and one former Oracle executive. As noted above, Mr. hurd, one of
our then-two Chief Executive Officers, passed away on October 18, 2019. On March 8, 2019, plaintiff filed an amended complaint. Plaintiff alleges that the defendants
made  or  are  responsible  for  false  and  misleading  statements  regarding  Oracle’s  cloud  business.  Plaintiff  further  alleges  that  the  former  Oracle  executive  engaged  in
insider trading. Plaintiff seeks a ruling that this case may proceed as a class action, and seeks damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, and unspecified declaratory/injunctive
relief.  On  April  19,  2019,  defendants  moved  to  dismiss  plaintiff’s  amended  complaint.  On  December  17,  2019,  the  court  granted  this  motion,  giving  plaintiffs  an
opportunity to file an amended complaint, which plaintiff filed on February 17, 2020. On April 23, 2020, defendants filed a motion to dismiss, and the court held a hearing
on this motion on September 24, 2020. On March 22, 2021, the court granted in part and denied in part this motion. The court dismissed the action as to one Oracle
executive and the former Oracle executive. The court permitted plaintiff to proceed with only a narrow omissions theory against the remaining defendants. On April 21,
2021,  defendants filed an answer to the complaint.  The parties are currently conducting discovery. On October 8,  2021,  plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification,
which is scheduled for hearing on March 24, 2022. The parties participated in a court-ordered mediation on February 18, 2022, which did not resolve this case. Trial is
scheduled to commence on November 6, 2023. we believe that we have meritorious defenses against this action, and we will continue to vigorously defend it.
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On February 12 and May 8, 2019, two stockholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California. The cases were
consolidated, and on July 8, 2019, a single plaintiff filed a consolidated complaint. The consolidated complaint brought various claims relating to the 10b-5 class action
described immediately  above.  The parties  agreed to stay the derivative case pending resolution of  defendants’  motion to dismiss  the securities  case,  which the court
granted in part and denied in part on March 22, 2021.

Plaintiff filed an amended complaint on June 4, 2021. The derivative suit is brought by an alleged stockholder of Oracle, purportedly on Oracle’s behalf, against our Chief
Technology Officer, our Chief Executive Officer, and the estate of Mark hurd. Plaintiff claims that the alleged actions described in the class action discussed above caused
harm to Oracle, and that defendants violated their fiduciary duties of candor, good faith, loyalty, and due care by failing to prevent this alleged harm. Plaintiff also brings
derivative claims for violations of federal securities laws. Plaintiffs seek a ruling that this case may proceed as a derivative action, a finding that defendants are liable for
breaching their fiduciary duties, damages, an order directing defendants to enact corporate reforms, attorneys’ fees and costs, and unspecified relief. On June 14, 2021,
the court “so ordered” a stipulation from the parties, staying this case pending resolution of the 10b-5 action.

while Oracle continues to evaluate these claims, we do not believe this litigation will have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

Other Litigation

we are  party  to  various  other  legal  proceedings  and  claims,  either  asserted  or  unasserted,  which  arise  in  the  ordinary  course  of  business,  including  proceedings  and
claims that relate to acquisitions we have completed or to companies we have acquired or are attempting to acquire.  while the outcome of these matters cannot be
predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the outcome of any of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will result in losses that are materially in excess of
amounts already recognized, if any.
 

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 8, 2022, Oracle entered into the following two credit agreements:

  • a $6.0 billion, five-year revolving credit agreement (the revolving Credit Agreement), which provides for an unsecured $6.0 billion, five-year revolving credit
facility (the revolving Facility) to Oracle for working capital purposes and for other general corporate purposes. Subject to certain conditions stated in the
revolving  Credit  Agreement,  Oracle  may  borrow,  prepay  and  reborrow  amounts  under  the  revolving  Facility  during  the  term  of  the  revolving  Credit
Agreement.  All  amounts  borrowed  under  the  revolving  Credit  Agreement  will  become  due  on  March  8,  2027,  unless  the  commitments  are  terminated
earlier either at the request of Oracle or, if  an event of default occurs, by the lenders (or automatically in the case of certain bankruptcy-related events).
Interest  is  based  on  either  (a)  a  Term  Secured  Overnight  Financing  rate  (SOFr)-based  formula  plus  a  margin  of  87.5  basis  points  to  150.0  basis  points,
depending on the credit rating assigned to Oracle’s long-term senior unsecured debt, or (b) a Base rate formula plus a margin of 0.0 basis point to 50.0 basis
points, depending on the same such credit rating, each as set forth in the revolving Credit Agreement; and

  • a $15.7 billion delayed draw term loan credit agreement (the Bridge Credit Agreement), which provides for an unsecured $15.7 billion, 364-day term loan
commitment (the Bridge Facility) to Oracle, subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions. The Bridge Credit Agreement provides that, subject
to certain exceptions, net cash proceeds received by Oracle from certain debt and equity issuances shall result in mandatory prepayments or commitment
reductions under the Bridge Credit Agreement. The proceeds of borrowings under the Bridge Facility may be used to finance the acquisition of Cerner,
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  Oracle’s  refinancing  of  indebtedness  in  connection  with  such  acquisition  and  to  pay  related  fees  and  expenses.  All  amounts  borrowed  under  the  Bridge
Credit Agreement will become due on March 7, 2023, unless the commitments are terminated earlier either at the request of Oracle, or by the lenders if a
payment  event  of  default  occurs.  Interest  is  based  on  either  (a)  a  Term  SOFr-based  formula  plus  a  margin  of 100.0 basis  points  to 137.5 basis  points,
depending on the credit rating assigned to Oracle’s long-term senior unsecured debt, or (b) a Base rate formula plus a margin of 0.0 basis point to 37.5 basis
points, depending on the same such credit rating, each as set forth in the Bridge Credit Agreement.

Each of the abovementioned credit agreements contains certain customary representations and warranties, covenants and events of default, including the requirement
that the ratio of “Consolidated EBITDA” to “Consolidated Net Interest Expense” (each term as defined in the respective credit agreements) of Oracle and its subsidiaries
shall not be less than 3.0 to 1.0 at the end of any fiscal quarter during the period that the credit agreement is effective. If an event of default occurs under one of the
credit agreements and is not cured within applicable grace periods or waived, any unpaid amounts under the applicable credit agreement may be declared immediately
due and payable and the commitments under that agreement may be terminated.

At this time, Oracle has not borrowed any funds under either of the credit agreements.

The description above is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the revolving Credit Agreement and Bridge Credit Agreement, which are
filed as Exhibit 10.16 and 10.17, respectively, to this Quarterly report on Form 10-Q.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

we  begin  Management’s  Discussion  and  Analysis  of  Financial  Condition  and  results  of  Operations  with  an  overview  of  our  businesses  and  significant  trends.  This
overview is  followed by  a  summary  of  our  critical  accounting  policies  and  estimates  that  we believe  are  important  to  understanding  the  assumptions  and  judgments
incorporated in our reported financial results. we then provide a more detailed analysis of our results of operations and financial condition.

Business Overview

Oracle provides products and services that address enterprise information technology (IT) environments. Our products and services include enterprise applications and
infrastructure  offerings  that  are  delivered  worldwide  through  a  variety  of  flexible  and  interoperable  IT  deployment  models.  These  models  include  on-premise
deployments,  cloud-based  deployments,  and  hybrid  deployments  (an  approach  that  combines  both  on-premise  and  cloud-based  deployments).  Accordingly,  we  offer
choice and flexibility to our customers and facilitate the product, service and deployment combinations that best suit our customers’ needs. Through our worldwide sales
force and Oracle Partner Network, we sell to customers all over the world including businesses of many sizes, government agencies, educational institutions and resellers.

we have three businesses: cloud and license; hardware; and services; each of which comprises a single operating segment. The descriptions set forth below as a part of
this Item 2 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and results of Operations and the information contained within Note 9 of Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report provide additional information related to our businesses and operating segments and align
to how our  chief  operating  decision makers  (CODMs),  which include our  Chief  Executive  Officer  and Chief  Technology  Officer,  view our  operating  results  and allocate
resources.

Recent Global Events

In February 2022, Oracle announced that its russian Federation operations were suspended. Neither the russian Federation nor Ukraine has composed or is expected to
compose a material portion of Oracle’s total consolidated revenues, net income, net assets, or workforce. we serve hundreds of thousands of customers globally across a
broad geographic and industry base. we are profitable and generate a large amount of positive cash flow from our operations, and we do not believe the current posture
of the russia-Ukraine situation will jeopardize either of these characteristics of our business. Other impacts due to this rapidly evolving situation are currently unknown
and could potentially subject our business to materially adverse consequences should the situation escalate beyond its current scope, including, among other potential
impacts, the geographic proximity of the situation relative to the rest of Europe, where a material portion of our business is carried out. For a more complete discussion
of the risks we encounter in our business, please refer to Item 1A risk Factors in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2021.

In addition, for a discussion of the impacts on and risks to our business from COVID-19, please refer to “Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Oracle’s Business” included
in Item 1 Business and certain risk factors included in Item 1A risk Factors in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2021; and the information
presented below in results of Operations as a part of this Item 2 of this Quarterly report.

Cloud and License Business

Our cloud and license business,  which represented 85% of  our  total  revenues on a trailing 4-quarter  basis,  markets,  sells  and delivers a  broad spectrum of  enterprise
applications and infrastructure technologies through our cloud and license offerings. revenue streams included in our cloud and license business are:

  • Cloud services and license support revenues, which include:

  o license support revenues, which are earned by providing Oracle license support services to customers that have elected to purchase support services
in connection with the purchase of Oracle applications and infrastructure software licenses for use in cloud, on-premise and other IT environments.
Substantially all license support customers renew their support contracts with us upon expiration in
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  order  to  continue  to  benefit  from  technical  support  services  and  the  periodic  issuance  of  unspecified  updates  and  enhancements,  which  current
license support customers are entitled to receive. License support contracts are generally priced as a percentage of the net fees paid by the customer
to purchase a cloud license and/or on-premise license; are generally billed in advance of the support services being performed; are generally renewed
at the customer’s option; and are generally recognized as revenues ratably over the contractual period that the support services are provided, which is
generally one year; and

  o cloud services  revenues,  which  provide  customers  access  to  Oracle  Cloud applications  and infrastructure  technologies  via  cloud-based deployment
models that Oracle develops, provides unspecified updates and enhancements for, deploys, hosts, manages and supports and that customers access
by entering into a subscription agreement with us for a stated period. Oracle Cloud Services arrangements are generally billed in advance of the cloud
services  being  performed;  generally  have  durations  of  one  to  three  years;  are  generally  renewed  at  the  customer’s  option;  and  are  generally
recognized as revenues ratably over the contractual period of the cloud contract or, in the case of usage model contracts, as the cloud services are
consumed over time.

  • Cloud license and on-premise license revenues,  which include revenues from the licensing of  our software products  including Oracle Applications,  Oracle
Database, Oracle Middleware and Java, among others, which our customers deploy within cloud-based, on-premise and other IT environments. Our cloud
license and on-premise license transactions are generally perpetual in nature and are generally recognized as revenues up front at the point in time when
the software is made available to the customer to download and use. revenues from usage-based royalty arrangements for distinct cloud licenses and on-
premise  licenses  are  recognized  at  the  point  in  time  when  the  software  end  user  usage  occurs.  The  timing  of  a  few  large  license  transactions  can
substantially affect our quarterly license revenues due to the point-in-time nature of revenue recognition for license transactions, which is different than the
typical  revenue recognition  pattern  for  our  cloud services  and license  support  revenues  in  which  revenues  are  generally  recognized  over  the  contractual
terms. Cloud license and on-premise license customers have the option to purchase and renew license support contracts, as further described above.

Providing  choice  and  flexibility  to  our  customers  as  to  when  and  how  they  deploy  Oracle  applications  and  infrastructure  technologies  are  important  elements  of  our
corporate strategy. In recent periods, customer demand for our applications and infrastructure technologies delivered through our Oracle Cloud Services has increased.
To address customer demand and enable customer choice, we have introduced certain programs for customers to pivot their applications and infrastructure licenses and
the related license support to the Oracle Cloud for new deployments and to migrate to and expand with the Oracle Cloud for their existing workloads. The proportion of
our cloud services and license support revenues relative to our cloud license and on-premise license revenues, hardware revenues and services revenues has increased
and we expect this trend to continue. Cloud services and license support revenues represented 73% and 74% of our total revenues for the three and nine months ended
February 28, 2022, respectively, and 72% and 73% for the three and nine months ended February 28, 2021, respectively.

Our cloud and license business’ revenue growth is affected by many factors, including the strength of general economic and business conditions; governmental budgetary
constraints; the strategy for and competitive position of our offerings; customer satisfaction with our offerings; the continued renewal of our cloud services and license
support customer contracts by the customer contract base; substantially all customers continuing to purchase license support contracts in connection with their license
purchases; the pricing of license support contracts sold in connection with the sales of licenses; the pricing, amounts and volumes of licenses and cloud services sold; our
ability to manage Oracle Cloud capacity requirements to meet existing and prospective customer demand; and foreign currency rate fluctuations.

On a constant currency basis, we expect that our total cloud and license revenues generally will continue to increase due to:

  • expected growth in our cloud services and license support offerings; and

  • continued demand for our cloud license and on-premise license offerings.
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we believe these factors should contribute to future growth in our cloud and license business’ total revenues, which should enable us to continue to make investments in
research and development and our cloud operations to develop, improve, increase the capacity of and expand the geographic footprint of our cloud and license products
and services.

Our cloud and license business’ margin has historically trended upward over the course of the four quarters within a particular fiscal year due to the historical upward
trend of our cloud and license business’  revenues over those quarterly periods and because the majority of our costs for this business are generally fixed in the short
term. The historical upward trend of our cloud and license business’ revenues over the course of the four quarters within a particular fiscal year is primarily due to the
addition  of  new cloud services  and license  support  contracts  to  the  customer  contract  base  that  we generally  recognize  as  revenues  ratably  or  based upon customer
usage over the respective contractual terms and the renewal of existing customers’ cloud services and license support contracts over the course of each fiscal year that
we  generally  recognize  as  revenues  in  a  similar  manner;  and  the  historical  upward  trend  of  our  cloud  license  and  on-premise  license  revenues,  which  we  generally
recognize at a point in time upon delivery; in each case over those four fiscal quarterly periods.

Hardware Business

Our  hardware  business,  which  represented  8%  of  our  total  revenues  on  a  trailing  4-quarter  basis,  provides  a  broad  selection  of  enterprise  hardware  products  and
hardware-related  software  products  including  Oracle  Engineered  Systems,  servers,  storage,  industry-specific  hardware  offerings,  operating  systems,  virtualization,
management  and  other  hardware-related  software,  and  related  hardware  support.  Each  hardware  product  and  its  related  software,  such  as  an  operating  system  or
firmware,  are  highly  interdependent  and  interrelated  and  are  accounted  for  as  a  combined  performance  obligation.  The  revenues  for  this  combined  performance
obligation are generally recognized at the point in time that the hardware product and its related software are delivered to the customer and ownership is transferred to
the customer. we expect to make investments in research and development to improve existing hardware products and services and to develop new hardware products
and  services.  The  majority  of  our  hardware  products  are  sold  through  indirect  channels,  including  independent  distributors  and  value-added  resellers.  Our  hardware
support offerings provide customers with unspecified software updates for software components that are essential  to the functionality of our hardware products and
associated software products. Our hardware support offerings can also include product repairs, maintenance services and technical support services. hardware support
contracts  are  entered  into  and  renewed  at  the  option  of  the  customer,  are  generally  priced  as  a  percentage  of  the  net  hardware  products  fees  and  are  generally
recognized as revenues ratably as the hardware support services are delivered over the contractual terms.

we generally expect our hardware business to have lower operating margins as a percentage of revenues than our cloud and license business due to the incremental
costs we incur to produce and distribute these products and to provide support services, including direct materials and labor costs.

Our quarterly hardware revenues are difficult to predict. Our hardware revenues, cost of hardware and hardware operating margins that we report are affected by many
factors, including our manufacturing partners’ abilities to timely manufacture or deliver a few large hardware transactions with this factor becoming more pronounced in
recent  periods  due  to  global  supply  chain  constraints  for  certain  technology  components;  our  strategy  for  and  the  position  of  our  hardware  products  relative  to
competitor  offerings;  customer  demand  for  competing  offerings,  including  cloud  infrastructure  offerings;  the  strength  of  general  economic  and  business  conditions;
governmental budgetary constraints; whether customers decide to purchase hardware support contracts at or in close proximity to the time of hardware product sale;
the percentage of our hardware support contract customer base that renews its support contracts and the close association between hardware products, which have a
finite  life,  and  customer  demand  for  related  hardware  support  as  hardware  products  age;  customer  decisions  to  either  maintain  or  upgrade  their  existing  hardware
infrastructure to newly developed technologies that are available; and foreign currency rate fluctuations.

Services Business

Our  services  business,  which  represented  7%  of  our  total  revenues  on  a  trailing  4-quarter  basis,  helps  customers  and  partners  maximize  the  performance  of  their
investments in Oracle applications and infrastructure
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technologies.  we believe that our services are differentiated based on our focus on Oracle technologies,  extensive experience, broad sets of intellectual  property and
best practices. Our services offerings include consulting services and advanced customer services. Our services business has lower margins than our cloud and license and
hardware businesses. Our services revenues are affected by many factors including our strategy for, and the competitive position of, our services; customer demand for
our  cloud and license  and hardware offerings  and the  related services  that  we may market  and sell  in  connection  with  these  offerings;  general  economic  conditions;
governmental budgetary constraints; personnel reductions in our customers’ IT departments; tighter controls over customer discretionary spending; and foreign currency
rate fluctuations.

Acquisitions

Our selective and active acquisition program is another important element of our corporate strategy. historically, we have invested billions of dollars to acquire a number
of  complementary companies,  products,  services  and technologies.  As  compelling opportunities  become available,  we may acquire  companies,  products,  services  and
technologies in furtherance of our corporate strategy. On December 20, 2021, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Cerner Corporation (Cerner), a
provider  of  digital  information  systems  used  within  hospitals  and  health  systems  that  are  designed  to  enable  medical  professionals  to  deliver  better  healthcare  to
individual  patients  and  communities,  for  a  preliminary  estimated  purchase  price  of  approximately  $28.5  billion.  The  transaction  is  subject  to  the  consummation  of  a
tender offer, the receipt of certain regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions. The transaction is expected to close during calendar year 2022. Note 2 of
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, included elsewhere in this Quarterly report, provides additional information related to our proposed acquisition
of Cerner and our other recent acquisitions.

we believe that we can fund our proposed and future acquisitions with our internally available cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balances, cash generated
from operations, the March 2022 credit agreements (see Note 12 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report),
additional  borrowings  or  from  the  issuance  of  additional  securities.  we  estimate  the  financial  impact  of  any  potential  acquisition  with  regard  to  earnings,  operating
margin, cash flows and return on invested capital targets, among others, before deciding to move forward with an acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our  consolidated  financial  statements  are  prepared  in  accordance  with  U.S.  generally  accepted  accounting  principles  (gAAP)  as  set  forth  in  the  Financial  Accounting
Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Codification (ASC), and we consider the various staff accounting bulletins and other applicable guidance issued by the SEC. gAAP,
as set forth within the ASC, requires us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. we believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions upon which
we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and
assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the periods presented. To the extent that there are differences between these estimates, judgments or assumptions and actual results, our financial statements
will be affected. The accounting policies that reflect our more significant estimates, judgments and assumptions and which we believe are the most critical to aid in fully
understanding and evaluating our reported financial results include:

  • revenue recognition;

  • Business Combinations;

  • goodwill and Intangible Assets—Impairment Assessments;

  • Accounting for Income Taxes; and

  • Legal and Other Contingencies.
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During the first nine months of fiscal 2022, there were no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial  Condition and results  of Operations contained in Part  II,  Item 7 of our Annual  report on Form 10-k for our fiscal  year ended May 31,  2021 provides a more
complete discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates.

Results of Operations

Presentation of Operating Segment Results and Other Financial Information

In our results of operations discussion below, we provide an overview of our total consolidated revenues, total consolidated operating expenses and total consolidated
operating  margin,  all  of  which  are  presented  on  a  gAAP  basis.  we  also  present  a  gAAP-based  discussion  below  for  substantially  all  of  the  other  expense  items  as
presented in our condensed consolidated statements of operations that are not directly attributable to our three businesses.

In  addition,  we  discuss  below  the  results  of  each  of  our  three  businesses—cloud  and  license,  hardware  and  services—which  are  our  operating  segments  as  defined
pursuant to ASC 280, Segment Reporting. The financial reporting for our three businesses that is presented below is presented in a manner that is consistent with that
used by our CODMs. Our operating segment presentation below reflects  revenues,  direct  costs  and sales and marketing expenses that correspond to and are directly
attributable to each of our three businesses. we also utilize these inputs to calculate and present a segment margin for each of our three businesses in the discussion
below.

Consistent with our internal management reporting processes, the below operating segment presentation for the first nine months of fiscal 2021 is noted to include any
revenues  adjustments  related  to  cloud  services  and  license  support  contracts  that  would  have  otherwise  been  recorded  by  the  acquired  businesses  as  independent
entities but were not recognized in our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal 2021 periods presented due to business combination accounting
requirements.  refer  to  “Supplemental  Disclosure  related  to  Certain  Charges”  below  for  additional  discussion  of  these  items  and  Note  9  of  Notes  to  Condensed
Consolidated  Financial  Statements  included  elsewhere  in  this  Quarterly  report  for  a  reconciliation  of  the  summations  of  our  total  operating  segment  revenues  as
presented in the discussion below to total revenues as presented per our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal 2021 periods presented.

In  addition,  research and development expenses,  general  and administrative expenses,  stock-based compensation expenses,  amortization of  intangible  assets,  certain
other expense allocations, acquisition related and other expenses, restructuring expenses, interest expense, non-operating expenses, net and (provision for) benefit from
income taxes are not attributed to our three operating segments because our management does not view the performance of our three businesses including such items
and/or it is impractical to do so. refer to “Supplemental Disclosure related to Certain Charges” below for additional discussion of certain of these items and Note 9 of
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial  Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report for a reconciliation of the summations of total segment margin as
presented in the discussion below to total income before income taxes as presented per our condensed consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented.

we  experienced  COVID-19  related  impacts  to  our  businesses  during  each  of  the  fiscal  2022  and  2021  periods  presented.  Certain  of  these  historical  impacts  to  our
operating results are further discussed below. Any future impacts are currently unknown.

Separately,

  • as  described  further  below  and  in  Note  11  of  Notes  to  Condensed  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  included  elsewhere  in  this  Quarterly  report,  we
remitted and recorded $4.7 billion for certain litigation related items during the first nine months of fiscal 2022; and

  • as described further below and in Notes 1 and 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal
year ended May 31,  2021,  we recorded a $2.3 billion one-time net deferred tax benefit  during the third quarter and first  nine months of fiscal  2021 that
related to a partial realignment of our legal entity structure that resulted in the intra-group transfer of certain intellectual property rights.
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Constant Currency Presentation

Our international operations have provided and are expected to continue to provide a significant portion of each of our businesses’ revenues and expenses. As a result,
each of our businesses’ revenues and expenses and our total revenues and expenses will continue to be affected by changes in the U.S. Dollar against major international
currencies.  In  order  to  provide  a  framework  for  assessing  how  our  underlying  businesses  performed,  excluding  the  effects  of  foreign  currency  rate  fluctuations,  we
compare the percent change in the results from one period to another period in this Quarterly report using constant currency disclosure. To present this information,
current and comparative prior period results for entities reporting in currencies other than U.S. Dollars are converted into U.S. Dollars at constant exchange rates (i.e., the
rates in effect on May 31, 2021, which was the last day of our prior fiscal year) rather than the actual exchange rates in effect during the respective periods. For example,
if  an  entity  reporting  in  Euros  had  revenues  of  1.0  million  Euros  from products  sold  on  February  28,  2022  and  2021,  our  financial  statements  would  reflect  reported
revenues of $1.11 million in the first nine months of fiscal 2022 (using 1.11 as the month-end average exchange rate for the period) and $1.21 million in the first nine
months of fiscal 2021 (using 1.21 as the month-end average exchange rate for the period). The constant currency presentation, however, would translate the results for
the first nine months of fiscal 2022 and 2021 using the May 31, 2021 exchange rate and indicate, in this example, no change in revenues during the period. In each of the
tables below, we present the percent change based on actual, unrounded results in reported currency and in constant currency.

Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
 

  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     

(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  
Total Revenues by Geography:                         
Americas  $ 5,849  8% 8% $ 5,424  $ 16,905  7% 7% $ 15,751 
EMEA(1)   3,014  1% 7%  2,981   8,751  2% 4%  8,571 
Asia Pacific   1,650  -2% 4%  1,680   4,944  0% 3%  4,930 

Total revenues   10,513  4% 7%  10,085   30,600  5% 5%  29,252 
Total Operating Expenses   6,691  8% 10%  6,207   24,176  30% 30%  18,580 
Total Operating Margin  $ 3,822  -1% 3% $ 3,878  $ 6,424  -40% -38% $ 10,672 
Total Operating Margin %  36%      38%  21%      36% 
% Revenues by Geography:                         
Americas  55%      54%  55%      54% 
EMEA  29%      29%  29%      29% 
Asia Pacific  16%      17%  16%      17% 
Total Revenues by Business:                         
Cloud and license  $ 8,926  5% 7% $ 8,528  $ 25,901  5% 6% $ 24,565 
hardware   798  -3% 1%  820   2,328  -6% -5%  2,478 
Services   789  7% 11%  737   2,371  7% 8%  2,209 

Total revenues  $ 10,513  4% 7% $ 10,085  $ 30,600  5% 5% $ 29,252 
% Revenues by Business:                         
Cloud and license  85%      85%  85%      84% 
hardware  8%      8%  7%      8% 
Services  7%      7%  8%      8%

 

 

(1) Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa

Fiscal  Third Quarter 2022 Compared to Fiscal  Third Quarter 2021: Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations,  our total revenues increased during the
third quarter of fiscal 2022, relative to the corresponding prior year period, due to growth in our cloud and license business’, hardware business’ and services business’
revenues.  The  constant  currency  increase  in  our  cloud  and  license  business’  revenues  during  the  third  quarter  of  fiscal  2022  was  attributable  to  growth  in  our  cloud
services and license support revenues and cloud license and on-premise license revenues as customers purchased our applications and infrastructure technologies via
cloud and license deployment models and renewed their related cloud contracts and license support contracts to continue to gain access to the latest versions of our
technologies and to receive support  services.  The constant currency increase in our hardware business’  revenues during the third quarter of fiscal  2022 was primarily
attributable to growth in our Oracle Exadata and certain other strategic hardware offerings. The constant currency increase in our
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services  business’  revenues  during  the  third  quarter  of  fiscal  2022  was  attributable  to  an  increase  in  revenues  for  each  of  our  primary  services  offerings.  In  constant
currency, the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific regions contributed 61%, 30% and 9%, respectively, to our total revenues growth during the third quarter of fiscal 2022.

Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations, our total operating expenses increased during the third quarter of fiscal 2022, relative to the corresponding
prior year period, substantially due to: higher cloud services and license support expenses, which increased primarily due to higher employee related expenses and higher
infrastructure expenses to support the increase in our cloud and license business’ revenues; higher services expenses, which increased primarily due to higher employee
related expenses and higher external contractor expenses; higher sales and marketing expenses, which increased due to higher employee related expenses and higher
marketing  expenses;  and  higher  research  and  development  expenses,  which  increased  primarily  due  to  higher  employee  related  expenses.  These  constant  currency
expense increases were partially offset by lower amortization of intangible assets and lower restructuring expenses during the third quarter of fiscal 2022 relative to the
corresponding prior year period. During the third quarter of fiscal 2022 and 2021, we curtailed certain variable expenditures including employee travel expenses, among
others, primarily in response to COVID-19. we expect certain of these expenses may normalize in future periods provided global economic and health conditions improve.

In constant currency, our total operating margin increased in the third quarter of fiscal 2022 due to higher revenues. Our total operating margin as a percentage of total
revenues decreased in the third quarter of fiscal 2022 due to our operating expenses growth, which exceeded our total revenues growth.

First Nine Months Fiscal 2022 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2021: Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations, our total revenues increased during
the first  nine months of  fiscal  2022,  relative to the corresponding prior year period,  due to growth in our cloud and license business’  revenues and services business’
revenues for similar reasons as noted above for the fiscal 2022 quarterly increases. These constant currency revenue increases were partially offset by a decline in our
hardware business’ revenues during the first nine months of fiscal 2022. In constant currency, the Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacific regions contributed 72%, 20% and 8%,
respectively, to our total revenues growth during the first nine months of fiscal 2022.

Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations, our total operating expenses increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2022, relative to the corresponding
prior year period, substantially due to certain litigation related charges recorded to acquisition related and other expenses as further described in Note 11 of Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report; and due to similar reasons as the fiscal 2022 quarterly increases noted above.
These  constant  currency  expense  increases  during  the  first  nine  months  of  fiscal  2022  were  partially  offset  by  lower  amortization  of  intangible  assets  and  lower
restructuring expenses and by $250 million of gains from operating asset sales, which were allocated across most of our operating expense lines. As described above, we
curtailed a number of variable expenditures during the fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2021 year to date periods in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and expect certain of these
expenses may normalize in future periods.

In  constant  currency,  our  operating  margin  and  operating  margin  as  a  percentage  of  revenues  decreased  during  the  first  nine  months  of  fiscal  2022  due  to  the
unfavorable impact of the litigation related charges referenced above.
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Supplemental Disclosure Related to Certain Charges

To supplement our condensed consolidated financial information, we believe that the following information is helpful to an overall understanding of our past financial
performance and prospects for the future.

Our operating results reported pursuant to gAAP included the following business combination accounting adjustments and expenses related to acquisitions and certain
other expense and income items that affected our gAAP net income: 
 

  
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  
(in millions)  2022   2021   2022   2021  

Cloud services and license support deferred revenues(1)  $ —  $ 1  $ —  $ 2 
Amortization of intangible assets(2)   279   347   882   1,037 
Acquisition related and other(3)   20   13   4,707   107 
restructuring(4)   19   66   89   337 
Stock-based compensation, operating segments(5)   189   132   533   381 
Stock-based compensation, r&D and g&A(5)   485   347   1,367   1,014 
Income tax effects(6)   (209)   (2,442)   (1,680)   (2,990)
  $ 783  $ (1,536)  $ 5,898  $ (112)
 

(1) Due to business combination accounting rules that were applicable to acquisitions closed prior to fiscal 2022, we have estimated the fair values of the cloud services and license support contracts assumed and did
not recognize the cloud services and license support revenue amounts presented in the above table for the fiscal 2021 periods presented that would have otherwise been recorded by the acquired businesses as
independent entities upon delivery of the contractual obligations. To the extent customers for which these contractual obligations pertain renew these contracts with us, we expect to recognize revenues for the
full contracts’ values over the respective contracts’ renewal periods.

(2) represents the amortization of intangible assets, substantially all of which were acquired in connection with our acquisitions. As of February 28, 2022, estimated future amortization related to intangible assets was
as follows (in millions):

 
 remainder of fiscal 2022  $ 267 

  Fiscal 2023   744 

  Fiscal 2024   501 

  Fiscal 2025   142 

  Fiscal 2026   24 

  Fiscal 2027   6  

  Thereafter   4  

  Total intangible assets, net  $ 1,688
 

 
(3) For  all  periods  presented,  acquisition  related and other  expenses  consisted of  personnel  related costs  for  transitional  and certain  other  employees,  certain  business  combination  adjustments  including  certain

adjustments after the measurement period has ended, and certain other operating items, net. For the nine months ended February 28, 2022, acquisition related and other expenses also included certain litigation
related charges as further described in Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report. we consider the litigation related charges that are included in
this  line item to  be outside our  ordinary  course  of  business  based on the following  considerations:  (i)  the unprecedented nature  of  the litigation related charges  including the nature  and size of  the damages
awarded; (ii) the dissimilarity of this litigation and related charges to recurring litigation of which we are a party in our normal business course for which any and all such charges are included in our gAAP operating
results and are not separately quantified and disclosed within this line item or any other line in the table presented above; (iii) the complexity of the case; (iv) the counterparty involved; and (v) our expectation that
litigation related charges of this nature will not recur in future periods; amongst other factors.

(4) restructuring  expenses  during  the fiscal  2022 periods  presented primarily  related to  employee severance in  connection with  our  Fiscal  2022 Oracle  restructuring  Plan (2022 restructuring  Plan).  restructuring
expenses during the fiscal 2021 periods presented primarily related to employee severance in connection with our Fiscal 2019 Oracle restructuring Plan (2019 restructuring Plan). Additional information regarding
certain of our restructuring plans is provided in management’s discussion below under “restructuring Expenses,” in Note 5 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this
Quarterly report and in Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2021.
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(5) Stock-based compensation was included in the following operating expense line items of our condensed consolidated statements of operations (in millions):
 

   
Three Months Ended

February 28,   
Nine Months Ended

February 28,  

   2022   2021   2022   2021  

 Cloud services and license support  $ 55  $ 33  $ 145  $ 99 
 hardware   4    2    11   8  
 Services   17   15   49   41 
 Sales and marketing   113   82   328   233 

 Stock-based compensation, operating segments   189   132   533   381 

 research and development   421   307   1,188   897 
 general and administrative   64   40   179   117 
 Total stock-based compensation  $ 674  $ 479  $ 1,900  $ 1,395

 

 

(6) For the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2022 the applicable jurisdictional tax rates applied to our income before income taxes after excluding the tax effects of items within the table above such as for
stock-based compensation, amortization of intangible assets, restructuring, and certain acquisition related and other items, and after excluding the net deferred tax effects associated with a previously recorded
income tax benefit that resulted from a partial realignment of our legal entity structure, resulted in effective tax rates of 19.0% and 18.8%, respectively, instead of 18.4% and 12.3%, respectively, which represented
our effective tax rates as derived per our condensed consolidated statements of operations. For the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2021, the applicable jurisdictional tax rates applied to our income
before income taxes after excluding the tax effects of  items within the table above such as for  stock-based compensation,  amortization of  intangible assets,  restructuring,  and certain other acquisition related
items, and after excluding a $2.3 billion net tax benefit arising from the increase of a deferred tax asset associated with a partial  realignment of our legal entity structure and any related deferred tax expense
resulted in effective tax rates of 16.7% and 18.1%, respectively,  instead of (53.3%) and (9.8%),  respectively, which represented our effective tax rates as derived per our condensed consolidated statements of
operations.

Cloud and License Business

Our  cloud  and  license  business  engages  in  the  sale  and  marketing  of  our  applications  and  infrastructure  technologies  that  are  delivered  through  various  deployment
models and include: Oracle license support offerings; Oracle Cloud Services offerings; and Oracle cloud license and on-premise license offerings. License support revenues
are typically generated through the sale of applications and infrastructure license support contracts related to cloud licenses and on-premise licenses; are purchased by
our  customers  at  their  option;  and  are  generally  recognized  as  revenues  ratably  over  the  contractual  term,  which  is  generally  one  year.  Our  cloud  services  deliver
applications and infrastructure technologies on a subscription basis via cloud-based deployment models that we develop, provide unspecified updates and enhancements
for, deploy, host, manage and support. revenues for our cloud services are generally recognized over the contractual term, which is generally one to three years, or in the
case  of  usage  model  contracts,  as  the  cloud  services  are  consumed.  Cloud  license  and  on-premise  license  revenues  represent  fees  earned  from  granting  customers
licenses, generally on a perpetual basis, to use our database and middleware and our applications software products within cloud and on-premise IT environments and
are  generally  recognized  up  front  at  the  point  in  time  when  the  software  is  made  available  to  the  customer  to  download  and  use.  we  continue  to  place  significant
emphasis,  both  domestically  and  internationally,  on  direct  sales  through  our  own  sales  force.  we  also  continue  to  market  certain  of  our  offerings  through  indirect
channels.  Costs  associated with our  cloud and license  business  are included in  cloud services  and license  support  expenses,  and sales  and marketing  expenses.  These
costs are largely personnel and infrastructure related including the cost of providing our cloud services and license support offerings, salaries and commissions earned by
our sales force for the sale of our cloud and license offerings, and marketing program costs.
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  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     

(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021(1)  
Cloud and License Revenues:                         
Americas  $ 5,082  8% 8% $ 4,698  $ 14,657  8% 8% $ 13,513 
EMEA   2,507  1% 7%  2,482   7,263  2% 3%  7,144 
Asia Pacific   1,337  -1% 5%  1,349   3,981  2% 4%  3,910 

Total revenues   8,926  5% 7%  8,529   25,901  5% 6%  24,567 
Expenses:                         
Cloud services and license support(2)   1,231  22% 24%  1,011   3,568  20% 20%  2,977 
Sales and marketing(2)   1,760  4% 6%  1,694   5,083  3% 3%  4,947 

Total expenses(2)   2,991  11% 13%  2,705   8,651  9% 10%  7,924 
Total Margin  $ 5,935  2% 5% $ 5,824  $ 17,250  4% 4% $ 16,643 
Total Margin %  66%      68%  67%      68% 
% Revenues by Geography:                         
Americas  57%      55%  57%      55% 
EMEA  28%      29%  28%      29% 
Asia Pacific  15%      16%  15%      16% 
Revenues by Offerings:                         
Cloud services and license support(1)  $ 7,637  5% 8% $ 7,253  $ 22,562  6% 6% $ 21,313 
Cloud license and on-premise license   1,289  1% 4%  1,276   3,339  3% 4%  3,254 

Total revenues(1)  $ 8,926  5% 7% $ 8,529  $ 25,901  5%  6% $ 24,567 
Cloud Services and License Support Revenues by Ecosystem:                         
Applications cloud services and license support  $ 3,187  8% 10% $ 2,952  $ 9,377  8% 8% $ 8,670 
Infrastructure cloud services and license support   4,450  3% 7%  4,301   13,185  4% 5%  12,643 

Total cloud services and license support revenues  $ 7,637  5% 8% $ 7,253  $ 22,562  6% 6% $ 21,313
 

 

(1) revenues  presented  for  the  fiscal  2021  periods  presented  included  cloud  services  and  license  support  revenue  adjustments  related  to  certain  cloud  services  and  license  support  contracts  that  would  have
otherwise been recorded as revenues by the acquired businesses as independent entities but were not recognized in our gAAP-based condensed consolidated statements of operations for the periods presented
due to business combination accounting rules that were applicable to acquisitions closed prior to fiscal 2022. Such revenue adjustments were included in our operating segment results for the fiscal 2021 periods
presented for purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs. See “Presentation of Operating Segment results and Other Financial Information” above for additional information.

(2) Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other gAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment
results for purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment results and Other Financial Information” above.

Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations, our cloud and license business’ total revenues increased in the fiscal 2022 periods presented, relative to the
corresponding prior year periods, due to growth in our cloud services and license support revenues and growth in our cloud license and on-premise license revenues as
customers purchased our applications and infrastructure technologies via cloud and license deployment models and renewed their related cloud contracts and license
support contracts to continue to gain access to the latest versions of our technologies and to receive support for which we delivered such cloud and support services
during the periods presented. In constant currency, the Americas region contributed 63% and 74%, respectively, the EMEA region contributed 27% and 15%, respectively,
and the Asia Pacific region contributed 10% and 11%, respectively, to the revenues growth for this business during the third quarter and the first nine months of fiscal
2022, respectively.

In constant currency, our total cloud and license business’ expenses increased in the fiscal 2022 periods presented, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, due
to  higher  cloud  services  and  license  support  expenses  which  were  primarily  attributable  to  higher  employee  related  expenses  due  to  higher  headcount  and  higher
technology  infrastructure  expenses  to  support  the  increase  in  our  cloud  and  license  business’  revenues;  and  higher  sales  and  marketing  expenses,  due  to  higher
employee related expenses from higher headcount and higher marketing expenses. During the first nine months of fiscal 2022, we allocated a portion of the gains from
the fiscal 2022
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operating asset sales as described above as benefits to our cloud and license business’ expenses. Our cloud services and license support expenses have grown in recent
periods  and  we  expect  this  growth  will  continue  to  accelerate  during  fiscal  2022  as  we  increase  our  existing  data  center  capacity  and  establish  data  centers  in  new
geographic locations in order to meet current and expected customer demand.

Excluding  the  effects  of  currency  rate  fluctuations,  our  cloud  and  license  business’  total  margin  increased  during  the  fiscal  2022  periods  presented,  relative  to  the
corresponding prior year periods, due to the increases in total revenues for this business. In constant currency, total margin as a percentage of revenues for this segment
decreased slightly during the fiscal 2022 periods presented, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, due to expenses growth.

Hardware Business

Our hardware business’ revenues are generated from the sales of our Oracle Engineered Systems, server, storage, and industry-specific hardware offerings. The hardware
product and related software, such as an operating system or firmware, are highly interdependent and interrelated and are accounted for as a combined performance
obligation. The revenues for this combined performance obligation are generally recognized at the point in time that the hardware product is delivered to the customer
and ownership is transferred to the customer. Our hardware business also earns revenues from the sale of hardware support contracts purchased by our customers at
their option and that are generally recognized as revenues ratably as the hardware support services are delivered over the contractual term, which is generally one year.
The majority of our hardware products are sold through indirect channels such as independent distributors and value-added resellers and we also market and sell our
hardware products through our direct sales force. Operating expenses associated with our hardware business include the cost of hardware products, which consists of
expenses  for  materials  and  labor  used  to  produce  these  products  by  our  internal  manufacturing  operations  or  by  third-party  manufacturers,  warranty  and  related
expenses and the impact of periodic changes in inventory valuation, including the impact of inventory determined to be excess and obsolete; the cost of materials used to
repair customer products; the cost of labor and infrastructure to provide support services; and sales and marketing expenses, which are largely personnel related and
include variable compensation earned by our sales force for the sales of our hardware offerings.
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

Hardware Revenues:                         
Americas  $ 392  -1% 0% $ 395  $ 1,132  -7% -8% $ 1,223 
EMEA   248  -3% 5%  256   708  -1% 2%  717 
Asia Pacific   158  -7% -3%  169   488  -9% -8%  538 

Total revenues   798  -3% 1%  820   2,328  -6% -5%  2,478 
Expenses:                         
hardware products and support(1)   237  6% 11%  223   696  0% 1%  698 
Sales and marketing(1)   88  -8% -5%  95   265  -8% -7%  287 

Total expenses(1)   325  2% 7%  318   961  -2% -1%  985 
Total Margin  $ 473  -6% -3% $ 502  $ 1,367  -8% -7% $ 1,493 
Total Margin %  59%      61%  59%      60% 
% Revenues by Geography:                         
Americas  49%      48%  49%      49% 
EMEA  31%      31%  30%      29% 
Asia Pacific  20%      21%  21%      22%

 

 

(1) Excludes stock-based compensation and certain expense allocations. Also excludes amortization of intangible assets and certain other gAAP‑based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment
results for purposes of reporting to and review by our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment results and Other Financial Information” above.
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Fiscal Third Quarter 2022 Compared to Fiscal Third Quarter 2021: Our constant currency hardware revenues increased in the third quarter of fiscal 2022, in comparison
to the prior year period, primarily due to growth in our Oracle Exadata and certain other strategic hardware offerings, and were partially offset by revenue declines for
certain  of  our  nonstrategic  hardware  offerings.  For  additional  information  about  certain  of  our  nonstrategic  hardware  revenue  declines,  refer  to  the  year  to  date
discussion below. Our hardware business’ revenues were adversely impacted during the fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2021 periods presented due to the impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic, including global supply chain shortages for technology components that resulted in certain manufacturing delays. Any such prospective impacts are unknown.
During the third quarter of fiscal 2022, the constant currency revenues growth in the EMEA region was partially offset by a constant currency revenue decline in the Asia
Pacific region.

Excluding  the  effects  of  currency  rate  fluctuations,  total  hardware  expenses  increased  in  the  third  quarter  of  fiscal  2022  primarily  due  to  higher  hardware  product
expenses driven by higher hardware product revenues, partially offset by lower employee related expenses due to lower headcount.

In constant currency, our hardware business’ total margin and total margin as a percentage of revenues decreased during the third quarter of fiscal 2022 due to higher
total expenses for this business.

First Nine Months Fiscal 2022 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2021: Our constant currency hardware revenues decreased in the first nine months of fiscal 2022,
relative to the corresponding prior year period, primarily due to our continued emphasis on the marketing and sale of our cloud-based infrastructure technologies and
strategic hardware offerings and the de-emphasis of our sales and marketing efforts for certain of our nonstrategic hardware products, which resulted in reduced sales
volumes of certain of our hardware product lines and also impacted the volume of hardware support contracts sold in recent periods. Our hardware business’ revenues
were also adversely impacted during the fiscal 2022 and fiscal 2021 periods due to similar reasons as those noted in the quarter to date discussion above. During the first
nine months of fiscal 2022, our constant currency hardware revenues declined in the Americas and the Asia Pacific regions, and was partially offset by hardware revenues
growth in the EMEA region.

Excluding the effects of currency rate fluctuations,  total  hardware expenses decreased in the first  nine months of  fiscal  2022,  relative to the corresponding prior year
period, primarily due to lower employee related expenses due to lower headcount, partially offset by an increase in hardware products costs.

In constant currency, our hardware business’ total margin and total margin as a percentage of revenues decreased during the first nine months of fiscal 2022, relative to
the corresponding prior year period, due to lower total revenues for this business.

Services Business

Our services offerings are designed to help maximize the performance of customer investments in Oracle applications and infrastructure technologies and substantially
include our consulting services and advanced customer services offerings. Services revenues are generally recognized over time as the services are performed. The cost of
providing our services consists primarily of personnel related expenses, technology infrastructure expenditures, facilities expenses and external contractor expenses.
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  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

Services Revenues:                         
Americas  $ 375  13%  14%  $ 332  $ 1,116  10%  9% $ 1,018 
EMEA   259  6%  13%   243   780  10%  11%  709 
Asia Pacific   155  -4%  1%   162   475  -1%  1%  482 

Total revenues   789  7%  11%   737   2,371  7%  8%  2,209 
Total Expenses(1)   633  8%  11%   587   1,873  6%  7%  1,767 
Total Margin  $ 156  3%  8%  $ 150  $ 498  13%  15% $ 442 
Total Margin %  20%      20%  21%      20% 
% Revenues by Geography:                         
Americas  47%      45%  47%      46% 
EMEA  33%      33%  33%      32% 
Asia Pacific  20%      22%  20%      22%

 

 

(1) Excludes stock-based compensation and certain allocations. Also excludes certain other gAAP-based expenses, which were not allocated to our operating segment results for purposes of reporting to and review by
our CODMs, as further described under “Presentation of Operating Segment results and Other Financial Information” above.

Excluding the effects  of currency rate fluctuations,  our total  services revenues increased in the fiscal  2022 periods presented,  relative to the corresponding prior year
periods, due to revenue increases in each of our primary services offerings. In constant currency, the Americas region contributed 58% and 52%, respectively, the EMEA
region contributed 40% and 45%, respectively, and the Asia Pacific region contributed 2% and 3%, respectively, to the revenues growth for this business during the third
quarter and the first nine months of fiscal 2022, respectively, in each case relative to the corresponding prior year period.

In constant currency, total services expenses increased during the fiscal 2022 periods presented, relative to the corresponding prior year periods, primarily due to higher
employee related expenses due to higher headcount and higher external contractor expenses.

In constant currency, our services business’ total margin increased during the fiscal 2022 periods presented due to higher total revenues for this business. In constant
currency, our total margin as a percentage of revenues was flat during the third quarter of fiscal 2022 and increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2022 due to
higher revenues, in each case relative to the corresponding prior year period.

Research  and  Development  Expenses:   research  and  development  expenses  consist  primarily  of  personnel  related  expenditures.  we  intend  to  continue  to  invest
significantly in our research and development efforts because, in our judgment, they are essential to maintaining our competitive position.
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

research and development(1)  $ 1,395  6%  7%  $ 1,314  $ 4,066  4%  4% $ 3,915 
Stock-based compensation   421  37%  37%   307   1,188  33%  33%  897 

Total expenses  $ 1,816  12%  13%  $ 1,621  $ 5,254  9%  9% $ 4,812 
% of Total Revenues  17%      16%  17%      17%

 

 

(1) Excluding stock-based compensation
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On  a  constant  currency  basis,  total  research  and  development  expenses  increased  during  the  fiscal  2022  periods  presented,  relative  to  the  corresponding  prior  year
periods,  primarily due to higher employee related expenses due to increased headcount and higher stock-based compensation expenses.  For the first  nine months of
fiscal 2022, these constant currency expense increases were partially offset by an allocation of gains from operating asset sales as described above.

General  and  Administrative  Expenses:   general  and  administrative  expenses  primarily  consist  of  personnel  related  expenditures  for  IT,  finance,  legal  and  human
resources support functions.
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

general and administrative(1)  $ 271  -6%  -5%  $ 290  $ 774  -7%  -7% $ 832 
Stock-based compensation   64  59%  59%   40   179  52%  52%  117 

Total expenses  $ 335  2%  3%  $ 330  $ 953  0%  0% $ 949 
% of Total Revenues  3%      3%  3%      3%

 

 

(1) Excluding stock-based compensation

Excluding the effects of foreign currency rate fluctuations, total general and administrative expenses increased during the third quarter of fiscal 2022 and were flat during
the first nine months of fiscal 2022, in each case relative to the corresponding prior year period. Stock-based compensation expenses were higher during the fiscal 2022
periods presented and were partially offset by lower professional fees and legal charges in each of these periods. In addition, an allocation of gains from operating asset
sales,  as  described  above,  further  decreased  general  and  administrative  expenses  during  the  first  nine  months  of  fiscal  2022  relative  to  the  corresponding  prior  year
period.

Amortization of Intangible Assets:   Substantially all of our intangible assets were acquired through our business combinations. we amortize our intangible assets over,
and monitor the appropriateness of, the estimated useful lives of these assets. we also periodically review these intangible assets for potential impairment based upon
relevant  facts  and  circumstances.  Note  4  of  Notes  to  Condensed  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  included  elsewhere  in  this  Quarterly  report  has  additional
information regarding our intangible assets and related amortization.
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  
Developed technology  $ 112  -30% -30% $ 161  $ 364  -24% -23% $ 477 
Cloud services and license support agreements and related relationships   146  -11% -10%  164   455  -8% -7%  493 
Other   21  -6% -6%  22   63  -6% -6%  67 

Total amortization of intangible assets  $ 279  -20% -19% $ 347  $ 882  -15% -15% $ 1,037
 

 

Amortization of intangible assets decreased during the fiscal  2022 periods presented,  relative to the corresponding prior year periods,  due to a reduction in expenses
associated with certain of our intangible assets that became fully amortized, partially offset by a smaller amount of additional amortization from intangible assets that we
acquired in connection with our recent acquisitions.
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Acquisition Related and Other Expenses:   Acquisition related and other expenses consist of personnel related costs for transitional and certain other employees, certain
business combination adjustments, including adjustments after the measurement period has ended, and certain other operating items, net.
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

Transitional and other employee related costs  $ 2  162% 174% $ 1  $ 6  67% 66% $ 4 
Business combination adjustments, net   5  117% 127%  2   8  110% 109%  3 
Other, net   13  23% 29%  10   4,693  *  *   100 

Total acquisition related and other expenses  $ 20  47% 54% $ 13  $ 4,707  *  *  $ 107
 

 

* Not meaningful

Fiscal Third Quarter 2022 Compared to Fiscal Third Quarter 2021: In constant currency, acquisition related and other expenses increased during the third quarter of fiscal
2022, relative to the corresponding prior year period, primarily due to higher other expenses, net, which primarily related to certain facilities-related right-of-use assets
and certain other assets that were abandoned in connection with plans to improve our cost structure and operations.

First Nine Months Fiscal 2022 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2021: On a constant currency basis, acquisition related and other expenses increased during the first
nine months of fiscal 2022, relative to the corresponding prior year period, primarily due to $4.7 billion of litigation related charges that we generally do not expect to
recur as further described in Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report.

Restructuring Expenses: restructuring expenses resulted from the execution of management approved restructuring plans that were generally developed to improve our
cost  structure  and/or  operations,  often  in  conjunction  with  our  acquisition  integration  strategies  and/or  other  strategic  initiatives.  restructuring  expenses  consist  of
employee severance costs and other contract termination costs to improve our cost structure prospectively. For additional information regarding our restructuring plans,
see  Note  5  of  Notes  to  Condensed  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  included  elsewhere  in  this  Quarterly  report  and  Note  8  of  Notes  to  Consolidated  Financial
Statements included in our Annual report on Form 10-k for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2021.
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

restructuring expenses  $ 19  -71%  -70%  $ 66  $ 89  -74% -73% $ 337
 

restructuring expenses in the fiscal 2022 periods presented primarily related to our 2022 restructuring Plan. restructuring expenses in the fiscal 2021 periods presented
primarily related to our 2019 restructuring Plan, which is substantially complete. Our management approved, committed to and initiated the 2022 restructuring Plan and
the 2019 restructuring Plan in order to restructure and further improve efficiencies in our operations. we may incur additional restructuring expenses in future periods
due to the initiation of new restructuring plans or from changes in estimated costs associated with existing restructuring plans.

The  majority  of  the  initiatives  undertaken  by  our  2022  restructuring  Plan  were  effected  to  implement  our  continued  emphasis  in  developing,  marketing,  selling  and
delivering our cloud-based offerings. Certain of the cost savings realized pursuant to our 2022 restructuring Plan initiatives were offset by investments in resources and

geographies that better address the development, marketing, sale and delivery of our cloud‑based offerings including investments in the development and delivery of our

second‑generation cloud infrastructure.
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Interest Expense:
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

Interest expense  $ 667  14% 14% $ 585  $ 2,051  14% 14% $ 1,799
 

 

Interest  expense  increased  during  the  fiscal  2022  periods  presented,  relative  to  the  corresponding  prior  year  periods,  primarily  due  to  higher  average  borrowings
resulting  from  our  issuance  of  $15.0  billion  of  senior  notes  in  March  2021,  partially  offset  by  lower  interest  expense  that  resulted  from  $5.8  billion  of  scheduled
repayments made during the first nine months of fiscal 2022.
 

Non-Operating Expenses, net:   Non-operating expenses, net consists primarily of interest income, net foreign currency exchange losses, the noncontrolling interests in
the  net  profits  of  our  majority-owned  subsidiaries  (primarily  Oracle  Financial  Services  Software  Limited  and  Oracle  Corporation  Japan)  and  net  other  income  and
expenses, including net realized gains and losses related to all of our investments, net unrealized gains and losses related to the small portion of our investment portfolio
related to our deferred compensation plan, net unrealized gains and losses related to equity securities, losses attributable to equity method investments, and non-service
net periodic pension income and losses.
 
  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  
Interest income  $ 16  -28% -25% $ 23  $ 56  -30% -29% $ 80 
Foreign currency losses, net   (29)  60% 69%  (18)   (109)  29% 28%  (84)
Noncontrolling interests in income   (42)  -10% -10%  (46)   (131)  3% 3%  (127)
Other, net   (260)  * *  24   (164)  * *  101 

Total non-operating expenses, net  $ (315)  * * $ (17)  $ (348)  * * $ (30)
 

* Not meaningful

On  a  constant  currency  basis,  our  non-operating  expenses,  net  increased  during  the  fiscal  2022  periods  presented,  relative  to  the  corresponding  prior  year  periods,
primarily  due  to  lower  other  income,  net,  which  was  primarily  attributable  to  $147  million  and  $30  million,  respectively,  of  unrealized  losses  incurred  on  certain
marketable equity securities that we held during the third quarter and first nine months of fiscal 2022, respectively, and due to higher losses incurred on certain equity
investments for which we follow the equity method of accounting during both of the fiscal 2022 periods presented.
 

(Provision for) Benefit from Income Taxes:   Our effective income tax rates for each of the periods presented were the result of the mix of income earned in various tax
jurisdictions that apply a broad range of income tax rates. For the three and nine months ended February 28, 2022, our provision for income taxes varied from the U.S.
federal  statutory  income  tax  rate  primarily  due  to  earnings  in  foreign  operations,  state  taxes,  the  U.S.  research  and  development  tax  credit,  settlements  with  tax
authorities,  the  tax  effects  of  stock-based  compensation,  the  Foreign  Derived  Intangible  Income  deduction  and  the  tax  effect  of  global  Intangible  Low-Taxed Income
(gILTI). For the three and nine months ended February 28, 2021, our benefit from income taxes varied from the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily due to a
total net deferred tax benefit of $2.3 billion that we recognized during the fiscal 2021 periods presented as a result of a partial realignment of our legal entity structure
that resulted in the intra-group transfer of certain intellectual property rights, earnings in foreign operations, state taxes, the U.S. research and development tax credit,
settlements  with  tax  authorities,  the  tax  effects  of  stock-based  compensation,  the  Foreign  Derived  Intangible  Income  deduction  and  the  tax  effect  of  gILTI.  Future
effective tax rates could be adversely affected by an unfavorable shift of earnings weighted to jurisdictions with higher tax rates, by unfavorable changes in tax laws and
regulations, by adverse rulings in tax related litigation, or by shortfalls in stock-based compensation realized by employees relative to stock-based compensation that was
recorded for book purposes, among others.
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  Three Months Ended February 28,   Nine Months Ended February 28,  
      Percent Change          Percent Change     
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Actual  Constant  2021   2022   Actual  Constant  2021  

(Provision for) benefit from income taxes  $ (521)  * * $ 1,745  $ (497)  * * $ 871 
Effective tax expense (benefit) rate  18.4%      (53.3%)  12.3%      (9.8%)

 

 

* Not meaningful

Fiscal  Third  Quarter  2022  Compared  to  Fiscal  Third  Quarter  2021: Provision  for  income  taxes  increased  during  the  third  quarter  of  fiscal  2022,  relative  to  the
corresponding prior year period, primarily due to the absence of a favorable impact of a $2.3 billion net tax benefit arising from an increase in a net deferred tax asset
associated with a partial realignment of our legal entity structure in the third quarter of fiscal 2021. To a much lesser extent, provision for income taxes also increased
during the third quarter of fiscal 2022 due to an unfavorable jurisdictional mix of earnings, partially offset by the favorable impact associated with lower pre-tax income
during the third quarter of fiscal 2022.

First Nine Months Fiscal 2022 Compared to First Nine Months Fiscal 2021: Provision for income taxes increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2022, relative to the
corresponding prior  year period,  primarily  due to the absence of  a favorable impact of  a  $2.3 billion net  tax benefit  as  described above,  which reduced income taxes
during the corresponding prior year period. This unfavorable variance was partially offset by lower income taxes associated with lower pre-tax income during the first
nine  months  of  fiscal  2022  that  was  primarily  attributable  to  certain  litigation  related  charges  as  further  described  in  Note  11  of  Notes  to  Condensed  Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

(Dollars in millions)  
February 28,

2022   Change  
May 31,

2021  

working capital  $ 10,842  -65%  $ 31,403 
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities  $ 23,389  -50%  $ 46,554

 

 

Working capital:   The decrease in working capital as of February 28, 2022 in comparison to May 31, 2021 was primarily due to $15.7 billion of cash used for repurchases
of our common stock, $4.7 billion of cash paid for certain litigation related items that we generally do not expect to recur, $3.7 billion of long-term senior notes that were
reclassified to current liabilities, cash used to pay dividends to our stockholders and cash used for capital expenditures during the first nine months of fiscal 2022. These
unfavorable impacts were partially offset by the favorable impacts to our net current assets resulting from our net income, net cash proceeds of $318 million associated
with the sales of certain operating assets, and cash proceeds from stock option exercises, all of which occurred during the first nine months of fiscal 2022. Our working
capital may be impacted by some of the aforementioned factors in future periods, the amounts and timing of which are variable.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities:   Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of deposits held at major banks, money market funds, Tier-1 commercial
paper and other securities with original maturities of 90 days or less. Marketable securities consist of corporate debt securities and certain other securities. The decrease
in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities at February 28, 2022 in comparison to May 31, 2021 was primarily due to $15.7 billion of settled repurchases of our
common stock, $5.8 billion of debt repayments, $4.7 billion of cash paid for certain litigation related items that we generally do not expect to recur, payments of cash
dividends to our stockholders and cash used for capital expenditures. These cash outflows during the first nine months of fiscal 2022 were partially offset by certain cash
inflows generated by our normal business operations, by the sales of certain operating assets, and by stock option exercises during the first nine months of fiscal 2022.
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  Nine Months Ended February 28,  
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Change  2021  

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 5,554  -50%  $ 11,045 
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities  $ 12,381  * $ (9,187)
Net cash used for financing activities  $ (25,100)  46% $ (17,176)
 

* Not meaningful

Cash flows from operating activities:   Our largest  source of  operating cash flows is  cash collections  from our customers  following the purchase and renewal  of  their
license support agreements. Payments from customers for these license support agreements are generally received near the beginning of the contracts’ terms, which are
generally one year in length. Over the course of a fiscal year, we also have historically generated cash from the sales of new licenses, cloud services, hardware offerings
and other services. Our primary uses of cash from operating activities are typically for employee related expenditures, material and manufacturing costs related to the
production of our hardware products, taxes, interest payments and leased facilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased during the first nine months of fiscal 2022, relative to the corresponding prior year period, primarily due to lower net
income that was primarily the result of cash payments made in connection with certain litigation related charges that we generally do not expect to recur and certain
other cash unfavorable working capital changes, net, in each case during the first nine months of fiscal 2022 relative to the first nine months of fiscal 2021.

Cash flows from investing activities:   The  changes  in  cash  flows from investing  activities  primarily  relate  to  the  timing  of  our  purchases,  maturities  and  sales  of  our
investments in marketable securities, and investments in capital and other assets, including certain intangible assets, to support our growth.

Net cash provided by investing  activities  was $12.4  billion during the first  nine months of  fiscal  2022 compared to $9.2 billion of  net  cash used for  investing  activities
during the first nine months of fiscal 2021. The increase in net cash provided by investing activities was primarily due to a decrease in the cash used for the purchases of
marketable securities and other investments and an increase in cash proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities and other investments. These favorable
cash variances  were partially  offset  by  an increase in  net  cash used for  capital  expenditures  and acquisitions,  in  each case during  the  first  nine  months  of  fiscal  2022
relative to the first nine months of fiscal 2021.

Cash flows from financing activities:   The changes in cash flows from financing activities primarily relate to borrowings and repayments related to our debt instruments,
stock repurchases, dividend payments and net proceeds related to employee stock programs.

Net cash used for financing activities increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2022 compared to the first nine months of fiscal 2021 primarily due to higher debt
repayments, higher stock repurchases, higher payments of dividends and higher net cash used for our employee stock program, in each case during the first nine months
of fiscal 2022 in comparison to the first nine months of fiscal 2021.

Free cash flow:   To  supplement  our  statements  of  cash  flows  presented  on  a  gAAP basis,  we  use  non-gAAP measures  of  cash  flows  on  a  trailing  4-quarter  basis  to
analyze cash flows generated from our operations. we believe that free cash flow is also useful as one of the bases for comparing our performance with our competitors.
The presentation of non-gAAP free cash flow is not meant to be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net income as an indicator of our performance, or as an
alternative to cash flows from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. we calculate free cash flow as follows:
 
  Trailing 4-Quarters Ended February 28,  
(Dollars in millions)  2022   Change  2021  

Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 10,396  -29%  $ 14,659 
Capital expenditures   (3,805)  106%  (1,851)
Free cash flow  $ 6,591  -49%  $ 12,808 
Net income  $ 7,560    $ 12,830 
Free cash flow as percent of net income  87%    100%
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Recent Financing Activities:

Credit Agreements:  In  March  2022,  we  entered  into  a  $6.0  billion,  five-year  revolving  credit  agreement  and  a  $15.7  billion,  364-day  delayed  draw  term  loan  credit
agreement.  Additional  information  is  included  in  Note  12  of  Notes  to  Condensed  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  included  elsewhere  in  this  Quarterly  report.  No
amounts have been drawn pursuant to either of these agreements as of the date of this Quarterly report.  

Common Stock  Repurchase  Program:  Our  Board of  Directors  has  approved a  program for  us  to  repurchase  shares  of  our  common stock.  On December  9,  2021,  we
announced that our Board of Directors approved an expansion of our stock repurchase program by an additional $10.0 billion. As of February 28, 2022, approximately
$10.0 billion remained available for stock repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase program. Our stock repurchase authorization does not have an expiration date
and the pace of our repurchase activity will depend on factors such as our working capital needs, our cash requirements for acquisitions and dividend payments, our debt
repayment  obligations  or  repurchases  of  our  debt,  our  stock  price,  and  economic  and  market  conditions.  Our  stock  repurchases  may  be  effected  from  time  to  time
through  open  market  purchases  and  pursuant  to  a  rule  10b5-1  plan.  Our  stock  repurchase  program  may  be  accelerated,  suspended,  delayed  or  discontinued  at  any
time.  
Contractual Obligations:   During the first nine months of fiscal 2022, there were no significant changes to our estimates of future payments under our fixed contractual
obligations  and  commitments  as  presented  in  Part  II,  Item  7  Management’s  Discussion  and  Analysis  of  Financial  Condition  and  results  of  Operations  included  in  our
Annual report on Form 10-k for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2021 other than our proposed acquisition of Cerner, for which additional details are included in Note 2 of
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report.

we believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balances, cash generated from operations, and the March 2022 credit agreements will be
sufficient  to  meet  our  working  capital,  capital  expenditures  and  contractual  obligations  requirements,  including  our  proposed  acquisition  of  Cerner.  In  addition,  we
believe that we could fund our future acquisitions, dividend payments and repurchases of common stock or debt with our internally available cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities, cash generated from operations, additional borrowings or from the issuance of additional securities.

Restricted Stock-Based Awards and Stock Options

Our stock-based compensation program is a key component of the compensation package we provide to attract and retain certain of our talented employees and align
their interests with the interests of existing stockholders.

we recognize that restricted stock-based awards and stock options dilute existing stockholders and have sought to control the number of stock-based awards granted
while providing competitive compensation packages. Consistent with these dual goals, our cumulative potential dilution since June 1, 2018 has been a weighted-average
annualized rate of 0.9% per year. The potential dilution percentage is calculated as the average annualized new restricted stock-based awards and stock options granted
and assumed, net of restricted stock-based awards and stock options forfeited by employees leaving the company, divided by the weighted-average outstanding shares
during  the  calculation  period.  This  maximum  potential  dilution  will  only  result  if  all  restricted  stock-based  awards  vest  and  all  stock  options  are  exercised.  Of  the
outstanding stock options at February 28,  2022,  which generally have a ten-year exercise period,  all  have exercise prices lower than the market price of our common
stock on such date. In recent years, our stock repurchase program has more than offset the dilutive effect of our stock-based compensation program. however, we may
modify  the  levels  of  our  stock  repurchases  in  the  future  depending  on  a  number  of  factors,  including  the  amount  of  cash  we  have  available  for  acquisitions,  to  pay
dividends, to repay or repurchase indebtedness or for other purposes. At February 28, 2022, the maximum potential dilution from all outstanding restricted stock-based
awards and unexercised stock options, regardless of when granted and regardless of whether vested or unvested, was 8.4%.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accounting pronouncements, if any, and the impact of these pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements, if any, see
Note 1 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly report.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There were no significant changes to our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk during the first nine months of fiscal 2022. Please refer to Part II, Item
7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market risk included in our Annual report on Form 10-k for our fiscal year ended May 31, 2021 for a more complete
discussion of the market risks we encounter.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures: Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our Principal Executive and Financial Officer), as of
the end of  the period covered by this  Quarterly  report,  our  Principal  Executive and Financial  Officer  has  concluded that  our  “disclosure controls  and procedures”  (as
defined in rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)) were effective to provide reasonable assurance that
the information required to be disclosed by us in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
periods  specified  in  the  SEC’s  rules  and  forms  and  is  accumulated  and  communicated  to  our  management  (including  our  Principal  Executive  and  Financial  Officer)  as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent  Limitations  on Effectiveness  of  Controls: Our  management,  including  our  Principal  Executive  and Financial  Officer,  believes  that  our  disclosure  controls  and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable
assurance level. however, our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all
errors  and  all  fraud.  A  control  system,  no  matter  how  well-conceived  and  operated,  can  provide  only  reasonable,  not  absolute,  assurance  that  the  objectives  of  the
control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative  to  their  costs.  Because  of  the  inherent  limitations  in  all  control  systems,  no  evaluation  of  controls  can  provide  absolute  assurance  that  all  control  issues  and
instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty and that breakdowns can
occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there
can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.   Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 8 (pertaining to information regarding contingencies related to our income taxes) and Note 11 (pertaining to information regarding legal
contingencies) of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly report on Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth in this Quarterly report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I,  Item 1A risk Factors in our Annual
report  on  Form  10-k  for  our  fiscal  year  ended  May  31,  2021.  The  risks  discussed  in  our  Annual  report  on  Form  10-k  could  materially  affect  our  business,  financial
condition and future results. The risks described in our Annual report on Form 10-k are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known
to us or that we currently deem to be insignificant also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results in the future.

Item 2.   Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Our Board of  Directors  has approved a program for  us  to repurchase shares of  our  common stock.  On December 9,  2021,  we announced that  our  Board of  Directors
approved an expansion of our stock repurchase program by an additional $10.0 billion. As of February 28, 2022, approximately $10.0 billion remained available for stock
repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase program.

Our stock repurchase authorization does not have an expiration date and the pace of our repurchase activity will depend on factors such as our working capital needs, our
cash  requirements  for  acquisitions  and  dividend  payments,  our  debt  repayment  obligations  or  repurchases  of  our  debt,  our  stock  price,  and  economic  and  market
conditions. Our stock repurchases may be effected from time to time through open market purchases or pursuant to a rule 10b5-1 plan. Our stock repurchase program
may be accelerated, suspended, delayed or discontinued at any time.
 

The following table summarizes the stock repurchase activity for the three months ended February 28, 2022 and the approximate dollar value of shares that may yet be
purchased pursuant to our stock repurchase program:
 

(in millions, except per share amounts)  
Total Number of

Shares
Purchased   

Average Price
Paid per

Share   

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced

Program   

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased

Under the Program  

December 1, 2021—December 31, 2021   2.7  $ 92.44   2.7  $ 10,398.4 
January 1, 2022—January 31, 2022   2.4  $ 84.81   2.4  $ 10,198.4 
February 1, 2022—February 28, 2022   1.9  $ 79.05   1.9  $ 10,048.5 

Total   7.0  $ 86.20   7.0    
 

Item 5.   Other Information

The material set forth in Note 12 (pertaining to two credit agreements entered into by Oracle on March 8, 2022) of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial in Part I,
Item 1 of this Quarterly report on Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 

Exhibit
No.

      Incorporated by Reference
  Exhibit Description   Form   File No.   Exhibit   Filing Date   Filed By

                         

2.01*   Agreement  and  Plan  of  Merger,  dated  December  20,  2021,  among
Oracle  Corporation,  Cerner  Corporation,  OC  Acquisition  LLC  and
Cedar Acquisition Corporation

  8-k   001-35992   2.1   12/21/21   Oracle Corporation

                         

10.16‡*   $6,000,000,000  5-Year  revolving  Credit  Agreement  dated  as  of
March  8,  2022  among  Oracle  Corporation  and  the  lenders  and
agents named therein

                   

                         

10.17‡*   $15,700,000,000  364-Day  Delayed  Draw  Term  Loan  Credit
Agreement  dated  as  of  March  8,  2022  among  Oracle  Corporation
and the lenders and agents named therein

                   

                         

31.01‡  rule  13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)  Certification  of  Principal  Executive  and
Financial Officer

                   
                         

32.01†  Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive and Financial Officer                    
                         

101‡   Interactive  Data  Files  Pursuant  to  rule  405  of  regulation  S-T,
formatted in Inline XBrL: (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
as  of  February  28,  2022  and  May  31,  2021,  (ii)  Condensed
Consolidated  Statements  of  Operations  for  the  three  and  nine
months  ended  February  28,  2022  and  2021,  (iii)  Condensed
Consolidated  Statements  of  Comprehensive  Income  for  the  three
and nine months ended February 28, 2022 and 2021, (iv) Condensed
Consolidated  Statements  of  Stockholders’  (Deficit)  Equity  for  the
three  and  nine  months  ended  February  28,  2022  and  2021,  (v)
Condensed  Consolidated  Statements  of  Cash  Flows  for  the  nine
months  ended  February  28,  2022  and  2021  and  (vi)  Notes  to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

                   

                         

104‡  The cover page from the Company’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended February 28, 2022, formatted in Inline XBrL

                   
                         

 
‡ Filed herewith.

† Furnished herewith.

* Certain schedules and attachments have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of regulation S-k. The Company agrees to provide, on a supplemental basis, a copy of any omitted schedules and attachments to
the SEC or its staff upon its request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant  to  the  requirements  of  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  Oracle  Corporation  has  duly  caused  this  report  to  be  signed  on  its  behalf  by  the  undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
 
  ORACLE CORPORATION
     
Date: March 11, 2022  By:  /s/  SAFrA A. CATz

 
 

 

 

Safra A. Catz
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

      
Date: March 11, 2022  By:  /s/  wILLIAM COrEY wEST

      william Corey west

   
 

 
Executive Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Execution Version

March 8, 2022

ORACLE CORPORATION
as Borrower

THE LENDERS NAMED HEREIN
as Initial Lenders

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent 

CITIBANK, N.A.,
GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA,

HSBC BANK USA, N.A.,
and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as Co-Syndication Agents

BNP PARIBAS,
DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC.,

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
and

SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION,
as Co-Documentation Agents

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A., NEW YORK BRANCH, 
NATIONAL WESTMINSTER BANK PLC,

and
TD SECURITIES (USA) LLC,
as Co-Managing Agents

CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANK,
ING BANK N.V., DUBLIN BRANCH,

STANDARD CHARTERED BANK, 
and

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON
as Co-Agents

 



 
BOFA SECURITIES, INC.,

CITIBANK, N.A.,
GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA,

HSBC BANK USA, N.A.,
and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners

U.S. $6,000,000,000
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT
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REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT 

dated as of March 8, 2022

Oracle Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), and the banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders (the “Initial Lenders”) listed
on the signature pages hereof,  Bank of America,  N.A.,  (“Bank of America”) as administrative agent (in such capacity,  the “Agent”), Citibank, N.A.,  goldman Sachs Bank
USA, hSBC Bank USA, N.A.,  and JPMorgan Chase Bank,  N.A,  as co-syndication agents,  BNP Paribas,  Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.,  PNC Bank,  National Association, and
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, as co-documentation agents, Banco Santander, S.A., New York Branch, National westminster Bank plc and TD Securities (USA) LLC,
as co-managing agents, Credit Agricole Corporate, and Investment Bank, INg Bank N.V., Dublin Branch, Standard Chartered Bank and The Bank Of New York Mellon, as
co-agents,  and BofA Securities,  Inc.,  Citibank,  N.A.,  goldman Sachs  Bank USA,  hSBC Bank USA,  N.A.,  and JPMorgan Chase Bank,  N.A,  as  joint  lead arrangers  and joint
bookrunners, agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND ACCOUNTING TERMS

Section 1.01 Certain Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings (such meanings to be equally
applicable to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined):

“Acquired Company” means Cerner Corporation.

“Acquisition Debt”  means  any  Debt  of  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  that  has  been  issued  for  the  purpose  of  financing,  in  whole  or  in  part,  a
Qualified Acquisition and any related transactions or series of related transactions (including for the purpose of refinancing or replacing all or a portion of any pre-existing
Debt of  the Borrower,  any of  its  Subsidiaries  or  the person(s)  or  assets  to be acquired); provided that such Debt satisfies one or more of the following requirements:
(a) the release of the proceeds thereof to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is contingent upon the consummation of such Qualified Acquisition and, pending such release,
such proceeds are held in escrow (and, if the definitive agreement (or, in the case of a tender offer or similar transaction, the definitive offer document) for such Qualified
Acquisition is terminated prior to the consummation of such Qualified Acquisition or if such Qualified Acquisition is otherwise not consummated by the date specified in
the definitive documentation relating to such debt, such proceeds shall be promptly applied to satisfy and discharge all obligations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in
respect of such Debt); (b)  such Debt contains a “special mandatory redemption” provision (or other similar provision) or otherwise requires such Debt to be redeemed or
prepaid if such Qualified Acquisition is not consummated by the date specified in the definitive documentation relating to such debt (and if the definitive agreement (or,
in the case of a tender offer or similar transaction, the definitive offer document) for such Qualified Acquisition is terminated in accordance with its terms prior to the
consummation of such Qualified Acquisition or such Qualified Acquisition is otherwise not consummated by the date specified in the definitive documentation relating to
such  Debt,  such  debt  is  so  redeemed  or  prepaid  within  90  days  of  such  termination  or  such  specified  date,  as  the  case  may be);  or  (c)  such  Debt  does  not  include  a
“special  mandatory  redemption”  provision  (or  other  similar  provision)  or  otherwise  have  a  repayment  or  redemption  feature  tied  to  the  failure  to  consummate  such
Qualified Acquisition, provided, however, that unless the Borrower or its Subsidiaries has taken prompt action to repay, redeem, discharge or commence a tender offer to
repurchase such Debt  after  the definitive agreement (or,  in  the case of  a  tender  offer  or  similar  transaction,  the definitive offer  document)  for  the relevant  Qualified
Acquisition  is  terminated  in  accordance  with  its  terms  prior  to  the  consummation  thereof  or  such  Qualified  Acquisition  is  otherwise  not  consummated  by  the  date
specified in the definitive documentation relating thereto, such Debt shall no longer constitute “Acquisition Debt” pursuant to this clause.
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“Additional Lender” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b).

“Additional Lender Supplement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(b).

“Additional Permitted Liens” means Liens not otherwise permitted hereunder on the assets of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries consisting solely of real
property  interests,  cash  and  cash  equivalents  and  any  proceeds  thereof; provided that  the  aggregate  value  of  all  assets  subject  to  such  Liens  shall  not  exceed
$500,000,000 at any time, based upon the book value of such assets determined at the time such Lien attaches.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Agent.

“Advance” means an advance by a Lender to the Borrower as part of a Borrowing under the Commitments and refers to a Base rate Advance in Dollars or a
Term SOFr rate Advance in Dollars (each of which shall be a “Type” of Advance).

“Affected Financial Institution” means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any Uk Financial Institution.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled
by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

“Affiliated Parties” means,  with respect to any natural  person, (a) any company, partnership,  trust or other entity for which such natural  person (or such
natural person’s estate) has dispositive or voting power with respect to any of the Borrower’s common equity held by such company, partnership, trust or other entity;
(b) any trust the beneficiaries of which consist solely of such natural person, any Immediate Family Member of such natural person or any person described in clause (a);
(c) the trustees, legal representatives, beneficiaries or beneficial owners (in each case, solely in such capacity and not in their individual or other capacities) of any such
company, partnership, trust or other entity referred to in clause (a) or (b); (d) the estates of such natural person (it being understood, for the avoidance of doubt, that this
clause (d) will not include any person to whom any securities are transferred from any such estate); and (e) the Immediate Family Members of such natural person.

“Agent” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement and shall include any successor administrative agent.

“Agent’s Account” means an account at Bank of America designated in writing to the Borrower.

“Agreement” means this Agreement.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the FCPA and the United kingdom Bribery Act 2010, each as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

“Applicable Authority” means CME or any successor administrator of the Term SOFr Screen rate or a governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the
Agent or such administrator with respect to its publication of Term SOFr, in each case acting in such capacity.

“Applicable Lending Office” means, with respect to each Lender, such Lender’s Domestic Lending Office in the case of a Base rate Advance and such Lender’s
Term SOFr rate Lending Office in the case of a Term SOFr rate Advance.

“Applicable Margin” means, from time to time, the applicable margin expressed in basis points per annum, corresponding to the applicable Public Debt
ratings as set forth in the Pricing grid.
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“Applicable  Percentage”  means  at  any  time  and  with  respect  to  any  Lender,  the  percentage  of  the  total  Commitments  represented  by  such  Lender’s

Commitment at such time. If the Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable Percentages shall be determined based upon the Commitments most recently
in effect, giving effect to any assignments.

“Applicable rate” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(a).

“Approved Fund” means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that
administers or manages a Lender.

“Assignment and Acceptance” means an assignment and acceptance entered into by a Lender and an Eligible Assignee (with the consent of any party whose
consent is required by Section 9.07), and accepted by the Agent, in substantially the form of Exhibit C hereto or any other form approved by the Agent.

“Bail-In  Action”  means  the  exercise  of  any  write-Down  and  Conversion  Powers  by  the  applicable  resolution  Authority  in  respect  of  any  liability  of  an
Affected Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of
the Council of the European Union, the implementing law, regulation rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU
Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United kingdom, Part I of the United kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other
law, regulation or rule applicable in the United kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks,  investment firms or other financial  institutions or their
affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Bank of America” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Base rate” means, at any time, a fluctuating rate of interest per annum equal to the highest of

(a) the Prime rate;

(b) the Federal Funds Effective rate from time to time plus 0.50%;  

(c) Term SOFr plus 1.00%; and

(d) 1.00%.

If the Base rate is being used as an alternate rate of interest pursuant to Section 2.14 hereof, then the Base rate shall be the greater of clauses (a), (b) and
(d) above and shall be determined without reference to clause (c) above.

“Base rate Advance” means an Advance in Dollars that bears interest as provided in Section 2.08(a)(i).

“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ErISA) that is subject to Title I of ErISA, (b) a “plan” as defined in
Section 4975 of the Code to which Section 4975 of the Code applies, and (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of 29 C.F.r. Section 2510.3-101 (as modified
by Section 3(42) of ErISA)) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ErISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such “employee benefit plan” or “plan”.

“Borrower” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.
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“Borrowing”  means  a  borrowing  consisting  of  simultaneous  Advances  of  the  same  Type  (or,  in  the  case  of Term  SOFr rate  Advances,  having  the  same

Interest Period) made by each of the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.01.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banks are required or authorized by law to close in New York City or the
state where the Agent’s office is located.

“Category” means, when used with reference to Public Debt ratings, the following categories of ratings:

Category S&P or Fitch Rating Moody’s Rating

Category 1 A- or higher A3 or higher

Category 2 BBB+ Baa1

Category 3 BBB Baa2

Category 4 BBB- Baa3

Category 5 Lower than BBB- Lower than Baa3

For purposes of the foregoing, if the respective Public Debt ratings issued by the rating Agencies differ by one level, then the Category for the higher of such
Public  Debt  ratings  shall  apply  (with  the  Public  Debt  rating  for  Category  1  being  the  highest  and  the  Public  Debt  rating  for  Category  5  being  the  lowest);  (b)  if  the
respective Public Debt ratings issued by the rating Agencies differ by more than one level, then the Category that is one Category lower than the highest of such Public
Debt ratings shall apply; (c) if the Borrower has only one Public Debt rating, then the Category that is one level lower than that of such Public Debt rating shall apply; (d)
if both Moody’s and S&P shall have in effect a Public Debt rating, then the category shall be determined by reference to such Public Debt ratings, and the Public Debt
rating of Fitch shall be disregarded and (e) if the Borrower does not have any Public Debt rating, Category 5 shall apply.

Initially,  the  Applicable  Margin  and  the  Commitment  Fee  shall  be  determined  based  upon  the  Public  Debt  ratings  effective  as  of  the  Effective  Date.
Thereafter,  each  change  in  the  Applicable  Margin  and  the  Commitment  Fee  resulting  from  a  publicly  announced  change  in  the  Public  Debt  ratings  shall  be  effective
during  the  period  commencing  on  the  date  of  the  public  announcement  thereof  and  ending  on  the  date  immediately  preceding  the  effective  date  of  the  next  such
change; provided, that if no such public announcement is made, such change in the Applicable Margin and the Commitment Fee shall be effective on the date the change
in the Public Debt ratings is effective.

“Cerner Acquisition Agreement” means the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated December 20, 2021, among the Acquired Company, OC Acquisition LLC,
Cedar Acquisition Corporation and the Borrower.

“Cerner  Acquisition  Consideration”  means  the  aggregate  cash  consideration  (including  fees,  costs  and  expenses)  to  be  paid  by  OC  Acquisition  LLC  in
accordance with the Cerner Acquisition Agreement.

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following: (a) the adoption or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation
or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation or application thereof by any governmental Authority or (c)  the
making  or  issuance  of  any  request,  guideline  or  directive  (whether  or  not  having  the  force  of  law)  by  any  governmental  Authority.  Notwithstanding  anything  to  the
contrary, (a) all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and directives
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promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or by United States or foreign
regulatory  authorities,  in  each case  pursuant  to  Basel  III,  and (b) the Dodd-Frank wall  Street  reform and Consumer Protection Act  and all  requests,  rules,  guidelines,
requirements and directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law,” regardless
of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

“CME” means CME group Benchmark Administration Limited.
 

“Commitment” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01.

“Commitment Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.03(a).

“Commitment Increase” means an increase in the Commitments as set forth in Section 2.05.

“Commitment Increase Notice” has the meaning specified in Section 2.05.

“Commitment Increase Supplement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(c).

“Commitment Period” means the period from and including the Effective Date to the Termination Date.

“Company related Parties” means, the Borrower’s Subsidiaries and the directors and senior officers of the Borrower and of the Borrower’s Subsidiaries.

“Conforming Changes” means,  with respect  to the use,  administration of  or  any conventions associated with SOFr (but  not  including any changes to the
definition of “SOFr Adjustment”) or any proposed Term SOFr Successor rate for Term SOFr, as applicable, any conforming changes to the definitions of “Base rate”,
“SOFr”, “Term SOFr”, “Interest Period”, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest and other technical, administrative or operational
matters (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the definition of “Business Day”, “U.S. government Securities Business Day”, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment,
conversion  or  continuation  notices  and  length  of  lookback  periods)  as  may  be  appropriate,  in  the  reasonable  discretion  of  the  Agent,  to  reflect  the  adoption  and
implementation of such applicable rate(s) and to permit the administration thereof by the Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice for Dollars (or,
if the Agent determines that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or that no market practice for the administration of such rate
for Dollars exists, in such other manner of administration as the Agent determines is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and
any Notes).

“Consolidated” refers to the consolidation of accounts in accordance with gAAP.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period, for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, an amount equal to Consolidated Net Income
for such period plus (a) the following without duplication and to the extent deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) income tax expense, (ii) interest
expense, amortization or write off of debt discount and debt issuance costs and commissions, discounts and other fees and charges associated with Debt (including the
Advances), (iii) depreciation and amortization expense, (iv) amortization of intangibles and organization costs, (v) any extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring non-cash
expenses or losses (including, whether or not otherwise includable as a separate item in the statement of such Consolidated Net Income for such period, non-cash losses
on sales  of  assets  outside of  the ordinary course of  business),  (vi)  any extraordinary,  unusual  or  non-recurring  cash expenses  or  losses (including costs,  expenses  and
payments,  in  connection  with  actual  or  prospective  litigation,  legal  settlements,  fines,  judgments  or  orders)  during  such  period  and  (vii)  stock-based  compensation
expense, minus (b) the following to the extent included in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) Consolidated Interest Income, (ii) any extraordinary, unusual or
non-recurring non-cash income or gains
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(including,  whether  or  not  otherwise includable as  a separate item in the statement of  such Consolidated Net  Income for such period,  non-cash gains  on the sales of
assets outside of the ordinary course of business), (iii) any extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring cash income or gains during such period and (iv) income tax credits (to
the extent not netted from income tax expense).

“Consolidated  Interest  Expense”  means,  for  any  period,  for  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries  on  a  consolidated  basis,  the  total  cash  interest  expense
(including the portion of rent expense of the Borrower and its subsidiaries with respect to such period under capital leases that is treated as interest in accordance with
gAAP) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period with respect to all outstanding Debt of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (excluding all commissions, discounts
and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit and bankers’ acceptance financing but including net costs under Swap Contracts in respect of interest
rates to the extent such net costs are allocable to such period in accordance with gAAP.

“Consolidated Interest Income” means, for any period, for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the total cash interest income received
by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

“Consolidated  Net  Income”  means,  for  any  period,  for  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  the  net  income  (or  loss)  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries
determined on a consolidated basis and in accordance with gAAP.

“Consolidated Net Interest Coverage ratio” means,  as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of the four fiscal
quarters  most  recently  ended,  to  (b)  Consolidated  Net  Interest  Expense  as  of  such  date,  provided  however,  that  Consolidated  EBITDA  and  Consolidated  Net  Interest
Expense shall be calculated on a Pro Forma Basis to give effect to any Qualified Acquisition (if consummated) and any other acquisition or sale of a Subsidiary or operating
division thereof consummated during such period, for more than $3,000,000,000.

“Consolidated Net Interest Expense” means,  as of any date of determination, Consolidated Interest Expense minus Consolidated Interest Income on such
date.

“Control”  means the possession,  directly  or  indirectly,  of  the power to direct  or  cause the direction  of  the management  or  policies  of  a  Person,  whether
through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

“Convert”, “Conversion”, and “Converted” each refers to a conversion of Advances of one Type into Advances of the other Type pursuant to Section 2.09 or
2.10.

“Daily Simple SOFr”  with  respect  to  any  applicable  determination  date  means  SOFr published  on  such  date  on  the  Federal  reserve  Bank  of  New York’s
website (or any successor source).

“Debt” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person for the deferred
purchase price of property or services (other than trade payables incurred in the ordinary course of such Person’s business for which collection proceedings have not
been commenced, provided that trade payables for which collection proceedings have commenced shall not be included in the term “Debt” so long as the payment of
such trade payables is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and for which appropriate reserves are being maintained) to the extent included on the
Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance with gAAP, (c) all  obligations of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or
other  similar  instruments, (d) all  obligations  of  such  Person  created  or  arising  under  any  conditional  sale  or  other  similar  title  retention  agreement  with  respect  to
property acquired by such Person (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or lender under such agreement in the event of
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default are limited to repossession or sale of such property) to the extent included on the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance
with gAAP, (e) all obligations of such Person as lessee under leases that have been or should be, in accordance with gAAP, recorded as capital leases, (f) all obligations of
such Person in respect of acceptances, letters of credit with respect to which to such Person is the account party or similar extensions of credit to such Person, (g) the
aggregate net obligations of such Person in respect of hedge Agreements; provided that, for purposes of this Clause (g), Debt of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall
only include net obligations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in respect of hedge Agreements in an aggregate amount in excess of $50,000,000 as set forth on the
Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, as of the date of determination, in accordance with gAAP, (h) all Debt of others referred to in Clauses (a)
through (g) above or Clause (i) below guaranteed, by such Person, or in effect guaranteed by such Person, directly or indirectly, through a written agreement either (1) to
pay or purchase such Debt or to advance or supply funds for the payment or purchase of such Debt or (2) to purchase, sell or lease (as lessee or lessor) property, or to
purchase or sell services, primarily for the purpose of enabling the debtor to make payment of such Debt or to assure the holder of such Debt against loss and (i) all Debt
referred to in Clauses (a) through (h) above secured by (or for which the holder of such Debt has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on
property (including, without limitation, accounts and contract rights) owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment
of such Debt. In determining the amount of Debt of any Person of the type referred to in Clause (h) or (i) above, the amount thereof shall be equal to the lesser of (i) the
amount  of  the  guarantee  provided  or  the  fair  market  value  of  collateral  pledged  (as  applicable)  and  (ii)  the  amount  of  the  underlying  Debt  of  such  other  Person  so
guaranteed or secured.

“Default” means any Event of Default or any event that would constitute an Event of Default but for the requirement that notice be given or time elapse or
both.

“Default Interest” has the meaning specified in Section 2.08(b).

“Defaulting  Lender”  means  any  Lender  that  (i)  has  defaulted  in  its  obligation  to  fund  Advances  hereunder  within  two  Business  Days  of  the  date  such
Advances  were  required  to  be  funded  hereunder  unless  such  Lender  notifies  the  Agent  and  the  Borrower  in  writing  that  such  failure  is  the  result  of  such  Lender’s
determination that one or more conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable Default, shall be specifically identified
in such writing)  has  not  been satisfied,  (ii)  has  notified the Borrower or  the Agent  in  writing that  it  does not  intend to fund Advances  hereunder  (unless  such writing
relates to such Lender’s obligation to fund an Advance hereunder and states that such position is based on such Lender’s determination that a condition precedent to
funding  (which  condition  precedent,  together  with  any  applicable  Default,  shall  be  specifically  identified  in  such  writing)  cannot  be  satisfied)  or  (iii)  is  subject  to  a
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding, or to the appointment of the FDIC or other receiver, trustee or custodian; provided that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting
Lender solely by virtue of (i) the ownership or acquisition of an equity interest in such Lender or Affiliate thereof by any governmental Authority or (ii) in the case of a
solvent Lender,  a precautionary Undisclosed Administration with respect to such Lender in any case so long as such ownership interest or action does not result in or
provide such Lender with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or
permit such Lender (or such governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made with such Lender.

“Designated Jurisdiction”  means  any  country  or  territory  to  the  extent  that  such  country  or  territory  itself  is  the  subject  of  any  Sanctions  that  broadly
prohibit  dealings  with  that  country  or  territory  (which,  as  of  the  date  hereof,  are  the  Crimea region  of  Ukraine,  Cuba,  Iran,  North  korea,  Syria,  the  so-called  Donetsk
People’s republic and the so-called Luhansk People’s republic).
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“Dollars” and the sign “$” means the lawful money of the United States of America.

“Domestic Lending Office”  means,  with  respect  to  any  Lender,  the  office  of  such  Lender  specified  as  its  “Domestic  Lending  Office”  opposite  its  name on
Schedule 1A hereto or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Lender, or such other office of such Lender as such Lender may from time to time
specify to the Borrower and the Agent.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of
an EEA resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any
financial  institution  established  in  an  EEA  Member  Country  which  is  a  subsidiary  of  an  institution  described  in  clauses  (a)  or  (b)  of  this  definition  and  is  subject  to
consolidated supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA  resolution  Authority”  means  any  public  administrative  authority  or  any  Person  entrusted  with  public  administrative  authority  of  any  EEA  Member
Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

“Effective Date” means the date that all conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.01 shall have been satisfied or waived.

“Eligible Assignee” means (a) a Lender,  (b) an Affiliate of  a Lender,  (c)  an Approved Fund, (d) a  commercial  bank organized under  the laws of  the United
States, or any State thereof, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000; (e) a savings and loan association or savings bank organized under the
laws of the United States, or any State thereof, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000; (f) a commercial bank organized under the laws of any
other  country  that  is  a  member  of  the  OECD  or  has  concluded  special  lending  arrangements  with  the  International  Monetary  Fund  associated  with  its  general
Arrangements to Borrow or a political subdivision of any such country, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000, so long as such bank is acting
through  a  branch  or  agency  located  in  the  United  States;  (g) a  finance  company,  insurance  company  or  other  financial  institution  or  fund  (whether  a  corporation,
partnership,  trust  or  other  entity)  that  is  engaged  in  making,  purchasing  or  otherwise  holding  commercial  loans  in  the  ordinary  course  of  its  business  and  having  a
combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000 or an Approved Fund thereof and (h) any other Person (other than a natural person) approved by (i) the Agent, and
(ii) unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower (each such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such approval, in the
case of the Borrower,  to be deemed to have been given if  a response is not received within ten Business Days from the date on which request  for such approval  was
received  by  the  Borrower); provided that  notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  “Eligible  Assignee”  shall  not  include  the  Borrower  or  any  of  the  Borrower’s  Affiliates  or
Subsidiaries.

“Environmental Action” means any action, suit, demand, demand letter, claim, notice of non-compliance or violation, notice of liability or potential liability,
investigation, proceeding, consent order or consent agreement relating in any way to any Environmental Law, Environmental Permit or hazardous Materials or arising
from alleged injury or threat of injury to health, safety or the environment, including, without limitation, (a) by any governmental Authority for enforcement, cleanup,
removal,  response,  remedial  or  other  actions  or  damages  and  (b)  by  any  governmental  Authority  or  any  third  party  for  damages,  contribution,  indemnification,  cost
recovery, compensation or injunctive relief.
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“Environmental Law” means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, code, order, judgment, decree or judicial or agency

interpretation, policy or guidance relating to pollution or protection of the environment, health, safety or natural resources, including, without limitation, those relating
to the use, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, release or discharge of hazardous Materials.

“Environmental Permit” means any permit, approval, identification number, license or other authorization required under any Environmental Law.

“ErISA” means the Employee retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated and rulings issued
thereunder.

“ErISA Affiliate” means any Person that for purposes of Title IV of ErISA is a member of the Borrower’s controlled group, or under common control with the
Borrower, within the meaning of Section 414 of the Internal revenue Code.

“ErISA Event” means (a) the occurrence  of  a  reportable  event,  within  the  meaning of  Section 4043 of  ErISA,  with respect  to  any Plan unless  the 30-day
notice requirement with respect to such event has been waived by the PBgC; (b) the application for a minimum funding waiver with respect to a Plan; (c) the provision by
the Borrower, any ErISA Affiliate, the administrator of any Plan or Multiemployer Plan, the PBgC or any combination of the foregoing, of a notice of intent to terminate
such Plan or Multiemployer Plan pursuant to Section 4041A or 4041(a)(2) of ErISA (including any such notice with respect to a plan amendment referred to in Section
4041(e) of ErISA); (d) the cessation of operations at a facility of the Borrower or any ErISA Affiliate in the circumstances described in Section 4062(e) of ErISA; (e) the
incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ErISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal by the Borrower or any ErISA Affiliate from a Multiple Employer
Plan during a plan year for which it was a substantial employer, as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ErISA; (f) the incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ErISA Affiliates
of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from a Multiemployer Plan; (g) the imposition of a lien under Section 303 of ErISA with respect to any
Plan; (h)  the institution by the  PBgC of  proceedings  to  terminate a  Plan pursuant  to  Section 4042 of  ErISA,  or  the occurrence of  any event  or  condition described in
Section 4042 of ErISA that is reasonably expected to result in the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, a Plan; (i) the existence with respect to
any Plan of a non-exempt Prohibited Transaction (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the existence of a non-exempt Prohibited Transaction resulting from entering
into this Agreement or any transactions hereunder); (j) a determination that any Plan is, or is expected to be, in “at risk” status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the
Code or Section 303 of ErISA); or (k) a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, in “endangered” or “critical” status (within the meaning of Section
432 of the Code or Section 305 of ErISA).

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect
from time to time.

“Event of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 7.01.

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Agent, any Lender, or any other recipient of any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of the
Borrower hereunder  (a  “recipient”), (a) Taxes  imposed  as  a  result  of  a  present  or  former  connection  between such  recipient  and  the  jurisdiction  imposing  such  Tax
(other  than connections  solely  arising from such recipient  having executed,  delivered,  become a party  to,  performed its  obligations under,  received payments  under,
received or  perfected  a  security  interest  under,  enforced,  sold  or  assigned an interest  in,  or  engaged in  any other  transaction pursuant  to  this  Agreement),  (b)  Taxes
imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) and franchise Taxes, imposed by the jurisdiction (or any political
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subdivision thereof) under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its principal  office is located or, in the case of any Lender,  in which its Applicable
Lending Office is located, (c) any branch profits Taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar Tax imposed by any other jurisdiction in which the recipient
is located, (d) in  the  case  of  a  Lender  (other  than an assignee  pursuant  to  a  request  by  the  Borrower  under Section 2.18(b)),  any U.S.  federal  withholding  Tax that  is
imposed on amounts  payable to such Lender  at  the time such Lender  becomes a party  hereto (or  designates  a new lending office)  or  is  attributable  to such Lender’s
failure (other than as a result of a Change in Law) to comply with Section 2.17(e), except to the extent that such Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of
designation of a new lending office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to such withholding Tax pursuant to Section 2.17(a)
and (e) any withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

“Existing Termination Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.06(a).
 
“Extending Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 2.06(e).
 
“Extension Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.06(a).

 
“FATCA”  means  Sections  1471  through  1474  of  the  Code,  as  of  the  date  of  this  Agreement  (or  any  amended  or  successor  version  that  is  substantively

comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant
to  Section  1471(b)(1)  of  the  Code  and  any  fiscal  or  regulatory  legislation,  rules  or  practices  adopted  pursuant  to  any  intergovernmental  agreement  entered  into  in
connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code.

“FCPA” means the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977.

“Federal Funds Effective rate” means,  for  any day,  the rate per  annum calculated  by the Federal  reserve Bank of  New York based on such day’s  federal
funds transactions by depository institutions (as determined in such manner as the Federal reserve Bank of New York shall set forth on its public website from time to
time) and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal reserve Bank of New York as the federal funds effective rate; provided that if the Federal Funds
Effective rate as so determined would be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero.

“Fitch” means Fitch ratings Ltd.

“Foreign Lender” means any Lender that is not a “United States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans
and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business.

“gAAP” has the meaning specified in Section 1.03.

“governmental Authority” means the government of the United States of America or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state
or  local,  and any agency,  authority,  instrumentality,  regulatory  body,  court,  central  bank or  other  entity  exercising  executive,  legislative,  judicial,  taxing,  regulatory  or
administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“granting Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 9.07(g).
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“hazardous  Materials”  means (a) petroleum  and  petroleum  products,  byproducts  or  breakdown  products,  radioactive  materials,  asbestos-containing

materials, polychlorinated biphenyls and radon gas and (b) any other chemicals, materials or substances designated, classified or regulated as hazardous or toxic or as a
pollutant or contaminant under any environmental law, statute or regulation.

“hedge Agreements”  means  interest  rate  swap,  cap  or  collar  agreements,  interest  rate  future  or  option  contracts,  currency  swap  agreements,  currency
future or option contracts and other similar interest rate or currency exchange rate hedging agreements.

“Immaterial Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower (determined, solely for purposes of this definition, without regard to the last sentence of the
definition thereof), designated by the Borrower in writing to the Agent (a) the assets of which do not exceed 3% of the total Consolidated assets of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries, (b) the net income of which does not exceed 3% of the total Consolidated net income of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and (c) the revenues of which do
not exceed 3% of the total Consolidated revenues of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, in each case as determined as of, or (as applicable) for the four fiscal quarters
most recently ended on, the last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of the Borrower and in accordance with gAAP.

“Immediate  Family  Member”  means,  with  respect  to  any  specified  natural  person,  any  other  natural  person  that  has  any  relationship  to  such  specified
natural person by blood, marriage or adoption that is not more remote than first cousin.

“Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of the
Borrower hereunder.

“Indemnitee” has the meaning specified in Section 9.04(b).

“Information” has the meaning specified in Section 9.12.

“Initial Lenders” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Intellectual  Property”  means  all  trademarks,  service  marks,  trade  names,  Internet  domain  names  (as  defined  under  15  U.S.C.  §  1127),  designs,  logos,
slogans, and general intangibles of like nature, together with all goodwill,  registrations and applications related to the foregoing; all inventions (whether patentable or
unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice); patents and industrial designs (including any continuations, divisionals, continuations-in-part, renewals, reissues,
and applications for any of the foregoing); copyrights (including any registrations and applications for any of the foregoing); Software; “mask works” (as defined under 17
U.S.C.  § 901)  and any registrations and applications for  “mask works”;  technology,  trade secrets,  know-how, processes,  formulae,  algorithms, models,  methodologies,
discoveries, improvements, specifications and other proprietary or confidential information; database and data rights; drawings, records, books or other indicia, however
evidenced, of the foregoing; rights of publicity and privacy relating to the use of the names, likenesses, voices, signatures and biographical information of real persons;
lists  or  other  information  relating  to  customers,  competitors,  suppliers  or  any  other  Person;  in  each  case  the  right  to  claims  against  another  Person  relating  to  the
Intellectual Property; and in each case owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries on or after the Effective Date.

“Interest Period” means, for each Term SOFr rate Advance comprising part of the same Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Term SOFr
rate  Advance  or  the  date  of  the  Conversion  of  any  Base  rate  Advance  into  such  Term  SOFr  rate  Advance  and  ending  on  the  last  day  of  the  period  selected  by  the
Borrower pursuant to the provisions below and, thereafter, with respect to Term SOFr rate Advances, each subsequent period
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commencing on the last day of the immediately preceding Interest Period and ending on the last day of the period selected by the Borrower pursuant to the provisions
below. The duration of each such Interest Period shall be one or three months, as the Borrower may, upon notice received by the Agent not later than 11:00 A.M. (New
York City time) on the third Business Day prior to the first day of such Interest Period, select; provided, however, that:

(a) the Borrower may not select any Interest Period that ends after the Termination Date;

(b) Interest Periods commencing on the same date for Term SOFr rate Advances comprising part of the same Borrowing shall be of the
same duration;

(c) whenever the last day of any Interest Period would otherwise occur on a day other than a Business Day, the last day of such Interest
Period shall  be extended to occur on the next succeeding Business Day, provided, however that,  if  such extension would cause the last day of such Interest  Period to
occur in the next following calendar month, the last day of such Interest Period shall occur on the next preceding Business Day; and

(d) whenever  the  first  day  of  any  Interest  Period  occurs  on  a  day  of  an  initial  calendar  month  for  which  there  is  no  numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month that succeeds such initial calendar month by the number of months equal to the number of months in such Interest Period, such
Interest Period shall end on the last Business Day of such succeeding calendar month.

“Internal revenue Code” or the “Code” means the Internal  revenue Code of 1986,  as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated and
rulings issued thereunder.

“IrS” means the United States Internal revenue Service.

“Lenders” means the Initial Lenders as set forth on Schedule 1 and each Person that shall become a party hereto pursuant to Section 2.05 or 9.07.

“Lien” means any lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance of any kind.

“Material  Adverse  Effect”  shall  mean  the  result  of  one  or  more  events,  changes  or  effects  which,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  could  reasonably  be
expected  to  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  (a)  the  results  of  the  financial  condition  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  taken  as  a  whole  or  (b)  the  validity  or
enforceability of this Agreement or the rights, remedies and benefits available to the parties hereunder.

“Maximum rate” has the meaning specified in Section 9.14.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., its successors and assigns.

“Multiemployer Plan”  means  a  multiemployer  plan,  as  defined  in  Section  4001(a)(3)  of  ErISA,  to  which  the  Borrower  or  any  ErISA  Affiliate  is  making  or
accruing an obligation to make contributions, or has within any of the preceding five plan years made or accrued an obligation to make contributions.

“Multiple Employer Plan” means a single employer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a)(15) of ErISA, that (a) is maintained for employees of the Borrower or
any ErISA Affiliate and at least one Person other than the Borrower and the ErISA Affiliates or (b) was so maintained and in respect of which the Borrower or any ErISA
Affiliate could have liability under Section 4064 or 4069 of ErISA in the event such plan has been or were to be terminated.

“Non-Consenting Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 9.01(c).

“Non-Extending Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 2.06(b).
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“Note” means a promissory note of the Borrower payable to any Lender, delivered pursuant to a request made under Section 2.22 in substantially the form

of Exhibit A hereto, evidencing the aggregate indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from the Advances made by such Lender.

“Notice Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.06(b).

“Notice of Borrowing” has the meaning specified in Section 2.02(a).

“OFAC” means the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.

“Offered Increase Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 2.05(a).

“Other Agents” means the collective reference to the joint lead arrangers, joint bookrunners, co-syndication agents, co-documentation agents, co-managing
agents and co-agents described on the cover page of this Agreement.

“Other  Taxes”  means  all  present  or  future  stamp,  court,  intangible,  recording,  filing,  documentary  or  similar  Taxes  arising  from  any  payment  made
hereunder or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement.

“Overnight rate” means,  for any day the greater of  (i)  the Federal  Funds Effective rate and (ii)  an overnight rate reasonably determined by the Agent in
accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

“Participant” has the meaning specified Section 9.07(d).

“Participant register” has the meaning specified Section 9.07(d).

“Patriot Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, Pub. L.
107-56, signed into law October 26, 2001.

“PBgC” means the Pension Benefit guaranty Corporation (or any successor).

“Permitted holders”  means  (a)  any  of  Larry  Ellison  and  his  Affiliated  Parties  and  (b)  any  “group”  within  the  meaning  of  Section  13(d)  of  the  Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 consisting solely of persons described in clause (a) or of which any of the Persons described in clause (a) are members provided that without giving
effect  to  the  existence  of  such  group  or  any  other  group,  any  of  the  Persons  described  in  clause  (a),  collectively,  beneficially  own  Voting  Stock  of  the  Borrower
representing 50% or more of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Borrower then held by such group.

“Permitted Liens” means, with respect to any Person, (a) Liens for taxes, assessments and governmental charges and levies to the extent not required to be
paid under Section 6.01(b) hereof; (b) pledges or deposits to secure obligations under workers’ compensation, unemployment, insurance and other social security laws or
similar legislation; (c) pledges or deposits to secure performance in connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than contracts for the payment of money) or leases to
which such Person is  a party; (d) deposits  to secure public  or  statutory obligations  of  such Person;  (e)  materialmen’s,  mechanics’,  carriers’,  workers’,  repairmen’s and
other like Liens in the ordinary course of business, or deposits to obtain the release of such Liens to the extent such Liens, in the aggregate, would not have a Material
Adverse Effect; (f) deposits to secure surety and appeal bonds to which such Person is a party; (g) other pledges or deposits for similar purposes in the ordinary course of
business, including pledges and deposits to secure indemnity, performance or other similar bonds and in connection with insurance; (h) Liens created by or resulting from
any litigation or legal proceeding which at the time is currently being contested in
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good faith by appropriate proceedings; (i) leases made, or existing on property acquired, in the ordinary course of business; (j) landlords’ Liens under leases to which such
Person is a party; (k) zoning restrictions, easements, licenses, and restrictions on the use of real property or minor irregularities in title thereto, which, with respect to
property that is material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, do not materially impair the use of such property in the operation of the business of such
Person or  the  value of  such  property  for  the  purpose  of  such  business; (l) Liens  consisting  of  leases  or  subleases  and licenses  or  sublicenses  granted to  others  in  the
ordinary course of business not interfering in any material respect with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and any interest or title of a
lessor or licensor under any lease or license, as applicable; (m) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payment of customs
duties in connection with the importation of goods; and (n) Liens which constitute a lender’s rights of set-off of a customary nature.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, governmental authority
or other entity.

“Plan” means a Single Employer Plan or a Multiple Employer Plan.

“Pricing grid” means the grid set forth below:

Category
Term SOFR Rate Advances -

Applicable Margin (basis points)
Base Rate Advances – Applicable

Margin (basis points) Commitment Fee (basis points)

Category 1 87.5 bps 0.00 bps 8.0 bps

Category 2 100 bps 0.00 bps 10.0 bps

Category 3 112.5 bps 12.5 bps 12.5 bps

Category 4 125.0 bps 25.0 bps 15.0 bps

Category 5 150.0 bps 50.0 bps 20.0 bps

“Prime rate”  means  the  rate  of  interest  per  annum  set  by  the  Agent  based  upon  various  factors  including  costs  and  desired  return,  general  economic
conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate.  Any change in such
prime rate announced by the Agent shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement of such change.

“Pro Forma Basis” means, with respect to any calculation or compliance with any covenant hereunder, after giving effect to any acquisition, any asset sale of
a Subsidiary or operating entity for which historical financial statements for the relevant period are available or any incurrence of Debt (including pro forma adjustments
arising  out  of  events  which  are  directly  attributable  to  such  acquisition,  asset  sale  or  any  incurrence  of  Debt,  are  factually  supportable  and  are  expected  to  have  a
continuing impact,  in  each case as  determined on a basis  consistent  with Article  11 of  regulation S-X of  the Securities  Act,  as  interpreted by the SEC,  and such other
adjustments as are reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, in each case as certified by the chief accounting officer of the Borrower) using, for purposes of determining such
calculation or compliance, the historical financial statements of all entities or assets so acquired or sold and the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries, which shall be
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reformulated as if such acquisition or asset sale, and all other acquisitions or asset sales that have been consummated during the period, and any Debt or other liabilities
to be incurred or repaid in connection therewith had been consummated and incurred or repaid at the beginning of such period.

“Prohibited Transaction” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 406 of ErISA and Section 4975(c) of the Code.

“PTE”: a Prohibited Transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

“Public Debt rating” means, as of any date of determination, the rating that has been most recently announced by any of S&P, Moody’s or Fitch, as the case
may be, for any class of non-credit enhanced long-term senior unsecured debt issued by the Borrower. For purposes of the foregoing, (a) if any rating established by S&P,
Moody’s  or  Fitch shall  be  changed,  such change shall  be effective  as  of  the date on which such change is  first  announced publicly  by  the rating  Agency making such
change; and (b) if S&P, Moody’s or Fitch shall change the basis on which ratings are established, each reference to the Public Debt rating announced by S&P, Moody’s or
Fitch, as the case may be, shall refer to the then equivalent rating by S&P, Moody’s or Fitch, as the case may be.

“Qualified Acquisition” means a transaction permitted under this Agreement and consummated on or after the Effective Date, by which the Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries (i) acquires any going concern or business or all or substantially all of the assets of any firm, corporation or limited liability company, or division thereof,
whether through purchase of assets, merger or otherwise or (ii) directly or indirectly acquires at least a majority (in number of votes) of the equity securities of a Person if
the aggregate amount of Debt that is incurred or intended to be incurred by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries to finance the purchase price and other consideration for
such  transaction,  plus  the  amount  of  Debt  assumed  or  intended  to  be  assumed  by  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries  in  connection  with  such  transaction,  is  at  least
$3,000,000,000 of Debt.

“rating Agencies” means any of S&P, Moody’s or Fitch.

“register” has the meaning specified in Section 9.07(c).

“related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and
of such Person’s Affiliates.

“required Lenders” means at any time Lenders (other than Defaulting Lenders) owed at least a majority in interest of the then aggregate revolving Credit
Exposures or, if no Advances are then outstanding, Lenders (other than Defaulting Lenders) having at least a majority in interest of the Commitments.

“requisite Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 7.01(d).

“rescindable Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 8.09.

“resignation Effective Date” has the meaning specified in Section 8.06.
 

“resolution Authority” means an EEA resolution Authority or, with respect to any Uk Financial Institution, a Uk resolution Authority.

“responsible Officer” means, with respect to any Person, any board-appointed officer, the chief executive officer, president, chief financial officer, general
counsel, treasurer, assistant treasurer, secretary, assistant secretary, any senior vice president or vice president of such Person.  
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“revolving Credit Exposure” means, with respect to any Lender at any time, the outstanding aggregate principal amount of such Lender’s Advances at such

time.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s ratings Services, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business, its successors and assigns.

“Sanctioned Persons Lists” means Specially Designated Nationals List, Foreign Sanctions Evader List, or Sectoral Sanctions Identifications List, or similar lists
maintained by OFAC.

“Sanctions” means any international economic sanction administered or enforced by the United States government (including those administered by OFAC
or the U.S. Department of State), the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, her Majesty’s Treasury or other relevant sanctions authority.

“Scheduled Unavailability Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.15(b).

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933.

“Single Employer Plan” means a single employer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a)(15) of ErISA, that (a) is maintained for employees of the Borrower or any
ErISA Affiliate and no Person other than the Borrower and the ErISA Affiliates or (b) was so maintained and in respect of which the Borrower or any ErISA Affiliate could
have liability under Section 4062 or 4069 of ErISA in the event such plan has been or were to be terminated.

“SOFr” means the Secured Overnight Financing rate as administered by the Federal reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator).

“SOFr Adjustment” means 0.10% (10 basis points).

“Software” means any and all (a) computer programs, including any and all software implementation of algorithms, models and methodologies, whether in
source code or object code form, (b) databases and compilations, including any and all data and collections of data, and (c) all documentation, including user manuals and
training materials, relating to any of the foregoing.

“SPC” has the meaning specified in Section 9.07(g).

“Stockholders’ Equity” means, at any date, stockholders’ equity of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, determined on a Consolidated basis, on such date.

“Subsidiary” of any Person means any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust or estate of which (or in which) more than 50%
of (a) the issued and outstanding capital stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether at
the time capital stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall or might have voting power upon the occurrence of any contingency), (b) the interest in the
capital  or profits  of  such limited liability company,  partnership or joint  venture or (c)  the beneficial  interest  in such trust or estate,  is  at  the time directly or indirectly
owned or Controlled by such Person, by such Person and one or more of its other Subsidiaries or by one or more of such Person’s other Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the
foregoing,  references  in  this  Agreement  to “Subsidiary”  shall  not  include any Person that  would otherwise be a  Subsidiary  of  the Borrower pursuant  to  the foregoing
portion of this definition and that the Borrower does not directly or indirectly Control; provided that such Person is also an Immaterial Subsidiary.
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“Swap Contract”  means  (a)  any  and  all  rate  swap  transactions,  basis  swaps,  credit  derivative  transactions,  forward  rate  transactions,  commodity  swaps,

commodity  options,  forward  commodity  contracts,  equity  or  equity  index  swaps  or  options,  bond  or  bond  price  or  bond  index  swaps  or  options  or  forward  bond  or
forward  bond  price  or  forward  bond  index  transactions,  interest  rate  options,  forward  foreign  exchange  transactions,  cap  transactions,  floor  transactions,  collar
transactions, currency swap transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of
any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement,
and  (b)  any  and  all  transactions  of  any  kind,  and  the  related  confirmations,  which  are  subject  to  the  terms  and  conditions  of,  or  governed  by,  any  form  of  master
agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement
relating to any of the foregoing (any such master agreement,  together with any related schedules,  a “Master Agreement”), including any such obligations or liabilities
under any Master Agreement.

“Taxes”  means  all  present  or  future  taxes,  levies,  imposts,  duties,  deductions,  withholdings,  assessments,  fees  or  other  charges  imposed  by  any
governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

“Termination Date” means the earlier of (a) the fifth anniversary of the Effective Date and (b) the date of termination in whole of the Commitments pursuant
to Section 2.04 or 7.01.

“Term SOFr” means:

(a)  for  any  Interest  Period  with  respect  to  a  Term  SOFr  rate  Advance,  the  rate  per  annum  equal  to  the  Term  SOFr  Screen  rate  two  U.S.  government
Securities Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period with a term equivalent to such Interest Period; provided that if the rate is not published prior
to 11:00 a.m. on such determination date then Term SOFr means the Term SOFr Screen rate on the first U.S. government Securities Business Day immediately prior
thereto, in each case, plus the SOFr Adjustment for such Interest Period; and

(b) for any interest calculation with respect to a Base rate Advance on any date, the rate per annum equal to the Term SOFr Screen rate with a term of one
month commencing that day,

provided that if the Term SOFr determined in accordance with either of the foregoing provisions (a) or (b) of this definition would otherwise be less than zero, the Term
SOFr shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Term SOFr rate Advance” means an Advance that bears interest at a rate based on clause (a) of the definition of Term SOFr.

“Term SOFr rate Lending Office” means, with respect to any Lender, the office of such Lender specified as its “Term SOFr rate Lending Office” opposite its
name on Schedule 1A hereto or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Lender (or, if no such office is specified, its Domestic Lending Office), or
such other office of such Lender as such Lender may from time to time specify to the Borrower and the Agent.

“Term SOFr replacement Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.15(b)(i).

“Term SOFr Screen rate” means the forward-looking SOFr term rate administered by CME (or any successor administrator satisfactory to the Agent) and
published on the applicable reuters screen page (or such other commercially available source providing such quotations as may be designated by the Agent from time to
time).

17



 
“Term SOFr Successor rate” has the meaning specified in Section 2.15(b)(i).

“Uk Financial Institution” means any BrrD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PrA rulebook (as amended form time to time) promulgated by
the United kingdom Prudential  regulation Authority)  or  any person subject  to IFPrU 11.6 of  the FCA handbook (as  amended from time to time)  promulgated by the
United kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment
firms.

“Uk resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority having responsibility for the resolution of any Uk Financial
Institution.

“Undisclosed  Administration”  means,  with  respect  to  a  Lender  that  is  the  subject  of  home  jurisdiction  supervision  by  the  Dutch  Central  Bank  (De
Nederlandsche Bank N.V.) under the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, “Wft”), an undisclosed administration (stille curatele) applicable to,
and imposed on, such Lender by the Dutch Central Bank (De Nederlandsche Bank N.V.) under or based on section 1:76 of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het
financieel toezicht, “Wft”), as to and in relation to which the Dutch Central Bank (De Nederlandsche Bank N.V.) has not publicly disclosed the appointment of a custodian
(curator) with regard to such Lender.

 
“U.S. government Securities Business Day” means any Business Day, except any Business Day on which any of the Securities Industry and Financial Markets

Association, the New York Stock Exchange or the Federal reserve Bank of New York is not open for business because such day is a legal holiday under the federal laws of
the United States or the laws of the State of New York, as applicable.
 

“U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate” has the meaning specified in Section 2.17(e)(ii)(B)(III).

“Voting Stock” means capital stock issued by a corporation, or equivalent interests in any other Person, the holders of which are ordinarily, in the absence of
contingencies, entitled to vote for the election of directors (or persons performing similar functions) of such Person, even if the right so to vote has been suspended by
the happening of such a contingency.

“write-Down  and  Conversion  Powers”  means,  (a)  with  respect  to  any  EEA  resolution  Authority,  the  write-down  and  conversion  powers  of  such  EEA
resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in
the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the United kingdom, any powers of the applicable resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel,
reduce, modify or change the form of a liability of any Uk Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that
liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been
exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those
powers.

Section 1.02 Computation of Time Periods. In this Agreement in the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later specified date,
the word “from” means “from and including” and the words “to” and “until” each mean “to but excluding”.

Section 1.03 Accounting  Terms;  Terms  generally.  All  terms  of  an  accounting  or  financial  nature  shall  be  construed  in  accordance  with  generally
accepted accounting principles (“gAAP”), as in effect in the United States from time to time, provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Agent that the Borrower requests
an  amendment  to  any  provision  hereof  to  eliminate  the  effect  of  any  change,  occurring  after  the  date  hereof,  in  gAAP or  in  the  application  thereof  (or  if  the  Agent
notifies the Borrower that the required Lenders request an amendment of any
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provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether such notice is given before or after such change in gAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall
be applied on the basis of gAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such
provision  amended  in  accordance  herewith.  The  definitions  of  terms  herein  shall  apply  equally  to  the  singular  and  plural  forms  of  the  terms  defined.  whenever  the
context  may  require,  any  pronoun  shall  include  the  corresponding  masculine,  feminine  and  neuter  forms.  The  words  “include”,  “includes”  and  “including”  shall  be
deemed to  be  followed by  the  phrase  “but  not  limited  to”.  The  word  “will”  shall  be  construed  to  have  the  same meaning  and  effect  as  the  word  “shall”.  Unless  the
context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement,
instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or
modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns, (c) the words “herein”, “hereof”
and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references
herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words
“asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash,
securities, accounts and contract rights. Any reference herein to a merger, transfer, consolidation, assignment, sale, disposition or conveyance, or similar term, shall be
deemed to apply to a division of or by a limited liability company or limited partnership,  or an allocation of  assets to a series of a limited liability company or limited
partnership (or the unwinding of such a division or allocation), as if it were a merger, transfer, consolidation, assignment, sale, disposition or conveyance, or similar term,
as applicable, to, of or with a separate Person. Any division of a limited liability company or limited partnership shall constitute a separate Person hereunder (and each
division of any limited liability company or limited partnership that is a Subsidiary, joint venture or any other like term shall also constitute such a Person or entity).

Section 1.04 rounding. Any financial ratios required to be maintained by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement shall be calculated by dividing
the  appropriate  component  by  the  other  component,  carrying  the  result  to  one  place  more  than  the  number  of  places  by  which  such  ratio  is  expressed  herein  and
rounding the result up or down to the nearest number (with a rounding-up if there is no nearest number).

Section 1.05 Times of Day. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to times of day shall be references to New York City time (daylight or
standard, as applicable).

Section 1.06 Interest rates. The Agent does not warrant, nor accept responsibility, nor shall the Agent have any liability with respect to the
administration, submission or any other matter related to the rates in the definition of “SOFr” any reference rate referred to herein or with respect to any rate (including,
for the avoidance of doubt, the selection of such rate and any related spread or other adjustment) that is an alternative or replacement for or successor to any such rate
(including, without limitation, any Term SOFr Successor rate) or the effect of any of the foregoing, or of any Conforming Changes. The Agent and its affiliates or other
related entities may engage in transactions or other activities that affect any reference rate referred to herein, or any alternative, successor or replacement rate
(including, without limitation, any Term SOFr Successor rate) (or any component of any of the foregoing) or any related spread or other adjustments thereto, in each
case, in a manner adverse to the Borrower.  The Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain any reference rate referred to
herein or any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including, without limitation, any Term SOFr Successor rate) (or any component of any of the foregoing), in
each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrower, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind,
including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or
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expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or other action or omission related to or affecting the selection,
determination, or calculation of any rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

ARTICLE I

AMOUNTS AND TERMS OF THE ADVANCES

Section 2.01 The Advances. Each Lender severally agrees, on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, to make Advances to the Borrower in
Dollars  from time to time on any Business  Day during the Commitment Period in an aggregate amount that will  not result  in such Lender’s  revolving Credit  Exposure
exceeding at any time the amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 1 hereto or, if such Lender has entered into any Assignment and Acceptance or is
an Additional  Lender,  as  set  forth for  such Lender  in  the register  maintained by the Agent  pursuant  to Section 9.07(c),  as  such amount  may be reduced or  increased
pursuant to Section 2.04 or 2.05 (such Lender’s “Commitment”). within the limits of this Section 2.01, the Borrower may borrow under this Section 2.01, prepay pursuant
to Section 2.11 and reborrow under this Section 2.01.

Section 2.02 Making the Advances.  (a)  The  Borrower  may borrow under  the  Commitments  during  the  Commitment  Period  on  any  Business  Day,
provided that each Borrowing shall be made on notice, given not later than 11:00 A.M. (New York City time) on the third Business Day prior to the date of the proposed
Borrowing in the case of a Borrowing consisting of Term SOFr rate Advances or the Business Day of the proposed Borrowing in the case of a Borrowing consisting of Base
rate Advances, by the Borrower to the Agent, which shall give to each Lender prompt notice thereof. Each such notice of a Borrowing (a “Notice of Borrowing”) shall be in
writing (or by telephone, confirmed immediately in writing) in substantially the form of Exhibit B hereto, specifying therein the requested (i) date of such Borrowing, (ii)
[reserved], (iii) Type of  Advances comprising such Borrowing,  (iv)  aggregate amount of  such Borrowing,  (v)  remittance instructions and (vi)  in the case of  a Borrowing
consisting  of  Term  SOFr  rate  Advances,  initial  Interest  Period  for  each  such  Advance.  Each  Lender  shall,  before  1:00  P.M.  (New  York  City  time)  on  the  date  of  such
Borrowing, make available for the account of its Applicable Lending Office to the Agent at the Agent’s Account, in same day funds, such Lender’s ratable portion of such
Borrowing. After the Agent’s receipt of such funds and upon fulfillment of the applicable conditions set forth in Article IV, the Agent will make such funds available to the
Borrower at the Agent’s address referred to in Section 9.02

(b) Anything in subsection (a) above to the contrary notwithstanding, (i) the Borrower may not select Term SOFr rate Advances for any
Borrowing if the aggregate obligation of the Lenders to make Term SOFr rate Advances in such currency shall then be suspended pursuant to Section 2.09 or 2.13 and (ii)
Term SOFr rate Advances may not be outstanding at any time as part of more than ten separate Borrowings.

 

(c) Each Notice of Borrowing shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower. In the case of any Borrowing that the related Notice of
Borrowing specifies is to be comprised of Term SOFr rate Advances, the Borrower shall indemnify each Lender against any loss, cost or expense incurred by such Lender
as a result of any failure to fulfill on or before the date specified in such Notice of Borrowing for such Borrowing the applicable conditions set forth in Article IV, including,
without  limitation,  any  loss  (excluding  loss  of  anticipated  profits),  cost  or  expense  incurred  by  reason  of  the  liquidation  or  reemployment  of  deposits  or  other  funds
acquired by such Lender to fund the Advance to be made by such Lender as part of such Borrowing when such Advance, as a result of such failure, is not made on such
date.

(d) Unless the Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to the proposed time of any Borrowing that such Lender will  not
make available to the Agent such Lender’s share of such Borrowing, the
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Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share available on such date in accordance with subsection (a) of this Section 2.02 and may, in reliance upon such
assumption, make available to the Borrower a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made its share of the applicable Borrowing available to the
Agent, then such Lender and the Borrower severally agree to pay to the Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount with interest thereon, for each day from
and including the date such amount is made available to the Borrower to but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at (i) in the case of a payment to be made by
such Lender, the greater of the Federal Funds Effective rate and a rate determined by the Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation
and (ii) in the case of a payment to be made by the Borrower, the interest rate applicable to Base rate Advances. If the Borrower and such Lender shall pay such interest
to the Agent for the same or an overlapping period, the Agent shall promptly remit to the Borrower the amount of such interest paid by the Borrower for such period. If
such Lender pays such amount to the Agent, then such amount shall constitute such Lender’s Advance included in such Borrowing. Any payment by the Borrower shall be
without prejudice to any claim the Borrower may have against a Lender that shall have failed to make such payment to the Agent.

(e) The failure of any Lender to make the Advance to be made by it as part of any Borrowing shall not relieve any other Lender of its
obligation,  if  any,  hereunder  to  make its  Advance  on the  date  of  such  Borrowing,  but  no Lender  shall  be  responsible  for  the  failure  of  any other  Lender  to  make the
Advance to be made by such other Lender on the date of any Borrowing.

(f) with respect to SOFr or Term SOFr, the Agent will have the right, in consultation with the Borrower, to make Conforming Changes
from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,  any amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will  become effective without any
further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement; provided that, with respect to any such amendment effected, the Agent shall post each such amendment
implementing such Conforming Changes to the Borrower and the Lenders reasonably promptly after such amendment becomes effective.

Section  2.03 Fees.  (a) Commitment  Fee.  The  Borrower  agrees  to  pay  to  the  Agent  for  the  account  of  each  Lender  a  commitment  fee  (the
“Commitment Fee”)  on  the  average  daily  amount  of  such  Lender’s  unused  Commitment  from  (i)  the  Effective  Date,  in  the  case  of  each  Initial  Lender,  (ii)  from  the
effective date specified in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Lender, in the case of each other Lender (other than an Additional Lender) and
(iii) from the effective date specified in the Additional Lender Supplement pursuant to which it became a Lender, in the case of each Additional Lender, in each case, until
the Termination Date at a rate per annum equal to the rate set forth in the Pricing grid under the column headed “Commitment Fee” corresponding to the Category in
effect  (the  “Applicable  rate”),  payable  in  arrears  quarterly  on  the  last  Business  Day  of  each  March,  June,  September  and  December  before  the  Termination  Date,
commencing with June, 2022, and on the Termination Date, but excluding, in the case of any Defaulting Lender, any period during which it is a Defaulting Lender. The
Commitment  Fee  shall  be  calculated  quarterly  in  arrears,  and  if  there  is  any  change  in  the  Applicable  rate  during  any  quarter,  the  average  daily  amount  shall  be
computed and multiplied by the Applicable rate separately for each period during such quarter that such Applicable rate was in effect.

(b) Agent’s Fees.  The  Borrower  shall  pay  to  the  Agent  for  its  own account  such  fees  as  may from time to  time be  agreed  in  writing
between the Borrower and the Agent.

Section 2.04 Termination or reduction of  the Commitments.  The Borrower  shall  have the  right,  upon at  least  three  Business  Days’  notice  to  the
Agent, to terminate in whole or reduce ratably in part the unused portions of the respective Commitments of the Lenders, provided that each partial reduction shall be in
the aggregate amount of $10,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof and provided further that the aggregate
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amount of the Commitments of the Lenders shall not be reduced to an amount that is less than the sum of the total revolving Credit Exposures then outstanding and
provided further that once terminated, a Commitment may not be reinstated.

Section 2.05 Commitment Increases. (a) The Borrower shall have the right, at any time and from time to time after the Effective Date, to increase
the  Commitments  by  a  proportionate  amount  pursuant  to  this Section  2.05 subject  to  the  restrictions  of  subsection  (d)  of  this Section  2.05 (any  such  increase,  a
“Commitment Increase”); provided that (i) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of the Commitment Increase or shall result from the
proposed Commitment Increase and (ii) the representations and warranties contained in Section 5.01 shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the
date of the Commitment Increase as if made on and as of such date (or, if any such representation and warranty is expressly stated to have been made as of a specific
date, as of such specific date). In the event that the Borrower wishes to increase the aggregate Commitments at any time, the Borrower shall notify the Agent in writing of
the amount (the “Offered Increase Amount”) of such proposed increase (such notice, a “Commitment Increase Notice”); provided, that the aggregate amount of any such
initial  increase in the Commitment shall  be at  least $250,000,000, and,  any subsequent increases in the Commitments shall  be in increments of at  least $100,000,000
thereafter. The Borrower shall (x) first, offer the existing Lenders the opportunity to participate in such increase of their Commitments among such existing Lenders to
provide the Offered Increase Amount pursuant to subsection 2.05(c),  and each such Lender shall,  within five Business Days after receipt  of such notice (or such other
period as may be specified by the Agent and the Borrower), notify the Agent whether it agrees to increase its Commitment and, if so, whether by an amount equal to,
greater than, or less than its pro rata amount of such requested increase (and any Lender not responding within such time period shall be deemed to have declined to
increase its Commitment) and (y) second, to the extent that Commitment Increases are not agreed to by existing Lenders under Clause (x) (as accepted and allocated by
the Agent and the Borrower as they shall agree), offer one or more additional banks, financial institutions or other entities (approved by the Agent, such approval not to
be unreasonably withheld) the opportunity to participate in all or a portion of the Offered Increase Amount pursuant to subsection 2.05(b).

(b) Any additional bank, financial institution or other entity that constitutes an Eligible Assignee which the Borrower selects to offer
participation in a Commitment Increase and which agrees to provide a Commitment in an amount so offered and accepted by it pursuant to subsection 2.05(a) (y) shall
execute an Additional Lender Supplement (in substantially the form specified by the Agent, each an “Additional Lender Supplement”) with the Borrower and the Agent,
whereupon  such  bank,  financial  institution  or  other  entity  (herein  called  an  “Additional Lender”)  shall  become a  Lender  for  all  purposes  and  to  the  same extent  as  if
originally a party hereto and shall be bound by and entitled to the benefits of this Agreement, provided that the Commitment of any such Additional Lender shall be in an
amount not less than $10,000,000 or such smaller amount as the Borrower and Agent may otherwise agree.

(c) Any  existing  Lender  which  accepts  an  offer  to  increase  its  Commitment  pursuant  to  subsection 2.05(a) (x)  shall  execute  a
Commitment  Increase  Supplement  (in  substantially  the  form  specified  by  the  Agent,  each  a  “Commitment  Increase  Supplement”)  with  the  Borrower  and  the  Agent
whereupon such Lender shall be bound by and entitled to the benefits of this Agreement with respect to the full amount of its Commitment as so increased.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.05, (i) in no event shall any Commitment Increase or transaction effected
pursuant to this Section 2.05 cause the aggregate Commitments hereunder to exceed $8,000,000,000 and (ii) no existing Lender shall have any obligation to increase its
Commitment unless it agrees to do so in its sole discretion.
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(e) Upon the effectiveness of a Commitment Increase, the Agent shall allocate among the Lenders such amount of Advances as may be

then outstanding  as  is  necessary  so  that,  after  giving  effect  to  such  allocations  and any  Borrowings  on such  date  of  all  or  any  portion of  the  relevant  increase  of  the
Commitment, the principal balance of all outstanding Advances owing to a Lender is equivalent to each such Lender’s Applicable Percentage (after giving effect to any
nonratable increase in the Commitment resulting from the exercise of a Commitment Increase pursuant to this Section 2.05) of the then revolving Credit Exposure.

If the Commitments are increased in accordance with this Section 2.05, the Agent and the Borrower shall determine the effective date and final
allocation of such increase and shall notify the Lenders thereof. No further amendment or other document (other than the Commitment Increase Supplements and/or
Additional Lender Supplements referred to above) shall be required for such increase to be effective.

Section 2.06 Extension Option.

(a) requests for Extension. Subject  to paragraph (f)  below, the Borrower may, by notice to the Agent (who shall  promptly notify the
Lenders) not earlier than 120 days and not later than 35 days prior to any anniversary of the Effective Date (each such anniversary an “Extension Date”), request that each
Lender extend such Lender’s Termination Date for an additional 365 days from the Termination Date then in effect hereunder (the “Existing Termination Date”).

(b) Lender Election to Extend. Each Lender,  acting in  its  sole and individual  discretion,  shall,  by notice to the Agent given not earlier
than 90 days prior to the applicable Extension Date and not later than the date (the “Notice Date”) that is 20 days prior to the applicable Extension Date, advise the Agent
whether or not such Lender agrees to such extension.  Each Lender that determines not to so extend its  Termination Date (a “Non-Extending Lender”) shall  notify the
Agent of such fact promptly after such determination (but in any event no later than the Notice Date), and any Lender that does not so advise the Agent on or before the
Notice Date shall be deemed to be a Non-Extending Lender. The election of any Lender to agree to such extension shall not obligate any other Lender to so agree.

(c) Notification by Agent. The Agent shall notify the Borrower of each Lender’s determination under this Section no later than the date
15 days prior to the applicable Extension Date (or, if such date is not a Business Day, on the next preceding Business Day).

(d) Additional  Commitment  Lenders.  The  Borrower  shall  have  the  right  on  or  before  the  applicable  Extension  Date  to  replace  the
Commitments of any Non-Extending Lenders, and add as “Lenders” under this Agreement, one or more Eligible Assignees (each, an “Additional Commitment Lender”) as
provided  in Section 9.07,  each  of  which  Additional  Commitment  Lenders  shall  have  entered  into  an  Assignment  and  Acceptance  pursuant  to  which  such  Additional
Commitment Lender shall, effective as of the applicable Extension Date, undertake a Commitment (and, if any such Additional Commitment Lender is already a Lender, its
Commitment shall be in addition to such Lender’s Commitment hereunder on such date).

(e) Minimum Extension requirement. If (and only if) the total of the Commitments of the Lenders that have agreed so to extend their
Termination  Date  (each,  an  “Extending Lender”)  and  the  additional  Commitments  of  the  Additional  Commitment  Lenders  shall  be  more  than  50%  of  the  aggregate
amount  of  the  Commitments  in  effect  immediately  prior  to  the  applicable  Extension  Date,  then,  effective  as  of  such  Extension  Date,  the  Termination  Date  of  each
Extending Lender and of each Additional Commitment Lender shall be extended to the date falling 365 days after the Existing Termination Date (except that, if such date
is not a Business Day, such Termination Date as so extended shall be the next preceding Business Day) and each Additional Commitment Lender
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shall thereupon become a “Lender” for all purposes of this Agreement; provided, however, that there shall be no change in the Termination Date of any Non-Extending
Lender.

(f) The Termination Date may only be extended in accordance with this Section 2.06 up to a maximum of two times.

(g) Conditions  to  Extensions.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  the  extension  of  Commitments  pursuant  to  this  Section  shall  not  be
effective with respect to any Lender unless (i) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the applicable Extension Date, and (ii) The representations
and warranties contained in Section 5.01 are true and correct on and as of the applicable Extension Date.

Section 2.07 repayment of Advances. The Borrower shall  repay to the Agent for the ratable account of the Lenders on the Termination Date the
aggregate principal amount of the Advances then outstanding.

Section 2.08 Interest. (a) Scheduled Interest. The Borrower shall pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Advance owing to each Lender
from the date of such Advance until such principal amount shall be paid in full, at the following rates per annum:

(i) Base rate Advances. During such periods as such Advance is a Base rate Advance, a rate per annum equal at all times
to (x) the Base rate in effect from time to time plus (y) the Applicable Margin for such Advance, payable in arrears quarterly on the last Business Day of each March, June,
September and December during such periods, commencing with June, 2022, for the period beginning on the Effective Date and then ended.

(ii) Term SOFr rate Advances. During such periods as such Advance is a Term SOFr rate Advance, a rate per annum equal
at all times during each Interest Period for such Advance to the sum of (x) the Term SOFr for such Interest Period for such Advance plus (y) the Applicable Margin for such
Advance, payable in arrears on the last day of such Interest Period.

(b) Default Interest. The Agent may with the consent, or shall at the direction, of the required Lenders require that the Borrower pay
interest (“Default Interest”) on (i) the unpaid principal amount of each overdue Advance owing to each Lender, payable in arrears on the dates referred to in Clause (a)(i)
or (a)(ii) above, at a rate per annum equal at all times to 2% per annum above the rate per annum required to be paid on such Advance pursuant to Clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii)
above and (ii) to the fullest extent permitted by law, the amount of any interest, fee or other amount payable hereunder that is not paid when due, from the date such
amount shall be due until such amount shall be paid in full, payable in arrears on the date such amount shall be paid in full and on demand, at a rate per annum equal at
all  times  to  2% per  annum  above  the  rate  per  annum  required  to  be  paid  on  Base  rate  Advances  pursuant  to Clause (a)(i) above, provided, however, that following
acceleration of the Advances pursuant to Section 7.01, Default Interest shall accrue and be payable hereunder whether or not previously required by the Agent.

Section  2.09 Interest  rate  Determination.  The  Agent  shall  give  prompt  notice  to  the  Borrower  and  the  Lenders  of  the  applicable  interest  rate
determined by the Agent for purposes of Section 2.08(a)(i) or (ii).

(a) If, with respect to any Term SOFr rate Advances, the required Lenders notify the Agent that the Term SOFr rate for any Interest
Period for such Advances will not adequately reflect the cost to such required Lenders of making, funding or maintaining their respective Term SOFr rate Advances for
such Interest Period, the Agent shall forthwith so notify the Borrower and the Lenders, whereupon (i) each Term SOFr rate Advance will automatically, on the last day of
the then existing Interest Period therefor, Convert into a Base rate
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Advance,  and  (ii)  the  obligation  of  the  Lenders  to  make,  or  to  Convert  Advances  into, Term  SOFr  rate Advances shall  be  suspended  until  the  Agent  shall  notify  the
Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances causing such suspension no longer exist.

(b) If  the  Borrower  shall  fail  to  select  the  duration  of  any  Interest  Period  for  any  Term SOFr rate  Advances  in  accordance  with  the
provisions contained in the definition of “Interest  Period” in Section 1.01,  the Agent will  forthwith so notify the Borrower and the Lenders and such Advances (unless
repaid) will automatically, on the last day of the then existing Interest Period therefor, continue for a new Interest Period with the same duration as the Interest Period
then ending, subject to the definition of “Interest Period”.

(c) On  the  date  on  which  the  aggregate  unpaid  principal  amount  of  Term  SOFr  rate  Advances  comprising  any  Borrowing  shall  be
reduced, by payment or prepayment or otherwise, to less than $10,000,000 such Advances shall automatically Convert into Base rate Advances.

(d) Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default under Section 7.01(a), (i) each Term SOFr rate Advance
(unless repaid) will automatically, on the last day of the then existing Interest Period therefor, Convert into a Base rate Advance and (ii) the obligation of the Lenders to
make, or to Convert Advances into, Term SOFr rate Advances shall be suspended.

Section 2.10 Optional Conversion of Advances. The Borrower may on any Business Day, upon notice given to the Agent not later than 11:00 A.M.
(New York City  time) on the third Business  Day prior  to the date of  the proposed Conversion and subject  to the provisions of Sections 2.09 and 2.13, Convert all  or a
portion of all (comprising, in the case of any portion, a ratable portion of the respective Advances of each Lender and in an aggregate amount not less than $10,000,000)
Advances of one Type comprising the same Borrowing made to the Borrower into Advances of the other Type; provided, however, any Conversion of Term SOFr rate
Advances into Base rate Advances shall be made only on the last day of an Interest Period for such Term SOFr rate Advances and any Conversion of Base rate Advances
into Term SOFr rate Advances shall be in an amount not less than $10,000,000. Each such notice of a Conversion shall, within the restrictions specified above, specify (i)
the date of such Conversion, (ii) the Advances (or portions thereof) to be Converted and (iii) if such Conversion is into Term SOFr rate Advances, the duration of the initial
Interest Period for each such Advance. Each notice of Conversion shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower.

Section 2.11 Optional Prepayments of Advances. The Borrower may, upon notice to the Agent not later than 11:00 A.M. (New York City time) on the
proposed prepayment date for Base rate Advances, and upon at least three Business Days’ notice for Term SOFr rate Advances, in each case stating the proposed date
and aggregate principal amount of the prepayment, and if such notice is given the Borrower shall, prepay in whole or ratably in part the outstanding principal amount of
the Advances  comprising  part  of  the  same Borrowing  made to  the  Borrower  together  with  accrued  interest  to  the  date  of  such  prepayment  on the  principal  amount
prepaid; provided, however, that (x) each partial prepayment shall  be in an aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess
thereof, (y) in the event of any such prepayment of Term SOFr rate Advances, the Borrower shall be obligated to reimburse the Lenders in respect thereof pursuant to
Section 2.20.

Section 2.12 Increased Costs; Additional reserve requirements. (a) If any Change in Law shall: (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve,
special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except
any reserve requirement referred to in Clause (e) of this Section 2.12); (ii) subject any Lender to any Tax of any kind whatsoever with respect to this Agreement or any
Term SOFr rate Advance made by it, or change the basis of taxation of payments to such Lender in respect thereof (except for Indemnified Taxes, Other Taxes and Taxes
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described in Clauses (b) through (e) of the definition of Excluded Taxes);  or (iii)  impose on any Lender or the applicable interbank market any other condition, cost or
expense (other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or Term SOFr rate Advances made by such Lender; and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the
cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any Term SOFr rate Advance (or  of  maintaining  its  obligation to make any such Advance)  or  receivable  by such Lender
hereunder  (whether  of  principal,  interest  or  any  other  amount),  then  upon  request  of  such  Lender  the  Borrower  will  pay  to  such  Lender  such  additional  amount  or
amounts as will compensate such Lender for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) If  any  Lender  determines  that  any  Change  in  Law affecting  such  Lender  or  the  Applicable  Lending  Office  of  such  Lender  or  such
Lender’s holding company, if any, regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender’s capital or on the
capital  of  such Lender’s  holding company,  if  any,  as  a consequence of  this  Agreement,  the Commitments of  such Lender or the Advances made by such Lender or its
obligations  hereunder,  to  a  level  below  that  which  such  Lender  or  such  Lender’s  holding  company  could  have  achieved  but  for  such  Change  in  Law  (taking  into
consideration such Lender’s policies and the policies of such Lender’s holding company with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity), then from time to time the Borrower
will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender’s holding company for any such reduction suffered.

(c) A certificate of a Lender setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or its holding company, as the
case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section 2.12 and delivered to the Borrower shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such
Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 Business Days after receipt thereof.

(d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section 2.12 shall not constitute a waiver of
such  Lender’s  right  to  demand  such  compensation, provided that  the  Borrower  shall  not  be  required  to  compensate  a  Lender  pursuant  to  this Section 2.12 for  any
increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than nine months prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such
increased costs  or  reductions  and  of  such  Lender’s  intention  to  claim compensation  therefor  (except  that,  if  the  Change  in  Law giving  rise  to  such  increased  costs  or
reductions is retroactive, then the nine-month period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof).

(e) The Borrower shall  pay to each Lender,  so long as such Lender shall  be required to maintain reserves with respect to Term SOFr
rate  Advances,  additional  interest  on  the  unpaid  principal  amount  of  any  such  Term SOFr rate  Advance  equal  to  the  actual  costs  of  such  reserves  allocated to  such
Advance  by  such  Lender  (as  determined  by  such  Lender  in  good  faith),  which  shall  be  due  and  payable  on  each  date  on  which  interest  is  payable  on  such  Advance,
provided the Borrower shall have received at least 10 days’ prior notice (with a copy to the Agent) of such additional interest from such Lender. If a Lender fails to give
notice 10 days prior to the relevant interest payment date, such additional interest costs shall be due and payable 10 days from receipt of such notice.

Section 2.13 Illegality. If any Lender determines that the introduction of or any change in or in the interpretation of any law or regulation makes it
unlawful, or that any governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for any Lender or its applicable Lending Office to make, maintain or fund Advances whose
interest is determined by reference to Term SOFr or any governmental Authority has imposed material restrictions on the authority of such Lender to engage in reverse
repurchase of U.S. Treasury securities transactions of the type included in the determination of SOFr, or to determine or charge interest rates based upon Term SOFr or
to purchase or sell, or to take deposits of, Dollars in the applicable interbank market, then, upon notice thereof by such Lender to the Borrower (through the Agent), (a)
any obligation  of  such  Lender  to  make,  or  maintain  Term SOFr rate  Advances  or  to  convert  Base rate  Advances  to  Term SOFr rate  Advances  shall  be,  in  each case,
suspended, and (b) if such notice
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asserts the illegality of such Lender making or maintaining Base rate Advances the interest rate on which is determined by reference to the Term SOFr component of the
Base rate, the interest rate on which Base rate Advances of such Lender shall, if necessary to avoid such illegality, be determined by the Agent without reference to the
Term SOFr component of the Base rate, in each case until such Lender notifies the Agent and the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no
longer exist.  Upon receipt of such notice, (i) the Borrower shall, upon demand from such Lender (with a copy to the Agent), convert all Term SOFr rate Advances of such
Lender  to Base rate Advances (the  interest  rate  on  which  Base  rate Advances of  such  Lender  shall,  if  necessary  to  avoid  such  illegality,  be  determined by the Agent
without reference to the Term SOFr component of the Base rate), in each case, immediately, and (ii) if such notice asserts the illegality of such Lender determining or
charging interest rates based upon SOFr, the Agent shall during the period of such suspension compute the Base rate applicable to such Lender without reference to the
Term SOFr component thereof until the Agent is advised in writing by such Lender that it is no longer illegal for such Lender to determine or charge interest rates based
upon  SOFr.   Upon  any  such  prepayment  or  conversion,  the  Borrowers  shall  also  pay  accrued  interest  on  the  amount  so  prepaid  or  converted,  together  with  any
additional amounts required pursuant to Section 2.20.

Section 2.14 Inability to Determine rates.

(a) If  in  connection  with  any  request  for  a  Term  SOFr  rate  Advance  or  a  conversion  of  Base  rate  Advances  to  Term  SOFr  rate
Advances or a continuation of any of such Advances, as applicable, (i) the Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that (A) no
Term SOFr Successor rate for Term SOFr has been determined in accordance with Section 2.15 and the circumstances under Section 2.15 or the Scheduled Unavailability
Date has occurred with respect to Term SOFr, or (B) adequate and reasonable means do not exist for determining Term SOFr for any determination date(s) or requested
Interest Period, as applicable, with respect to a proposed Term SOFr rate Advance or in connection with an existing or proposed Base rate Advance or (ii) the Agent or
the required Lenders determine that for any reason Term SOFr for any requested Interest Period or determination date(s) does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost
to such Lenders of funding such Term SOFr rate Advance, the Agent will promptly so notify the Borrower and each Lender.  

(b) Thereafter, (x) the obligation of the Lenders to make or maintain Term SOFr rate Advances or to convert Base rate Advances to
Term SOFr rate Advances, shall be suspended in each case to the extent of the Term SOFr rate Advances or Interest Period or determination date(s), as applicable, and
(y) in the event of a determination described in the preceding sentence with respect to the Term SOFr component of the Base rate, the utilization of the Term SOFr
component in determining the Base rate shall be suspended, in each case until the Agent (or, in the case of a determination by the required Lenders described in clause
(ii) of Section 2.14(a), until the Agent upon the instruction of the required Lenders) revokes such notice.  

(c) Upon receipt  of  such notice,  (i)  the Borrower may revoke any pending request  for a Borrowing of,  or  continuation of  Term SOFr
rate Advances to the extent of the affected Term SOFr rate Advances or Interest Period or determination date(s), as applicable or, failing that, will be deemed to have
converted such request into a request for a borrowing of Base rate Advances and (ii) any outstanding Term SOFr rate Advances shall be deemed to have been converted
into Base rate Advances immediately.

Section 2.15 replacement of Term SOFr or Successor rate.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Agent determines
(which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error), or the Borrower or the required Lenders notify the Agent (with, in the case of the required Lenders, a
copy to the Borrower) that the Borrower or the required Lenders (as applicable) have determined, that:
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(a) adequate  and  reasonable  means  do  not  exist  for  ascertaining  Term  SOFr  (including,  without  limitation,  because  the  Term  SOFr

Screen rate is not available) because none of the tenors of Term SOFr are available or published on a current basis and such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary;
or

(b) the Applicable Authority has made a public statement identifying a specific date after which all  tenors of Term SOFr or the Term
SOFr Screen rate shall or will no longer be representative or made available, or used for determining the interest rate of loans denominated in Dollars, or shall or will
otherwise cease,  provided that,  in  each case,  at  the time of  such statement,  there is  no successor  administrator  that  is  satisfactory to the Agent  that  will  continue to
provide such representative tenor(s) of Term SOFr (the latest date on which all tenors of Term SOFr or Term SOFr Screen rate are no longer representative or available
permanently or indefinitely, the “Scheduled Unavailability Date”);  

(i) then, with respect to Term SOFr rate Advances, on a date and time determined by the Agent (any such date, the “Term
SOFr replacement Date”), which date shall be at the end of an Interest Period or on the relevant interest payment date, as applicable, for interest calculated and, solely
with  respect  to  clause  (b)  above,  no  later  than  the  Scheduled  Unavailability  Date,  Term  SOFr  will  be  replaced  hereunder  with  (x)  Daily  Simple  SOFr  plus  the  SOFr
Adjustment for any payment period for interest calculated that can be determined by the Agent, in each case, without any amendment to, or further action or consent of
any other party to, this Agreement or (y) if the Agent determines that Daily Simple SOFr is not available on or prior to the Term SOFr replacement Date, an alternative
benchmark rate giving due consideration to any evolving or then existing convention for similar credit facilities syndicated and agented in the U.S. and denominated in
Dollars for such alternative benchmarks, and, in each case, including any mathematical or other adjustments to such benchmark giving due consideration to any evolving
or then existing convention for similar credit facilities syndicated and agented in the U.S. and denominated in Dollars for such benchmarks, which adjustment or method
for  calculating  such  adjustment  shall  be  published  on  an  information  service  as  selected  by  the  Agent  from  time  to  time  in  its  reasonable  discretion  and  may  be
periodically updated (and any such proposed rate, including for the avoidance of doubt, any adjustment thereto for any payment period for interest calculated that can
be determined by the Agent, and any such amendment shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on the fifth Business Day after the Agent shall have posted such proposed
amendment to all Lenders and the Borrower unless, prior to such time, Lenders comprising the required Lenders have delivered to the Agent written notice that such
required Lenders object to such amendment (with respect to Term SOFr rate Advances, the “Term SOFr Successor rate);

(ii) the Agent will promptly (in one or more notices) notify the Borrower and each Lender of the implementation of any
Term SOFr Successor rate; and

(iii) any  Term  SOFr  Successor  rate  shall  be  applied  in  a  manner  consistent  with  market  practice;  provided  that  to  the
extent  such  market  practice  is  not  administratively  feasible  for  the  Agent,  such  Term  SOFr  Successor  rate  shall  be  applied  in  a  manner  as  otherwise  reasonably
determined by the Agent;

(iv) notwithstanding anything else herein, if at any time any Term SOFr Successor rate as so determined would otherwise
be less than zero, the Term SOFr Successor rate will be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement and the Notes; and

(v) in  connection  with  the  implementation  of  a  Term  SOFr  Successor  rate,  the  Agent  will  have  the  right  to  make
Conforming Changes  from time to  time and,  notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  herein,  any  amendments  implementing  such  Conforming  Changes  will  become
effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement; provided that, with respect to any such amendment
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effected,  the Agent shall  post  each  such  amendment  implementing  such  Conforming  Changes  to  the Borrower and  the  Lenders  reasonably  promptly  after  such
amendment becomes effective.

Section 2.16 Payments and Computations.  (a)  The Borrower shall  make each payment hereunder  and under  the Notes not later  than 11:00 A.M.
(New York City time) on the day when due in Dollars to the Agent at the Agent’s Account in same day funds, without set-off, counterclaim or deduction, in each case as
expressly  provided herein.  The Agent  will  promptly  thereafter  cause to be distributed like funds  relating to the payment of  principal  or  interest  or  Commitment Fees
ratably (other than amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.12, 2.17 or 2.20) to the Lenders for the account of their respective Applicable Lending Offices, and like funds
relating  to  the  payment  of  any  other  amount  payable  to  any  Lender  to  such  Lender  for  the  account  of  its  Applicable  Lending  Office,  in  each  case  to  be  applied  in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(b) All computations of interest based on the Base rate (when calculated by reference to the Prime rate) shall be made by the Agent
on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, and all computations of interest based on the Term SOFr rate or the Base rate (except when calculated by
reference to the Prime rate) and of Commitment Fees shall be made by the Agent on the basis of a year of 360 days, in each case for the actual number of days (including
the first day but excluding the last day) occurring in the period for which such interest, Commitment Fees are payable. Each determination by the Agent of an interest
rate hereunder shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent error in the calculation of such interest rate.

(c) Except as otherwise set forth herein, whenever any payment hereunder or under the Notes shall be stated to be due on a day other
than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such extension of time shall in such case be included in the computation of
payment of interest, or Commitment Fees, as the case may be; provided, however, that, if such extension would cause payment of interest on or principal of Term SOFr
rate Advances to be made in the next following calendar month, such payment shall be made on the next preceding Business Day.

(d) Unless the Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Agent for the
account of the Lenders hereunder that the Borrower will  not make such payment, the Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on such date in
accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the Lenders the amount due. In such event,  if  the Borrower has not in fact made such
payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender, with interest thereon, for each
day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Effective rate and
a rate determined by the Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

Section 2.17 Taxes.  (a)  Any and all  payments  by or  on account  of  any obligation of  the Borrower hereunder  shall  be made free and clear  of  and
without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, provided that if the Borrower shall be required by applicable law to deduct or withhold any Taxes from such payments,
then (i) if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax or Other Tax, the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all such required deductions and withholdings
(including deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.17) the Agent or Lender, as the case may be, receives an amount equal
to the sum it would have received had no such deductions or withholdings been made, (ii) the Borrower shall make such deductions or withholdings and (iii) the Borrower
shall timely pay the full amount deducted to the relevant governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.
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(b) without limiting the provisions of paragraph (a) above, the Borrower shall timely pay any Other Taxes to the relevant governmental

Authority in accordance with applicable law.

(c) The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent and each Lender within 10 Business Days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any
Indemnified  Taxes  or  Other  Taxes  (including  Indemnified  Taxes  or  Other  Taxes  imposed  or  asserted  on  or  attributable  to  amounts  payable  under  this Section 2.17)
payable  or  paid  by  the  Agent  or  such  Lender,  and  any  penalties,  interest  and  reasonable  expenses  arising  therefrom  or  with  respect  thereto,  whether  or  not  such
Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment
or  liability  delivered  to  the  Borrower  by  a  Lender  (with  a  copy  to  the  Agent),  or  by  the  Agent  on  its  own behalf  or  on  behalf  of  a  Lender,  shall  be  conclusive  absent
manifest error.

(d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by the Borrower to a governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.17, the
Borrower shall  deliver to the Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such governmental Authority evidencing such payment,  a copy of the return
reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Agent.

(e) (i)  Any  Lender  that  is  entitled  to  an  exemption  from  or  reduction  of  withholding  Tax  with  respect  to  payments  hereunder  shall
deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Agent), at the time or times prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent, such properly
completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as will permit such payments to be made
without  withholding  or  at  a  reduced  rate  of  withholding.  In  addition,  any  Lender,  if  reasonably  requested  by  the  Borrower  or  the  Agent,  shall  deliver  such  other
documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Agent to determine whether or not
such  Lender  is  subject  to  backup  withholding  or  information  reporting  requirements.  Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  in  the  preceding  two  sentences,  the
completion,  execution  and submission  of  such  documentation (other  than such documentation  set  forth  in Section 2.17(e)(ii)(A), (ii)(B) and (ii)(D) below) shall  not  be
required if in the Lender’s reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or
would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.

(ii) without limiting the generality of the foregoing,

(A) any Lender that is a “United States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code shall
deliver to the Borrower and the Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Borrower or the Agent), executed originals of IrS Form w-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax;

(B) any  Foreign  Lender  shall  deliver  to  the  Borrower  and  the  Agent  (in  such  number  of  copies  as  shall  be
requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Borrower or the Agent, but only if such Foreign Lender is legally entitled to do so, whichever of the following is applicable:

(I) in  the  case  of  a  Foreign  Lender  claiming  the  benefits  of  an  income  tax  treaty  to  which  the
United States is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest hereunder, executed originals of IrS Form w-8BEN establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S.
federal withholding Tax pursuant
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to  the  “interest”  article  of  such  tax  treaty  and (y) with  respect  to  any  other  applicable  payments  hereunder,  IrS  Form  w-8BEN  establishing  an  exemption  from,  or
reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “business profits” or “other income” article of such tax treaty;

(II) executed originals of IrS Form w-8ECI;

(III) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest
under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit F to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section
881(c)(3)(A)  of  the  Code,  a  “10  percent  shareholder”  of  the  Borrower  within  the  meaning  of  Section  871(h)(3)(B)  of  the  Code,  or  a  “controlled  foreign  corporation”
described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a “U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate”) and (y) executed originals of IrS Form w-8BEN; or

(IV) to the extent a Foreign Lender is  not the beneficial  owner,  executed originals  of  IrS Form
w-8IMY, accompanied by IrS Form w-8ECI, IrS Form w-8BEN, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit g or Exhibit h, IrS Form w-9, and/or
other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners
of  such  Foreign  Lender  are  claiming  the  portfolio  interest  exemption,  such  Foreign  Lender  may  provide  a  U.S.  Tax  Compliance  Certificate  substantially  in  the  form of
Exhibit I on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;

(C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the Agent
(in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from
time to  time thereafter  upon the  reasonable  request  of  the  Borrower or  the  Agent),  executed originals  of  any  other  form prescribed  by  applicable  law as  a  basis  for
claiming  exemption  from  or  a  reduction  in  U.S.  federal  withholding  Tax,  duly  completed,  together  with  such  supplementary  documentation  as  may  be  prescribed  by
applicable law to permit the Borrower or the Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and

(D) if a payment made to a Lender hereunder would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by
FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as
applicable),  such  Lender  shall  deliver  to  the  Borrower  and  the  Agent  at  the  time  or  times  prescribed  by  law  and  at  such  time  or  times  reasonably  requested  by  the
Borrower  or  the  Agent  such  documentation  prescribed  by  applicable  law  (including  as  prescribed  by  Section  1471(b)(3)(C)(i)  of  the  Code)  and  such  additional
documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA
and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment.
Solely for purposes of this Clause (D), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Each  Lender  agrees  that  if  any  form  or  certification  it  previously  delivered  expires  or  becomes  obsolete  or  inaccurate  in  any
respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(f) If the Agent or a Lender determines, in its sole discretion, that it has received a refund of any Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has
been indemnified  by  the  Borrower  or  with  respect  to  which  the  Borrower has  paid  additional  amounts  pursuant  to  this Section 2.17,  it  shall  pay  to  the Borrower  an
amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower under this
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Section 2.17 with respect to the Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of the Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, and
without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant governmental Authority with respect to such refund), provided that the Borrower, upon the request of the
Agent  or  such  Lender,  agrees  to  repay  the  amount  paid  over  to  the  Borrower  (plus  any  penalties,  interest  or  other  charges  imposed  by  the  relevant  governmental
Authority) to the Agent or such Lender in the event the Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary in this paragraph (f), in no event will the Agent or any Lender be required to pay any amount to the Borrower pursuant to this paragraph (f) the payment
of  which  would  place  the  Agent  or  such  Lender  in  a  less  favorable  net  after-Tax  position  than  the  Agent  or  such  Lender  would  have  been  in  if  the  Tax  subject  to
indemnification and giving  rise  to  such refund had not  been deducted,  withheld or  otherwise  imposed and the indemnification payments  or  additional  amounts  with
respect  to  such  Tax  had  never  been  paid.  This  paragraph  shall  not  be  construed  to  require  the  Agent  or  any  Lender  to  make  available  its  Tax  returns  (or  any  other
information relating to its Taxes which it deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other Person.

(g) Each Lender  shall  severally  indemnify  the Agent,  within 10 Business  Days after  demand therefor,  for  (i)  any Taxes attributable  to
such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not already indemnified the Agent for such Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so)
and (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with the provisions of Section 9.07(d) relating to the maintenance of a Participant register, in either case,
that are payable or paid by the Agent in connection with this Agreement, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such
Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any
Lender by the Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to
such Lender under this Agreement or otherwise payable by the Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Agent under this paragraph (g).

(h) For purposes of this Section 2.17, the term “applicable law” includes FATCA.

Section 2.18 Mitigation Obligations; replacement of Lenders. (a) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.12, or requires the Borrower
to  pay  any  Indemnified  Taxes  or  additional  amount  to  any  Lender  or  any  governmental  Authority  for  the  account  of  any  Lender  pursuant  to Section 2.17, then such
Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its Advances hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder
to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant
to Section 2.12 or 2.17,  as  the  case  may  be,  in  the  future  and  (ii)  would  not  subject  such  Lender  to  any  unreimbursed  cost  or  expense  and  would  not  otherwise  be
disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or
assignment.

(b) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.12, or if the Borrower is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional
amount to any Lender or any governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.17, or if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the
Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with
and subject to the restrictions contained in, and consents required by, Section 9.07), all of its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement and the related Notes
to an Eligible Assignee that  shall  assume such obligations (which Eligible Assignee may be another  Lender,  if  a  Lender  accepts  such assignment), provided that (i) the
Borrower shall have paid to the Agent the assignment fee specified in Section 9.07, (ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding
principal of its Advances, accrued
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interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder (including any amounts under Section 2.20) from such Eligible Assignee (to the extent of
such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in the case of all other amounts), (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim
for compensation under Section 2.12 or  payments  required to be made pursuant  to Section 2.17,  such assignment will  result  in  a  reduction in  such compensation or
payments thereafter, and (iv) such assignment does not conflict with applicable law. A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment or delegation if, prior
thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

Section 2.19 Sharing of Payments, Etc. If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect
of any principal of or interest on any of its Advances or other obligations of the Borrower hereunder resulting in such Lender’s receiving payment of a proportion of the
aggregate  amount  of  its  Advances  and accrued interest  thereon or  other  such obligations  greater  than its pro rata share thereof as provided herein,  then the Lender
receiving such greater proportion shall (a) notify the Agent of such fact and (b) purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Advances and such other obligations
of the other Lenders, or make such other adjustments as shall be equitable, to the end that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in
accordance with the aggregate amount of principal of and accrued interest on their respective Advances and other amounts owing them, provided that (i)  if  any such
participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored
to  the  extent  of  such  recovery,  without  interest,  and  (ii)  the  provisions  of  this  paragraph  shall  not  be  construed  to  apply  to  (x) any  payment  made  by  the  Borrower
pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or (y) any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a
participation in any of its Advances to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof (as to which the provisions of this paragraph shall
apply). The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant
to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights of setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a
direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.

Section 2.20 Compensation  for  Breakage  Costs.  If  any  payment  of  principal  of,  or  Conversion  of,  any  Term  SOFr  rate  Advance  is  made  by  the
Borrower  to  or  for  the  account  of  a  Lender  other  than  on  the  last  day  of  the  Interest  Period  for  such  Advance,  as  a  result  of  a  payment,  prepayment  or  Conversion
pursuant to this Agreement or acceleration of the maturity of the Advances pursuant to Section 7.01, the Borrower shall, upon demand by such Lender (with a copy of
such  demand  to  the  Agent),  pay  to  the  Agent  for  the  account  of  such  Lender  any  amounts  required  to  compensate  such  Lender  for  any  additional  losses,  costs  or
expenses that it  may reasonably incur  as  a result  of  such payment or  Conversion,  including,  without limitation,  any loss  (excluding loss of  anticipated profits),  cost  or
expense incurred by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds acquired by any Lender to fund or maintain such Advance.
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Section 2.21 Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Advances shall be available (and the Borrower agrees that it shall use such proceeds) for working

capital purposes and for other general corporate purposes, provided that such proceeds shall not be used (i) in any manner that would result in violation of regulation U
or X,  issued by the Board of  governors  of  the Federal  reserve System, as now and from time to time hereafter  in effect; or (ii) to pay directly the Cerner Acquisition
Consideration.

Section  2.22 Evidence  of  Debt.  (a)  Each  Lender  shall  maintain  in  accordance  with  its  usual  practice  an  account  or  accounts  evidencing  the
indebtedness  of  the  Borrower  to  such  Lender  resulting  from  each  Advance  owing  to  such  Lender  from  time  to  time,  including  the  amounts  of  principal  and  interest
payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder in respect of Advances. The Borrower agrees that upon notice by any Lender to the Borrower (with a copy
of such notice to the Agent) to the effect that a Note is required or appropriate in order for such Lender to evidence (whether for purposes of pledge, enforcement or
otherwise) the Advances owing to, or to be made by, such Lender, the Borrower shall promptly execute and deliver to such Lender a Note payable to such Lender in a
principal amount up to the Commitment of such Lender.

(b) The register maintained by the Agent pursuant to Section 9.07(c) shall include a control account, and a subsidiary account for each
Lender,  in  which  accounts  (taken  together)  shall  be  recorded  (i)  the  date  and  amount  of  each  Borrowing  made  hereunder,  the  Type  of  Advances  comprising  such
Borrowing and, if appropriate, the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the terms of each Assignment and Acceptance delivered to and accepted by the Agent, (iii) the
amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iv) the amount of any sum received
by the Agent from the Borrower hereunder and each Lender’s share thereof.

(c) Entries made in good faith by each Lender in its account or accounts pursuant to subsection (a) above, shall be prima facie evidence
of the amount of principal and interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to such Lender under this Agreement, absent manifest error;
provided, however, that the failure of such Lender to make an entry, or any finding that an entry is incorrect, in such account or accounts shall  not limit or otherwise
affect the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement.

ARTICLE II
[RESERVED]

ARTICLE III
CONDITIONS TO LENDING

Section 4.01 Conditions Precedent to Effective Date. The Effective Date shall occur upon the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:

(a) Since May 31, 2021, there shall not have occurred any Material Adverse Effect.

(b) All governmental and third party consents and approvals necessary in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby shall
have been obtained (without the imposition of any conditions that are not acceptable to the Lenders in their reasonable discretion) and shall remain in effect, and no law
or  regulation  shall  be  applicable  in  the  reasonable  judgment  of  the  Lenders  that  restrains,  prevents  or  imposes  materially  adverse  conditions  upon  the  transactions
contemplated hereby.

(c) The Borrower shall have paid all reasonable invoiced fees and out-of-pocket expenses of the Agent and the Lenders (including the
reasonable invoiced fees and expenses of counsel to the Agent required
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by this Agreement), to the extent invoices therefor have been received at least one Business Day before the Effective Date.

(d) On the Effective Date, the following statements shall be true and the Agent shall have received on behalf of the Lenders a certificate
signed by a duly authorized officer of the Borrower, dated the Effective Date, stating that:

(i) The representations and warranties contained in Section 5.01 are true and correct on and as of the Effective Date, and

(ii) No event has occurred and is continuing that constitutes a Default.

(e) The Agent shall have received on or before the Effective Date the following, each dated the Effective Date, in form and substance
satisfactory to the Agent:

(i) A Note to the order of each Lender (if any) that has requested one pursuant to Section 2.22 no later than one Business
Day prior to the Effective Date.

(ii) Certified  copies  of  (A) the  resolutions  of  the  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Borrower  approving  the  transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Notes, if any, to be delivered by the Borrower, (B) all documents evidencing
other necessary corporate action and governmental approvals, if any, with respect to this Agreement and such Notes and (C) the certificate of incorporation (which shall
be certified by the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware) and by-laws of the Borrower.

(iii) A certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Borrower certifying the names and true signatures of the
officers of the Borrower authorized to sign this Agreement and the Notes, if any, to be delivered by the Borrower and the other documents to be delivered hereunder.

(iv) A  favorable  opinion  of  (i)  in-house  counsel  for  the  Borrower  in  the  form  of  Exhibit  D  and  (ii)  Freshfields  Bruckhaus
Deringer US LLP, counsel for the Borrower, in the form of Exhibit E.

(v) A certificate of a duly authorized officer of the Borrower dated the Effective Date demonstrating compliance with the
financial  covenant contained in Section 6.02(c) as of the end of the fiscal  quarter most recently ended prior to the Effective Date as to which financial  statements are
referred to in Section 5.01(e) or, if later, for which financial statements have been delivered to the Lenders pursuant to Section 6.01(f).

Section 4.02 Conditions Precedent to Each Borrowing. The obligation of each Lender to make an Advance on the occasion of each Borrowing shall be
subject to the conditions precedent (without limitation of the conditions precedent to the Effective Date set forth in Section 4.01) that on the date of such Borrowing the
following statements shall be true (and each of the giving of the applicable Notice of Borrowing and the acceptance by the Borrower of the proceeds of such Borrowing
shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower that on the date of such Borrowing such statements are true):

(a) the representations and warranties contained in Section 5.01 made by the Borrower (other than the representations and warranties
contained in Clauses (f)(i) and (g) of Section 5.01) are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date of such Borrowing before and after giving effect to
such Borrowing and to the application of the proceeds therefrom, as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent that any such representation or warranty
relates to a specific earlier date in which case it was true as of such earlier date), and
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(b) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from such Borrowing or from the application of the proceeds therefrom,

that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default.

Section 4.03 Determinations Under Section 4.01. For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in Section 4.01, each Lender
shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved
by or acceptable or satisfactory to the Lenders unless an officer of the Agent responsible for the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have received notice
from such Lender prior to the Effective Date specifying its objection thereto. The Agent shall promptly notify the Lenders and the Borrower of the anticipated Effective
Date. The Agent shall notify all parties promptly of the occurrence of the Effective Date, which notice shall be conclusive once given.

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 5.01 representations and warranties of the Borrower. The Borrower represents and warrants as follows:

(a) The Borrower is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of its incorporation.

(b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and the Notes, if any, to be delivered by it,  and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, are within the Borrower’s corporate powers, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate
action, and do not contravene (i) the Borrower’s charter or by-laws (or other equivalent organizational documents), (ii) applicable law or (iii) any contract or instrument
binding on the Borrower or any of its properties or assets that is material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(c) No authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body or
any other third party is required for the due execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement or the Notes, if any, to be delivered by it.

(d) This Agreement has been, and each of the Notes, if any, to be delivered by the Borrower when delivered hereunder will have been,
duly executed and delivered by the Borrower. Assuming that this Agreement has been duly executed by the Agent and each of the Initial Lenders, this Agreement is, and
each  of  the  Notes  of  the  Borrower  when  delivered  hereunder  will  be,  the  legal,  valid  and  binding  obligation  of  the  Borrower  enforceable  against  the  Borrower  in
accordance with its respective terms, subject to (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws of general application affecting the rights
and remedies of creditors and (ii) general principles of equity, regardless of whether applied in proceedings in equity or at law.

(e) The Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at May 31, 2021, and the related Consolidated statements of
income and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal year then ended, accompanied by the opinion(s) of one or more firms of independent certified
public accountants of recognized national standing, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-k with respect to its year ended May 31, 2021, and
the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at November 30, 2021, and the related Consolidated statements of income and cash flows of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the six months then ended, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-Q with respect to its fiscal quarter ended
November 30, 2021, fairly present, subject, in the case of said balance sheet at November 30, 2021, and said statements of income and cash flows for the six months then
ended, to absence of footnotes and to year-end audit adjustments, the Consolidated financial condition of the Borrower and its
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Subsidiaries as at such dates and the Consolidated results of the operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the periods ended on such dates, all in accordance
with gAAP consistently applied.

(f) There  is  no  pending  or  (to  the  knowledge  of  the  Borrower)  threatened  action,  investigation  or  proceeding,  including,  without
limitation, any Environmental Action, affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries before any court, governmental agency or arbitrator that is initiated by any Person
other  than  a  Lender  in  its  capacity  as  a  Lender  (i)  that  is  reasonably  likely  to  have  a  Material  Adverse  Effect  or  (ii)  that  purports  to  affect  the  legality,  validity  or
enforceability of this Agreement or any Note or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(g) Since May 31, 2021, there has not occurred any Material Adverse Effect.

(h) None of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is an Investment Company, as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act
of 1940, as amended.

(i) No part of the proceeds of any Advances will be used in any manner that would result in a violation of regulation U or X, issued by
the Board of governors of the Federal reserve System, as in effect at any time this representation is made or deemed made.

(j) The proceeds of the Advances shall be used by the Borrower in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.21.

(k) No report, financial statement or other written information furnished by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Agent or any Lender
pursuant  to subsection  6.01(f) (as  modified  or  supplemented  by  any  other  information  provided  to  the  Agent  or  any  Lender)  contains  or  will  contain  any  material
misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were, are or will be
made, not misleading, except to the extent that the facts (whether misstated or omitted) do not result in a Material Adverse Effect; provided that with respect to any
projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that such information has been (or will  be) prepared in good faith based on assumptions believed to be
reasonable at the time.

(l) (i) The Borrower is in compliance with all material provisions of ErISA, except to the extent that all failures to be in compliance could
not, in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) no ErISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that could, in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (iii) neither the execution of this Agreement, nor the transactions hereunder, gives rise to a
non-exempt Prohibited Transaction.

(m) The claims of the Agent and the Lenders against the Borrower under this Agreement rank at least pari passu with the claims of all
its unsecured creditors, save those whose claims are preferred solely by the laws of general application having effect in relation to bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or
other similar events.

(n) The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have filed all United States federal tax returns and all other tax returns that are material to the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, which are required to be filed and have paid all United States federal taxes and all other taxes that are material to the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in each case, that are due pursuant to said returns or pursuant to any material assessment received by the Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries, except in respect of such taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and to which appropriate reserves are being
maintained in accordance with gAAP.
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(o) Neither the Borrower, nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor to the knowledge of the Borrower, any director, officer, agent, employee or

Affiliate  of  the  Borrower  or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  is  (i)  currently  the  subject  of  any Sanctions  or  (ii)  located,  organized  or  residing in  any Designated Jurisdiction .  No
Company related Party that is a Subsidiary of the Borrower is listed on the Sanctioned Persons Lists and no Company related Party that is a director or senior officer of
the Borrower or a Company related Party that is  a Subsidiary of the Borrower is,  to the best knowledge of the Borrower,  listed on the Sanctioned Persons Lists.   The
Borrower has implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures reasonably designed to promote compliance by the Borrower and all Company related Parties
with  applicable  Sanctions.   No  proceeds  from  any  Advances  have  been  or  will  be  directly  or,  to  the  knowledge  of  the  Borrower,  indirectly,  used  by  the  Borrower,  or
loaned,  contributed,  provided or  otherwise  made available  by  the  Borrower,  to  fund  any  activity  or  business  in  any  Designated  Jurisdiction  or  to  fund any  activity  or
business of or with any Person located, organized or residing in any Designated Jurisdiction or who is the subject of any Sanctions.

(p) The Borrower has implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures reasonably designed to promote compliance by the
Borrower and all Company related Parties with applicable Anti-Corruption Laws.  No proceeds from any Advance, have been or will be, directly or, to the knowledge of
the Borrower, indirectly,  used by the Borrower, or loaned, contributed,  provided or otherwise made available by the Borrower to fund any activity or business in any
manner that will result in any violation by any Person (including any Lender, Other Agent or the Agent) of Anti-Corruption Laws.

ARTICLE V
COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER

Section 6.01 Affirmative Covenants. So long as any Advance shall remain unpaid or any Lender shall have any Commitment hereunder the Borrower will (and
shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to):

(a) Compliance with Laws, Etc. Comply in all material respects, with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders (such compliance
to include, without limitation, compliance with ErISA, Environmental Laws, the Patriot Act and Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Laws) except where the failure to so comply
would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Payment of Taxes, Etc. Pay and discharge before the same shall  become delinquent,  (i)  all  taxes,  assessments  and governmental
charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its property and (ii) all lawful claims that, if unpaid, might by law become a Lien upon its property; provided, however, that
none of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to pay or discharge any such tax, assessment, charge or claim that is being contested in good faith and by
proper  proceedings  and  as  to  which  appropriate  reserves  are  being  maintained,  unless  and  until  any  Lien  resulting  therefrom  attaches  to  its  property  and  becomes
enforceable against its other creditors and the aggregate of such Liens would have a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Preservation  of  Corporate  Existence,  Etc. Preserve  and  maintain  its  corporate  existence,  rights  (charter  and  statutory)  and
franchises; provided, however, that the Borrower and its Subsidiaries may consummate any transaction permitted under Section 6.02(b) and provided further that none
of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries  shall  be  required  to  preserve  any  right  or  franchise,  and  no  Subsidiary  shall  be  required  to  preserve  and  maintain  its  corporate
existence,  if  the  senior  management  of  the  Borrower  or  of  such  Subsidiary  (or  any  Person  authorized  by  the  Borrower  or  such  Subsidiary)  shall  determine  that  the
preservation  thereof  is  no  longer  desirable  in  the  conduct  of  the  business  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  taken  as  a  whole,  and  that  the  loss  thereof  is  not
disadvantageous in any material respect to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
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(d) keeping  of  Books.  keep  proper  books  of  record  and  account,  in  which  full  and  correct  entries  shall  be  made  of  all  financial

transactions and the assets and business of the Borrower and each Subsidiary in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time.

(e) Transactions with Affiliates. Conduct all transactions otherwise permitted under this Agreement with any of its Affiliates (other than
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) on terms that are fair and reasonable and no less favorable to the Borrower or its Subsidiaries than it would obtain in a comparable
arm’s-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate except where the failure to do so, in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(f) reporting requirements. Furnish to the Lenders:

(i) within  45  days  after  the  end  of  each  of  the  first  three  quarters  of  each  fiscal  year  of  the  Borrower  (or  such  shorter
period as required by the SEC),  the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such quarter and the Consolidated statements of
income and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the period commencing at the end of the previous fiscal year and ending with the end of such quarter, duly
certified (subject to year-end audit adjustments) by the chief financial officer, treasurer or controller of the Borrower as having been prepared in accordance with gAAP;

(ii) within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower (or such shorter period as required by the SEC), a copy
of the annual audit report for such year for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, containing the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end
of such fiscal year and the Consolidated statements of income and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal year, in each case accompanied by the
opinion(s) of Ernst & Young LLP or one or more other firms of independent certified public accountants of nationally recognized standing reasonably acceptable to the
Agent;

(iii) concurrently with subsections (f)(i) and (f)(ii) of this Section 6.01, a certificate of the chief financial officer, treasurer or
controller of  the Borrower certifying that to the best  of  his  or  her knowledge no Event of  Default  is  continuing at  such date or specifying any Event of  Default  that is
continuing at such date and specifying the nature and extent thereof and any corrective action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto;

(iv) as soon as possible and in any event within five Business Days after a responsible Officer of the Borrower becomes
aware of  the  occurrence  of  each Default  continuing  on the  date  of  such  statement,  a  statement  of  the  chief  financial  officer,  treasurer  or  controller  of  the  Borrower
setting forth details of such Default and the action that the Borrower has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto;

(v) promptly after the sending or filing thereof, copies of all quarterly and annual reports and proxy solicitations that the
Borrower sends to any of its security holders, and copies of all reports on Form 8-k that the Borrower files with the SEC) (other than reports on Form 8-k filed solely for
the purpose of incorporating exhibits into a registration statement previously filed with the SEC);

(vi) prompt  notice  of  all  actions  and  proceedings  before  any  court,  governmental  agency  or  arbitrator  affecting  the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of the type described in Section 5.01(f);

(vii) prompt  notice  of  any  ErISA  Event  that,  alone  or  together  with  any  other  ErISA  Events  that  have  occurred,  could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and

39



 
(viii) such other information respecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as any Lender through the Agent may from

time to time reasonably request.

reports  required  to  be  delivered  pursuant  to Clauses  (i), (ii) and (v) above  for  the  Borrower  shall  be  deemed  to  have  been
delivered  on  the  date  on  which  the  Borrower  posts  such  reports  on  the  Borrower’s  website  on  the  Internet  at  the  website  address  listed  for  the  Borrower  on  the
signature pages hereof or when such report is posted on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and such posting shall be deemed to satisfy the reporting requirements of
Clauses (i), (ii) and (v) above.

(g) Use of Proceeds. Use the proceeds of the Advances in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.21.

Section 6.02 Negative Covenants. So long as any Advance shall remain unpaid or any Lender shall have any Commitment hereunder:

(a) Liens, Etc. None  of  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  will  create  or  suffer  to  exist  any  Lien  on  or  with  respect  to  any  of  its
properties, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or on any of the income or profits therefrom unless it shall have made effective provision whereby the Advances
shall  be secured by such Lien equally and ratably with any and all  obligations and Debt so secured so long as such obligations and Debt are so secured; provided that
nothing in this Section 6.02 shall be construed to prevent or restrict the following:

(i) Permitted Liens;

(ii) purchase  money  Liens  upon  or  in  any  real  property  or  equipment  acquired  or  held  by  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business to secure the purchase price of such property or equipment or to secure Debt incurred solely for the purpose of financing
the acquisition of  such property or equipment,  or Liens existing on such property or equipment at  the time of its  acquisition or conditional  sales or other similar title
retention  agreements  with  respect  to  property  hereafter  acquired  or  extensions,  renewals  or  replacements  of  any  of  the  foregoing  for  the  same or  a  lesser  amount,
provided, however,  that  no  such  Lien  shall  extend  to  or  cover  any  properties  of  any  character  other  than  the  real  property  or  equipment  being  acquired  and  any
improvements thereto or proceeds thereof, and no such extension, renewal or replacement shall extend to or cover any properties not theretofore subject to the Lien
being extended, renewed or replaced;

(iii) the Liens existing on the Effective Date;

(iv) Liens  on  property  of  a  Person  existing  at  the  time such  Person  becomes  a  Subsidiary  of  the  Borrower  or  any  other
Subsidiary of the Borrower or is merged into or consolidated with the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower; provided that (A) to the extent such Liens were created
at a time when such Person was a Subsidiary or an Affiliate of the Borrower, such Liens attach solely to the properties or assets subject to such Liens immediately prior to
such merger, consolidation or acquisition and (B) any such Liens that were created during the period immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or acquisition were
not created in contemplation of the merger, consolidation or acquisition;

(v) Liens to secure Debt issued by the Borrower in connection with a consolidation or merger of the Borrower with or into
any of its Affiliates in exchange for or otherwise in substitution for long-term senior secured Debt of such Affiliate (without increase in the amount or extension of the
final maturity date of the Debt of such Affiliate);
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(vi) Liens on margin stock (within the meaning of regulation U issued by the Board of governors of the Federal reserve

System);

(vii) the  replacement,  extension  or  renewal  of  any  Lien  permitted  by Clauses (iii) and (iv) above  upon  or  in  the  same
property theretofore subject thereto or the replacement, extension or renewal (without increase in the amount) of the Debt secured thereby;

(viii) Liens to secure intercompany Debt obligations among Borrower and its Subsidiaries;

(ix) Additional Permitted Liens;

(x) Liens  arising  from  any  receivables  financing  accounted  for  under  gAAP  as  a  sale  by  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries to a Person other than the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, provided that (a) such financing shall be limited recourse or non-recourse to the Borrower and
its  Subsidiaries  except  to  the  extent  customary  for  such  transactions,  and  (b)  such  Liens  do  not  encumber  any  assets  other  than  the  receivables  being  financed,  the
property securing or otherwise relating to such receivables, and the proceeds thereof; and

(xi) Liens, not otherwise subject to any of Clauses (i) through (x) above, on assets, other than Intellectual Property, granted
to secure Debt or other obligations in an aggregate amount that shall not exceed the greater of (x) $1,500,000,000 and (y) 25% of Stockholders’ Equity determined at
such time.

(b) Mergers, Etc. The Borrower will not merge or consolidate with or into, and will not convey, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of
(whether in one transaction or in a series of transactions) all or substantially all of its assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) to, any Person, except that (i) any
Person may merge with or into the Borrower in a transaction in which the Borrower is the survivor; and (ii) the Borrower may merge into any of its Subsidiaries for the
purpose of effecting a change in its state of incorporation from Delaware to any other state in the United States if (A) such Subsidiary is incorporated in such other state
solely  for  the  purposes  of  such  merger  and,  immediately  prior  to  the  effectiveness  of  such  merger,  has  positive  stockholders’  equity,  (B) such  merger  would  not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect and (C) such Subsidiary agrees in writing to assume the obligations of the Borrower hereunder; and (iii) any
Person may sell margin stock (within the meaning of regulation U of the Board of governors of the Federal reserve System).

(c) Financial  Covenant.  The  Borrower  shall  ensure  that  the  Consolidated  Net  Interest  Coverage  ratio  as  at  the  last  day  of  any  fiscal
quarter of the Borrower for each fiscal quarter ended after the Effective Date is not less than 3.0 to 1.0; provided that at any time after the definitive agreement for any
Qualified Acquisition shall have been executed (or, in the case of a Qualified Acquisition in the form of a tender offer or similar transaction, after the offer shall have been
launched) and prior to the consummation of such Qualified Acquisition (or termination of the definitive documentation in respect thereof (or such later date as such Debt
ceases  to  constitute  Acquisition  Debt)),  any  Acquisition  Debt  (and the  proceeds  of  such  Acquisition  Debt  and including,  for  the  avoidance of  doubt,  any  Consolidated
Interest  Income  and  Consolidated  Interest  Expense  arising  from  such  Acquisition  Debt)  shall  be  excluded  from  the  determination  of  the  Consolidated  Net  Interest
Coverage ratio).

ARTICLE VI
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Section 7.01 Events of Default. If any of the following events (“Event of Default”) shall occur and be continuing with respect to the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries:
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(a) The Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Advance when the same becomes due and payable; or the Borrower shall fail to

pay any interest on any Advance within three Business Days after the same becomes due and payable; or the Borrower shall fail to pay any fees payable hereunder within
ten Business Days after the same become due and payable; or the Borrower shall  fail  to pay any other amount payable under this Agreement or any Note within ten
Business Days after receipt by the Borrower of written demand therefor; or

(b) Any  representation  or  warranty  made  or  deemed  made  by  the  Borrower  herein  or  by  the  Borrower  (or  any  of  its  officers)  in
connection with this Agreement shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made; or

(c) (i) The Borrower shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in Section 6.01(c), (e), (f)(iii), (f)(iv), (f)
(vi) or (g) or 6.02, (ii)  the Borrower shall  fail  to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in Section 6.01(f) (other than Clauses (iii),  (iv) and (vi)
thereof) if  such failure shall  remain unremedied for fifteen (15) Business Days after written notice thereof shall  have been given to the Borrower by the Agent or any
Lender or (iii) the Borrower shall fail to perform or observe any other term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement on its part to be performed or observed
if such failure shall remain unremedied for thirty (30) days after written notice thereof shall have been given to the Borrower by the Agent or any Lender; or

(d) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall fail to pay any principal of or premium or interest on any Debt that is outstanding in a
principal or, in the case of hedge Agreements, net amount, of at least $200,000,000 in the aggregate (but excluding Debt outstanding hereunder) of the Borrower or such
Subsidiary (as the case may be) (the “requisite Amount”), when the same becomes due and payable (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration,
demand  or  otherwise),  and  such  failure  shall  continue  after  the  later  of  five  (5)  Business  Days  and  the  applicable  grace  period,  if  any,  specified  in  the  agreement  or
instrument relating to such Debt; or any such Debt aggregating the requisite Amount shall be declared due and payable or any other breach or default with respect to
any other material term shall occur or shall exist under any agreement or instrument relating to any such Debt aggregating the requisite Amount and shall continue after
the applicable grace period, if any, specified in such agreement or instrument if the effect of such breach or default is to accelerate the maturity of such Debt; or any such
Debt  aggregating  the  requisite  Amount  shall  be  required  to  be  prepaid  or  redeemed  (other  than  by  a  regularly  scheduled  required  prepayment  or  redemption),
purchased or defeased, in each case prior to the stated maturity thereof where the cause of such prepayment, redemption, purchase or defeasance is the occurrence of
an  event  or  condition  that  is  premised  on  a  material  adverse  deterioration  of  the  financial  condition,  results  of  operations  or  properties  of  the  Borrower  or  such
Subsidiary; provided that with respect to Debt aggregating the requisite Amount of the types described in Clauses (h) or (i) of the definition of “Debt” and to the extent
such Debt relates to the obligations of any Person other than a Subsidiary, no Event of Default shall occur so long as the payment of such Debt is being contested in good
faith and by proper proceedings and as to which appropriate reserves are being maintained; or

(e) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Immaterial Subsidiaries) shall generally not pay its respective debts as such debts
become due, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; or any proceeding shall be
instituted  by  or  against  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  (other  than  Immaterial  Subsidiaries)  seeking  to  adjudicate  it  as  bankrupt  or  insolvent,  or  seeking
liquidation, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, protection, relief, or composition of it or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or
reorganization or relief of debtors, or seeking the entry of an order for relief or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for any
substantial part of its property and, in the case of any such proceeding instituted against it (but not
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instituted by it), either such proceeding shall remain undismissed or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days, or any of the actions sought in such proceeding (including,
without limitation, the entry of an order for relief against, or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for, it or for any substantial part of
its property) shall occur; or the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Immaterial Subsidiaries) shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the actions set
forth in this subsection (e) under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors; or

(f) Any final and non-appealable judgment or order for the payment of money in excess of $200,000,000 shall be rendered against the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Immaterial Subsidiaries) and thirty (30) days shall have passed since such judgment became final and non-appealable and
enforcement proceedings shall have been commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or order; provided, however, that any such judgment or order shall not be an
Event  of  Default  under  this Section  7.01(f) if  and  for  so  long  as  and  to  the  extent  that  (i)  the  amount  of  such  judgment  or  order  is  covered  (subject  to  standard
deductibles) by a valid and binding policy of insurance between the defendant and the insurer or insurers covering payment thereof, (ii) such insurer shall be rated, or, if
more than one insurer, at least 90% of such insurers as measured by the amount of risk insured shall be rated, at least “A-” by A.M. Best Company or its successor or its
successors and (iii) such insurer(s) has been notified of, and has not refused to defend the claim made for payment of, the amount of such judgment or order; or

(g) Any Person or two or more Persons acting in concert (other than the Permitted holders) shall have acquired beneficial ownership
(within  the  meaning  of  rule  13d-3  of  the  SEC  under  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934),  directly  or  indirectly,  of  Voting  Stock  of  the  Borrower  (or  other  securities
convertible into such Voting Stock) representing more than 50% of the combined voting power of all Voting Stock of the Borrower;

(h) The Borrower or its  ErISA Affiliates  shall  incur,  or  shall  be reasonably  likely  to incur,  liability  that  would have a Material  Adverse
Effect as a result of one or more of the following: (i) the occurrence of any ErISA Event; (ii) the partial or complete withdrawal of the Borrower or its ErISA Affiliates from
a Multiemployer Plan; or (iii) the reorganization or termination of a Multiemployer Plan; or

(i) This Agreement ceases to be in full force and effect or shall be declared null and void or the Borrower shall contest the validity or
enforceability of this Agreement in writing or deny in writing that it has any further liability, including with respect to future Advances by Lenders, under this Agreement;

then, and in any such event, the Agent (i) shall at the request, or may with the consent, of the required Lenders, by notice to the
Borrower, declare the obligation of each Lender to make Advances to the Borrower to be terminated, whereupon the same shall forthwith terminate, and (ii) shall at the
request, or may with the consent, of the required Lenders, by notice to the Borrower, declare all or a portion of the Advances, all interest thereon and all other amounts
payable under this Agreement by the Borrower to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon such Advances, all such interest and all such other amounts shall become
and be forthwith due and payable by the Borrower, without presentment, demand, protest or further notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the
Borrower; provided, however, that in the event of an actual or deemed entry of an order for relief with respect to the Borrower under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, (A) the
obligation of each Lender to make Advances to the Borrower shall automatically be terminated and (B) the Advances, all such interest and all such other amounts shall
automatically become and be due and payable by the Borrower without presentment, demand, protest or further notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly
waived by the Borrower.
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ARTICLE VII
THE AGENT

Section 8.01 Appointment and Authority. Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints Bank of America to act on its behalf as the Agent hereunder and
authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf  and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof or thereof,  together with such
actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The provisions of this Article are solely for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders and the Borrower shall not
have rights as a third party beneficiary of any of such provisions. It  is understood and agreed that the use of the term “agent” herein (or any other similar term) with
reference to the Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of any applicable law. Instead such
term is used as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship between contracting parties.

Section 8.02 rights as a Lender. The Person serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any
other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent and the term “Lender” or “Lenders” shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the
context otherwise requires,  include the Person serving as the Agent hereunder in its individual capacity.  Such Person and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend
money  to,  own securities  of,  act  as  the  financial  advisor  or  in  any  other  advisory  capacity  for  and  generally  engage  in  any  kind  of  business  with  the  Borrower  or  any
Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if such Person were not the Agent hereunder and without any duty to account therefor to the Lenders.

Section 8.03 Exculpatory Provisions. The Agent or any Other Agent, as applicable, shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set
forth herein, and its duties hereunder shall be administrative in nature. without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent or any other Agent, as applicable, and
their respective related Parties:

(a) shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default has occurred and is continuing;

(b) shall  not  have  any  duty  to  take  any  discretionary  action  or  exercise  any  discretionary  powers,  except  discretionary  rights  and
powers expressly contemplated hereby that the Agent is required to exercise as directed in writing by the required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the
relevant Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as set forth herein), provided that the Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or
the opinion of  its  counsel,  may expose the Agent  to  liability  or  that  is  contrary  to  any applicable  law,  including  for  the  avoidance of  doubt  any action that  may be in
violation of  the  automatic  stay under  any law relating to  bankruptcy,  insolvency or  reorganization or  relief  of  debtors  or  that  may effect  a  forfeiture,  modification or
termination of property of a Defaulting Lender in violation of any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors;

(c) shall not, except for notices, reports and other documents expressly required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Agent herein,
have any duty or responsibility to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information (including any credit or other information concerning the
business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition or creditworthiness) relating to the Borrower or any of its Affiliates that is communicated to or
obtained by, or in the possession of, the person serving as the Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity;

(d) shall  not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it  (i)  with the consent  or at  the request  of  the required Lenders  (or such
other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under
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the circumstances as provided in Section 9.01, or as the Agent shall believe in good faith shall be necessary) or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful
misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default
unless and until notice thereof is given in writing to the Agent by the Borrower or a Lender; and

(e)  shall not be responsible for or have any duty or obligation to any Lender or participant or any other Person to ascertain or inquire
into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with this Agreement, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered
hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions
set  forth  herein  or  therein  or  the  occurrence  of  any  Default,  (iv)  the  validity,  enforceability,  effectiveness  or  genuineness  of  this  Agreement  or  any  other  agreement,
instrument or document or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth herein, other than to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

Section 8.04 reliance  by  Agent.  The  Agent  shall  be  entitled  to  rely  upon,  and  shall  not  incur  any  liability  for  relying  upon,  any  notice,  request,
certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any electronic message, posting to an Internet or intranet website or other distribution)
believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed, sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person. The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it
orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any
condition  hereunder  to  the  making  of  an  Advance  that  by  its  terms  must  be  fulfilled  to  the  satisfaction  of  a  Lender,  the  Agent  may  presume  that  such  condition  is
satisfactory to such Lender unless the Agent shall have received notice to the contrary from such Lender prior to the making of such Advance. The Agent may consult with
legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken
by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

Section 8.05 Delegation of Duties. The Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder by or through any
one or more sub-agents appointed by the Agent. The Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through
their respective related Parties.  The exculpatory provisions of this Article shall  apply to any such sub-agent and to the related Parties of the Agent and any such sub-
agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Agent. The Agent
shall  not  be  responsible  for  the  negligence  or  misconduct  of  any  sub-agents  except  to  the  extent  that  a  court  of  competent  jurisdiction  determines  in  a  final  and
nonappealable judgment that the Agent acted with gross negligence or willful misconduct in the selection of such sub-agents.

Section 8.06 resignation of Agent. The Agent may at any time give notice of its resignation to the Lenders and the Borrower. Upon receipt of any
such notice of resignation, the required Lenders shall have the right, in consultation with the Borrower, to appoint a successor, which shall be a bank with an office in
New York, or an Affiliate of any such bank with an office in New York. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the required Lenders and shall have accepted
such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation (or such earlier day as shall be agreed by the required Lenders) (the “resignation
Effective Date”),  then  the  retiring  Agent  may  (but  shall  not  be  obligated  to)  on  behalf  of  the  Lenders,  appoint  a  successor  Agent  meeting  the  qualifications  set  forth
above. whether or not a successor has been appointed, such resignation shall become effective in accordance with such notice on the resignation Effective Date. with
effect from the resignation Effective Date, (1) the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder and (2) except for any indemnity payments
or other amounts then owed to the retiring Agent, all payments, communications and
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determinations provided to be made by, to or through the Agent shall  instead be made by or to each Lender directly, until  such time, if  any, as the required Lenders
appoint a successor Agent as provided for above in this paragraph. Upon the acceptance of a successor’s appointment as Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed
to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring (or retired) Agent (other than any rights to indemnity payments or other amounts
owed to the  retiring  Agent  as  of  the resignation Effective  Date),  and the  retiring  Agent  shall  be  discharged from all  of  its  duties  and obligations  hereunder.  The fees
payable by the Borrower to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor.
After the retiring Agent’s resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article VIII and Section 9.04 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub-
agents and their respective related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them (x) while the retiring Agent was acting as Agent and (y)
after such resignation for as long as any of them continues to act in any capacity hereunder, including in respect of any actions taken in connection with transferring the
agency to any successor Agent.

Section 8.07 Non-reliance on Agent and Other Lenders. Each Lender expressly acknowledges that none of the Agent nor any Other Agent has made
any representation or warranty to it, and that no act by the Agent or any Other Agent hereafter taken, including any consent to, and acceptance of any assignment or
review of the affairs of the Borrower of any Affiliate thereof, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by the Agent or any Other Agent to any Lender
as  to  any  matter,  including  whether  the  Agent  or  any  Other  Agent  have  disclosed  material  information  in  their  (or  their  related  Parties’)  possession.  Each  Lender
acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any Other Agent or any other Lender or any of their related Parties and based on such
documents  and  information  as  it  has  deemed  appropriate,  made  its  own  credit  analysis  of,  appraisal  of,  and  investigation  into,  the  business,  prospects,  operations,
property,  financial  and  other  condition  and  creditworthiness  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  and  all  applicable  bank  or  other  regulatory  laws  relating  to  the
transactions  contemplated  hereby,  and  made  its  own  decision  to  enter  into  this  Agreement  and  to  extend  credit  to  the  Borrower  hereunder.  Each  Lender  also
acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any Other Agent or any other Lender or any of their related Parties and based on such
documents  and information as  it  shall  from time to time deem appropriate,  continue to make its  own credit  analysis,  appraisals  and decisions in  taking or  not  taking
action under or based upon this Agreement, any Note or any related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder, and to make such investigations as
it  deems  necessary  to  inform  itself  as  to  the  business,  prospects,  operations,  property,  financial  and  other  condition  and  creditworthiness  of  the  Borrower  and  its
Subsidiaries.  Each Lender represents and warrants that (i) this Agreement sets forth the terms of a commercial lending facility and (ii) it is engaged in making, acquiring
or holding commercial loans in the ordinary course and is entering into this Agreement as a Lender for the purpose of making, acquiring or holding commercial loans, and
not  for  the  purpose  of  purchasing,  acquiring  or  holding  any  other  type  of  financial  instrument,  and  each  Lender  agrees  not  to  assert  a  claim  in  contravention  of  the
foregoing.  Each Lender represents and warrants that it  is  sophisticated with respect to decisions to make, acquire and/or hold commercial  loans,  and either it,  or the
Person exercising discretion in making its decision to make, acquire and/or hold such commercial loans is experienced in making, acquiring or holding such commercial
loans or providing such other facilities. Neither the Agent nor any Other Agent shall have or be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Lender.

Section 8.08 No Other Duties, etc.. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, none of the Agent or the Other Agents shall have any powers,
duties or responsibilities under this Agreement, except in its capacity, as applicable, as the Agent or a Lender hereunder. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that (a)
(i)  the  arranging  and  other  services  regarding  this  Agreement  provided  by  the  Agent,  the  Other  Agents  and  the  Lenders  are  arm’s-length  commercial  transactions
between the Borrower, on the one hand, and the Agent, the Other Agents and the Lenders, on the other hand, (ii) the Borrower has consulted its own legal, accounting,
regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate and (iii) the Borrower is capable of evaluating, and understands and accepts,
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the  terms,  risks  and  conditions  of  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  and  by  the  documents  related  thereto, (b) (i) each  of  the  Agent,  the  Other  Agents  and  the
Lenders is and has been acting solely as a principal and, except as expressly agreed in writing by the relevant parties, has not been, is not, and will not be acting as an
advisor, agent or fiduciary for the Borrower or any of its Affiliates or any other Person and (ii) none of the Agent, the Other Agents or the Lenders has any obligation to
the Borrower or any of its Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the other documents
related hereto and (c) the Agent, the Other Agents and the Lenders and their respective Affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions that involve interests
that differ from those of the Borrower and its Affiliates, and none of the Agent, the Other Agents or the Lenders has any obligation to disclose any of such interests to the
Borrower or its Affiliates. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Borrower hereby waives and releases any claims that it may have against any of the Agent, the Other
Agents or the Lenders with respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency or fiduciary duty in connection with any aspect of any transaction contemplated hereby.

Section 8.09 rescindable Amount.  with respect  to any payment that the Agent makes for the account of  the Lenders hereunder as to which the
Agent  determines  (which  determination  shall  be  conclusive  absent  manifest  error)  that  any  of  the  following  applies  (such  payment  referred  to  as  the  “rescindable
Amount”): (1) the Borrower has not in fact made such payment; (2) the Agent has made a payment in excess of the amount so paid by such Borrower (whether or not
then owed); or (3) the Agent has for any reason otherwise erroneously made such payment, then each of the Lenders, as the case may be, severally agrees to repay to the
Agent forthwith on demand the rescindable Amount so distributed to such Lender, in same day funds with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date
such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at the Overnight rate.

Section  8.10 recovery  of  Erroneous  Payments.  without  limitation  of  any  other  provision  in  this  Agreement,  if  at  any  time  the  Agent  makes  a
payment hereunder in error to any Lender, whether or not in respect of an obligation due and owing by any Borrower at such time, where such payment is a rescindable
Amount,  then  in  any  such  event,  each  Lender  receiving  a  rescindable  Amount  severally  agrees  to  repay  to  the  Agent  forthwith  on  demand  the  rescindable  Amount
received by such Lender in immediately available funds, with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such rescindable Amount is received by it to but
excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at the Overnight rate. Each Lender irrevocably waives any and all defenses, including any “discharge for value” (under which
a creditor might otherwise claim a right to retain funds mistakenly paid by a third party in respect of a debt owed by another) or similar defense to its obligation to return
any  rescindable  Amount.   The  Agent  shall  inform each  Lender  promptly  upon  determining  that  any  payment  made  to  such  Lender  comprised,  in  whole  or  in  part,  a
rescindable Amount.

Section  8.11 Agent  May  File  Proofs  of  Claim.  In  case  of  the  pendency  of  any  proceeding  under  any  law  relating  to  bankruptcy,  insolvency  or
reorganization or relief of debtors or any other judicial proceeding relative to the Borrower, the Agent (irrespective of whether the principal of any Advance shall then be
due  and  payable  as  herein  expressed  or  by  declaration  or  otherwise  and  irrespective  of  whether  the  Agent  shall  have  made  any  demand  on  any  Borrower)  shall  be
entitled and empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:

(a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal  and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Advances and all
other obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Lenders, the Agent
(including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Lenders and the Agent and their respective agents and counsel and
all other amounts due the Lenders, and the Agent hereunder) allowed in such judicial proceeding; and
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(b) to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same;

and  any  custodian,  receiver,  assignee,  trustee,  liquidator,  sequestrator  or  other  similar  official  in  any  such  judicial  proceeding  is  hereby
authorized by each Lender to make such payments to the Agent and, in the event that the Agent shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Lenders, to
pay  to  the  Agent  any  amount  due  for  the  reasonable  compensation,  expenses,  disbursements  and  advances  of  the  Agent  and  its  agents  and  counsel,  and  any  other
amounts due the Agent hereunder.

Section 8.12 ErISA representation.

(a) Each Lender  (x)  represents  and warrants,  as  of  the date of  the Effective Date,  or  if  later,  the date such Person became a Lender
party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the Effective Date or, if later, the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender
party hereto, for the benefit of, the Agent and Other Agents, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower, that at least one of the following
is and will be true:

(i) such  Lender  is  not  using  “plan  assets”  (within  the  meaning  of  Section  3(42)  of  ErISA  or  otherwise)  of  one  or  more
Benefit Plans with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Advances, the Commitments, or this Agreement,

(ii) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions
determined by independent qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts),
PTE  90-1  (a  class  exemption  for  certain  transactions  involving  insurance  company  pooled  separate  accounts),  PTE  91-38  (a  class  exemption  for  certain  transactions
involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to
such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Advances, the Commitments and this Agreement,

(iii) (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional Asset Manager” (within the meaning of
Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and
perform  the  Advances,  the  Commitments  and  this  Agreement,  (C)  the  entrance  into,  participation  in,  administration  of  and  performance  of  the  Advances,  the
Commitments and this  Agreement satisfies the requirements of  sub-sections (b)  through (g)  of  Part  I  of  PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best  knowledge of  such Lender,  the
requirements of subsection (a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the
Advances and this Agreement, or

(iv) such  other  representation,  warranty  and  covenant  as  may  be  agreed  in  writing  between  the  Agent,  in  its  sole
discretion, and such Lender.

(b) In  addition,  unless  sub-clause  (i)  in  the  immediately  preceding  clause  (a)  is  true  with  respect  to  a  Lender  or  such  Lender  has
provided another representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x) represents
and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the Effective Date, or, if later, the date such Person became a Lender
party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of the Agent and the Other Agents, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for
the benefit of the Borrower that none of the Agent or any Other Agent is a fiduciary with respect to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender’s entrance into,
participation in, administration of and performance of the Advances, Commitments and this
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Agreement (including in connection with the reservation or exercise of any rights by the Agent under this Agreement or any documents related hereto).

ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.01 Amendments, Etc. (a) No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any Notes, nor consent to any departure by the Borrower
therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Borrower and the required Lenders, and then such waiver or consent shall
be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given; provided, however, that (i) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing
and signed by all the Lenders, do any of the following: (A) waive any of the conditions specified in Section 4.01, (B) change the percentage of the Commitments or of the
revolving Credit  Exposures or the number of Lenders that shall  be required for the Lenders or any of  them to take any action hereunder (except pursuant to Section
2.05), or (C) amend this Section 9.01; and (ii) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the required Lenders and each Lender that has a
Commitment  or  has  or  is  owed  obligations  under  this  Agreement  or  the  Notes  that  is  or  are  modified  by  such  amendment,  waiver  or  consent,  (A)  increase  the
Commitment  of  such  Lender  or  subject  such  Lender  to  any  additional  obligations  (except  pursuant  to Section 2.05), (B) reduce  the  principal  of,  or  interest  on,  the
Advances made by such Lender or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder to such Lender, (C) postpone any date fixed for any payment of interest on the Advances
made by such Lender or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder to such Lender, (D) extend the Termination Date or (E) amend or waive the application of Section
2.19.

(b) In addition, notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, if the Agent and the Borrower shall have jointly identified an
obvious error or any error or omission of a technical  nature, in each case, in any provision of this Agreement,  then the Agent and the Borrower shall  be permitted to
amend such provision, and, in each case, such amendment shall become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement if the same
is not objected to in writing by the required Lenders to the Agent within ten Business Days following receipt of notice thereof.

(c) Each Lender  grants  (x)  to the Agent  the right  to purchase  all  (but  not  less  than all)  of  such Lender’s  Commitments  and Advances
owing to it and the Notes held by it and all of its rights and obligations hereunder, and (y) to the Borrower the right to cause an assignment of all (but not less than all) of
such Lender’s Commitments and Advances owing to it, its participations in the Notes held by it and all of its rights and obligations hereunder to Eligible Assignees, which
right  may be exercised by the Agent  or  the Borrower,  as  the case may be,  if  such Lender  (a “Non-Consenting Lender”) refuses to execute any amendment,  waiver or
consent which requires the written consent of all or all affected Lenders under Clause (i) or (ii) in paragraph (a) above or, alternatively, is unable to execute and/or deliver
such amendment, waiver or consent which requires the written consent of all or all affected Lenders under Clause (i) or (ii) in paragraph (a) above within the time period
specified by the Agent, the required Lenders and the Borrower and to which the required Lenders and the Borrower have otherwise agreed; provided that such Non-
Consenting Lender shall receive, in connection with such assignment, payment equal to the aggregate amount of outstanding Advances owed to such Lender (together
with all accrued and unpaid interest, fees and other amounts owed to such Lender, including any amounts under Section 2.20). Each Lender agrees that if the Agent or
the  Borrower,  as  the  case  may  be,  exercises  its  option  hereunder,  it  shall  promptly  execute  and  deliver  all  agreements  and  documentation  reasonably  necessary  to
effectuate  such  assignment,  without  recourse,  as  set  forth  in Section  9.07 at  the  Borrower’s  expense.  If  the  Borrower  has  requested  that  a  Lender  execute  such
agreement or documentation and the Non-Consenting Lender does not comply with such request within two Business Days after such request, then the Borrower shall be
entitled (but not obligated) to execute and deliver such agreement
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and documentation on such Non-Consenting Lender’s behalf and any such agreement and/or documentation so executed by the Borrower (in substantially the form of
Exhibit  C hereto)  shall  be effective for  purposes of  effectuating an assignment pursuant to Section 9.07; provided,  all  amounts  due and owing to the Non-Consenting
Lender have been paid and the Borrower shall not be permitted to add any obligations or liabilities to such Non-Consenting Lender.

Section 9.02 Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Consent. (a) Except as provided in subsection (b) below or as otherwise expressly set forth herein, all notices
and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent
by telecopier (or, as specifically provided in Clause (ii) below, by e-mail) as follows: (i) if to the Borrower, to it at Oracle Corporation, 2300 Oracle way, Austin, TX 78741,
Attention  of  the  Executive  Vice  President,  Taxation  and  Treasurer  (Email:  Tr-CrEDITNOTICE_US@OrACLE.COM),  with  a  copy  to  the  general  Counsel  at  Oracle
Corporation, 500 Oracle Parkway, Mailstop 5op7, redwood City, CA 94065 (Email: legal_us@oracle.com); (ii) if to the Agent, to Bank of America at Bank of America, N.A.,
Attn:  Mohnish  Patel,  gateway  Village  -  900  Building,  6th  Floor,  900  w.  Trade  Street,  Mail  Code:  NC1-026-06-04,  Charlotte,  NC  28255-0001  (e-mail:
mohnish.patel2@bofa.com, with a copy to bridgett.manduk@bofa.com; Telephone No. (980) 388-5085; Fax No. (704) 625-5471); and (iii) if to a Lender, to it at its address
(or telecopier number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire. Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be
deemed to have been given when received; notices sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when receipt thereof is confirmed electronically (except that, if
not given during normal business hours for  the recipient,  shall  be deemed to have been given at  the opening of  business on the next  business day for  the recipient).
Notices delivered through electronic communications to the extent provided in paragraph (b) below, shall be effective as provided in said paragraph (b).

(b) Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including
e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Agent, provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender pursuant to
Section 2.02 if such Lender has notified the Agent that it is incapable of receiving notices under such Article by electronic communication. The Agent or the Borrower may,
in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it, provided that
approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications. Unless the Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to
an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested”
function,  as  available,  return  e-mail  or  other  written acknowledgement), provided that  if  such  notice  or  other  communication is  not  sent  during  the  normal  business
hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient, and (ii)
notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as
described  in  the  foregoing  Clause  (i)  of  notification  that  such  notice  or  communication  is  available  and  identifying  the  website  address  therefor.  Electronic  mail  and
Internet  and  intranet  websites  may  be  used  by  the  Agent  to  distribute  communications,  such  as  financial  statements  and  other  information  as  provided  in  this
Agreement, and to distribute documents for execution by the parties thereto, and the Agent shall not be responsible for any losses, costs, expenses and liabilities that
may arise by reason of the use thereof, except for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent and the Lenders shall be entitled to rely and act in good faith
upon any notices (including telephonic notices) purportedly given by or on behalf of the Borrower.

(c) Any party hereto may change its address or telecopier number or email address for notices and other communications hereunder
by notice to the other parties hereto.
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Section 9.03 No waiver; remedies. No failure on the part of any Lender or the Agent to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder or

under any Note shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of
any other right. The remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.

Section 9.04 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage waiver. (a) The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred
by the Agent and its Affiliates, including the reasonable and documented fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for the Agent (and reasonable, documented fees
and time charges  for  attorneys  who may be  employees  of  the  Agent),  in  connection  with  the  syndication  of  the  credit  facilities  provided  for  herein,  the  preparation,
negotiation, execution, delivery and administration of this Agreement or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not
the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  or  thereby  shall  be  consummated)  (subject,  in  the  case  of  certain  expenses  in  connection  with  the  preparation,  negotiation,
execution  and  delivery  of  this  Agreement  and  the  syndication  of  the  credit  facilities  provided  for  herein,  to  any  limitation  separately  agreed  in  writing  between  the
Borrower and the Agent) and (ii) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent or any Lender, including the reasonable and documented
fees, charges and disbursements of (x) one counsel for the Agent (and reasonable and documented fees and time charges for attorneys who may be employees of the
Agent), (y) one counsel to the Lenders, taken as a whole, and (z) any local counsel required in any applicable jurisdiction, in each case in connection with the enforcement
or protection of their respective rights in connection with this Agreement and the Notes, including their respective rights under this Section 9.04, or in connection with
the Advances made, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Advances.

(b) The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent (and any sub-agent thereof), each Lender and each related Party of any of the foregoing
Persons (each such Person being called an “Indemnitee”) against,  and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all  losses,  claims, damages,  liabilities and related
expenses, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee (and reasonable fees and time charges for attorneys who may be
employees of the Agent or any Lender), incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of
this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the performance by the parties hereto of their respective obligations hereunder or the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (ii) any actual or alleged presence or release of hazardous Materials on or from any property owned
or operated by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Action related in any way to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iii)  any actual or
prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory, whether brought by the
Borrower,  any  of  its  shareholders  or  creditors,  an  Indemnitee  or  any  other  Person,  and  regardless  of  whether  any  Indemnitee  is  a  party  thereto, provided that  such
indemnity  shall  not,  as  to  any  Indemnitee,  be  available  to  the  extent  that  such  losses,  claims,  damages,  liabilities  or  related  expenses  are  determined  by  a  court  of
competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee or to the extent that, in
any action brought by the Borrower, the Borrower prevails. This Section 9.04(b) shall not apply with respect to Taxes other than any Taxes that represent losses, claims,
damages, liabilities and related expenses arising from any non-Tax claim.

(c) To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section 9.04 to be paid by it to
the Agent (or any sub-agent thereof) or any related Party of any of the foregoing, but without relieving the Borrower of its obligation thereunder, each Lender severally
agrees to pay to the Agent (or any such sub-agent) or such related Party, as the case may be, such Lender’s Applicable Percentage (determined as of the time that the
applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount, provided that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage,
liability or related
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expense,  as the case may be,  was incurred by or asserted against the Agent (or any such sub-agent)  in its  capacity as such,  or against  any related Party of any of the
foregoing  acting  for  the  Agent  (or  any  such  sub-agent)  in  connection  with  such  capacity.  The  obligations  of  the  Lenders  under  this paragraph (c) are  subject  to  the
provisions of Section 2.02(e).

(d) To  the  fullest  extent  permitted  by  applicable  law,  the  Borrower  shall  not  assert,  and  hereby  waives,  any  claim  against  any
Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with,
or as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, any Advance or the use of the
proceeds thereof. No Indemnitee referred to in paragraph (b) above shall be liable for any damages arising from the use by unintended recipients of any information or
other materials distributed by it through telecommunications, electronic or other information transmission systems in connection with this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby.

(e) All amounts due under this Section 9.04 shall be payable promptly after written demand therefor.

(f) without  prejudice  to  the  survival  of  any  other  agreement  of  the  Borrower  hereunder,  the  agreements  and  obligations  of  the
Borrower contained in Sections 2.12, 2.17, 2.20 and this Section 9.04 shall survive the payment in full of principal, interest and all other amounts payable hereunder and
under the Notes.

Section 9.05 right  of  Set-off.  If  an  Event  of  Default  shall  have  occurred  and  be  continuing,  each  Lender  and  each  of  their  respective  Affiliates  is
hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time
or demand, provisional or final, in whatever currency) at any time held and other obligations (in whatever currency) at any time owing by such Lender or any such Affiliate
to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any and all of the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement to such Lender,
irrespective  of  whether  or  not  such Lender  shall  have made any demand under  this  Agreement  and although such obligations  of  the Borrower may be contingent  or
unmatured or are owed to a branch or office of such Lender different from the branch or office holding such deposit or obligated on such indebtedness. The rights of
each Lender and their respective Affiliates under this Section 9.05 are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Lender or their
respective Affiliates may have. Each Lender agrees promptly to notify the Borrower and the Agent after any such setoff and application, provided that the failure to give
such notice shall not affect the validity of such setoff and application.

Section 9.06 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by the Agent and when the Agent shall have
received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 9.07 Assignments and Participations. (a) No Lender may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to
an Eligible Assignee in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section 9.07, (ii) by way of participation in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (d)
of this Section 9.07 or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of paragraph (f) of this Section 9.07 (and any other attempted
assignment or transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other
than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in paragraph (d) of this
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Section 9.07 and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the related Parties of each of the Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim
under or by reason of this Agreement.

(b) Any  Lender  may  at  any  time  assign  to  one  or  more  Eligible  Assignees  all  or  a  portion  of  its  rights  and  obligations  under  this
Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and revolving Credit Exposure at the time owing to it); provided that (i) except in the case of an assignment of
the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender’s Commitment and the revolving Credit Exposure at the time owing to it or in the case of an assignment to a Lender
or  an  Affiliate  of  a  Lender  or  an  Approved  Fund  with  respect  to  a  Lender,  the  aggregate  amount  of  the  Commitment  (which  for  this  purpose  includes  Advances
outstanding thereunder) or, if the applicable Commitment is not then in effect, the principal outstanding balance of the Advance of the assigning Lender subject to each
such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Acceptance with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Agent or, if “Trade Date” is specified in
the Assignment and Acceptance, as of the Trade Date) shall not be less than $5,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof, unless each of the Agent
and, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower otherwise consent (each such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and
such approval, in the case of the Borrower, to be deemed to have been given if a response is not received within ten Business Days from the date on which request for
approval  was  received  by  the  Borrower);  (ii)  each  partial  assignment  shall  be  made  as  an  assignment  of  a  proportionate  part  of  all  the  assigning  Lender’s  rights  and
obligations under this Agreement with respect to the Advance or the Commitment assigned; (iii) any assignment must be approved with the prior written consent of (A)
the Agent and (B) the Borrower (each such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such approval, in the case of the Borrower, to be deemed to have
been given if a response is not received within ten Business Days from the date on which request for approval was received by the Borrower); provided that no consent of
the Borrower or the Agent shall  be required for an assignment to a Lender,  an Affiliate of  a Lender,  an Approved Fund or,  in the case of the Borrower,  if  an Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing; (iv) the parties to each assignment shall (1) electronically execute and deliver to the Agent an Assignment and Acceptance via an
electronic settlement system acceptable to the Agent or (2) manually execute and deliver to the Agent an Assignment and Acceptance, together with a processing and
recordation fee of $3,500; provided that only one such fee shall be payable in connection with simultaneous assignments to or by two or more Approved Funds; and (v)
the Eligible Assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Agent an Administrative Questionnaire and if required, applicable tax forms.

Subject  to  acceptance  and  recording  thereof  by  the  Agent  pursuant  to paragraph (c) of  this Section 9.07,  from  and  after  the  effective  date
specified in  each Assignment and Acceptance,  the Eligible Assignee thereunder  shall  be a  party  to this  Agreement and,  to the extent  of  the interest  assigned by such
Assignment and Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest
assigned by such Assignment and Acceptance, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptance covering all of
the  assigning  Lender’s  rights  and obligations  under  this  Agreement,  such  Lender  shall  cease  to  be  a  party  hereto)  but  shall  continue  to  be  entitled  to  the  benefits  of
Section 2.12, 2.17, 2.20 and 9.04 with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such assignment.

(c) The Agent,  acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, shall  maintain a copy of each Assignment and
Acceptance delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitments of, and principal amounts of the Advances
owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “register”). The entries in the register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Agent and
the Lenders  shall  treat  each Person whose name is  recorded in  the  register  pursuant  to  the  terms hereof  as  a  Lender  hereunder  for  all  purposes  of  this  Agreement,
notwithstanding

53



 
notice to the contrary. The register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice. Upon its
receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Acceptance executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee’s completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless
the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section 9.07 and any written consent to such
assignment required by paragraph (b) of this Section 9.07, the Agent shall accept such Assignment and Acceptance and record the information contained therein in the
register. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the register as provided in this paragraph.

(d) Any  Lender  may  at  any  time,  without  the  consent  of,  or  notice  to,  the  Borrower  or  the  Agent,  sell  participations  to  any  Person
(other than a natural person or the Borrower or any of the Borrower’s Affiliates or Subsidiaries) (each, a “Participant”) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or
obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and/or revolving Credit Exposure owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations
under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii)
the Borrower, the Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under
this Agreement. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce
this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide
that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver with respect to (A) reducing the principal of, or interest
on, the Advances made by such Lender or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder to such Lender, (B) postponing any date fixed for any payment of interest on the
Advances  made by  such  Lender  or  any  fees  or  other  amounts  payable  hereunder  to  such  Lender  that  affects  such  Participant  or  (C)  extending  the  Termination Date.
Subject to paragraph (e) of this Section 9.07, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of, and subject to the limitations of, Sections 2.12
and 2.17 to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section 9.07. To the extent permitted by
law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 9.05 as though it were a Lender, provided such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.19 as
though it were a Lender. Each Lender that sells a participation, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, shall maintain a register on which it
enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts of each Participant’s interest in the Advances or other obligations under this Agreement (the
“Participant register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant register to any Person (including the identity of
any Participant or any information relating to a Participant’s interest in any Commitments, Advances or its other obligations under this Agreement) except to the extent
that  such disclosure is  necessary  to establish that  such Commitment,  Advance or  other  obligation is  in  registered form under  Section 5f.103-1(c)  of  the United States
Treasury regulations.  The entries in the Participant register shall  be conclusive,  and such Lender,  the Borrower and the Agent shall  treat each person whose name is
recorded in the Participant register pursuant to the terms hereof as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the
contrary.

(e) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Sections 2.12 and 2.17 than the applicable Lender would
have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower’s
prior  written  consent.  No  Participant  shall  be  entitled  to  the  benefits  of Section 2.17 unless  such  Participant  agrees,  for  the  benefit  of  the  Borrower,  to  comply  with
Section 2.17(e) as though it were a Lender.
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(f) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all  or any portion of its  rights under this  Agreement to secure

obligations  of  such  Lender,  including  without  limitation any pledge or  assignment  to  secure  obligations  to  a  Federal  reserve  Bank or  other  central  banking  authority;
provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as
a party hereto. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any Lender that is a Fund may create a security interest in all or any portion of the Advances
owing to it and the Notes, if any, held by it to the trustee for holders of obligations owed, or securities issued, by such Fund as security for such obligations or securities,
provided that unless and until  such trustee actually becomes a Lender in compliance with the other provisions of this Section 9.07, (i) no such pledge shall release the
pledging Lender from any of its obligations under this Agreement and (ii) such trustee shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of a Lender under this Agreement
and the Notes even though such trustee may have acquired ownership rights with respect to the pledged interest through foreclosure or otherwise.

(g) Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  contained  herein,  any  Lender  (a  “granting  Lender”)  may  grant  to  a  special  purpose
funding vehicle (a “SPC”), identified as such in writing from time to time by the granting Lender to the Agent and the Borrower, the option to provide to the Borrower all
or any part of any Advance that such granting Lender would otherwise be obligated to make the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement; provided that (i) nothing herein
shall constitute a commitment by any SPC to make any Advance and (ii) if an SPC elects not to exercise such option or otherwise fails to provide all or any part of such
Advance, the granting Lender shall be obligated to make such Advance pursuant to the terms hereof. The making of an Advance by an SPC hereunder shall utilize the
Commitment of the granting Lender to the same extent, and as if, such Advance were made by such granting Lender. Each party hereto hereby agrees that no SPC shall
be  liable  for  any  indemnity  or  similar  payment  obligation  under  this  Agreement  (all  liability  for  which  shall  remain  with  the  granting  Lender).  In  furtherance  of  the
foregoing, each party hereto hereby agrees (which agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement) that, prior to the date that is one year and one day after
the payment in full of all outstanding commercial paper or other senior indebtedness of any SPC, it will not institute against, or join any other person in instituting against,
such  SPC  any  bankruptcy,  reorganization,  arrangement,  insolvency  or  liquidation  proceedings  under  the  laws  of  the  United  States  or  any  State  thereof.  In  addition,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 9.07, any SPC may (i) with notice to, but without the prior written consent of, the Borrower and the
Agent  and  without  paying  any  processing  fee  therefore,  assign  all  or  a  portion  of  its  interests  in  any  Advances  to  the  granting  Lender  or  to  any  financial  institutions
(consented to by the Borrower and Agent) providing liquidity and/or credit support to or for the account of such SPC to support the funding or maintenance of Advances
and (ii)  disclose  on a  confidential  basis  any non-public  information relating  to  its  Advances  to  any rating  Agency,  commercial  paper  dealer  or  provider  of  any  surety,
guarantee or credit or liquidity enhancement to such SPC. This Section 9.07 may not be amended without the written consent of each SPC that holds any Advances at the
time of the proposed amendment.

(h) Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, the Borrower shall not have the right to assign its rights hereunder or any interest
herein without the prior written consent of each Lender and the Agent.

Section 9.08 governing Law. This Agreement and the Notes and any claims, controversy, dispute or cause of action (whether in contract or tort or
otherwise) shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

Section 9.09 Counterparts; Integration; Electronic Execution. (a) This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in
different  counterparts),  each  of  which  shall  constitute  an  original,  but  all  of  which  when  taken  together  shall  constitute  a  single  contract.  This  Agreement  and  any
separate letter
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agreements with respect to fees payable to the Agent constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all
previous  agreements  and  understandings,  oral  or  written,  relating  to  the  subject  matter  hereof.  Delivery  of  an  executed  counterpart  of  a  signature  page  of  this
Agreement or any document or instrument delivered in connection herewith by telecopy or other electronic means, including by email with a .pdf or .tif  copy thereof
attached, shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Agreement or such other document or instrument, as applicable.

(b) The  words  “execution,”  “signed,”  “signature,”  and  words  of  like  import  in  any  Assignment  and  Acceptance  shall  be  deemed  to
include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed
signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic
Signatures  in  global  and  National  Commerce  Act,  the  New  York  State  Electronic  Signatures  and  records  Act,  or  any  other  similar  state  laws  based  on  the  Uniform
Electronic Transactions Act; provided that notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary none of the Agent or any Lender is under any obligation to agree to
accept  electronic  signatures  in  any  form  or  in  any  format  unless  expressly  agreed  to  by  the  Agent  or  such  Lender  pursuant  to  procedures  approved  by  it; provided,
further, that without limiting the foregoing, upon the request of any party, any electronic signature shall be promptly followed by such manually executed counterpart.

Section 9.10 Jurisdiction, Etc. (a) The Borrower irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of
the courts of the State of New York sitting in New York City in the Borough of Manhattan and of the United States District Court sitting in New York City in the Borough of
Manhattan, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or for recognition or enforcement of any
judgment, and each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined
in such New York State court or, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, in such Federal court. ThE BOrrOwEr IrrEVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AgrEES
ThAT IT wILL NOT COMMENCE ANY ACTION, LITIgATION Or PrOCEEDINg OF ANY kIND Or DESCrIPTION, whEThEr IN LAw Or EQUITY, whEThEr IN CONTrACT Or IN
TOrT Or OThErwISE, AgAINST ThE AgENT, ANY LENDEr, Or ANY rELATED PArTY OF ThE FOrEgOINg IN ANY wAY rELATINg TO ThIS AgrEEMENT Or ThE NOTES Or
ThE TrANSACTIONS rELATINg hErETO, IN ANY FOrUM OThEr ThAN ThE UNITED STATES DISTrICT COUrT FOr ThE SOUThErN DISTrICT OF NEw YOrk SITTINg IN ThE
BOrOUgh OF MANhATTAN (Or IF SUCh COUrT LACkS SUBJECT MATTEr JUrISDICTION, ThE SUPrEME COUrT OF ThE STATE OF NEw YOrk SITTINg IN ThE BOrOUgh
OF MANhATTAN) AND ANY APPELLATE COUrT FrOM ANY ThErEOF. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be
conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement or the Notes or in any
shall affect any right that the Agent or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Notes against the Borrower or
its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.

(b) The Borrower irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which it may
now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the Notes in any court referred to in paragraph (a)
of this Section 9.10. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the
maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.
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(c) Each  party  hereto  irrevocably  consents  to  service  of  process  in  the  manner  provided  for  notices  in Section 9.02.  Nothing  in  this

Agreement will affect the right of any party hereto to serve process in any other manner permitted by applicable law.

Section 9.11 waiver of Jury Trial.  EACh PArTY hErETO hErEBY IrrEVOCABLY wAIVES, TO ThE FULLEST EXTENT PErMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAw,
ANY rIghT IT MAY hAVE TO A TrIAL BY JUrY IN ANY LEgAL PrOCEEDINg DIrECTLY Or INDIrECTLY ArISINg OUT OF Or rELATINg TO ThIS AgrEEMENT Or ThE NOTES
Or ThE TrANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED hErEBY Or ThErEBY (whEThEr BASED ON CONTrACT, TOrT Or ANY OThEr ThEOrY). EACh PArTY hErETO (A) CErTIFIES ThAT
NO rEPrESENTATIVE, AgENT Or ATTOrNEY OF ANY OThEr PErSON hAS rEPrESENTED, EXPrESSLY Or OThErwISE, ThAT SUCh OThEr PErSON wOULD NOT, IN ThE
EVENT OF LITIgATION, SEEk TO ENFOrCE ThE FOrEgOINg wAIVEr AND (B) ACkNOwLEDgES ThAT IT AND ThE OThEr PArTIES hErETO hAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTEr
INTO ThIS AgrEEMENT AND ThE NOTES BY, AMONg OThEr ThINgS, ThE MUTUAL wAIVErS AND CErTIFICATIONS IN ThIS SECTION.

Section 9.12 Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except
that Information may be disclosed (a) to it, its Affiliates’ and their respective partners, directors, officers, employees, advisors and representatives (it being understood
that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential),
(b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners), (c) to the
extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any
remedies hereunder or under the Notes or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Notes or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f)
subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section 9.12, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of
or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or (ii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction
or to any credit insurance provider relating to the Borrower and its obligations, (g) with the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed) or (h) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section 9.12 or (y) becomes available to the Agent
or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Borrower.

For purposes of this Section 9.12, “Information” means all information received from (or on behalf of) the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries
relating to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a
nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower, provided that, in the case of information received from the Borrower after the date hereof, such information is
clearly  identified  at  the  time  of  delivery  as  confidential.  Any  Person  required  to  maintain  the  confidentiality  of  Information  as  provided  in  this Section 9.12 shall  be
considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such
Person would accord to its own confidential information.

Section 9.13 Patriot Act Notice. Each Lender and the Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to
the requirements of the Patriot Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address
of the Borrower and other information that will allow such Lender or the Agent, as applicable, to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Patriot Act. The Borrower
shall provide, to the extent commercially reasonable, such information and take such actions as are reasonably requested by the Agent or any Lenders in order to assist
the Agent and the Lenders in maintaining compliance with the Patriot Act.
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Section 9.14 Interest rate Limitation.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to any Advance,

together with all fees, charges and other amounts that are treated as interest on such Advance under applicable law (collectively, “charges”), shall exceed the maximum
lawful rate (the “Maximum rate”) that may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender holding such Advance in accordance with applicable
law, the rate of interest payable in respect of such Advance hereunder, together with all charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum rate.  To the
extent  lawful,  the  interest  and  charges  that  would  have  been  paid  in  respect  of  such Advance but  were  not  paid  as  a  result  of  the  operation  of  this  Section  shall  be
cumulated and the interest and charges payable to such Lender in respect of other Advances or periods shall be increased (but not above the amount collectible at the
Maximum rate therefor) until such cumulated amount, together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Effective rate for each day to the date of repayment, shall
have been received by such Lender.  Any amount collected by such Lender that exceeds the maximum amount collectible at the Maximum rate shall be applied to the
reduction  of  the  principal  balance  of  such Advance or  refunded  to  the  Borrower  so  that  at  no  time shall  the  interest  and  charges  paid  or  payable  in  respect  of  such
Advance exceed the maximum amount collectible at the Maximum rate.

Section  9.15 Acknowledgement  and  Consent  to  Bail-In  of  Affected  Financial  Institutions.   Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  in  this
Agreement,  each  Note  or  in  any  other  agreement,  arrangement  or  understanding  among  any  such  parties,  each  party  hereto  acknowledges  that  any  liability  of  any
Affected Financial Institution arising under this Agreement or any Note, to the extent such liability is unsecured, may be subject to the write-down and conversion powers
of the applicable resolution Authority and agrees and consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

(a) the  application  of  any  write-Down  and  Conversion  Powers  by  the  applicable  resolution  Authority  to  any  such  liabilities  arising
hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution; and

(b) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:

(c) a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(d) a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such Affected Financial Institution,
its  parent  undertaking,  or  a  bridge  institution  that  may  be  issued  to  it  or  otherwise  conferred  on  it,  and  that  such  shares  or  other  instruments  of  ownership  will  be
accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement or any Note; or

(e) the  variation  of  the  terms  of  such  liability  in  connection  with  the  exercise  of  the  write-down  and  conversion  powers  of  the
applicable resolution Authority.

 

[Signature pages follow]
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IN wITNESS whErEOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first above
written.

  ORACLE CORPORATION
     
   By:  /s/  grEgOrY hILBrICh

 
 
 

 
Name: gregory hilbrich
Title: Executive Vice President, Taxation and Treasurer

 



 
  BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
    as Agent and a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  LAwrENCE ChAO

 
 
 

 
Name: Lawrence Chao
Title: Vice President

 



 
  BNP PARIBAS,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  BrENDAN hENEghAN

 
 
 

 
Name: Brendan heneghan
Title: Director

         
    By:  /s/  NICOLAS DOChE

 
 
 

 
Name: Nicolas Doche
Title: Vice President

 



 

 BANCO SANTANDER, S.A., NEW YORK
BRANCH,

  as a Lender
   
  By:  /s/  PABLO UrgOITI

 
 

 
Name: Pablo Urgoiti
Title: Managing Director

      
  By:  /s/  ANDrES BArBOSA

 
 

 
Name: Andres Barbosa
Title: Managing Director

 



 
  CITIBANK, N.A.,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  SUSAN M. OLSEN

 
 
 

 
Name: Susan M. Olsen
Title: Vice President

 

 



 
  CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANK
     
   By:  /s/  rOSE MArY PErEz

 
 
 

 
Name: rose Mary Perez
Title: Managing Director

         
    By:  /s/  JAIME FrONTErA

 
 
 

 
Name: Jaime Frontera
Title: Managing Director

 



 
  DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  MINg k. ChU

 
 
 

 
Name: Ming k. Chu
Title: Director

         
    By:  /s/  MArkO LUkIN

 
 
 

 
Name: Marko Lukin
Title: Vice President

 



 
  GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA
     
   By:  /s/  rEBECCA krATz

 
 
 

 
Name: rebecca kratz
Title: Authorized Signatory

 



 
  HSBC BANK USA, N.A.,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  ALEEM ShAMJI

 
 
 

 
Name: Aleem Shamji
Title: Managing Director

 

 



 
  ING Bank N.V., Dublin Branch
     
   By:  /s/  SEAN hASSETT

 
 
 

 
Name: Sean hassett
Title: Director

         
    By:  /s/  COrMAC LANgFOrD

 
 
 

 
Name: Cormac Langford
Title: Director

 



 
  JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
     
   By:  /s/  JOhN kOwALCzUk

 
 
 

 
Name: John kowalczuk
Title: Executive Director

 



 
  National Westminster Bank plc
     
   By:  /s/  JONAThAN EADY

 
 
 

 
Name: Jonathan Eady
Title: Director

 



 
  PNC Bank, National Association,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  SEAN PIPEr

 
 
 

 
Name: Sean Piper
Title: Vice President

 



 
  Standard Chartered Bank,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  krISTOPhEr TrACY

 
 
 

 
Name: kristopher Tracy
Title: Director – Financing Solutions

 

 



 
  SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  IrLEN MAk

 
 
 

 
Name: Irlen Mak
Title: Director

 



 
  TORONTO-DOMINION BANK, NEW YORK BRANCH,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  JINg YE

 
 
 

 
Name: Jing Ye
Title: Authorized Signatory

 



 
  THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  TAk ChENg

 
 
 

 
Name: Tak Cheng
Title: Vice President
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TERM LOAN CREDIT AGREEMENT 
dated as of March 8, 2022

Oracle Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), and the banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders (the “Initial Lenders”) listed
on the signature pages hereof, Bank of America, N.A., (“Bank of America”) as administrative agent (in such capacity, the “Agent”), Citibank, N.A., hSBC Bank USA, N.A.,
and  JPMorgan  Chase  Bank,  N.A,  as  co-syndication  agents,  BNP  Paribas,  Deutsche  Bank  Securities  Inc.,  PNC  Bank,  National  Association,  and  Sumitomo  Mitsui  Banking
Corporation, as co-documentation agents, Banco Santander, S.A., New York Branch, National westminster Bank plc and TD Securities (USA) LLC, as co-managing agents,
Credit  Agricole  Corporate,  and  Investment  Bank,  INg  Bank  N.V.,  Dublin  Branch,  Standard  Chartered  Bank  and  The  Bank  Of  New  York  Mellon,  as  co-agents,  and  BofA
Securities, Inc., Citibank, N.A., hSBC Bank USA, N.A., and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A, as joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners, agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND ACCOUNTING TERMS

Section 1.01 Certain Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings (such meanings to be equally
applicable to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined):

“Acquired Company” means Cerner Corporation.

“Acquisition” means the merging of Cedar Acquisition Corporation with and into the Acquired Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement.

“Acquisition Agreement” means the Agreement and Plan of  Merger  dated December 20,  2021,  among the Acquired Company,  OC Acquisition LLC,  Cedar
Acquisition Corporation and the Borrower.

“Acquisition Agreement representations” means the representations made by (or relating to) the Acquired Company in the Acquisition Agreement.

“Acquisition Consideration” means the aggregate cash consideration (including fees, costs and expenses) to be paid by OC Acquisition LLC in accordance with
the Acquisition Agreement.

“Acquisition Debt”  means  any  Debt  of  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  that  has  been  issued  for  the  purpose  of  financing,  in  whole  or  in  part,  a
Qualified Acquisition and any related transactions or series of related transactions (including for the purpose of refinancing or replacing all or a portion of any pre-existing
Debt of  the Borrower,  any of  its  Subsidiaries  or  the person(s)  or  assets  to be acquired); provided that such Debt satisfies one or more of the following requirements:
(a) the release of the proceeds thereof to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is contingent upon the consummation of such Qualified Acquisition and, pending such release,
such proceeds are held in escrow (and, if the definitive agreement (or, in the case of a tender offer or similar transaction, the definitive offer document) for such Qualified
Acquisition is terminated prior to the consummation of such Qualified Acquisition or if such Qualified Acquisition is otherwise not consummated by the date specified in
the definitive documentation relating to such debt, such proceeds shall be promptly applied to satisfy and discharge all obligations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in
respect of such Debt); (b)  such Debt contains a “special mandatory redemption” provision (or other similar provision) or otherwise requires such Debt to be redeemed or
prepaid if such Qualified Acquisition is not consummated by the date specified in the definitive documentation relating to such debt (and if the definitive agreement (or,
in the case of a tender offer or similar transaction, the definitive offer document) for such Qualified
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Acquisition  is  terminated  in  accordance  with  its  terms  prior  to  the  consummation  of  such  Qualified  Acquisition  or  such  Qualified  Acquisition  is  otherwise  not
consummated by the date specified in the definitive documentation relating to such Debt, such debt is so redeemed or prepaid within 90 days of such termination or
such specified date, as the case may be); or (c) such Debt does not include a “special mandatory redemption” provision (or other similar provision) or otherwise have a
repayment or redemption feature tied to the failure to consummate such Qualified Acquisition, provided, however, that unless the Borrower or its Subsidiaries has taken
prompt action to repay, redeem, discharge or commence a tender offer to repurchase such Debt after the definitive agreement (or, in the case of a tender offer or similar
transaction, the definitive offer document) for the relevant Qualified Acquisition is terminated in accordance with its terms prior to the consummation thereof or such
Qualified  Acquisition  is  otherwise  not  consummated  by  the  date  specified  in  the  definitive  documentation  relating  thereto,  such Debt shall  no  longer  constitute
“Acquisition Debt” pursuant to this clause.

“Additional Permitted Liens” means Liens not otherwise permitted hereunder on the assets of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries consisting solely of real
property  interests,  cash  and  cash  equivalents  and  any  proceeds  thereof; provided that  the  aggregate  value  of  all  assets  subject  to  such  Liens  shall  not  exceed
$500,000,000 at any time, based upon the book value of such assets determined at the time such Lien attaches.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Agent.

“Affected Financial Institution” means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any Uk Financial Institution.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled
by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

“Affiliated Parties” means,  with respect to any natural  person, (a) any company, partnership,  trust or other entity for which such natural  person (or such
natural person’s estate) has dispositive or voting power with respect to any of the Borrower’s common equity held by such company, partnership, trust or other entity;
(b) any trust the beneficiaries of which consist solely of such natural person, any Immediate Family Member of such natural person or any person described in clause (a);
(c) the trustees, legal representatives, beneficiaries or beneficial owners (in each case, solely in such capacity and not in their individual or other capacities) of any such
company, partnership, trust or other entity referred to in clause (a) or (b); (d) the estates of such natural person (it being understood, for the avoidance of doubt, that this
clause (d) will not include any person to whom any securities are transferred from any such estate); and (e) the Immediate Family Members of such natural person.

“Agent” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement, and shall include any successor administrative agent.

“Agent’s Account” means an account at Bank of America designated in writing to the Borrower.

“Aggregate Term Loan Commitments” means $15,700,000,000.
 
“Agreement” means this Agreement.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the FCPA and the United kingdom Bribery Act 2010, each as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.

“Applicable Authority” means CME or any successor administrator of the Term SOFr Screen rate or a governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the
Agent or such administrator with respect to its publication of Term SOFr, in each case acting in such capacity.
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“Applicable Lending Office” means, with respect to each Lender, such Lender’s Domestic Lending Office in the case of a Base rate Loan and such Lender’s
Term SOFr rate Lending Office in the case of a Term SOFr rate Loan.

“Applicable Margin”  means,  from  time  to  time,  the  applicable  margin  expressed  in  basis  points  per  annum,  corresponding  to  the  applicable  Public  Debt
ratings, as set forth in the Pricing grid.
 

“Applicable  Percentage”  means  at  any  time  and  with  respect  to  any  Lender,  the  percentage  of  the  total  Commitments  represented  by  such  Lender’s
Commitment  at  such  time  or,  after  the  Funding  Date,  the  total  Loans  of  such  Lender  at  such  time.  If  the  Commitments  and  Loans  have  terminated  or  expired,  the
Applicable Percentages shall be determined based upon the Commitments or Loans most recently in effect, giving effect to any assignments.

“Applicable rate” has the meaning specified in Section 2.03(a).

“Approved Fund” means any Fund that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) an entity or an Affiliate of an entity that
administers or manages a Lender.

“Assignment and Acceptance” means an assignment and acceptance entered into by a Lender and an Eligible Assignee (with the consent of any party whose
consent is required by Section 9.07), and accepted by the Agent, in substantially the form of Exhibit C hereto or any other form approved by the Agent.

“Bail-In  Action”  means  the  exercise  of  any  write-Down  and  Conversion  Powers  by  the  applicable  resolution  Authority  in  respect  of  any  liability  of  an
Affected Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of
the Council of the European Union, the implementing law, regulation rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU
Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United kingdom, Part I of the United kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other
law, regulation or rule applicable in the United kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks,  investment firms or other financial  institutions or their
affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Bank of America” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Base rate” means, at any time, a fluctuating rate of interest per annum equal to the highest of

(a) the Prime rate;

(b) the Federal Funds Effective rate from time to time plus 0.50%;

(c) Term SOFr plus 1.00%; and

(d) 1.00%.

If the Base rate is being used as an alternate rate of interest pursuant to Section 2.13 hereof, then the Base rate shall be the greater of clauses (a), (b) and
(d) above and shall be determined without reference to clause (c) above.

“Base rate Loan” means a Loan in Dollars that bears interest as provided in Section 2.05(a)(i).

“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ErISA) that is subject to Title I of ErISA, (b) a “plan” as defined in
Section 4975 of the Code to which Section 4975 of the Code applies, and (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of 29 C.F.r. Section 2510.3-101 (as modified
by
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Section 3(42) of ErISA)) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ErISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such “employee benefit plan” or “plan”.

“Borrower” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Borrowing” means the borrowing to be made on the Funding Date consisting of simultaneous Loans of the same Type (or, in the case of Term SOFr rate
Loans, having the same Interest Period) made by each of the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.01.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banks are required or authorized by law to close in New York City or the
state where the Agent’s office is located.

“Category” means, when used with reference to Public Debt ratings, the following categories of ratings:

Category S&P or Fitch Rating Moody’s Rating

Category 1 BBB or higher Baa2 or higher

Category 2 BBB- Baa3

Category 3 Lower than BBB- Lower than Baa3

For purposes of the foregoing, if the respective Public Debt ratings issued by the rating Agencies differ by one level, then the Category for the higher of such
Public  Debt  ratings  shall  apply  (with  the  Public  Debt  rating  for  Category  1  being  the  highest  and  the  Public  Debt  rating  for  Category  3  being  the  lowest);  (b)  if  the
respective Public Debt ratings issued by the rating Agencies differ by more than one level, then the Category that is one Category lower than the highest of such Public
Debt ratings shall apply; (c) if the Borrower has only one Public Debt rating, then the Category that is one level lower than that of such Public Debt rating shall apply; (d)
if both Moody’s and S&P shall have in effect a Public Debt rating, then the category shall be determined by reference to such Public Debt ratings, and the Public Debt
rating of Fitch shall be disregarded and (e) if the Borrower does not have any Public Debt rating, Category 3 shall apply.

Initially, the Applicable Margin and the Commitment Fee shall be determined based upon the Public Debt ratings effective as of the date of this Agreement.
Thereafter,  each  change  in  the  Applicable  Margin  and  the  Commitment  Fee  resulting  from  a  publicly  announced  change  in  the  Public  Debt  ratings  shall  be  effective
during  the  period  commencing  on  the  date  of  the  public  announcement  thereof  and  ending  on  the  date  immediately  preceding  the  effective  date  of  the  next  such
change; provided, that if no such public announcement is made, such change in the Applicable Margin and the Commitment Fee shall be effective on the date the change
in the Public Debt ratings is effective.

“Change in Law” means the occurrence, after the date of this Agreement, of any of the following: (a) the adoption or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation
or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the administration, interpretation or application thereof by any governmental Authority or (c)  the
making  or  issuance  of  any  request,  guideline  or  directive  (whether  or  not  having  the  force  of  law)  by  any  governmental  Authority.  Notwithstanding  anything  to  the
contrary,  (a) all  requests,  rules,  guidelines,  requirements  and  directives  promulgated  by  the  Bank  for  International  Settlements,  the  Basel  Committee  on  Banking
Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or by United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III,  and (b) the Dodd-Frank wall
Street reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines,
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requirements and directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law,” regardless
of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

“CME” means CME group Benchmark Administration Limited.
 

“Commitment” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01.

“Commitment Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.03(a).

“Company related Parties” means, the Borrower’s Subsidiaries and the directors and senior officers of the Borrower and of the Borrower’s Subsidiaries.

“Conforming Changes” means,  with respect  to the use,  administration of  or  any conventions associated with SOFr (but  not  including any changes to the
definition of “SOFr Adjustment”) or any proposed Term SOFr Successor rate for Term SOFr, as applicable, any conforming changes to the definitions of “Base rate”,
“SOFr”, “Term SOFr”, “Interest Period”, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest and other technical, administrative or operational
matters (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the definition of “Business Day”, “U.S. government Securities Business Day”, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment,
conversion  or  continuation  notices  and  length  of  lookback  periods)  as  may  be  appropriate,  in  the  reasonable  discretion  of  the  Agent,  to  reflect  the  adoption  and
implementation of such applicable rate(s) and to permit the administration thereof by the Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice for Dollars (or,
if the Agent determines that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or that no market practice for the administration of such rate
for Dollars exists, in such other manner of administration as the Agent determines is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and
any Notes).

“Consolidated” refers to the consolidation of accounts in accordance with gAAP.

“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period, for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, an amount equal to Consolidated Net Income
for such period plus (a) the following without duplication and to the extent deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) income tax expense, (ii) interest
expense, amortization or write off of debt discount and debt issuance costs and commissions, discounts and other fees and charges associated with Debt (including the
Loans),  (iii)  depreciation  and  amortization  expense,  (iv)  amortization  of  intangibles  and  organization  costs,  (v)  any  extraordinary,  unusual  or  non-recurring  non-cash
expenses or losses (including, whether or not otherwise includable as a separate item in the statement of such Consolidated Net Income for such period, non-cash losses
on sales  of  assets  outside of  the ordinary course of  business),  (vi)  any extraordinary,  unusual  or  non-recurring  cash expenses  or  losses (including costs,  expenses  and
payments,  in  connection  with  actual  or  prospective  litigation,  legal  settlements,  fines,  judgments  or  orders)  during  such  period  and  (vii)  stock-based  compensation
expense, minus (b) the following to the extent included in calculating such Consolidated Net Income: (i) Consolidated Interest Income, (ii) any extraordinary, unusual or
non-recurring non-cash income or gains (including, whether or not otherwise includable as a separate item in the statement of such Consolidated Net Income for such
period, non-cash gains on the sales of assets outside of the ordinary course of business), (iii) any extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring cash income or gains during such
period and (iv) income tax credits (to the extent not netted from income tax expense).

“Consolidated  Interest  Expense”  means,  for  any  period,  for  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries  on  a  consolidated  basis,  the  total  cash  interest  expense
(including the portion of rent expense of the Borrower and its subsidiaries with respect to such period under capital leases that is treated as interest in accordance with
gAAP) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period with respect to all outstanding Debt of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (excluding all commissions, discounts
and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit
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and bankers’ acceptance financing but including net costs under Swap Contracts in respect of interest rates to the extent such net costs are allocable to such period in
accordance with gAAP.

“Consolidated Interest Income” means, for any period, for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the total cash interest income received
by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

“Consolidated  Net  Income”  means,  for  any  period,  for  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  the  net  income  (or  loss)  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries
determined on a consolidated basis and in accordance with gAAP.

“Consolidated Net Interest Coverage ratio” means,  as of any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of the four fiscal
quarters  most  recently  ended,  to  (b)  Consolidated  Net  Interest  Expense  as  of  such  date,  provided  however,  that  Consolidated  EBITDA  and  Consolidated  Net  Interest
Expense shall be calculated on a Pro Forma Basis to give effect to any Qualified Acquisition (if consummated) and any other acquisition or sale of a Subsidiary or operating
division thereof consummated during such period, for more than $3,000,000,000.

“Consolidated Net Interest Expense” means,  as of any date of determination, Consolidated Interest Expense minus Consolidated Interest Income on such
date.

“Control”  means the possession,  directly  or  indirectly,  of  the power to direct  or  cause the direction  of  the management  or  policies  of  a  Person,  whether
through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

“Convert”, “Conversion”, and “Converted” each refers to a conversion of Loans of one Type into Loans of the other Type pursuant to Section 2.06 or 2.07.

“Daily Simple SOFr”  with  respect  to  any  applicable  determination  date  means  SOFr published  on  such  date  on  the  Federal  reserve  Bank  of  New York’s
website (or any successor source).

“Debt” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person for the deferred
purchase price of property or services (other than trade payables incurred in the ordinary course of such Person’s business for which collection proceedings have not
been commenced, provided that trade payables for which collection proceedings have commenced shall not be included in the term “Debt” so long as the payment of
such trade payables is being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and for which appropriate reserves are being maintained) to the extent included on the
Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance with gAAP, (c) all  obligations of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or
other  similar  instruments, (d) all  obligations  of  such  Person  created  or  arising  under  any  conditional  sale  or  other  similar  title  retention  agreement  with  respect  to
property acquired by such Person (even though the rights and remedies of the seller or lender under such agreement in the event of default are limited to repossession
or sale of such property) to the extent included on the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in accordance with gAAP, (e) all  obligations of
such  Person  as  lessee  under  leases  that  have  been  or  should  be,  in  accordance  with  gAAP,  recorded  as  capital  leases,  (f) all  obligations  of  such  Person  in  respect  of
acceptances, letters of credit with respect to which to such Person is the account party or similar extensions of credit to such Person, (g) the aggregate net obligations of
such Person in respect of hedge Agreements; provided that, for purposes of this Clause (g), Debt of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall only include net obligations of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in respect of hedge Agreements in an aggregate amount in excess of $50,000,000 as set forth on the Consolidated balance sheet of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, as of the date of determination, in accordance with gAAP, (h) all Debt of others referred to in Clauses (a) through (g) above or Clause (i)
below guaranteed, by such Person, or in effect guaranteed by such Person, directly or indirectly, through a written
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agreement either (1) to pay or purchase such Debt or to advance or supply funds for the payment or purchase of such Debt or (2) to purchase, sell or lease (as lessee or
lessor)  property,  or to purchase or sell  services,  primarily  for the purpose of enabling the debtor to make payment of such Debt or to assure the holder of  such Debt
against loss and (i) all Debt referred to in Clauses (a) through (h) above secured by (or for which the holder of such Debt has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to
be secured by) any Lien on property (including, without limitation, accounts and contract rights) owned by such Person, even though such Person has not assumed or
become liable for the payment of such Debt. In determining the amount of Debt of any Person of the type referred to in Clause (h) or (i) above, the amount thereof shall
be equal to the lesser of (i) the amount of the guarantee provided or the fair market value of collateral pledged (as applicable) and (ii) the amount of the underlying Debt
of such other Person so guaranteed or secured.

“Default” means any Event of Default or any event that would constitute an Event of Default but for the requirement that notice be given or time elapse or
both.

“Default Interest” has the meaning specified in Section 2.05(b).

“Defaulting Lender” means any Lender that (i) has defaulted in its obligation to fund a Loan hereunder within two Business Days of the date such Loan was
required to be funded hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Agent and the Borrower in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender’s determination that one
or more conditions precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable Default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) has not
been  satisfied,  (ii)  has  notified  the  Borrower  or  the  Agent  in  writing  that  it  does  not  intend  to  fund  a  Loan  hereunder  (unless  such  writing  relates  to  such  Lender’s
obligation  to  fund  a  Loan  hereunder  and  states  that  such  position  is  based  on  such  Lender’s  determination  that  a  condition  precedent  to  funding  (which  condition
precedent, together with any applicable Default, shall be specifically identified in such writing) cannot be satisfied) or (iii) is subject to a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar
proceeding, or to the appointment of the FDIC or other receiver, trustee or custodian; provided that a Lender shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of (i) the
ownership or acquisition of an equity interest in such Lender or Affiliate thereof by any governmental Authority or (ii) in the case of a solvent Lender, a precautionary
Undisclosed Administration with respect to such Lender in any case so long as such ownership interest or action does not result in or provide such Lender with immunity
from  the  jurisdiction  of  courts  within  the  United  States  or  from  the  enforcement  of  judgments  or  writs  of  attachment  on  its  assets  or  permit  such  Lender  (or  such
governmental Authority) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made with such Lender.

“Designated Jurisdiction”  means  any  country  or  territory  to  the  extent  that  such  country  or  territory  itself  is  the  subject  of  any  Sanctions  that  broadly
prohibit  dealings  with  that  country  or  territory  (which,  as  of  the  date  hereof,  are  the  Crimea region  of  Ukraine,  Cuba,  Iran,  North  korea,  Syria,  the  so-called  Donetsk
People’s republic and the so-called Luhansk People’s republic).

“Dollars” and the sign “$” means the lawful money of the United States of America.

“Domestic Lending Office”  means,  with  respect  to  any  Lender,  the  office  of  such  Lender  specified  as  its  “Domestic  Lending  Office”  opposite  its  name on
Schedule 1A hereto or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Lender, or such other office of such Lender as such Lender may from time to time
specify to the Borrower and the Agent.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of
an EEA resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any
financial
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institution established in an EEA Member Country which is  a subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated
supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA  resolution  Authority”  means  any  public  administrative  authority  or  any  Person  entrusted  with  public  administrative  authority  of  any  EEA  Member
Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

“Eligible Assignee” means (a) a Lender,  (b) an Affiliate of  a Lender,  (c)  an Approved Fund, (d) a  commercial  bank organized under  the laws of  the United
States, or any State thereof, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000; (e) a savings and loan association or savings bank organized under the
laws of the United States, or any State thereof, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000; (f) a commercial bank organized under the laws of any
other  country  that  is  a  member  of  the  OECD  or  has  concluded  special  lending  arrangements  with  the  International  Monetary  Fund  associated  with  its  general
Arrangements to Borrow or a political subdivision of any such country, and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000, so long as such bank is acting
through  a  branch  or  agency  located  in  the  United  States;  (g) a  finance  company,  insurance  company  or  other  financial  institution  or  fund  (whether  a  corporation,
partnership,  trust  or  other  entity)  that  is  engaged  in  making,  purchasing  or  otherwise  holding  commercial  loans  in  the  ordinary  course  of  its  business  and  having  a
combined capital and surplus of at least $250,000,000 or an Approved Fund thereof and (h) any other Person (other than a natural person) approved by (i) the Agent, and
(ii) unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower (each such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such approval, in the
case of the Borrower,  to be deemed to have been given if  a response is not received within ten Business Days from the date on which request  for such approval  was
received  by  the  Borrower); provided that  notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  “Eligible  Assignee”  shall  not  include  the  Borrower  or  any  of  the  Borrower’s  Affiliates  or
Subsidiaries.

“Environmental Action” means any action, suit, demand, demand letter, claim, notice of non-compliance or violation, notice of liability or potential liability,
investigation, proceeding, consent order or consent agreement relating in any way to any Environmental Law, Environmental Permit or hazardous Materials or arising
from alleged injury or threat of injury to health, safety or the environment, including, without limitation, (a) by any governmental Authority for enforcement, cleanup,
removal,  response,  remedial  or  other  actions  or  damages  and  (b)  by  any  governmental  Authority  or  any  third  party  for  damages,  contribution,  indemnification,  cost
recovery, compensation or injunctive relief.

“Environmental Law” means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, code, order, judgment, decree or judicial or agency
interpretation, policy or guidance relating to pollution or protection of the environment, health, safety or natural resources, including, without limitation, those relating
to the use, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, release or discharge of hazardous Materials.

“Environmental Permit” means any permit, approval, identification number, license or other authorization required under any Environmental Law.

“Equity Securities” means any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock of a corporation, any and all
equivalent  ownership  interests  in  a  Person  (other  than  a  corporation)  and  any  and  all  warrants,  rights  or  options  to  purchase  any  of  the  foregoing,  other  than  any
Excluded Equity Securities.
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“ErISA” means the Employee retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated and rulings issued
thereunder.

“ErISA Affiliate” means any Person that for purposes of Title IV of ErISA is a member of the Borrower’s controlled group, or under common control with the
Borrower, within the meaning of Section 414 of the Internal revenue Code.

“ErISA Event” means (a) the occurrence  of  a  reportable  event,  within  the  meaning of  Section 4043 of  ErISA,  with respect  to  any Plan unless  the 30-day
notice requirement with respect to such event has been waived by the PBgC; (b) the application for a minimum funding waiver with respect to a Plan; (c) the provision by
the Borrower, any ErISA Affiliate, the administrator of any Plan or Multiemployer Plan, the PBgC or any combination of the foregoing, of a notice of intent to terminate
such Plan or Multiemployer Plan pursuant to Section 4041A or 4041(a)(2) of ErISA (including any such notice with respect to a plan amendment referred to in Section
4041(e) of ErISA); (d) the cessation of operations at a facility of the Borrower or any ErISA Affiliate in the circumstances described in Section 4062(e) of ErISA; (e) the
incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ErISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal by the Borrower or any ErISA Affiliate from a Multiple Employer
Plan during a plan year for which it was a substantial employer, as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ErISA; (f) the incurrence by the Borrower or any of its ErISA Affiliates
of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from a Multiemployer Plan; (g) the imposition of a lien under Section 303 of ErISA with respect to any
Plan;  (h)  the institution by the  PBgC of  proceedings  to  terminate a  Plan pursuant  to  Section 4042 of  ErISA,  or  the occurrence of  any event  or  condition described in
Section 4042 of ErISA that is reasonably expected to result in the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, a Plan; (i) the existence with respect to
any Plan of a non-exempt Prohibited Transaction (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the existence of a non-exempt Prohibited Transaction resulting from entering
into this Agreement or any transactions hereunder); (j) a determination that any Plan is, or is expected to be, in “at risk” status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the
Code or Section 303 of ErISA); or (k) a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, in “endangered” or “critical” status (within the meaning of Section
432 of the Code or Section 305 of ErISA).

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect
from time to time.

“Event of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 7.01.
 
“Excluded Equity Securities” means any Equity Securities which are (a) issued pursuant to any employee equity compensation plan or agreement or other

employee  equity  compensation  arrangement,  any  employee  benefit  plan  or  agreement  or  other  employee  benefit  arrangement  or  any  nonemployee  director  equity
compensation plan or agreement or other non-employee director equity compensation arrangement or pursuant to the exercise or vesting of any employee or director
stock  options,  restricted  stock  or  restricted  stock  units,  warrants  or  other  equity  awards  or  pursuant  to  dividend  reinvestment  programs  and  (b)  directors’  qualifying
shares and/or other nominal amounts required to be held by the Borrower or its subsidiaries pursuant to applicable law.
 

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Agent, any Lender, or any other recipient of any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of the
Borrower hereunder  (a  “recipient”), (a) Taxes  imposed  as  a  result  of  a  present  or  former  connection  between such  recipient  and  the  jurisdiction  imposing  such  Tax
(other  than connections  solely  arising from such recipient  having executed,  delivered,  become a party  to,  performed its  obligations under,  received payments  under,
received or  perfected  a  security  interest  under,  enforced,  sold  or  assigned an interest  in,  or  engaged in  any other  transaction pursuant  to  this  Agreement),  (b)  Taxes
imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) and franchise Taxes, imposed by the jurisdiction (or any political
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subdivision thereof) under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its principal  office is located or, in the case of any Lender,  in which its Applicable
Lending Office is located, (c) any branch profits Taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar Tax imposed by any other jurisdiction in which the recipient
is located, (d) in  the  case  of  a  Lender  (other  than  an  assignee  pursuant  to  a  request  by  the  Borrower  under Section 2.17(b),  any  U.S.  federal  withholding  Tax  that  is
imposed on amounts  payable to such Lender  at  the time such Lender  becomes a party  hereto (or  designates  a new lending office)  or  is  attributable  to such Lender’s
failure (other than as a result of a Change in Law) to comply with Section 2.16(e), except to the extent that such Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of
designation of a new lending office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to such withholding Tax pursuant to Section 2.16(a)
and (e) any withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

“FATCA”  means  Sections  1471  through  1474  of  the  Code,  as  of  the  date  of  this  Agreement  (or  any  amended  or  successor  version  that  is  substantively
comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant
to  Section  1471(b)(1)  of  the  Code  and  any  fiscal  or  regulatory  legislation,  rules  or  practices  adopted  pursuant  to  any  intergovernmental  agreement  entered  into  in
connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code.

“FCPA” means the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977.

“Federal Funds Effective rate” means,  for  any day,  the rate per  annum calculated  by the Federal  reserve Bank of  New York based on such day’s  federal
funds transactions by depository institutions (as determined in such manner as the Federal reserve Bank of New York shall set forth on its public website from time to
time) and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal reserve Bank of New York as the federal funds effective rate; provided that if the Federal Funds
Effective rate as so determined would be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero.

“Fitch” means Fitch ratings Ltd.

“Foreign Lender” means any Lender that is not a “United States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

“Fund” means any Person (other than a natural person) that is (or will be) engaged in making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans
and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course of its business.

“Funding Date” means the date prior to the Termination Date on which (a) all of the conditions precedent in Section 4.01 are satisfied or waived and (b) on
which the Borrower has requested the funding of the Term Loan pursuant to a duly completed and executed Notice of Borrowing.

“gAAP” has the meaning specified in Section 1.03.

“governmental Authority” means the government of the United States of America or any other nation, or of any political subdivision thereof, whether state
or  local,  and any agency,  authority,  instrumentality,  regulatory  body,  court,  central  bank or  other  entity  exercising  executive,  legislative,  judicial,  taxing,  regulatory  or
administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as the European Union or the European Central Bank).

“granting Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 9.07(g).
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“hazardous  Materials”  means (a) petroleum  and  petroleum  products,  byproducts  or  breakdown  products,  radioactive  materials,  asbestos-containing
materials, polychlorinated biphenyls and radon gas and (b) any other chemicals, materials or substances designated, classified or regulated as hazardous or toxic or as a
pollutant or contaminant under any environmental law, statute or regulation.

“hedge Agreements”  means  interest  rate  swap,  cap  or  collar  agreements,  interest  rate  future  or  option  contracts,  currency  swap  agreements,  currency
future or option contracts and other similar interest rate or currency exchange rate hedging agreements.

“Immaterial Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary of the Borrower (determined, solely for purposes of this definition, without regard to the last sentence of the
definition thereof), designated by the Borrower in writing to the Agent (a) the assets of which do not exceed 3% of the total Consolidated assets of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries, (b) the net income of which does not exceed 3% of the total Consolidated net income of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and (c) the revenues of which do
not exceed 3% of the total Consolidated revenues of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, in each case as determined as of, or (as applicable) for the four fiscal quarters
most recently ended on, the last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of the Borrower and in accordance with gAAP.

“Immediate  Family  Member”  means,  with  respect  to  any  specified  natural  person,  any  other  natural  person  that  has  any  relationship  to  such  specified
natural person by blood, marriage or adoption that is not more remote than first cousin.

“Indemnified Taxes” means Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of the
Borrower hereunder.

“Indemnitee” has the meaning specified in Section 9.04(b).

“Information” has the meaning specified in Section 9.12.

“Initial Lenders” has the meaning specified in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Intellectual  Property”  means  all  trademarks,  service  marks,  trade  names,  Internet  domain  names  (as  defined  under  15  U.S.C.  §  1127),  designs,  logos,
slogans, and general intangibles of like nature, together with all goodwill,  registrations and applications related to the foregoing; all inventions (whether patentable or
unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice); patents and industrial designs (including any continuations, divisionals, continuations-in-part, renewals, reissues,
and applications for any of the foregoing); copyrights (including any registrations and applications for any of the foregoing); Software; “mask works” (as defined under 17
U.S.C.  § 901)  and any registrations and applications for  “mask works”;  technology,  trade secrets,  know-how, processes,  formulae,  algorithms, models,  methodologies,
discoveries, improvements, specifications and other proprietary or confidential information; database and data rights; drawings, records, books or other indicia, however
evidenced, of the foregoing; rights of publicity and privacy relating to the use of the names, likenesses, voices, signatures and biographical information of real persons;
lists  or  other  information  relating  to  customers,  competitors,  suppliers  or  any  other  Person;  in  each  case  the  right  to  claims  against  another  Person  relating  to  the
Intellectual Property; and in each case owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries on or after the date of this Agreement.

“Interest Period” means, for each Term SOFr rate Loan comprising part of the same Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Term SOFr rate
Loan or the date of the Conversion of any Base rate Loan into such Term SOFr rate Loan and ending on the last day of the period selected by the Borrower pursuant to
the provisions below and, thereafter, with respect to Term SOFr rate Loans, each subsequent period commencing on the last day
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of the immediately preceding Interest Period and ending on the last day of the period selected by the Borrower pursuant to the provisions below. The duration of each
such Interest Period shall be one month, provided, however, that:

(a) an Interest Period shall not end after the Termination Date;

(b) Interest Periods commencing on the same date for Term SOFr rate Loans comprising part of the same Borrowing shall be of the
same duration;

(c) whenever the last day of any Interest Period would otherwise occur on a day other than a Business Day, the last day of such Interest
Period shall  be extended to occur on the next succeeding Business Day, provided, however that,  if  such extension would cause the last day of such Interest  Period to
occur in the next following calendar month, the last day of such Interest Period shall occur on the next preceding Business Day; and

(d) whenever  the  first  day  of  any  Interest  Period  occurs  on  a  day  of  an  initial  calendar  month  for  which  there  is  no  numerically
corresponding day in the calendar month that succeeds such initial calendar month by the number of months equal to the number of months in such Interest Period, such
Interest Period shall end on the last Business Day of such succeeding calendar month.

“Internal revenue Code” or the “Code” means the Internal  revenue Code of 1986,  as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated and
rulings issued thereunder.

“IrS” means the United States Internal revenue Service.

“Lenders” means the Initial Lenders as set forth on Schedule 1 and each Person that shall become a party hereto pursuant to Section 9.07.

“Lien” means any lien, security interest or other charge or encumbrance of any kind.

“Loan” means an extension of credit by a Lender to the Borrower in the form of a Term Loan.
“Material  Adverse  Effect”  shall  mean  the  result  of  one  or  more  events,  changes  or  effects  which,  individually  or  in  the  aggregate,  could  reasonably  be

expected  to  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  (a)  the  results  of  the  financial  condition  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  taken  as  a  whole  or  (b)  the  validity  or
enforceability of this Agreement or the rights, remedies and benefits available to the parties hereunder.

“Maximum rate” has the meaning specified in Section 9.14.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., its successors and assigns.

“Multiemployer Plan”  means  a  multiemployer  plan,  as  defined  in  Section  4001(a)(3)  of  ErISA,  to  which  the  Borrower  or  any  ErISA  Affiliate  is  making  or
accruing an obligation to make contributions, or has within any of the preceding five plan years made or accrued an obligation to make contributions.

“Multiple Employer Plan” means a single employer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a)(15) of ErISA, that (a) is maintained for employees of the Borrower or
any ErISA Affiliate and at least one Person other than the Borrower and the ErISA Affiliates or (b) was so maintained and in respect of which the Borrower or any ErISA
Affiliate could have liability under Section 4064 or 4069 of ErISA in the event such plan has been or were to be terminated.

“Net Cash Proceeds” means, (a) with respect to the borrowing, incurrence, issuance, offering or placement of Debt by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, the
excess of (i) the sum of the cash received in connection with such transaction over (ii) the fees, underwriting discounts and commissions, taxes, and other reasonable and
customary
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out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in connection therewith; and (b) with respect to the issuance, offering or placement
of Equity Securities by the Borrower, the excess of (i) the cash received in connection with such issuance, offering or placement over (ii) the underwriting discounts and
commissions and other reasonable expenses incurred by the Borrower in connection with such issuance, offering or placement.

 
“Non-Consenting Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 9.01(c).

“Note” means a promissory note of the Borrower payable to any Lender, delivered pursuant to a request made under Section 2.21 in substantially the form
of Exhibit A hereto, evidencing the aggregate indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from the Loan made by such Lender.

“Notice of Borrowing” has the meaning specified in Section 2.02(a).

“OFAC” means the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.

“Other Agents” means the collective reference to the joint lead arrangers, joint bookrunners, co-syndication agents, co-documentation agents, co-managing
agents and co-agents described on the cover page of this Agreement.

“Other  Taxes”  means  all  present  or  future  stamp,  court,  intangible,  recording,  filing,  documentary  or  similar  Taxes  arising  from  any  payment  made
hereunder or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement.

“Overnight rate” means,  for any day the greater of  (i)  the Federal  Funds Effective rate and (ii)  an overnight rate reasonably determined by the Agent in
accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

“Participant” has the meaning specified Section 9.07(d).

“Participant register” has the meaning specified Section 9.07(d).

“Patriot Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001, Pub. L.
107-56, signed into law October 26, 2001.

“PBgC” means the Pension Benefit guaranty Corporation (or any successor).

“Permitted holders”  means  (a)  any  of  Larry  Ellison  and  his  Affiliated  Parties  and  (b)  any  “group”  within  the  meaning  of  Section  13(d)  of  the  Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 consisting solely of persons described in clause (a) or of which any of the Persons described in clause (a) are members provided that without giving
effect  to  the  existence  of  such  group  or  any  other  group,  any  of  the  Persons  described  in  clause  (a),  collectively,  beneficially  own  Voting  Stock  of  the  Borrower
representing 50% or more of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Borrower then held by such group.

“Permitted Liens” means, with respect to any Person, (a) Liens for taxes, assessments and governmental charges and levies to the extent not required to be
paid under Section 6.01(b) hereof; (b) pledges or deposits to secure obligations under workers’ compensation, unemployment, insurance and other social security laws or
similar legislation; (c) pledges or deposits to secure performance in connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than contracts for the payment of money) or leases to
which such Person is  a party; (d) deposits  to secure public  or  statutory obligations  of  such Person;  (e)  materialmen’s,  mechanics’,  carriers’,  workers’,  repairmen’s and
other like Liens in the ordinary course of business, or deposits to obtain the release of such Liens to the extent such Liens, in the aggregate, would not have a Material
Adverse Effect; (f) deposits to secure surety and appeal bonds to which
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such  Person  is  a  party; (g) other  pledges  or  deposits  for  similar  purposes  in  the  ordinary  course  of  business,  including  pledges  and  deposits  to  secure  indemnity,
performance  or  other  similar  bonds  and  in  connection  with  insurance; (h) Liens  created  by  or  resulting  from  any  litigation  or  legal  proceeding  which  at  the  time  is
currently being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (i) leases made, or existing on property acquired, in the ordinary course of business; (j) landlords’
Liens under leases to which such Person is a party; (k) zoning restrictions, easements, licenses, and restrictions on the use of real property or minor irregularities in title
thereto, which, with respect to property that is material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, do not materially impair the use of such property in the
operation  of  the  business  of  such  Person  or  the  value  of  such  property  for  the  purpose  of  such  business; (l) Liens  consisting  of  leases  or  subleases  and  licenses  or
sublicenses granted to others in the ordinary course of business not interfering in any material respect with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a
whole, and any interest or title of a lessor or licensor under any lease or license, as applicable; (m) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of
law to secure payment of customs duties in connection with the importation of goods; and (n) Liens which constitute a lender’s rights of set-off of a customary nature.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, governmental authority
or other entity.

“Plan” means a Single Employer Plan or a Multiple Employer Plan.

“Pricing grid” means the grid set forth below:

Category
Term SOFR Rate Loans - Applicable

Margin (basis points)
Base Rate Loans - Applicable

Margin (basis points) Commitment Fee (basis points)

Category 1 100 bps 0.00 bps 10.0 bps

Category 2 112.5 bps 12.5 bps 12.5 bps

Category 3 137.5 bps 37.5 bps 17.5 bps

“Prime rate”  means  the  rate  of  interest  per  annum  set  by  the  Agent  based  upon  various  factors  including  costs  and  desired  return,  general  economic
conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans, which may be priced at, above, or below such announced rate.  Any change in such
prime rate announced by the Agent shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement of such change.

“Pro Forma Basis” means, with respect to any calculation or compliance with any covenant hereunder, after giving effect to any acquisition, any asset sale of
a Subsidiary or operating entity for which historical financial statements for the relevant period are available or any incurrence of Debt (including pro forma adjustments
arising  out  of  events  which  are  directly  attributable  to  such  acquisition,  asset  sale  or  any  incurrence  of Debt,  are  factually  supportable  and  are  expected  to  have  a
continuing impact,  in  each case as  determined on a basis  consistent  with Article  11 of  regulation S-X of  the Securities  Act,  as  interpreted by the SEC,  and such other
adjustments as are reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, in each case as certified by the chief accounting officer of the Borrower) using, for purposes of determining such
calculation or compliance, the historical financial statements of all entities or assets so acquired or sold and the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries, which shall be reformulated as if such acquisition or asset sale, and all other acquisitions or asset sales that have been
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consummated during the period, and any Debt or other liabilities to be incurred or repaid in connection therewith had been consummated and incurred or repaid at the
beginning of such period.

“Prohibited Transaction” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 406 of ErISA and Section 4975(c) of the Code.

“PTE”: a Prohibited Transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

“Public Debt rating” means, as of any date of determination, the rating that has been most recently announced by any of S&P, Moody’s or Fitch, as the case
may be, for any class of non-credit enhanced long-term senior unsecured debt issued by the Borrower. For purposes of the foregoing, (a) if any rating established by S&P,
Moody’s  or  Fitch shall  be  changed,  such change shall  be effective  as  of  the date on which such change is  first  announced publicly  by  the rating  Agency making such
change; and (b) if S&P, Moody’s or Fitch shall change the basis on which ratings are established, each reference to the Public Debt rating announced by S&P, Moody’s or
Fitch, as the case may be, shall refer to the then equivalent rating by S&P, Moody’s or Fitch, as the case may be.

“Qualified  Acquisition”  means  a  transaction  permitted  under  this  Agreement  and  consummated  on  or  after  the  date  of  this  Agreement,  by  which  the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (i) acquires any going concern or business or all or substantially all of the assets of any firm, corporation or limited liability company, or
division  thereof,  whether  through  purchase  of  assets,  merger  or  otherwise  or  (ii)  directly  or  indirectly  acquires  at  least  a  majority  (in  number  of  votes)  of  the  equity
securities of a Person if the aggregate amount of Debt that is incurred or intended to be incurred by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries to finance the purchase price and
other  consideration for  such  transaction,  plus  the  amount  of  Debt  assumed or  intended to  be  assumed by  the  Borrower  and its  Subsidiaries  in  connection  with  such
transaction, is at least $3,000,000,000 of Debt.

“Qualifying Committed Financing”  means  any  committed  but  unfunded  loan  facility  (including  any  amendment  to  an  existing  loan  facility)  for  the  stated
purpose  of  financing  the  Acquisition  which  has  conditions  to  availability  thereunder  that  are  no  more  restrictive  to  the  borrower  thereunder  than  the  conditions
precedent set forth in Section 4.01 hereto.

“rating Agencies” means any of S&P, Moody’s or Fitch.
 

“register” has the meaning specified in Section 9.07(c).

“related Parties” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and
of such Person’s Affiliates.

“required Lenders”  means  at  any  time  Lenders  (other  than  Defaulting  Lenders)  owed  at  least  a  majority  in  interest  of  the  then  aggregate  Term  Credit
Exposures or, if no Loans are then outstanding, Lenders (other than Defaulting Lenders) having at least a majority in interest of the Commitments.

“requisite Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 7.01(d).

“rescindable Amount” has the meaning specified in Section 8.09.
 
“resignation Effective Date” has the meaning specified in Section 8.06.

“resolution Authority” means an EEA resolution Authority or, with respect to any Uk Financial Institution, a Uk resolution Authority.
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“responsible Officer” means, with respect to any Person, any board-appointed officer, the chief executive officer, president, chief financial officer, general
counsel, treasurer, assistant treasurer, secretary, assistant secretary, any senior vice president or vice president of such Person.  

“revolving  Credit  Agreement”  means  the  five-year  $6,000,000,000  revolving  credit  agreement  between,  amongst  others,  the  Borrower  and  the  Agent,
entered into on or around the date of this Agreement.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s ratings Services, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business, its successors and assigns.

“Sanctioned Persons Lists” means Specially Designated Nationals List, Foreign Sanctions Evader List, or Sectoral Sanctions Identifications List, or similar lists
maintained by OFAC.

“Sanctions” means any international economic sanction administered or enforced by the United States government (including those administered by OFAC
or the U.S. Department of State), the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, her Majesty’s Treasury or other relevant sanctions authority.

“Scheduled Unavailability Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.14(b).

“SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933.
 
“Single Employer Plan” means a single employer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a)(15) of ErISA, that (a) is maintained for employees of the Borrower or any

ErISA Affiliate and no Person other than the Borrower and the ErISA Affiliates or (b) was so maintained and in respect of which the Borrower or any ErISA Affiliate could
have liability under Section 4062 or 4069 of ErISA in the event such plan has been or were to be terminated.

“SOFr” means the Secured Overnight Financing rate as administered by the Federal reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator).

“SOFr Adjustment” means 0.10% (10 basis points).

“Software” means any and all (a) computer programs, including any and all software implementation of algorithms, models and methodologies, whether in
source code or object code form, (b) databases and compilations, including any and all data and collections of data, and (c) all documentation, including user manuals and
training materials, relating to any of the foregoing.

“SPC” has the meaning specified in Section 9.07(g).

“Specified representations” means the representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in Section 5.01(a), (b)(i), (b)(ii) and (b)(iii) (with respect to
limb (x) only), (d), (h), (i), (j), (o) and (p).

“Stay rules” has the meaning specified in Section 9.15(b).

“Stockholders’ Equity” means, at any date, stockholders’ equity of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, determined on a Consolidated basis, on such date.

“Subsidiary” of any Person means any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, trust or estate of which (or in which) more than 50%
of (a) the issued and outstanding capital stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the Board of Directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether at
the time
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capital stock of any other class or classes of such corporation shall or might have voting power upon the occurrence of any contingency), (b) the interest in the capital or
profits of such limited liability company, partnership or joint venture or (c) the beneficial  interest  in such trust or estate,  is  at the time directly  or indirectly  owned or
Controlled by such Person, by such Person and one or more of its other Subsidiaries or by one or more of such Person’s other Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
references in this Agreement to “Subsidiary” shall not include any Person that would otherwise be a Subsidiary of the Borrower pursuant to the foregoing portion of this
definition and that the Borrower does not directly or indirectly Control; provided that such Person is also an Immaterial Subsidiary.

“Swap Contract”  means  (a)  any  and  all  rate  swap  transactions,  basis  swaps,  credit  derivative  transactions,  forward  rate  transactions,  commodity  swaps,
commodity  options,  forward  commodity  contracts,  equity  or  equity  index  swaps  or  options,  bond  or  bond  price  or  bond  index  swaps  or  options  or  forward  bond  or
forward  bond  price  or  forward  bond  index  transactions,  interest  rate  options,  forward  foreign  exchange  transactions,  cap  transactions,  floor  transactions,  collar
transactions, currency swap transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of
any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement,
and  (b)  any  and  all  transactions  of  any  kind,  and  the  related  confirmations,  which  are  subject  to  the  terms  and  conditions  of,  or  governed  by,  any  form  of  master
agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master Agreement, or any other master agreement
relating to any of the foregoing (any such master agreement,  together with any related schedules,  a “Master Agreement”), including any such obligations or liabilities
under any Master Agreement.

“Taxes”  means  all  present  or  future  taxes,  levies,  imposts,  duties,  deductions,  withholdings,  assessments,  fees  or  other  charges  imposed  by  any
governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

“Term Credit Exposure” means, with respect to any Lender at any time, the outstanding aggregate principal amount of such Lender’s Loan at such time.

“Termination Date” means the earlier of (a) the date that is 364 days after the date of this Agreement; provided that if such date is not a Business Day, the
Termination Date shall be the immediately preceding Business Day and (b) the date of termination in whole of the Commitments pursuant to Section 2.08, Section 2.10 or
7.01.

“Term Loan” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01.
 
“Term SOFr” means:

(a) for any Interest Period with respect to a Term SOFr rate Loan, the rate per annum equal to the Term SOFr Screen rate two U.S. government Securities
Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period with a term equivalent to such Interest Period; provided that if the rate is not published prior to 11:00
a.m. on such determination date then Term SOFr means the Term SOFr Screen rate on the first U.S. government Securities Business Day immediately prior thereto, in
each case, plus the SOFr Adjustment for such Interest Period; and

(b) for any interest calculation with respect to a Base rate Loan on any date, the rate per annum equal to the Term SOFr Screen rate with a term of one
month commencing that day,

provided that if the Term SOFr determined in accordance with either of the foregoing provisions (a) or (b) of this definition would otherwise be less than zero, the Term
SOFr shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.
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“Term SOFr rate Lending Office” means, with respect to any Lender, the office of such Lender specified as its “Term SOFr rate Lending Office” opposite its
name on Schedule 1A hereto or in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Lender (or, if no such office is specified, its Domestic Lending Office), or
such other office of such Lender as such Lender may from time to time specify to the Borrower and the Agent.

“Term SOFr rate Loan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on clause (a) of the definition of Term SOFr.

“Term SOFr replacement Date” has the meaning specified in Section 2.14(b)(i).

“Term SOFr Screen rate” means the forward-looking SOFr term rate administered by CME (or any successor administrator satisfactory to the Agent) and
published on the applicable reuters screen page (or such other commercially available source providing such quotations as may be designated by the Agent from time to
time).

“Term SOFr Successor rate” has the meaning specified in Section 2.14(b)(i).

“Uk Financial Institution” means any BrrD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PrA rulebook (as amended form time to time) promulgated by
the United kingdom Prudential  regulation Authority)  or  any person subject  to IFPrU 11.6 of  the FCA handbook (as  amended from time to time)  promulgated by the
United kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment
firms.

“Uk resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority having responsibility for the resolution of any Uk Financial
Institution.

“Undisclosed  Administration”  means,  with  respect  to  a  Lender  that  is  the  subject  of  home  jurisdiction  supervision  by  the  Dutch  Central  Bank  (De
Nederlandsche Bank N.V.) under the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, “Wft”), an undisclosed administration (stille curatele) applicable to,
and imposed on, such Lender by the Dutch Central Bank (De Nederlandsche Bank N.V.) under or based on section 1:76 of the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het
financieel toezicht, “Wft”), as to and in relation to which the Dutch Central Bank (De Nederlandsche Bank N.V.) has not publicly disclosed the appointment of a custodian
(curator) with regard to such Lender.

“U.S. government Securities Business Day” means any Business Day, except any Business Day on which any of the Securities Industry and Financial Markets
Association, the New York Stock Exchange or the Federal reserve Bank of New York is not open for business because such day is a legal holiday under the federal laws of
the United States or the laws of the State of New York, as applicable.
 

“U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate” has the meaning specified in Section 2.16(e)(ii)(B)(III).

“Voting Stock” means capital stock issued by a corporation, or equivalent interests in any other Person, the holders of which are ordinarily, in the absence of
contingencies, entitled to vote for the election of directors (or persons performing similar functions) of such Person, even if the right so to vote has been suspended by
the happening of such a contingency.

“write-Down  and  Conversion  Powers”  means,  (a)  with  respect  to  any  EEA  resolution  Authority,  the  write-down  and  conversion  powers  of  such  EEA
resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in
the EU Bail-In
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Legislation  Schedule,  and  (b)  with  respect  to  the  United  kingdom,  any  powers  of  the  applicable  resolution  Authority  under  the  Bail-In  Legislation  to  cancel,  reduce,
modify or change the form of a liability of any Uk Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability
into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised
under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.

Section 1.02 Computation of Time Periods. In this Agreement in the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later specified date,
the word “from” means “from and including” and the words “to” and “until” each mean “to but excluding”.

Section 1.03 Accounting  Terms;  Terms  generally.  All  terms  of  an  accounting  or  financial  nature  shall  be  construed  in  accordance  with  generally
accepted accounting principles (“gAAP”), as in effect in the United States from time to time, provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Agent that the Borrower requests
an  amendment  to  any  provision  hereof  to  eliminate  the  effect  of  any  change,  occurring  after  the  date  hereof,  in  gAAP or  in  the  application  thereof  (or  if  the  Agent
notifies the Borrower that the required Lenders request an amendment of any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether such notice is given before or
after  such  change  in  gAAP  or  in  the  application  thereof,  then  such  provision  shall  be  applied  on  the  basis  of  gAAP  as  in  effect  and  applied  immediately  before  such
change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance herewith. The definitions of terms herein shall
apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine
and neuter forms. The words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “but not limited to”. The word “will” shall be construed
to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”. Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other
document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
(subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include
such Person’s successors and assigns, (c) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its
entirety  and  not  to  any  particular  provision  hereof, (d) all  references  herein  to  Articles,  Sections,  Exhibits  and  Schedules  shall  be  construed  to  refer  to  Articles  and
Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words “asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer
to  any  and  all  tangible  and  intangible  assets  and  properties,  including  cash,  securities,  accounts  and  contract  rights.  Any  reference  herein  to  a  merger,  transfer,
consolidation,  assignment,  sale,  disposition  or  conveyance,  or  similar  term,  shall  be  deemed  to  apply  to  a  division  of  or  by  a  limited  liability  company  or  limited
partnership, or an allocation of assets to a series of a limited liability company or limited partnership (or the unwinding of such a division or allocation), as if it were a
merger,  transfer,  consolidation,  assignment,  sale,  disposition  or  conveyance,  or  similar  term,  as  applicable,  to,  of  or  with  a  separate  Person.  Any  division  of  a  limited
liability company or limited partnership shall constitute a separate Person hereunder (and each division of any limited liability company or limited partnership that is a
Subsidiary, joint venture or any other like term shall also constitute such a Person or entity).

Section 1.04 rounding. Any financial ratios required to be maintained by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement shall be calculated by dividing
the  appropriate  component  by  the  other  component,  carrying  the  result  to  one  place  more  than  the  number  of  places  by  which  such  ratio  is  expressed  herein  and
rounding the result up or down to the nearest number (with a rounding-up if there is no nearest number).
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Section 1.05 Times of Day. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to times of day shall be references to New York City time (daylight or
standard, as applicable).

Section  1.06 Interest  rates.  The  Agent  does  not  warrant,  nor  accept  responsibility,  nor  shall  the  Agent  have  any  liability  with  respect  to  the
administration, submission or any other matter related to the rates in the definition of “SOFr” any reference rate referred to herein or with respect to any rate (including,
for the avoidance of doubt, the selection of such rate and any related spread or other adjustment) that is an alternative or replacement for or successor to any such rate
(including, without limitation, any Term SOFr Successor rate) or the effect of any of the foregoing, or of any Conforming Changes. The Agent and its affiliates or other
related  entities  may  engage  in  transactions  or  other  activities  that  affect  any  reference  rate  referred  to  herein,  or  any  alternative,  successor  or  replacement  rate
(including, without limitation, any Term SOFr Successor rate) (or any component of any of the foregoing) or any related spread or other adjustments thereto, in each
case, in a manner adverse to the Borrower.  The Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain any reference rate referred to
herein or any alternative, successor or replacement rate (including,  without limitation, any Term SOFr Successor rate) (or any component of any of the foregoing),  in
each  case  pursuant  to  the  terms  of  this  Agreement,  and  shall  have  no  liability  to  the  Borrower,  any  Lender  or  any  other  person  or  entity  for  damages  of  any  kind,
including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or
in equity), for any error or other action or omission related to or affecting the selection, determination, or calculation of any rate (or component thereof) provided by any
such information source or service.

ARTICLE II
AMOUNTS AND TERMS OF THE LOAN

Section 2.01 The Term Loan. Each Lender severally agrees, on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, to fund its portion of a term loan in an
aggregate principal amount equal to the Aggregate Term Loan Commitments (the “Term Loan”), available to the Borrower in Dollars in a single draw on the Funding Date,
in an amount that will not result in such Lender’s Term Credit Exposure exceeding at any time the amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on Schedule 1 hereto or,
if such Lender has entered into any Assignment and Acceptance, as set forth for such Lender in the register maintained by the Agent pursuant to Section 9.07(c), as such
amount may be reduced pursuant to  Section 2.08 (such Lender’s “Commitment”). Amounts repaid on the Term Loan may not be reborrowed.

Section 2.02 Making the Term Loan. (a) The Borrower may borrow under the Commitments on the Funding Date only, provided that the Borrowing
shall be made on notice, given not later than 11:00 A.M. (New York City time) on the second Business Day prior to the Funding Date in the case of a Borrowing consisting
of Term SOFr rate Loans or the Business Day of the proposed Borrowing in the case of a Borrowing consisting of Base rate Loans, by the Borrower to the Agent, which
shall give to each Lender prompt notice thereof. Each such notice of a Borrowing (a “Notice of Borrowing”) shall be in writing (or by telephone, confirmed immediately in
writing) in  substantially  the  form  of  Exhibit  B  hereto,  specifying  therein  the  requested  (i)  date  of  such  Borrowing,  (ii)  Type  of  Loans  comprising  such  Borrowing,  (iii)
aggregate amount of  such Borrowing and (iv)  remittance instructions.  Each Lender  shall,  before 1:00 P.M. (New York City  time) on the date of  such Borrowing,  make
available for the account of its Applicable Lending Office to the Agent at the Agent’s Account, in same day funds, such Lender’s ratable portion of such Borrowing. After
the Agent’s receipt of such funds and upon fulfillment of the applicable conditions set forth in Article IV, the Agent will make such funds available to the Borrower on the
Funding Date at the Agent’s address referred to in Section 9.02.
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(b) Anything  in  subsection (a) above  to  the  contrary  notwithstanding,  the  Borrower  may  not  select Term  SOFr  rate  Loans for the
Borrowing if the aggregate obligation of the Lenders to make Term SOFr rate Loans in such currency shall then be suspended pursuant to Section 2.06 or 2.12.

(c) Each Notice of Borrowing shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower. In the case of any Borrowing that the related Notice of
Borrowing specifies is to be comprised of Term SOFr rate Loans, the Borrower shall indemnify each Lender against any loss, cost or expense incurred by such Lender as a
result of any failure to fulfill  on or before the date specified in such Notice of Borrowing for such Borrowing the applicable conditions set forth in Article IV, including,
without  limitation,  any  loss  (excluding  loss  of  anticipated  profits),  cost  or  expense  incurred  by  reason  of  the  liquidation  or  reemployment  of  deposits  or  other  funds
acquired by such Lender to fund the Loan to be made by such Lender as part of such Borrowing when such Loan, as a result of such failure, is not made on such date.

(d) Unless the Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to the proposed time of any Borrowing that such Lender will  not
make available to the Agent such Lender’s share of such Borrowing, the Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share available on such date in accordance
with subsection (a) of this Section 2.02 and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the Borrower a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender
has not in fact made its share of the applicable Borrowing available to the Agent, then such Lender and the Borrower severally agree to pay to the Agent forthwith on
demand such corresponding amount with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is made available to the Borrower to but excluding the
date of payment to the Agent, at (i) in the case of a payment to be made by such Lender, the greater of the Federal Funds Effective rate and a rate determined by the
Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation and (ii) in the case of a payment to be made by the Borrower, the interest rate applicable to
Base  rate  Loans.  If  the  Borrower  and  such  Lender  shall  pay  such  interest  to  the  Agent  for  the  same  or  an  overlapping  period,  the  Agent  shall  promptly  remit  to  the
Borrower  the  amount  of  such  interest  paid  by  the  Borrower  for  such  period.  If  such  Lender  pays  such  amount  to  the  Agent,  then  such  amount  shall  constitute  such
Lender’s Loan included in such Borrowing. Any payment by the Borrower shall be without prejudice to any claim the Borrower may have against a Lender that shall have
failed to make such payment to the Agent.

(e) The  failure  of  any  Lender  to  make  a  Loan  to  be  made  by  it  as  part  of  any  Borrowing  shall  not  relieve  any  other  Lender  of  its
obligation, if any, hereunder to make its Loan on the date of such Borrowing, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make a Loan to be
made by such other Lender on the date of any Borrowing.

(f) with respect to SOFr or Term SOFr, the Agent will have the right, in consultation with the Borrower, to make Conforming Changes
from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,  any amendments implementing such Conforming Changes will  become effective without any
further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement; provided that, with respect to any such amendment effected, the Agent shall post each such amendment
implementing such Conforming Changes to the Borrower and the Lenders reasonably promptly after such amendment becomes effective.

Section  2.03 Fees.  (a) Commitment  Fee.  The  Borrower  agrees  to  pay  to  the  Agent  for  the  account  of  each  Lender  a  commitment  fee  (the
“Commitment Fee”) on the average daily amount of such Lender’s unused Commitment from (i) the date of this Agreement, in the case of each Initial Lender and (ii) from
the effective date specified in the Assignment and Acceptance pursuant to which it became a Lender, in each case, until the Termination Date at a rate per annum equal
to the rate set forth in the Pricing grid under the column headed “Commitment Fee” corresponding to the Category in effect (the “Applicable rate”), payable in arrears
quarterly on the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December before the Termination Date, commencing
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with June, 2022, and on the Termination Date, but excluding, in the case of any Defaulting Lender, any period during which it is a Defaulting Lender. The Commitment Fee
shall be calculated quarterly in arrears, and if there is any change in the Applicable rate during any quarter, the average daily amount shall be computed and multiplied
by the Applicable rate separately for each period during such quarter that such Applicable rate was in effect.

(b) Agent’s Fees.  The  Borrower  shall  pay  to  the  Agent  for  its  own account  such  fees  as  may from time to  time be  agreed  in  writing
between the Borrower and the Agent.

Section  2.04 repayment  of  Loans.  The  Borrower  shall  repay  to  the  Agent  for  the  ratable  account  of  the  Lenders  on  the  Termination  Date  the
aggregate principal amount of the Loans then outstanding.

Section 2.05 Interest. (a) Scheduled Interest.  The Borrower shall  pay interest  on the unpaid principal  amount of  each Loan owing to each Lender
from the date of the Loan until such principal amount shall be paid in full, at the following rates per annum:

(i) Base rate Loan. During such periods as such Loan is a Base rate Loan, a rate per annum equal at all  times to (x) the
Base rate in effect from time to time plus (y) the Applicable Margin for such Loan, payable in arrears quarterly on the last Business Day of each March, June, September
and December during such periods, commencing with June, 2022, for the period beginning on the Funding Date and then ended.

(ii) Term SOFr rate Loan. During such periods as such Loan is a Term SOFr rate Loan, a rate per annum equal at all times
during each Interest Period for such Loan to the sum of (x) the Term SOFr for such Interest Period for the Loan plus (y) the Applicable Margin for such Loan, payable in
arrears on the last day of such Interest Period.

(b) Default Interest. The Agent may with the consent, or shall at the direction, of the required Lenders require that the Borrower pay
interest (“Default Interest”) on (i) the unpaid principal amount of each overdue Loan owing to each Lender, payable in arrears on the dates referred to in Clause (a)(i) or
(a)(ii) above, at a rate per annum equal at all times to 2% per annum above the rate per annum required to be paid on such Loan pursuant to Clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) above
and (ii) to the fullest extent permitted by law, the amount of any interest, fee or other amount payable hereunder that is not paid when due, from the date such amount
shall be due until such amount shall be paid in full, payable in arrears on the date such amount shall be paid in full and on demand, at a rate per annum equal at all times
to 2% per annum above the rate per annum required to be paid on Base rate Loans pursuant to Clause (a)(i) above, provided, however, that following acceleration of the
Loan pursuant to Section 7.01, Default Interest shall accrue and be payable hereunder whether or not previously required by the Agent.

Section  2.06 Interest  rate  Determination.  The  Agent  shall  give  prompt  notice  to  the  Borrower  and  the  Lenders  of  the  applicable  interest  rate
determined by the Agent for purposes of Section 2.05(a)(i) or (ii).

(a) If, with respect to Term SOFr rate Loans, the required Lenders notify the Agent that the Term SOFr rate for any Interest Period for
such Loan will not adequately reflect the cost to such required Lenders of making, funding or maintaining their respective Term SOFr rate Loans for such Interest Period,
the Agent shall forthwith so notify the Borrower and the Lenders, whereupon (i) each Term SOFr rate Loan will automatically, on the last day of the then existing Interest
Period therefor, Convert into a Base rate Loan, and (ii) the obligation of the Lenders to make, or to Convert Loans into, Term SOFr rate Loans shall be suspended until
the Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances causing such suspension no longer exist.

(b) If  the  Borrower  shall  fail  to  select  the  duration  of  any  Interest  Period  for  any  Term  SOFr  rate  Loans  in  accordance  with  the
provisions contained in the definition of “Interest Period” in Section 1.01, the
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Agent will forthwith so notify the Borrower and the Lenders and such Loan (unless repaid) will automatically, on the last day of the then existing Interest Period therefor,
continue for a new Interest Period with the same duration as the Interest Period then ending, subject to the definition of “Interest Period”.

(c) On the date on which the aggregate unpaid principal amount of Term SOFr rate Loans comprising any Borrowing shall be reduced,
by payment or prepayment or otherwise, to less than $10,000,000 such Loans shall automatically Convert into Base rate Loans.

(d) Upon  the  occurrence  and  during  the  continuance  of  any  Event  of  Default  under Section 7.01(a),  (i)  each  Term  SOFr  rate  Loan
(unless repaid) will automatically, on the last day of the then existing Interest Period therefor, Convert into Base rate Loans and (ii) the obligation of the Lenders to make,
or to Convert Loans into, Term SOFr rate Loans shall be suspended.

Section 2.07 Optional Conversion of Loan. The Borrower may on any Business Day, upon notice given to the Agent not later than 11:00 A.M. (New
York City time) on the third Business Day prior to the date of the proposed Conversion and subject to the provisions of Sections 2.06 and 2.12, Convert all or a portion of
all (comprising, in the case of any portion, a ratable portion of the respective Loan of each Lender and in an aggregate amount not less than $10,000,000) Loans of one
Type comprising the Borrowing made to the Borrower into Loans of the other Type; provided, however, any Conversion of Term SOFr rate Loans into Base rate Loans
shall be made only on the last day of an Interest Period for such Term SOFr rate Loans and any Conversion of Base rate Loans into Term SOFr rate Loans shall be in an
amount not less than $10,000,000. Each such notice of a Conversion shall, within the restrictions specified above, specify (i) the date of such Conversion, (ii) the Loans (or
portions thereof) to be Converted and (iii) if such Conversion is into a Term SOFr rate Loan, the duration of the initial Interest Period for each such Loan. Each notice of
Conversion shall be irrevocable and binding on the Borrower.

Section 2.08 Optional Termination or reduction of the Commitments. The Borrower shall have the right, upon at least three Business Days’ notice to
the Agent, to terminate in whole or reduce ratably in part the unused portions of the respective Commitments of the Lenders, provided that each partial reduction shall
be in the aggregate amount of $10,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof and provided further that the aggregate amount of the Commitments
of  the  Lenders  shall  not  be  reduced  to  an  amount  that  is  less  than  the  sum  of  the  total  Term  Credit  Exposures  then  outstanding  and provided further that  once
terminated, a Commitment may not be reinstated.

Section 2.09 Optional Prepayments of Loans. The Borrower may, upon notice to the Agent not later than 11:00 A.M. (New York City time) on the
proposed prepayment date for Base rate Loans,  and upon at least three Business Days’  notice for Term SOFr rate Loans,  in each case stating the proposed date and
aggregate principal amount of the prepayment, and if such notice is given the Borrower shall, prepay in whole or ratably in part the outstanding principal amount of the
Loans comprising part of the same Borrowing made to the Borrower together with accrued interest to the date of such prepayment on the principal  amount prepaid;
provided, however, that (x) each partial prepayment shall be in an aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof, (y)
in the event of any such prepayment of Term SOFr rate Loans, the Borrower shall be obligated to reimburse the Lenders in respect thereof pursuant to Section 2.19.

Section 2.10 Mandatory Prepayment and reduction of Commitments.

(a) Upon

(i) the  borrowing,  incurrence,  issuance,  offering  or  placement  by  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  of  any Debt
(excluding (A) intercompany debt of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (B)
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borrowings  under  the  revolving  Credit  Agreement  or  any  other  revolving  facility  replacing  or  refinancing  the  revolving  Credit  Agreement,  in  an  aggregate  principal
amount not to exceed $8,000,000,000, (C) any other ordinary course borrowings under working capital or overdraft facilities as in effect from time to time, (D) issuances
of commercial paper and replacements or refinancings thereof (other than for purposes of financing the Acquisition), (E) purchase money Debt incurred in the ordinary
course of business and any replacements or refinancings thereof, (F) Debt with respect to capital leases incurred in the ordinary course of business and any replacements
and refinancings thereof, and (g) Debt in a principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed $3,000,000,000 in the aggregate); or

(ii) the issuance, offering or placement of any Equity Securities by the Borrower,

the Borrower shall prepay an aggregate principal amount of the Loans then outstanding, in an amount equal to 100% of the Net Cash Proceeds received by
the Borrower (or by any of its Subsidiaries, in the case of Net Cash Proceeds received under clause (i) of this paragraph).

Such prepayment  shall  be  made by  the Borrower  within  five  Business  Days  of  receipt  by  the  Borrower  (or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  in  the  case of  Net  Cash
Proceeds received under clause (i) of this paragraph) of any Net Cash Proceeds. Amounts prepaid pursuant to this Section 2.10 may not be reborrowed.

If  the borrowing,  incurrence,  issuance,  offering or placement of  Debt by the Borrower or its  Subsidiaries or  the issuance,  offering or placement of  Equity
Securities by the Borrower occurs prior to the Funding Date, the Commitments shall be automatically and ratably reduced in an amount equal to 100% of the Net Cash
Proceeds received (including into escrow) by the Borrower (or any of its Subsidiaries in the case of Net Cash Proceeds received under clause (i) of this paragraph) on the
date of receipt of such Net Cash Proceeds.

(b) The  Commitments  shall  be  automatically  and  ratably  reduced  in  an  amount  equal  to  the  aggregate  amount  of  commitments
received  (including  into  escrow)  by  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  in  respect  of  any  Qualifying  Committed  Financing  (it  being  understood  that,  following  the
effectiveness  of  such  Commitment  reduction  and  solely  to  the  extent  of  the  amount  thereof,  there  shall  be  no  duplicative  prepayment  of  Loans  from  subsequent
proceeds (up to such amount) received under such Qualifying Committed Financing pursuant to clause (a) of this Section 2.10.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the Commitments shall automatically terminate in full on the earliest of:

(i) the termination of the Acquisition Agreement in accordance with its terms (and the Borrower shall promptly notify the
Lead Arrangers thereof);

(ii) the consummation of the Acquisition without the Borrower making a Borrowing under this Agreement; and

(iii) the Termination Date.

(d) Any Commitments not drawn under this Agreement on the Funding Date shall automatically terminate in full.

Section 2.11 Increased Costs; Additional reserve requirements. (a) If any Change in Law shall: (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve,
special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except
any reserve requirement referred to in Clause (e) of this Section 2.11); (ii) subject any Lender to any Tax of any kind
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whatsoever with respect to this Agreement or any Term SOFr rate Loan made by it, or change the basis of taxation of payments to such Lender in respect thereof (except
for Indemnified Taxes,  Other Taxes and Taxes described in Clauses (b) through (e) of  the definition of Excluded Taxes);  or (iii)  impose on any Lender or the applicable
interbank market any other condition, cost or expense (other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or Term SOFr rate Loans made by such Lender; and the result of any
of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any Term SOFr rate Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such Loan)
or receivable by such Lender hereunder (whether of principal, interest or any other amount), then upon request of such Lender the Borrower will pay to such Lender such
additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) If  any  Lender  determines  that  any  Change  in  Law affecting  such  Lender  or  the  Applicable  Lending  Office  of  such  Lender  or  such
Lender’s holding company, if any, regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender’s capital or on the
capital  of  such  Lender’s  holding  company,  if  any,  as  a  consequence  of  this  Agreement,  the  Commitments  of  such  Lender  or  the  Loans  made  by  such  Lender  or  its
obligations  hereunder,  to  a  level  below  that  which  such  Lender  or  such  Lender’s  holding  company  could  have  achieved  but  for  such  Change  in  Law  (taking  into
consideration such Lender’s policies and the policies of such Lender’s holding company with respect to capital adequacy or liquidity), then from time to time the Borrower
will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender’s holding company for any such reduction suffered.

(c) A certificate of a Lender setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or its holding company, as the
case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section 2.11 and delivered to the Borrower shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such
Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 Business Days after receipt thereof.

(d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section 2.11 shall not constitute a waiver of
such  Lender’s  right  to  demand  such  compensation, provided that  the  Borrower  shall  not  be  required  to  compensate  a  Lender  pursuant  to  this Section 2.11 for  any
increased costs incurred or reductions suffered more than nine months prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such
increased costs  or  reductions  and  of  such  Lender’s  intention  to  claim compensation  therefor  (except  that,  if  the  Change  in  Law giving  rise  to  such  increased  costs  or
reductions is retroactive, then the nine-month period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof).

(e) The Borrower shall  pay to each Lender,  so long as such Lender shall  be required to maintain reserves with respect to Term SOFr
rate Loans, additional interest on the unpaid principal amount of any such Term SOFr rate Loan equal to the actual costs of such reserves allocated to such Loan by such
Lender (as determined by such Lender in good faith), which shall be due and payable on each date on which interest is payable on such Loan, provided the Borrower shall
have received at least 10 days’ prior notice (with a copy to the Agent) of such additional interest from such Lender. If a Lender fails to give notice 10 days prior to the
relevant interest payment date, such additional interest costs shall be due and payable 10 days from receipt of such notice.

Section 2.12 Illegality. If any Lender determines that the introduction of or any change in or in the interpretation of any law or regulation makes it
unlawful,  or  that  any governmental  Authority  has  asserted  that  it  is  unlawful,  for  any Lender  or  its  applicable  Lending  Office  to  make,  maintain  or  fund Loans  whose
interest is determined by reference to Term SOFr or any governmental Authority has imposed material restrictions on the authority of such Lender to engage in reverse
repurchase of U.S. Treasury securities transactions of the type included in the determination of SOFr, or to determine or charge interest rates based upon Term SOFr or
to purchase or sell, or to take deposits of, Dollars in the applicable interbank market, then, upon notice thereof by such Lender to the
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Borrower (through the Agent), (a) any obligation of such Lender to make, or maintain Term SOFr rate Loans or to convert Base rate Loans to Term SOFr rate Loans shall
be, in each case, suspended, and (b) if such notice asserts the illegality of such Lender making or maintaining Base rate Loans the interest rate on which is determined by
reference  to  the  Term  SOFr  component  of  the  Base  rate,  the  interest  rate  on  which Base  rate  Loans of  such  Lender  shall,  if  necessary  to  avoid  such  illegality,  be
determined by the Agent without reference to the Term SOFr component of the Base rate, in each case until such Lender notifies the Agent and the Borrower that the
circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist.  Upon receipt of such notice, (i) the Borrower shall, upon demand from such Lender (with a copy to the
Agent), convert all Term SOFr rate Loans of such Lender to a Base rate Loan (the interest rate which Base rate Loans of such Lender shall, if necessary to avoid such
illegality, be determined by the Agent without reference to the Term SOFr component of the Base rate),  in each case, immediately,  and (ii)  if  such notice asserts the
illegality of such Lender determining or charging interest rates based upon SOFr, the Agent shall during the period of such suspension compute the Base rate applicable
to such Lender without reference to the Term SOFr component thereof until the Agent is advised in writing by such Lender that it is no longer illegal for such Lender to
determine or charge interest rates based upon SOFr.  Upon any such prepayment or conversion, the Borrowers shall also pay accrued interest on the amount so prepaid
or converted, together with any additional amounts required pursuant to Section 2.19.

Section 2.13 Inability to Determine rates.

(a) If  in  connection  with  any  request  for  a  Term SOFr rate  Loan or  a  conversion  of  Base  rate  Loans  to  Term SOFr rate  Loans  or  a
continuation  of  any  of  such  Loans,  as  applicable,  (i)  the  Agent  determines  (which  determination  shall  be  conclusive  absent  manifest  error)  that  (A)  no  Term  SOFr
Successor rate for Term SOFr has been determined in accordance with Section 2.14 and the circumstances under Section 2.14 or the Scheduled Unavailability Date has
occurred  with  respect  to  Term SOFr,  or  (B)  adequate  and reasonable  means  do not  exist  for  determining  the  Term SOFr for  any determination date(s)  or  requested
Interest  Period, as applicable,  with respect to a proposed Term SOFr rate Loan or in connection with an existing or proposed Base rate Loan or (ii)  the Agent or the
required Lenders determine that for any reason Term SOFr for any requested Interest Period or determination date(s) does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to
such Lenders of funding such Term SOFr rate Loan, the Agent will promptly so notify the Borrower and each Lender.  

(b) Thereafter,  (x)  the  obligation of  the  Lenders  to  make or  maintain  Term SOFr rate  Loans  or  to  convert  Base  rate  Loans  to  Term
SOFr rate Loans, shall be suspended in each case to the extent of Term SOFr rate Loans or Interest Period or determination date(s), as applicable, and (y) in the event of
a  determination  described  in  the  preceding  sentence  with  respect  to  the  Term  SOFr  component  of  the  Base  rate,  the  utilization  of  the  Term  SOFr  component  in
determining the Base rate shall be suspended, in each case until the Agent (or, in the case of a determination by the required Lenders described in clause (ii) of Section
2.13(a), until the Agent upon the instruction of the required Lenders) revokes such notice.  

(c) Upon receipt  of  such notice,  (i)  the Borrower may revoke any pending request  for a Borrowing of,  or  continuation of  Term SOFr
rate Loans to the extent of the affected Term SOFr rate Loans or Interest Period or determination date(s), as applicable or, failing that, will be deemed to have converted
such request into a request for a borrowing of Base rate Loans and (ii) any outstanding Term SOFr rate Loans shall be deemed to have been converted into Base rate
Loans immediately.

Section 2.14 replacement of Term SOFr or Successor rate.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Agent determines
(which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error), or the Borrower or the required Lenders notify the Agent (with, in the case of the required Lenders, a
copy to the Borrower) that the Borrower or the required Lenders (as applicable) have determined, that:
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(a) adequate  and  reasonable  means  do  not  exist  for  ascertaining  Term  SOFr  (including,  without  limitation,  because  the  Term  SOFr
Screen rate is not available) because none of the tenors of Term SOFr are available or published on a current basis and such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary;
or

(b) the Applicable Authority has made a public statement identifying a specific date after which all  tenors of Term SOFr or the Term
SOFr Screen rate shall or will no longer be representative or made available, or used for determining the interest rate of loans denominated in Dollars, or shall or will
otherwise cease,  provided that,  in  each case,  at  the time of  such statement,  there is  no successor  administrator  that  is  satisfactory to the Agent  that  will  continue to
provide such representative tenor(s) of Term SOFr (the latest date on which all tenors of Term SOFr or Term SOFr Screen rate are no longer representative or available
permanently or indefinitely, the “Scheduled Unavailability Date”);  

(i) then, with respect to Term SOFr rate Loans, on a date and time determined by the Agent (any such date, the “Term
SOFr replacement Date”), which date shall be at the end of an Interest Period or on the relevant interest payment date, as applicable, for interest calculated and, solely
with  respect  to  clause  (b)  above,  no  later  than  the  Scheduled  Unavailability  Date,  Term  SOFr  will  be  replaced  hereunder  with  (x)  Daily  Simple  SOFr  plus  the  SOFr
Adjustment for any payment period for interest calculated that can be determined by the Agent, in each case, without any amendment to, or further action or consent of
any other party to, this Agreement or (y) if the Agent determines that Daily Simple SOFr is not available on or prior to the Term SOFr replacement Date, an alternative
benchmark rate giving due consideration to any evolving or then existing convention for similar credit facilities syndicated and agented in the U.S. and denominated in
Dollars for such alternative benchmarks, and, in each case, including any mathematical or other adjustments to such benchmark giving due consideration to any evolving
or then existing convention for similar credit facilities syndicated and agented in the U.S. and denominated in Dollars for such benchmarks, which adjustment or method
for  calculating  such  adjustment  shall  be  published  on  an  information  service  as  selected  by  the  Agent  from  time  to  time  in  its  reasonable  discretion  and  may  be
periodically updated (and any such proposed rate, including for the avoidance of doubt, any adjustment thereto for any payment period for interest calculated that can
be determined by the Agent, and any such amendment shall become effective at 5:00 p.m. on the fifth Business Day after the Agent shall have posted such proposed
amendment to all Lenders and the Borrower unless, prior to such time, Lenders comprising the required Lenders have delivered to the Agent written notice that such
required Lenders object to such amendment (with respect to Term SOFr rate Loans, the “Term SOFr Successor rate);

(ii) the Agent will promptly (in one or more notices) notify the Borrower and each Lender of the implementation of any
Term SOFr Successor rate; and

(iii) any  Term  SOFr  Successor  rate  shall  be  applied  in  a  manner  consistent  with  market  practice;  provided  that  to  the
extent  such  market  practice  is  not  administratively  feasible  for  the  Agent,  such  Term  SOFr  Successor  rate  shall  be  applied  in  a  manner  as  otherwise  reasonably
determined by the Agent;

(iv) notwithstanding anything else herein, if at any time any Term SOFr Successor rate as so determined would otherwise
be less than zero, the Term SOFr Successor rate will be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement and the Notes; and

(v) in  connection  with  the  implementation  of  a  Term  SOFr  Successor  rate,  the  Agent  will  have  the  right  to  make
Conforming  Changes  from  time  to  time  and,  notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  herein  or  in  any  other  Loan  Document,  any  amendments  implementing  such
Conforming  Changes  will  become  effective  without  any  further  action  or  consent  of  any  other  party  to  this  Agreement;  provided  that,  with  respect  to  any  such
amendment effected, the Agent shall post each such amendment implementing such
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Conforming Changes to the Borrower and the Lenders reasonably promptly after such amendment becomes effective.

Section 2.15 Payments and Computations.  (a)  The Borrower shall  make each payment hereunder  and under  the Notes not later  than 11:00 A.M.
(New York City time) on the day when due in Dollars to the Agent at the Agent’s Account in same day funds, without set-off, counterclaim or deduction, in each case as
expressly  provided herein.  The Agent  will  promptly  thereafter  cause to be distributed like funds  relating to the payment of  principal  or  interest  or  Commitment Fees
ratably (other than amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.11, Section 2.16 or Section 2.19) to the Lenders for the account of their respective Applicable Lending Offices,
and like funds relating to the payment of any other amount payable to any Lender to such Lender for the account of its  Applicable Lending Office,  in each case to be
applied in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(b) All computations of interest based on the Base rate (when calculated by reference to the Prime rate) shall be made by the Agent
on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, and all computations of interest based on the Term SOFr rate or the Base rate (except when calculated by
reference to the Prime rate) and of Commitment Fees shall be made by the Agent on the basis of a year of 360 days, in each case for the actual number of days (including
the first day but excluding the last day) occurring in the period for which such interest, Commitment Fees are payable. Each determination by the Agent of an interest
rate hereunder shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes, absent error in the calculation of such interest rate.

(c) Except as otherwise set forth herein, whenever any payment hereunder or under the Notes shall be stated to be due on a day other
than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such extension of time shall in such case be included in the computation of
payment of interest, or Commitment Fees, as the case may be; provided, however, that, if such extension would cause payment of interest on or principal of Term SOFr
rate Loans to be made in the next following calendar month, such payment shall be made on the next preceding Business Day.

(d) Unless the Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Agent for the
account of the Lenders hereunder that the Borrower will  not make such payment, the Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on such date in
accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the Lenders the amount due. In such event,  if  the Borrower has not in fact made such
payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender, with interest thereon, for each
day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Effective rate and
a rate determined by the Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

Section 2.16 Taxes.  (a)  Any and all  payments  by or  on account  of  any obligation of  the Borrower hereunder  shall  be made free and clear  of  and
without deduction or withholding for any Taxes, provided that if the Borrower shall be required by applicable law to deduct or withhold any Taxes from such payments,
then (i) if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax or Other Tax, the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all such required deductions and withholdings
(including deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.16) the Agent or Lender, as the case may be, receives an amount equal
to the sum it would have received had no such deductions or withholdings been made, (ii) the Borrower shall make such deductions or withholdings and (iii) the Borrower
shall timely pay the full amount deducted to the relevant governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.
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(b) without limiting the provisions of paragraph (a) above, the Borrower shall timely pay any Other Taxes to the relevant governmental
Authority in accordance with applicable law.

(c) The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent and each Lender within 10 Business Days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any
Indemnified  Taxes  or  Other  Taxes  (including  Indemnified  Taxes  or  Other  Taxes  imposed  or  asserted  on  or  attributable  to  amounts  payable  under  this Section 2.16)
payable  or  paid  by  the  Agent  or  such  Lender,  and  any  penalties,  interest  and  reasonable  expenses  arising  therefrom  or  with  respect  thereto,  whether  or  not  such
Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment
or  liability  delivered  to  the  Borrower  by  a  Lender  (with  a  copy  to  the  Agent),  or  by  the  Agent  on  its  own behalf  or  on  behalf  of  a  Lender,  shall  be  conclusive  absent
manifest error.

(d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by the Borrower to a governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.16, the
Borrower shall  deliver to the Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such governmental Authority evidencing such payment,  a copy of the return
reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Agent.

(e) (i)  Any  Lender  that  is  entitled  to  an  exemption  from  or  reduction  of  withholding  Tax  with  respect  to  payments  hereunder  shall
deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Agent), at the time or times prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent, such properly
completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as will permit such payments to be made
without  withholding  or  at  a  reduced  rate  of  withholding.  In  addition,  any  Lender,  if  reasonably  requested  by  the  Borrower  or  the  Agent,  shall  deliver  such  other
documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Agent to determine whether or not
such  Lender  is  subject  to  backup  withholding  or  information  reporting  requirements.  Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  in  the  preceding  two  sentences,  the
completion,  execution  and submission  of  such  documentation (other  than such documentation  set  forth  in Section 2.16(e)(ii)(A), (ii)(B) and (ii)(D) below) shall  not  be
required if in the Lender’s reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or
would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.

(ii) without limiting the generality of the foregoing,

(A) any Lender that is a “United States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code shall
deliver to the Borrower and the Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Borrower or the Agent), executed originals of IrS Form w-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax;

(B) any  Foreign  Lender  shall  deliver  to  the  Borrower  and  the  Agent  (in  such  number  of  copies  as  shall  be
requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Borrower or the Agent, but only if such Foreign Lender is legally entitled to do so, whichever of the following is applicable:

(I) in  the  case  of  a  Foreign  Lender  claiming  the  benefits  of  an  income  tax  treaty  to  which  the
United States is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest hereunder, executed originals of IrS Form w-8BEN establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S.
federal withholding Tax pursuant
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to  the  “interest”  article  of  such  tax  treaty  and (y) with  respect  to  any  other  applicable  payments  hereunder,  IrS  Form  w-8BEN  establishing  an  exemption  from,  or
reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “business profits” or “other income” article of such tax treaty;

(II) executed originals of IrS Form w-8ECI;

(III) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest
under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit F to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section
881(c)(3)(A)  of  the  Code,  a  “10  percent  shareholder”  of  the  Borrower  within  the  meaning  of  Section  871(h)(3)(B)  of  the  Code,  or  a  “controlled  foreign  corporation”
described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a “U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate”) and (y) executed originals of IrS Form w-8BEN; or

(IV) to the extent a Foreign Lender is  not the beneficial  owner,  executed originals  of  IrS Form
w-8IMY, accompanied by IrS Form w-8ECI, IrS Form w-8BEN, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit g or Exhibit h, IrS Form w-9, and/or
other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners
of  such  Foreign  Lender  are  claiming  the  portfolio  interest  exemption,  such  Foreign  Lender  may  provide  a  U.S.  Tax  Compliance  Certificate  substantially  in  the  form of
Exhibit I on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;

(C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the Agent
(in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from
time to  time thereafter  upon the  reasonable  request  of  the  Borrower or  the  Agent),  executed originals  of  any  other  form prescribed  by  applicable  law as  a  basis  for
claiming  exemption  from  or  a  reduction  in  U.S.  federal  withholding  Tax,  duly  completed,  together  with  such  supplementary  documentation  as  may  be  prescribed  by
applicable law to permit the Borrower or the Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and

(D) if a payment made to a Lender hereunder would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by
FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as
applicable),  such  Lender  shall  deliver  to  the  Borrower  and  the  Agent  at  the  time  or  times  prescribed  by  law  and  at  such  time  or  times  reasonably  requested  by  the
Borrower  or  the  Agent  such  documentation  prescribed  by  applicable  law  (including  as  prescribed  by  Section  1471(b)(3)(C)(i)  of  the  Code)  and  such  additional
documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA
and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment.
Solely for purposes of this Clause (D), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Each  Lender  agrees  that  if  any  form  or  certification  it  previously  delivered  expires  or  becomes  obsolete  or  inaccurate  in  any
respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower and the Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(f) If the Agent or a Lender determines, in its sole discretion, that it has received a refund of any Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has
been indemnified  by  the  Borrower  or  with  respect  to  which  the  Borrower has  paid  additional  amounts  pursuant  to  this Section 2.16,  it  shall  pay  to  the Borrower  an
amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower under this
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Section 2.16 with respect to the Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of the Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, and
without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant governmental Authority with respect to such refund), provided that the Borrower, upon the request of the
Agent  or  such  Lender,  agrees  to  repay  the  amount  paid  over  to  the  Borrower  (plus  any  penalties,  interest  or  other  charges  imposed  by  the  relevant  governmental
Authority) to the Agent or such Lender in the event the Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary in this paragraph (f), in no event will the Agent or any Lender be required to pay any amount to the Borrower pursuant to this paragraph (f) the payment
of  which  would  place  the  Agent  or  such  Lender  in  a  less  favorable  net  after-Tax  position  than  the  Agent  or  such  Lender  would  have  been  in  if  the  Tax  subject  to
indemnification and giving  rise  to  such refund had not  been deducted,  withheld or  otherwise  imposed and the indemnification payments  or  additional  amounts  with
respect  to  such  Tax  had  never  been  paid.  This  paragraph  shall  not  be  construed  to  require  the  Agent  or  any  Lender  to  make  available  its  Tax  returns  (or  any  other
information relating to its Taxes which it deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other Person.

(g) Each Lender  shall  severally  indemnify  the Agent,  within 10 Business  Days after  demand therefor,  for  (i)  any Taxes attributable  to
such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not already indemnified the Agent for such Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so)
and (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with the provisions of Section 9.07(d) relating to the maintenance of a Participant register, in either case,
that are payable or paid by the Agent in connection with this Agreement, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such
Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any
Lender by the Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to
such Lender under this Agreement or otherwise payable by the Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Agent under this paragraph (g).

(h) For purposes of this Section 2.16, the term “applicable law” includes FATCA.

Section 2.17 Mitigation Obligations; replacement of Lenders. (a) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.11, or requires the Borrower
to  pay  any  Indemnified  Taxes  or  additional  amount  to  any  Lender  or  any  governmental  Authority  for  the  account  of  any  Lender  pursuant  to Section 2.16, then such
Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to
another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to
Section  2.11 or 2.16,  as  the  case  may  be,  in  the  future  and  (ii)  would  not  subject  such  Lender  to  any  unreimbursed  cost  or  expense  and  would  not  otherwise  be
disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or
assignment.

(b) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.11, or if the Borrower is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional
amount to any Lender or any governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.16, or if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the
Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with
and subject to the restrictions contained in, and consents required by, Section 9.07), all of its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement and the related Notes
to an Eligible Assignee that  shall  assume such obligations (which Eligible Assignee may be another  Lender,  if  a  Lender  accepts  such assignment), provided that (i) the
Borrower shall have paid to the Agent the assignment fee specified in Section 9.07, (ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding
principal of its Loans, accrued
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interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder (including any amounts under Section 2.19) from such Eligible Assignee (to the extent of
such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in the case of all other amounts), (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim
for compensation under Section 2.11 or  payments  required to be made pursuant  to Section 2.16,  such assignment will  result  in  a  reduction in  such compensation or
payments thereafter, and (iv) such assignment does not conflict with applicable law. A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment or delegation if, prior
thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

Section 2.18 Sharing of Payments, Etc. If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect
of  any principal  of  or  interest  on any of  its  Loans or  other  obligations of  the Borrower hereunder  resulting in  such Lender’s  receiving payment of  a  proportion of  the
aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon or other such obligations greater than its pro rata share thereof as provided herein, then the Lender receiving
such greater proportion shall (a) notify the Agent of such fact and (b) purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans and such other obligations of the other
Lenders, or make such other adjustments as shall be equitable, to the end that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with
the  aggregate  amount  of  principal  of  and  accrued  interest  on  their  respective  Loans  and  other  amounts  owing  them, provided that  (i)  if  any  such  participations  are
purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of
such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed to apply to (x) any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and in
accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or (y) any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of
its  Loan to any assignee or  participant,  other  than to the Borrower or  any Subsidiary thereof  (as  to which the provisions of  this  paragraph shall  apply).  The Borrower
consents  to the foregoing and agrees,  to the extent it  may effectively  do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant  to the foregoing
arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights of setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the
Borrower in the amount of such participation.

Section 2.19 Compensation for Breakage Costs. If any payment of principal of, or Conversion of, any Term SOFr rate Loan is made by the Borrower
to or for the account of a Lender other than on the last day of the Interest Period for such Loans, as a result of a payment, prepayment or Conversion pursuant to this
Agreement or acceleration of the maturity of the Loans pursuant to Section 7.01, the Borrower shall, upon demand by such Lender (with a copy of such demand to the
Agent),  pay  to  the  Agent  for  the  account  of  such  Lender  any  amounts  required  to  compensate  such  Lender  for  any  additional  losses,  costs  or  expenses  that  it  may
reasonably  incur  as  a  result  of  such  payment  or  Conversion,  including,  without  limitation,  any  loss  (excluding  loss  of  anticipated  profits),  cost  or  expense  incurred  by
reason of the liquidation or reemployment of deposits or other funds acquired by any Lender to fund or maintain such Loan.

Section 2.20 Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Loans shall be available (and the Borrower agrees that it shall use such proceeds) solely to (i) fund
the Acquisition Consideration pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement; (ii) to repay certain indebtedness of the Acquired Company or its subsidiaries; and (iii) to pay all or a
portion of the costs incurred by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the Acquisition, provided that such proceeds shall not be used in any manner
that would result in violation of regulation U or X, issued by the Board of governors of the Federal reserve System, as now and from time to time hereafter in effect.

Section  2.21 Evidence  of  Debt.  (a)  Each  Lender  shall  maintain  in  accordance  with  its  usual  practice  an  account  or  accounts  evidencing  the
indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from each Loan owing to
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such Lender from time to time, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder in respect of the Loans. The
Borrower agrees that upon notice by any Lender to the Borrower (with a copy of such notice to the Agent) to the effect that a Note is required or appropriate in order for
such Lender to evidence (whether for purposes of pledge, enforcement or otherwise) the Loans owing to, or to be made by, such Lender, the Borrower shall promptly
execute and deliver to such Lender a Note payable to such Lender in a principal amount up to the Commitment of such Lender.

(b) The register maintained by the Agent pursuant to Section 9.07(c) shall include a control account, and a subsidiary account for each
Lender, in which accounts (taken together) shall be recorded (i) the date and amount of each Borrowing made hereunder, the Type of Loans comprising such Borrowing
and, if appropriate, the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the terms of each Assignment and Acceptance delivered to and accepted by the Agent, (iii) the amount of
any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iv) the amount of any sum received by the
Agent from the Borrower hereunder and each Lender’s share thereof.

(c) Entries made in good faith by each Lender in its account or accounts pursuant to subsection (a) above, shall be prima facie evidence
of the amount of principal and interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to such Lender under this Agreement, absent manifest error;
provided, however, that the failure of such Lender to make an entry, or any finding that an entry is incorrect, in such account or accounts shall  not limit or otherwise
affect the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement.

ARTICLE III
[RESERVED]

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS TO LENDING

Section 4.01 Conditions Precedent to Funding Date. This Agreement shall become effective when it has been executed by the Borrower, the Agent and each
of the Lenders party to this Agreement on the date hereof. The obligation of each Lender to make a Loan on the Funding Date shall be subject to the following conditions
precedent (and  each  of  the  giving  of  the  applicable  Notice  of  Borrowing  and  the  acceptance  by  the  Borrower  of  the  proceeds  of  such  Borrowing  shall  constitute  a
representation  and  warranty  by  the  Borrower  that  on  the  date  of  such  Borrowing  such  statements  are  true):  the  Specified  representations  shall  be  accurate  in  all
material respects (or, if qualified by materiality, or material adverse effect, or any similar term, in all respects) on the Funding Date (unless such Specified representations
relate to an earlier date, in which case, such Specified representations shall have been true and correct in all material respects (or if qualified by materiality, or material
adverse effect, or any similar term, in all respects) as of such earlier date);

(b) the Acquisition Agreement representations shall be accurate, but only as such representations are material to the interests of the
Lenders and only to the extent that the Borrower has, or its Affiliates have, the right (determined without regard to any notice requirement but taking into account any
applicable cure provisions in the Acquisition Agreement) to terminate its (or its Affiliates’) obligations (or refuse to consummate the Acquisition) under the Acquisition
Agreement as a result of a breach of such representations;

(c) since the date of the Acquisition Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Company Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the
Acquisition Agreement);
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(d) the Borrower shall have paid all reasonable invoiced fees and out-of-pocket expenses of the Agent and the Lenders (including the
reasonable invoiced fees and expenses of counsel to the Agent required by this Agreement), to the extent invoices therefor have been received at least two Business Days
before the Funding Date.

(e) the Acquisition shall be consummated substantially concurrently with the Borrowing on the Funding Date under this Agreement and
the  Acquisition  Agreement  shall  not  have  been  amended  or  modified  and  no  condition  shall  have  been  waived  or  consent  granted,  in  any  respect  that  is  materially
adverse to the Lenders without the Lead Arrangers’ prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed); provided that (i) the
Lead Arrangers shall be deemed to have consented to such modification, amendment, consent or waiver unless they object thereto in writing within five Business Days of
receipt of written notice of such modification, amendment consent or waiver, (ii) increases in the Acquisition Consideration in an amount of up to 10% or in any amount
funded by common equity or debt drawn under this Agreement shall not be deemed to be materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders or the Lead Arrangers and
shall not require the consent of the Lead Arrangers, (iii) decreases in the Acquisition Consideration in an amount of less than 10% or in any greater amount so long as such
excess amount of reduction of the Acquisition Consideration is allocated to a reduction in the amounts to be funded under this Agreement shall not be deemed to be
materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders or the Lead Arrangers and shall not require the consent of the Lead Arrangers and (iv) any amendment to the definition
of  “Company  Material  Adverse  Effect”   as   defined   in   the   Acquisition
Agreement  (as  in  effect  on  the  date  hereof)  shall  be  deemed  to  be  materially  adverse  to  the interests of the Lenders and the Lead Arrangers and shall require the
consent of the Lead Arrangers;

(f) The Agent  shall  have received on or  before  the Funding  Date the following,  each dated the Funding  Date,  in  form and substance
satisfactory to the Agent (acting reasonably):

(i) certified  copies  of  (A) the  resolutions  of  the  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Borrower  approving  the  transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Borrower, (B) all documents evidencing other necessary corporate action and
governmental approvals, if any, with respect to this Agreement and such Notes and (C) the certificate of incorporation (which shall be certified by the Secretary of State
of the State of Delaware) and by-laws of the Borrower;

(ii) a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Borrower certifying the names and true signatures of the
officers of the Borrower authorized to sign this Agreement and the other documents to be delivered hereunder, in substantially the form of Exhibit k;

(iii) a favorable opinion of (i) in-house counsel for the Borrower in substantially the form of Exhibit D and (ii) Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer US LLP, counsel for the Borrower, in substantially the form of Exhibit E;

(iv) A Note to the order of each Lender (if any) that has requested one pursuant to Section 2.21 no later than two Business
Days prior to the Funding Date; and

(v) a  solvency  certificate  dated  as  of  the  Funding  Date  signed  by  the  Chief  Accounting  Officer  of  the  Borrower,  in
substantially the form of Exhibit J; and

(g) no  event  has  occurred  and  is  continuing  as  of  the  Funding  Date  that  constitutes  a  Default  or  an  Event  of  Default  under  Section
7.01(a), (e) or (f) only.
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Section 4.02 Determinations Under Section 4.01. For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in Section 4.01, each Lender
shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved
by or acceptable or satisfactory to the Lenders unless an officer of the Agent responsible for the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have received notice
from such Lender prior to the Funding Date specifying its objection thereto.  The Agent shall  promptly notify the Lenders and the Borrower of the anticipated Funding
Date. The Agent shall notify all parties promptly of the occurrence of the Funding Date, which notice shall be conclusive once given.

ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 5.01 representations and warranties of the Borrower. The Borrower represents and warrants as follows:

(a) The Borrower is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of its incorporation.

(b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and the Notes, if any, to be delivered by it,  and the
consummation  of  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  and  thereby,  are  (i)  within  the  Borrower’s  corporate  powers,  (ii)  have  been  duly  authorized  by  all  necessary
corporate action, and (iii) do not contravene (x) the Borrower’s charter or by-laws (or other equivalent organizational documents), (y) applicable law or (z) any contract or
instrument binding on the Borrower or any of its properties or assets that is material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

(c) No authorization or approval or other action by, and no notice to or filing with, any governmental authority or regulatory body or
any other third party is required for the due execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement or the Notes, if any, to be delivered by it.

(d) This Agreement has been, and each of the Notes, if any, to be delivered by the Borrower when delivered hereunder will have been,
duly executed and delivered by the Borrower. Assuming that this Agreement has been duly executed by the Agent and each of the Initial Lenders, this Agreement is, and
each  of  the  Notes  of  the  Borrower  when  delivered  hereunder  will  be,  the  legal,  valid  and  binding  obligation  of  the  Borrower  enforceable  against  the  Borrower  in
accordance with its respective terms, subject to (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws of general application affecting the rights
and remedies of creditors and (ii) general principles of equity, regardless of whether applied in proceedings in equity or at law.

(e) The Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at May 31, 2021, and the related Consolidated statements of
income and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal year then ended, accompanied by the opinion(s) of one or more firms of independent certified
public accountants of recognized national standing, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-k with respect to its year ended May 31, 2021, and
the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as at November 30, 2021, and the related Consolidated statements of income and cash flows of the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the six months then ended, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-Q with respect to its fiscal quarter ended
November 30, 2021, fairly present, subject, in the case of said balance sheet at November 30, 2021, and said statements of income and cash flows for the six months then
ended, to absence of footnotes and to year-end audit adjustments, the Consolidated financial condition of the Borrower and its
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Subsidiaries as at such dates and the Consolidated results of the operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the periods ended on such dates, all in accordance
with gAAP consistently applied.

(f) There  is  no  pending  or  (to  the  knowledge  of  the  Borrower)  threatened  action,  investigation  or  proceeding,  including,  without
limitation, any Environmental Action, affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries before any court, governmental agency or arbitrator that is initiated by any Person
other  than  a  Lender  in  its  capacity  as  a  Lender  (i)  that  is  reasonably  likely  to  have  a  Material  Adverse  Effect  or  (ii)  that  purports  to  affect  the  legality,  validity  or
enforceability of this Agreement or any Note or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(g) Since May 31, 2021, there has not occurred any Material Adverse Effect.

(h) None of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is an Investment Company, as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act
of 1940, as amended.

(i) No part of the proceeds of any Loans will be used in any manner that would result in a violation of regulation U or X, issued by the
Board of governors of the Federal reserve System, as in effect at any time this representation is made or deemed made.

(j) The proceeds of the Loans shall be used by the Borrower in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.20.

(k) No report, financial statement or other written information furnished by or on behalf of the Borrower to the Agent or any Lender
pursuant  to subsection  6.01(f) (as  modified  or  supplemented  by  any  other  information  provided  to  the  Agent  or  any  Lender)  contains  or  will  contain  any  material
misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were, are or will be
made, not misleading, except to the extent that the facts (whether misstated or omitted) do not result in a Material Adverse Effect; provided that with respect to any
projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that such information has been (or will  be) prepared in good faith based on assumptions believed to be
reasonable at the time.

(l) (i) The Borrower is in compliance with all material provisions of ErISA, except to the extent that all failures to be in compliance could
not, in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) no ErISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that could, in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and (iii) neither the execution of this Agreement, nor the transactions hereunder, gives rise to a
non-exempt Prohibited Transaction.

(m) The claims of the Agent and the Lenders against the Borrower under this Agreement rank at least pari passu with the claims of all
its unsecured creditors, save those whose claims are preferred solely by the laws of general application having effect in relation to bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or
other similar events.

(n) The Borrower and its Subsidiaries have filed all United States federal tax returns and all other tax returns that are material to the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, which are required to be filed and have paid all United States federal taxes and all other taxes that are material to the
Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in each case, that are due pursuant to said returns or pursuant to any material assessment received by the Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries, except in respect of such taxes, if any, as are being contested in good faith and by proper proceedings and to which appropriate reserves are being
maintained in accordance with gAAP.
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(o) Neither the Borrower, nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor to the knowledge of the Borrower, any director, officer, agent, employee or
Affiliate  of  the  Borrower  or  any of  its  Subsidiaries  is  (i)  currently  the  subject  of  any Sanctions  or  (ii)  located,  organized  or  residing in  any Designated Jurisdiction .  No
Company related Party that is a Subsidiary of the Borrower is listed on the Sanctioned Persons Lists and no Company related Party that is a director or senior officer of
the Borrower or a Company related Party that is  a Subsidiary of the Borrower is,  to the best knowledge of the Borrower,  listed on the Sanctioned Persons Lists.   The
Borrower has implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures reasonably designed to promote compliance by the Borrower and all Company related Parties
with applicable Sanctions.  No proceeds from any Loans have been or will be directly or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, indirectly, used by the Borrower, or loaned,
contributed, provided or otherwise made available by the Borrower, to fund any activity or business in any Designated Jurisdiction or to fund any activity or business of or
with any Person located, organized or residing in any Designated Jurisdiction or who is the subject of any Sanctions.

(p) The Borrower has implemented and maintains in effect policies and procedures reasonably designed to promote compliance by the
Borrower and all Company related Parties with applicable Anti-Corruption Laws.  No proceeds from any Loan, have been or will be, directly or, to the knowledge of the
Borrower, indirectly, used by the Borrower, or loaned, contributed, provided or otherwise made available by the Borrower to fund any activity or business in any manner
that will result in any violation by any Person (including any Lender, Other Agent or the Agent) of Anti-Corruption Laws.

ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER

Section 6.01 Affirmative Covenants. So long as any Loan shall remain unpaid or any Lender shall have any Commitment hereunder the Borrower will
(and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to):

(a) Compliance with Laws, Etc. Comply in all material respects, with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders (such compliance
to include, without limitation, compliance with ErISA, Environmental Laws, the Patriot Act and Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Laws) except where the failure to so comply
would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Payment of Taxes, Etc. Pay and discharge before the same shall  become delinquent,  (i)  all  taxes,  assessments  and governmental
charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its property and (ii) all lawful claims that, if unpaid, might by law become a Lien upon its property; provided, however, that
none of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to pay or discharge any such tax, assessment, charge or claim that is being contested in good faith and by
proper  proceedings  and  as  to  which  appropriate  reserves  are  being  maintained,  unless  and  until  any  Lien  resulting  therefrom  attaches  to  its  property  and  becomes
enforceable against its other creditors and the aggregate of such Liens would have a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Preservation  of  Corporate  Existence,  Etc. Preserve  and  maintain  its  corporate  existence,  rights  (charter  and  statutory)  and
franchises; provided, however, that the Borrower and its Subsidiaries may consummate any transaction permitted under Section 6.02(b) and provided further that none
of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries  shall  be  required  to  preserve  any  right  or  franchise,  and  no  Subsidiary  shall  be  required  to  preserve  and  maintain  its  corporate
existence,  if  the  senior  management  of  the  Borrower  or  of  such  Subsidiary  (or  any  Person  authorized  by  the  Borrower  or  such  Subsidiary)  shall  determine  that  the
preservation  thereof  is  no  longer  desirable  in  the  conduct  of  the  business  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  taken  as  a  whole,  and  that  the  loss  thereof  is  not
disadvantageous in any material respect to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
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(d) keeping  of  Books.  keep  proper  books  of  record  and  account,  in  which  full  and  correct  entries  shall  be  made  of  all  financial
transactions and the assets and business of the Borrower and each Subsidiary in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time.

(e) Transactions with Affiliates. Conduct all transactions otherwise permitted under this Agreement with any of its Affiliates (other than
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) on terms that are fair and reasonable and no less favorable to the Borrower or its Subsidiaries than it would obtain in a comparable
arm’s-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate except where the failure to do so, in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(f) reporting requirements. Furnish to the Lenders:

(i) within  45  days  after  the  end  of  each  of  the  first  three  quarters  of  each  fiscal  year  of  the  Borrower  (or  such  shorter
period as required by the SEC),  the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such quarter and the Consolidated statements of
income and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the period commencing at the end of the previous fiscal year and ending with the end of such quarter, duly
certified (subject to year-end audit adjustments) by the chief financial officer, treasurer or controller of the Borrower as having been prepared in accordance with gAAP;

(ii) within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower (or such shorter period as required by the SEC), a copy
of the annual audit report for such year for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, containing the Consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the end
of such fiscal year and the Consolidated statements of income and cash flows of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal year, in each case accompanied by the
opinion(s) of Ernst & Young LLP or one or more other firms of independent certified public accountants of nationally recognized standing reasonably acceptable to the
Agent;

(iii) concurrently with subsections (f)(i) and (f)(ii) of this Section 6.01, a certificate of the chief financial officer, treasurer or
controller of  the Borrower certifying that to the best  of  his  or  her knowledge no Event of  Default  is  continuing at  such date or specifying any Event of  Default  that is
continuing at such date and specifying the nature and extent thereof and any corrective action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto;

(iv) as soon as possible and in any event within five Business Days after a responsible Officer of the Borrower becomes
aware of  the  occurrence  of  each Default  continuing  on the  date  of  such  statement,  a  statement  of  the  chief  financial  officer,  treasurer  or  controller  of  the  Borrower
setting forth details of such Default and the action that the Borrower has taken and proposes to take with respect thereto;

(v) promptly after the sending or filing thereof, copies of all quarterly and annual reports and proxy solicitations that the
Borrower sends to any of its security holders, and copies of all reports on Form 8-k that the Borrower files with the SEC) (other than reports on Form 8-k filed solely for
the purpose of incorporating exhibits into a registration statement previously filed with the SEC);

(vi) prompt  notice  of  all  actions  and  proceedings  before  any  court,  governmental  agency  or  arbitrator  affecting  the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of the type described in Section 5.01(f);

(vii) prompt  notice  of  any  ErISA  Event  that,  alone  or  together  with  any  other  ErISA  Events  that  have  occurred,  could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and
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(viii) such other information respecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as any Lender through the Agent may from
time to time reasonably request.

reports  required  to  be  delivered  pursuant  to Clauses  (i), (ii) and (v) above  for  the  Borrower  shall  be  deemed  to  have  been
delivered  on  the  date  on  which  the  Borrower  posts  such  reports  on  the  Borrower’s  website  on  the  Internet  at  the  website  address  listed  for  the  Borrower  on  the
signature pages hereof or when such report is posted on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and such posting shall be deemed to satisfy the reporting requirements of
Clauses (i), (ii) and (v) above.

(g) Use of Proceeds. Use the proceeds of the Loans in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.20.

Section 6.02 Negative Covenants. So long as any Loan shall remain unpaid or any Lender shall have any Commitment hereunder:

(a) Liens, Etc. None  of  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  will  create  or  suffer  to  exist  any  Lien  on  or  with  respect  to  any  of  its
properties, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or on any of the income or profits therefrom unless it shall have made effective provision whereby the Loans shall
be secured by such Lien equally and ratably with any and all obligations and Debt so secured so long as such obligations and Debt are so secured; provided that nothing in
this Section 6.02 shall be construed to prevent or restrict the following:

(i) Permitted Liens;

(ii) purchase  money  Liens  upon  or  in  any  real  property  or  equipment  acquired  or  held  by  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business to secure the purchase price of such property or equipment or to secure Debt incurred solely for the purpose of financing
the acquisition of  such property or equipment,  or Liens existing on such property or equipment at  the time of its  acquisition or conditional  sales or other similar title
retention  agreements  with  respect  to  property  hereafter  acquired  or  extensions,  renewals  or  replacements  of  any  of  the  foregoing  for  the  same or  a  lesser  amount,
provided, however,  that  no  such  Lien  shall  extend  to  or  cover  any  properties  of  any  character  other  than  the  real  property  or  equipment  being  acquired  and  any
improvements thereto or proceeds thereof, and no such extension, renewal or replacement shall extend to or cover any properties not theretofore subject to the Lien
being extended, renewed or replaced;

(iii) the Liens existing on the date of this Agreement;

(iv) Liens  on  property  of  a  Person  existing  at  the  time such  Person  becomes  a  Subsidiary  of  the  Borrower  or  any  other
Subsidiary of the Borrower or is merged into or consolidated with the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower; provided that (A) to the extent such Liens were created
at a time when such Person was a Subsidiary or an Affiliate of the Borrower, such Liens attach solely to the properties or assets subject to such Liens immediately prior to
such merger, consolidation or acquisition and (B) any such Liens that were created during the period immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or acquisition were
not created in contemplation of the merger, consolidation or acquisition;

(v) Liens to secure Debt issued by the Borrower in connection with a consolidation or merger of the Borrower with or into
any of its Affiliates in exchange for or otherwise in substitution for long-term senior secured Debt of such Affiliate (without increase in the amount or extension of the
final maturity date of the Debt of such Affiliate);
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(vi) Liens on margin stock (within the meaning of regulation U issued by the Board of governors of the Federal reserve
System);

(vii) the  replacement,  extension  or  renewal  of  any  Lien  permitted  by Clauses (iii) and (iv) above  upon  or  in  the  same
property theretofore subject thereto or the replacement, extension or renewal (without increase in the amount) of the Debt secured thereby;

(viii) Liens to secure intercompany Debt obligations among Borrower and its Subsidiaries;

(ix) Additional Permitted Liens;

(x) Liens  arising  from  any  receivables  financing  accounted  for  under  gAAP  as  a  sale  by  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its
Subsidiaries to a Person other than the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, provided that (a) such financing shall be limited recourse or non-recourse to the Borrower and
its  Subsidiaries  except  to  the  extent  customary  for  such  transactions,  and  (b)  such  Liens  do  not  encumber  any  assets  other  than  the  receivables  being  financed,  the
property securing or otherwise relating to such receivables, and the proceeds thereof; and

(xi) Liens, not otherwise subject to any of Clauses (i) through (x) above, on assets, other than Intellectual Property, granted
to secure Debt or other obligations in an aggregate amount that shall not exceed the greater of (x) $1,500,000,000 and (y) 25% of Stockholders’ Equity determined at
such time.

(b) Mergers, Etc. The Borrower will not merge or consolidate with or into, and will not convey, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of
(whether in one transaction or in a series of transactions) all or substantially all of its assets (whether now owned or hereafter acquired) to, any Person, except that (i) any
Person may merge with or into the Borrower in a transaction in which the Borrower is the survivor; and (ii) the Borrower may merge into any of its Subsidiaries for the
purpose of effecting a change in its state of incorporation from Delaware to any other state in the United States if (A) such Subsidiary is incorporated in such other state
solely  for  the  purposes  of  such  merger  and,  immediately  prior  to  the  effectiveness  of  such  merger,  has  positive  stockholders’  equity,  (B)  such  merger  would  not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect and (C) such Subsidiary agrees in writing to assume the obligations of the Borrower hereunder; and (iii) any
Person may sell margin stock (within the meaning of regulation U of the Board of governors of the Federal reserve System).

(c) Financial  Covenant.  The  Borrower  shall  ensure  that  the  Consolidated  Net  Interest  Coverage  ratio  as  at  the  last  day  of  any  fiscal
quarter of the Borrower for each fiscal quarter ended after the date of this Agreement is not less than 3.0 to 1.0; provided that at any time after the definitive agreement
for any Qualified Acquisition shall have been executed (or, in the case of a Qualified Acquisition in the form of a tender offer or similar transaction, after the offer shall
have been launched) and prior to the consummation of such Qualified Acquisition (or termination of the definitive documentation in respect thereof (or such later date as
such Debt ceases  to  constitute  Acquisition  Debt)),  any  Acquisition  Debt  (and  the  proceeds  of  such  Acquisition  Debt  and  including,  for  the  avoidance  of  doubt,  any
Consolidated Interest Income and Consolidated Interest Expense arising from such Acquisition Debt) shall be excluded from the determination of the Consolidated Net
Interest Coverage ratio).

ARTICLE VII
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Section 7.01 Events of Default. If any of the following events (“Event of Default”) shall occur and be continuing with respect to the Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries:
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(a) The Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Loan when the same becomes due and payable; or the Borrower shall fail to pay
any interest on any Loan within three Business Days after the same becomes due and payable; or the Borrower shall fail to pay any fees payable hereunder within ten
Business Days after the same become due and payable; or the Borrower shall fail to pay any other amount payable under this Agreement or any Note within ten Business
Days after receipt by the Borrower of written demand therefor; or

(b) Any  representation  or  warranty  made  or  deemed  made  by  the  Borrower  herein  or  by  the  Borrower  (or  any  of  its  officers)  in
connection with this Agreement shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made; or

(c) (i) The Borrower shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in Section 6.01(c), (e), (f)(iii), (f)(iv), (f)
(vi) or (g) or 6.02, (ii)  the Borrower shall  fail  to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in Section 6.01(f) (other than Clauses (iii),  (iv) and (vi)
thereof) if  such failure shall  remain unremedied for fifteen (15) Business Days after written notice thereof shall  have been given to the Borrower by the Agent or any
Lender or (iii) the Borrower shall fail to perform or observe any other term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement on its part to be performed or observed
if such failure shall remain unremedied for thirty (30) days after written notice thereof shall have been given to the Borrower by the Agent or any Lender; or

(d) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall fail to pay any principal of or premium or interest on any Debt that is outstanding in a
principal or, in the case of hedge Agreements, net amount, of at least $200,000,000 in the aggregate (but excluding Debt outstanding hereunder) of the Borrower or such
Subsidiary (as the case may be) (the “requisite Amount”), when the same becomes due and payable (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration,
demand  or  otherwise),  and  such  failure  shall  continue  after  the  later  of  five  (5)  Business  Days  and  the  applicable  grace  period,  if  any,  specified  in  the  agreement  or
instrument relating to such Debt; or any such Debt aggregating the requisite Amount shall be declared due and payable or any other breach or default with respect to
any other material term shall occur or shall exist under any agreement or instrument relating to any such Debt aggregating the requisite Amount and shall continue after
the applicable grace period, if any, specified in such agreement or instrument if the effect of such breach or default is to accelerate the maturity of such Debt; or any such
Debt  aggregating  the  requisite  Amount  shall  be  required  to  be  prepaid  or  redeemed  (other  than  by  a  regularly  scheduled  required  prepayment  or  redemption),
purchased or defeased, in each case prior to the stated maturity thereof where the cause of such prepayment, redemption, purchase or defeasance is the occurrence of
an  event  or  condition  that  is  premised  on  a  material  adverse  deterioration  of  the  financial  condition,  results  of  operations  or  properties  of  the  Borrower  or  such
Subsidiary; provided that with respect to Debt aggregating the requisite Amount of the types described in Clauses (h) or (i) of the definition of “Debt” and to the extent
such Debt relates to the obligations of any Person other than a Subsidiary, no Event of Default shall occur so long as the payment of such Debt is being contested in good
faith and by proper proceedings and as to which appropriate reserves are being maintained; or

(e) The Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Immaterial Subsidiaries) shall generally not pay its respective debts as such debts
become due, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; or any proceeding shall be
instituted  by  or  against  the  Borrower  or  any  of  its  Subsidiaries  (other  than  Immaterial  Subsidiaries)  seeking  to  adjudicate  it  as  bankrupt  or  insolvent,  or  seeking
liquidation, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, protection, relief, or composition of it or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or
reorganization or relief of debtors, or seeking the entry of an order for relief or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for any
substantial part of its property and, in the case of any such proceeding instituted against it (but not
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instituted by it), either such proceeding shall remain undismissed or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days, or any of the actions sought in such proceeding (including,
without limitation, the entry of an order for relief against, or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for, it or for any substantial part of
its property) shall occur; or the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Immaterial Subsidiaries) shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the actions set
forth in this subsection (e) under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors; or

(f) Any final and non-appealable judgment or order for the payment of money in excess of $200,000,000 shall be rendered against the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than Immaterial Subsidiaries) and thirty (30) days shall have passed since such judgment became final and non-appealable and
enforcement proceedings shall have been commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or order; provided, however, that any such judgment or order shall not be an
Event  of  Default  under  this Section  7.01(f) if  and  for  so  long  as  and  to  the  extent  that  (i)  the  amount  of  such  judgment  or  order  is  covered  (subject  to  standard
deductibles) by a valid and binding policy of insurance between the defendant and the insurer or insurers covering payment thereof, (ii) such insurer shall be rated, or, if
more than one insurer, at least 90% of such insurers as measured by the amount of risk insured shall be rated, at least “A-” by A.M. Best Company or its successor or its
successors and (iii) such insurer(s) has been notified of, and has not refused to defend the claim made for payment of, the amount of such judgment or order; or

(g) Any Person or two or more Persons acting in concert (other than the Permitted holders) shall have acquired beneficial ownership
(within  the  meaning  of  rule  13d-3  of  the  SEC  under  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934),  directly  or  indirectly,  of  Voting  Stock  of  the  Borrower  (or  other  securities
convertible into such Voting Stock) representing more than 50% of the combined voting power of all Voting Stock of the Borrower;

(h) The Borrower or its  ErISA Affiliates  shall  incur,  or  shall  be reasonably  likely  to incur,  liability  that  would have a Material  Adverse
Effect as a result of one or more of the following: (i) the occurrence of any ErISA Event; (ii) the partial or complete withdrawal of the Borrower or its ErISA Affiliates from
a Multiemployer Plan; or (iii) the reorganization or termination of a Multiemployer Plan; or

(i) This Agreement ceases to be in full force and effect or shall be declared null and void or the Borrower shall contest the validity or
enforceability of this Agreement in writing or deny in writing that it has any further liability under this Agreement;

then,  and  in  any  such  event,  the  Agent  (i)  upon  the  occurrence  of  an  Event  of  Default  under Section 7.01(a),  shall,  at  the  request,  or  may  with  the  consent,  of  the
required  Lenders,  by  notice  to  the  Borrower,  declare  the  obligation  of  each  Lender  to  make  a  Loan  to  the  Borrower  to  be  terminated,  whereupon  the  same  shall
forthwith terminate, and (ii) shall at the request, or may with the consent, of the required Lenders, by notice to the Borrower, declare all or a portion of the Loans, all
interest thereon and all other amounts payable under this Agreement by the Borrower to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon such Loans, all such interest and all
such other amounts shall become and be forthwith due and payable by the Borrower, without presentment, demand, protest or further notice of any kind, all of which
are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower; provided, however, that in the event of an actual or deemed entry of an order for relief with respect to the Borrower under
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, (A) the obligation of each Lender to make the Loans to the Borrower shall automatically be terminated and (B) the Loans, all such interest and
all such other amounts shall automatically become and be due and payable by the Borrower without presentment, demand, protest or further notice of any kind, all of
which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower.
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ARTICLE VIII
THE AGENT

Section  8.01 Appointment  and  Authority.  Each  of  the  Lenders  hereby  irrevocably  appoints  Bank  of  America  to  act  on  its  behalf  as  the  Agent
hereunder and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof or thereof, together
with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The provisions of this Article are solely for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders and the Borrower
shall not have rights as a third party beneficiary of any of such provisions. It is understood and agreed that the use of the term “agent” herein (or any other similar term)
with reference to the Agent is not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of any applicable law. Instead
such term is used as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship between contracting parties.

Section 8.02 rights as a Lender. The Person serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any
other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent and the term “Lender” or “Lenders” shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated or unless the
context otherwise requires,  include the Person serving as the Agent hereunder in its individual capacity.  Such Person and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend
money  to,  own securities  of,  act  as  the  financial  advisor  or  in  any  other  advisory  capacity  for  and  generally  engage  in  any  kind  of  business  with  the  Borrower  or  any
Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if such Person were not the Agent hereunder and without any duty to account therefor to the Lenders.

Section 8.03 Exculpatory Provisions. The Agent or any Other Agent, as applicable, shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set
forth herein, and its duties hereunder shall be administrative in nature. without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Agent or any other Agent, as applicable, and
their respective related Parties:

(a) shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default has occurred and is continuing;

(b) shall  not  have  any  duty  to  take  any  discretionary  action  or  exercise  any  discretionary  powers,  except  discretionary  rights  and
powers expressly contemplated hereby that the Agent is required to exercise as directed in writing by the required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the
relevant Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as set forth herein), provided that the Agent shall not be required to take any action that, in its opinion or
the opinion of  its  counsel,  may expose the Agent  to  liability  or  that  is  contrary  to  any applicable  law,  including  for  the  avoidance of  doubt  any action that  may be in
violation of  the  automatic  stay under  any law relating to  bankruptcy,  insolvency or  reorganization or  relief  of  debtors  or  that  may effect  a  forfeiture,  modification or
termination of property of a Defaulting Lender in violation of any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors;

(c) shall not, except for notices, reports and other documents expressly required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Agent herein,
have any duty or responsibility to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information (including any credit or other information concerning the
business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition or creditworthiness) relating to the Borrower or any of its Affiliates that is communicated to or
obtained by, or in the possession of, the person serving as the Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity;

(d) shall  not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it  (i)  with the consent  or at  the request  of  the required Lenders  (or such
other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under
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the circumstances as provided in Section 9.01, or as the Agent shall believe in good faith shall be necessary) or (ii) in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful
misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default
unless and until notice thereof is given in writing to the Agent by the Borrower or a Lender; and

(e) shall not be responsible for or have any duty or obligation to any Lender or participant or any other Person to ascertain or inquire
into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with this Agreement, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered
hereunder or thereunder or in connection herewith or therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions
set  forth  herein  or  therein  or  the  occurrence  of  any  Default,  (iv)  the  validity,  enforceability,  effectiveness  or  genuineness  of  this  Agreement  or  any  other  agreement,
instrument or document or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth herein, other than to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

Section 8.04 reliance  by  Agent.  The  Agent  shall  be  entitled  to  rely  upon,  and  shall  not  incur  any  liability  for  relying  upon,  any  notice,  request,
certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing (including any electronic message, posting to an Internet or intranet website or other distribution)
believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed, sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper Person. The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it
orally or by telephone and believed by it to have been made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. In determining compliance with any
condition hereunder to the making of an Loan that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lender, the Agent may presume that such condition is satisfactory
to such Lender unless the Agent shall have received notice to the contrary from such Lender prior to the making of such Loan. The Agent may consult with legal counsel
(who may  be  counsel  for  the  Borrower),  independent  accountants  and  other  experts  selected  by  it,  and  shall  not  be  liable  for  any  action  taken  or  not  taken  by  it  in
accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

Section 8.05 Delegation of Duties. The Agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder by or through any
one or more sub-agents appointed by the Agent. The Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all of its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through
their respective related Parties.  The exculpatory provisions of this Article shall  apply to any such sub-agent and to the related Parties of the Agent and any such sub-
agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Agent. The Agent
shall  not  be  responsible  for  the  negligence  or  misconduct  of  any  sub-agents  except  to  the  extent  that  a  court  of  competent  jurisdiction  determines  in  a  final  and
nonappealable judgment that the Agent acted with gross negligence or willful misconduct in the selection of such sub-agents.

Section 8.06 resignation of Agent. The Agent may at any time give notice of its resignation to the Lenders and the Borrower. Upon receipt of any
such notice of resignation, the required Lenders shall have the right, in consultation with the Borrower, to appoint a successor, which shall be a bank with an office in
New York, or an Affiliate of any such bank with an office in New York. If no such successor shall have been so appointed by the required Lenders and shall have accepted
such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation (or such earlier day as shall be agreed by the required Lenders) (the “resignation
Effective Date”),  then  the  retiring  Agent  may  (but  shall  not  be  obligated  to)  on  behalf  of  the  Lenders,  appoint  a  successor  Agent  meeting  the  qualifications  set  forth
above. whether or not a successor has been appointed, such resignation shall become effective in accordance with such notice on the resignation Effective Date. with
effect from the resignation Effective Date, (1) the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder and (2) except for any indemnity payments
or other amounts then owed to the retiring Agent, all payments, communications and

44
 



 
 
determinations provided to be made by, to or through the Agent shall  instead be made by or to each Lender directly, until  such time, if  any, as the required Lenders
appoint a successor Agent as provided for above in this paragraph. Upon the acceptance of a successor’s appointment as Agent hereunder, such successor shall succeed
to and become vested with all of the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring (or retired) Agent (other than any rights to indemnity payments or other amounts
owed to the  retiring  Agent  as  of  the resignation Effective  Date),  and the  retiring  Agent  shall  be  discharged from all  of  its  duties  and obligations  hereunder.  The fees
payable by the Borrower to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor.
After the retiring Agent’s resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article VIII and Section 9.04 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub-
agents and their respective related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them (x) while the retiring Agent was acting as Agent and (y)
after such resignation for as long as any of them continues to act in any capacity hereunder, including in respect of any actions taken in connection with transferring the
agency to any successor Agent.

Section 8.07 Non-reliance on Agent and Other Lenders. Each Lender expressly acknowledges that none of the Agent nor any Other Agent has made
any representation or warranty to it, and that no act by the Agent or any Other Agent hereafter taken, including any consent to, and acceptance of any assignment or
review of the affairs of the Borrower of any Affiliate thereof, shall be deemed to constitute any representation or warranty by the Agent or any Other Agent to any Lender
as  to  any  matter,  including  whether  the  Agent  or  any  Other  Agent  have  disclosed  material  information  in  their  (or  their  related  Parties’)  possession.  Each  Lender
acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any Other Agent or any other Lender or any of their related Parties and based on such
documents  and  information  as  it  has  deemed  appropriate,  made  its  own  credit  analysis  of,  appraisal  of,  and  investigation  into,  the  business,  prospects,  operations,
property,  financial  and  other  condition  and  creditworthiness  of  the  Borrower  and  its  Subsidiaries,  and  all  applicable  bank  or  other  regulatory  laws  relating  to  the
transactions  contemplated  hereby,  and  made  its  own  decision  to  enter  into  this  Agreement  and  to  extend  credit  to  the  Borrower  hereunder.  Each  Lender  also
acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, any Other Agent or any other Lender or any of their related Parties and based on such
documents  and information as  it  shall  from time to time deem appropriate,  continue to make its  own credit  analysis,  appraisals  and decisions in  taking or  not  taking
action under or based upon this Agreement, any Note or any related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder, and to make such investigations as
it  deems  necessary  to  inform  itself  as  to  the  business,  prospects,  operations,  property,  financial  and  other  condition  and  creditworthiness  of  the  Borrower  and  its
Subsidiaries.  Each Lender represents and warrants that (i) this Agreement sets forth the terms of a commercial lending facility and (ii) it is engaged in making, acquiring
or holding commercial loans in the ordinary course and is entering into this Agreement as a Lender for the purpose of making, acquiring or holding commercial loans, and
not  for  the  purpose  of  purchasing,  acquiring  or  holding  any  other  type  of  financial  instrument,  and  each  Lender  agrees  not  to  assert  a  claim  in  contravention  of  the
foregoing.  Each Lender represents and warrants that it  is  sophisticated with respect to decisions to make, acquire and/or hold commercial  loans,  and either it,  or the
Person exercising discretion in making its decision to make, acquire and/or hold such commercial loans is experienced in making, acquiring or holding such commercial
loans or providing such other facilities. Neither the Agent nor any Other Agent shall have or be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Lender.

Section 8.08 No Other Duties, Etc. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, none of the Agent or the Other Agents shall have any powers,
duties or responsibilities under this Agreement, except in its capacity, as applicable, as the Agent or a Lender hereunder. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that (a)
(i)  the  arranging  and  other  services  regarding  this  Agreement  provided  by  the  Agent,  the  Other  Agents  and  the  Lenders  are  arm’s-length  commercial  transactions
between the Borrower, on the one hand, and the Agent, the Other Agents and the Lenders, on the other hand, (ii) the Borrower has consulted its own legal, accounting,
regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate and (iii) the Borrower is capable of evaluating, and understands and accepts,
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the  terms,  risks  and  conditions  of  the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  and  by  the  documents  related  thereto, (b) (i) each  of  the  Agent,  the  Other  Agents  and  the
Lenders is and has been acting solely as a principal and, except as expressly agreed in writing by the relevant parties, has not been, is not, and will not be acting as an
advisor, agent or fiduciary for the Borrower or any of its Affiliates or any other Person and (ii) none of the Agent, the Other Agents or the Lenders has any obligation to
the Borrower or any of its Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby except those obligations expressly set forth herein and in the other documents
related hereto and (c) the Agent, the Other Agents and the Lenders and their respective Affiliates may be engaged in a broad range of transactions that involve interests
that differ from those of the Borrower and its Affiliates, and none of the Agent, the Other Agents or the Lenders has any obligation to disclose any of such interests to the
Borrower or its Affiliates. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Borrower hereby waives and releases any claims that it may have against any of the Agent, the Other
Agents or the Lenders with respect to any breach or alleged breach of agency or fiduciary duty in connection with any aspect of any transaction contemplated hereby.

Section 8.09 rescindable Amount.  with respect  to any payment that the Agent makes for the account of  the Lenders hereunder as to which the
Agent  determines  (which  determination  shall  be  conclusive  absent  manifest  error)  that  any  of  the  following  applies  (such  payment  referred  to  as  the  “rescindable
Amount”): (1) the Borrower has not in fact made such payment; (2) the Agent has made a payment in excess of the amount so paid by such Borrower (whether or not
then owed); or (3) the Agent has for any reason otherwise erroneously made such payment, then each of the Lenders, as the case may be, severally agrees to repay to the
Agent forthwith on demand the rescindable Amount so distributed to such Lender, in same day funds with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date
such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at the Overnight rate.

Section  8.10 recovery  of  Erroneous  Payments.  without  limitation  of  any  other  provision  in  this  Agreement,  if  at  any  time  the  Agent  makes  a
payment hereunder in error to any Lender, whether or not in respect of an obligation due and owing by any Borrower at such time, where such payment is a rescindable
Amount,  then  in  any  such  event,  each  Lender  receiving  a  rescindable  Amount  severally  agrees  to  repay  to  the  Agent  forthwith  on  demand  the  rescindable  Amount
received by such Lender in immediately available funds, with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such rescindable Amount is received by it to but
excluding the date of payment to the Agent, at the Overnight rate. Each Lender irrevocably waives any and all defenses, including any “discharge for value” (under which
a creditor might otherwise claim a right to retain funds mistakenly paid by a third party in respect of a debt owed by another) or similar defense to its obligation to return
any  rescindable  Amount.   The  Agent  shall  inform each  Lender  promptly  upon  determining  that  any  payment  made  to  such  Lender  comprised,  in  whole  or  in  part,  a
rescindable Amount.  

Section  8.11 Agent  May  File  Proofs  of  Claim.  In  case  of  the  pendency  of  any  proceeding  under  any  law  relating  to  bankruptcy,  insolvency  or
reorganization or relief of debtors or any other judicial proceeding relative to the Borrower, the Agent (irrespective of whether the principal of any Loan shall then be due
and payable as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Agent shall have made any demand on any Borrower) shall be entitled
and empowered, by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:

(a) to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Loans and all other
obligations that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Lenders, the Agent (including
any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Lenders and the Agent and their respective agents and counsel and all other
amounts due the Lenders, and the Agent hereunder) allowed in such judicial proceeding; and
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(b) to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same;

and any custodian,  receiver,  assignee,  trustee,  liquidator,  sequestrator  or  other  similar  official  in  any such  judicial  proceeding  is  hereby authorized by  each Lender  to
make such payments to the Agent and, in the event that the Agent shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Lenders, to pay to the Agent any amount
due for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Agent and its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Agent hereunder.

Section 8.12 ErISA representation.  Each  Lender  (x)  represents  and  warrants,  as  of  the  date  of  this  Agreement,  or  if  later,  the  date  such  Person
became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date of this Agreement or, if later, the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such
Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Agent and the Other Agents, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower,
that at least one of the following is and will be true: such Lender is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ErISA or otherwise) of one or more
Benefit Plans with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments, or this Agreement,

(ii) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions
determined by independent qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts),
PTE  90-1  (a  class  exemption  for  certain  transactions  involving  insurance  company  pooled  separate  accounts),  PTE  91-38  (a  class  exemption  for  certain  transactions
involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to
such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement,

(iii) (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional Asset Manager” (within the meaning of
Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and
perform the Loans, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Commitments and
this  Agreement  satisfies  the  requirements  of  sub-sections  (b)  through  (g)  of  Part  I  of  PTE  84-14  and  (D)  to  the  best  knowledge  of  such  Lender,  the  requirements  of
subsection (such a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans and
this Agreement, or

(iv) such  other  representation,  warranty  and  covenant  as  may  be  agreed  in  writing  between  the  Agent,  in  its  sole
discretion, and such Lender.

(b) In  addition,  unless  sub-clause  (i)  in  the  immediately  preceding  clause  (a)  is  true  with  respect  to  a  Lender  or  such  Lender  has
provided another representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv) in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x) represents
and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date of this Agreement, or, if later, the date such Person became
a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of the Agent and the Other Agents, and not, for the avoidance of doubt,
to or for the benefit of the Borrower that none of the Agent or any Other Agent is a fiduciary with respect to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender’s entrance
into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, Commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the reservation or exercise of any
rights by the Agent under this Agreement or any documents related hereto).
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ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.01 Amendments, Etc. (a) No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any Notes, nor consent to any departure by the
Borrower therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Borrower and the required Lenders, and then such waiver or
consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given; provided, however, that (i) no amendment, waiver or consent shall,
unless  in  writing  and  signed  by  all  the  Lenders,  do  any  of  the  following:  (A)  waive  any  of  the  conditions  specified  in Section 4.01,  (B)  change  the  percentage  of  the
Commitments or of the Term Credit Exposures or the number of Lenders that shall be required for the Lenders or any of them to take any action hereunder, or (C) amend
this Section 9.01; and (ii) no amendment, waiver or consent shall, unless in writing and signed by the required Lenders and each Lender that has a Commitment or has or
is owed obligations under this Agreement or the Notes that is or are modified by such amendment, waiver or consent, (A) increase the Commitment of such Lender or
subject  such  Lender  to  any  additional  obligations),  (B)  reduce  the  principal  of,  or  interest  on,  the  Loans made  by  such  Lender  or  any  fees  or  other  amounts  payable
hereunder to such Lender, (C) postpone any date fixed for any payment of interest on the Loans made by such Lender or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder to
such Lender, (D) extend the Termination Date or (E) amend or waive the application of Section 2.18.

(b) In addition, notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, if the Agent and the Borrower shall have jointly identified an
obvious error or any error or omission of a technical  nature, in each case, in any provision of this Agreement,  then the Agent and the Borrower shall  be permitted to
amend such provision, and, in each case, such amendment shall become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement if the same
is not objected to in writing by the required Lenders to the Agent within ten Business Days following receipt of notice thereof.

(c) Each Lender grants (x) to the Agent the right to purchase all (but not less than all) of such Lender’s Commitments and Loans owing
to it and the Notes held by it and all of its rights and obligations hereunder, and (y) to the Borrower the right to cause an assignment of all (but not less than all) of such
Lender’s Commitments and Loans owing to it, its participations in the Notes held by it and all of its rights and obligations hereunder to Eligible Assignees, which right may
be exercised by the Agent or the Borrower, as the case may be, if such Lender (a “Non-Consenting Lender”) refuses to execute any amendment, waiver or consent which
requires  the  written  consent  of  all  or  all  affected  Lenders  under  Clause  (i)  or  (ii)  in paragraph  (a) above  or,  alternatively,  is  unable  to  execute  and/or  deliver  such
amendment,  waiver  or  consent  which requires  the written consent  of  all  or  all  affected Lenders  under  Clause (i)  or  (ii)  in paragraph (a) above within the time period
specified by the Agent, the required Lenders and the Borrower and to which the required Lenders and the Borrower have otherwise agreed; provided that such Non-
Consenting Lender shall receive, in connection with such assignment, payment equal to the aggregate amount of outstanding Loans owed to such Lender (together with
all accrued and unpaid interest, fees and other amounts owed to such Lender, including any amounts under Section 2.19). Each Lender agrees that if the Agent or the
Borrower, as the case may be, exercises its option hereunder, it shall promptly execute and deliver all agreements and documentation reasonably necessary to effectuate
such  assignment,  without  recourse,  as  set  forth  in Section 9.07 at  the  Borrower’s  expense.  If  the  Borrower  has  requested  that  a  Lender  execute  such  agreement  or
documentation and the Non-Consenting Lender does not comply with such request within two Business Days after such request, then the Borrower shall be entitled (but
not obligated) to execute and deliver such agreement and documentation on such Non-Consenting Lender’s behalf and any such agreement and/or documentation so
executed by the Borrower (in substantially the form of Exhibit C hereto) shall be effective for purposes of effectuating an assignment pursuant to Section 9.07; provided,
all amounts due and owing to the Non-Consenting Lender have
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been paid and the Borrower shall not be permitted to add any obligations or liabilities to such Non-Consenting Lender.

Section 9.02 Notices; Effectiveness; Electronic Consent. (a) Except as provided in subsection (b) below or as otherwise expressly set forth herein, all
notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail
or sent by telecopier (or, as specifically provided in Clause (ii) below, by e-mail) as follows: (i) if to the Borrower, to it at Oracle Corporation, 2300 Oracle way, Austin, TX
78741,  Attention of  the  Executive  Vice  President,  Taxation and Treasurer  (Email:  Tr-CrEDITNOTICE_US@OrACLE.COM),  with  a  copy to  the  general  Counsel  at  Oracle
Corporation, 500 Oracle Parkway, Mailstop 5op7, redwood City, CA 94065 (Email: legal_us@oracle.com); (ii) if to the Agent, to Bank of America at Bank of America, N.A.,
Attn:  Mohnish  Patel,  gateway  Village  -  900  Building,  6th  Floor,  900  w.  Trade  Street,  Mail  Code:  NC1-026-06-04,  Charlotte,  NC  28255-0001  (e-mail:
mohnish.patel2@bofa.com, with a copy to bridgett.manduk@bofa.com; Telephone No. (980) 388-5085; Fax No. (704) 625-5471); and (iii) if to a Lender, to it at its address
(or telecopier number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire. Notices sent by hand or overnight courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be
deemed to have been given when received; notices sent by telecopier shall be deemed to have been given when receipt thereof is confirmed electronically (except that, if
not given during normal business hours for  the recipient,  shall  be deemed to have been given at  the opening of  business on the next  business day for  the recipient).
Notices delivered through electronic communications to the extent provided in paragraph (b) below, shall be effective as provided in said paragraph (b).

(b) Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communication (including
e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved by the Agent, provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender pursuant to
Section 2.02 if such Lender has notified the Agent that it is incapable of receiving notices under such Article by electronic communication. The Agent or the Borrower may,
in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it, provided that
approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications. Unless the Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to
an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested”
function,  as  available,  return  e-mail  or  other  written acknowledgement), provided that  if  such  notice  or  other  communication is  not  sent  during  the  normal  business
hours of the recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient, and (ii)
notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as
described  in  the  foregoing  Clause  (i)  of  notification  that  such  notice  or  communication  is  available  and  identifying  the  website  address  therefor.  Electronic  mail  and
Internet  and  intranet  websites  may  be  used  by  the  Agent  to  distribute  communications,  such  as  financial  statements  and  other  information  as  provided  in  this
Agreement, and to distribute documents for execution by the parties thereto, and the Agent shall not be responsible for any losses, costs, expenses and liabilities that
may arise by reason of the use thereof, except for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent and the Lenders shall be entitled to rely and act in good faith
upon any notices (including telephonic notices) purportedly given by or on behalf of the Borrower.

(c) Any party hereto may change its address or telecopier number or email address for notices and other communications hereunder
by notice to the other parties hereto.

Section 9.03 No waiver; remedies. No failure on the part of any Lender or the Agent to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder or
under any Note shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single
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or partial exercise of any such right preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right. The remedies herein provided are cumulative and not
exclusive of any remedies provided by law.

Section 9.04 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage waiver. (a) The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred
by the Agent and its Affiliates, including the reasonable and documented fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for the Agent (and reasonable, documented fees
and time charges  for  attorneys  who may be  employees  of  the  Agent),  in  connection  with  the  syndication  of  the  credit  facilities  provided  for  herein,  the  preparation,
negotiation, execution, delivery and administration of this Agreement or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not
the  transactions  contemplated  hereby  or  thereby  shall  be  consummated)  (subject,  in  the  case  of  certain  expenses  in  connection  with  the  preparation,  negotiation,
execution  and  delivery  of  this  Agreement  and  the  syndication  of  the  credit  facilities  provided  for  herein,  to  any  limitation  separately  agreed  in  writing  between  the
Borrower and the Agent) and (ii) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent or any Lender, including the reasonable and documented
fees, charges and disbursements of (x) one counsel for the Agent (and reasonable and documented fees and time charges for attorneys who may be employees of the
Agent), (y) one counsel to the Lenders, taken as a whole, and (z) any local counsel required in any applicable jurisdiction, in each case in connection with the enforcement
or protection of their respective rights in connection with this Agreement and the Notes, including their respective rights under this Section 9.04, or in connection with
the Loans made, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans.

(b) The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent (and any sub-agent thereof), each Lender and each related Party of any of the foregoing
Persons (each such Person being called an “Indemnitee”) against,  and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all  losses,  claims, damages,  liabilities and related
expenses, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnitee (and reasonable fees and time charges for attorneys who may be
employees of the Agent or any Lender), incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of
this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, the performance by the parties hereto of their respective obligations hereunder or the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, (ii) any actual or alleged presence or release of hazardous Materials on or from any property owned
or operated by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Action related in any way to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iii)  any actual or
prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory, whether brought by the
Borrower,  any  of  its  shareholders  or  creditors,  an  Indemnitee  or  any  other  Person,  and  regardless  of  whether  any  Indemnitee  is  a  party  thereto, provided that  such
indemnity  shall  not,  as  to  any  Indemnitee,  be  available  to  the  extent  that  such  losses,  claims,  damages,  liabilities  or  related  expenses  are  determined  by  a  court  of
competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee or to the extent that, in
any action brought by the Borrower, the Borrower prevails. This Section 9.04(b) shall not apply with respect to Taxes other than any Taxes that represent losses, claims,
damages, liabilities and related expenses arising from any non-Tax claim.

(c) To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section 9.04 to be paid by it to
the Agent (or any sub-agent thereof) or any related Party of any of the foregoing, but without relieving the Borrower of its obligation thereunder, each Lender severally
agrees to pay to the Agent (or any such sub-agent) or such related Party, as the case may be, such Lender’s Applicable Percentage (determined as of the time that the
applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount, provided that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage,
liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Agent (or any such sub-agent) in its capacity as such, or against any related Party
of any of the foregoing acting for the Agent (or any such sub-agent) in connection
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with such capacity. The obligations of the Lenders under this paragraph (c) are subject to the provisions of Section 2.02(e).

(d) To  the  fullest  extent  permitted  by  applicable  law,  the  Borrower  shall  not  assert,  and  hereby  waives,  any  claim  against  any
Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with,
or as a result of,  this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, any Loan or the use of the
proceeds thereof. No Indemnitee referred to in paragraph (b) above shall be liable for any damages arising from the use by unintended recipients of any information or
other materials distributed by it through telecommunications, electronic or other information transmission systems in connection with this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby.

(e) All amounts due under this Section 9.04 shall be payable promptly after written demand therefor.

(f) without  prejudice  to  the  survival  of  any  other  agreement  of  the  Borrower  hereunder,  the  agreements  and  obligations  of  the
Borrower contained in Sections 2.11, 2.16, 2.19 and this Section 9.04 shall survive the payment in full of principal, interest and all other amounts payable hereunder and
under the Notes.

Section 9.05 right  of  Set-off.  If  an  Event  of  Default  shall  have  occurred  and  be  continuing,  each  Lender  and  each  of  their  respective  Affiliates  is
hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time
or demand, provisional or final, in whatever currency) at any time held and other obligations (in whatever currency) at any time owing by such Lender or any such Affiliate
to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any and all of the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement to such Lender,
irrespective  of  whether  or  not  such Lender  shall  have made any demand under  this  Agreement  and although such obligations  of  the Borrower may be contingent  or
unmatured or are owed to a branch or office of such Lender different from the branch or office holding such deposit or obligated on such indebtedness. The rights of
each Lender and their respective Affiliates under this Section 9.05 are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Lender or their
respective Affiliates may have. Each Lender agrees promptly to notify the Borrower and the Agent after any such setoff and application, provided that the failure to give
such notice shall not affect the validity of such setoff and application.

Section 9.06 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by the Agent and when the Agent shall have
received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 9.07 Assignments and Participations. (a) No Lender may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder except (i) to
an Eligible Assignee in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) of this Section 9.07, (ii) by way of participation in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (d)
of this Section 9.07 or (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a security interest subject to the restrictions of paragraph (f) of this Section 9.07 (and any other attempted
assignment or transfer by any party hereto shall be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other
than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants to the extent provided in paragraph (d) of this Section 9.07 and, to the
extent expressly contemplated hereby, the related Parties of each of the Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this
Agreement.
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(b) Any  Lender  may  at  any  time  assign  to  one  or  more  Eligible  Assignees  all  or  a  portion  of  its  rights  and  obligations  under  this
Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and Term Credit Exposure at the time owing to it); provided that (i) except in the case of an assignment of the
entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender’s Commitment and the Term Credit Exposure at the time owing to it or in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an
Affiliate  of  a  Lender  or  an  Approved  Fund  with  respect  to  a  Lender,  the  aggregate  amount  of  the  Commitment  (which  for  this  purpose  includes Loans outstanding
thereunder) or, if the applicable Commitment is not then in effect, the principal outstanding balance of the Loan of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment
(determined as of the date the Assignment and Acceptance with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Agent or, if “Trade Date” is specified in the Assignment
and Acceptance, as of the Trade Date) shall not be less than $5,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof, unless each of the Agent and, so long as
no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower otherwise consent (each such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such approval, in
the case of  the Borrower,  to  be deemed to have been given if  a  response  is  not  received  within  ten Business  Days  from the date  on which  request  for  approval  was
received by the Borrower); (ii) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under
this Agreement with respect to the Loan or the Commitment assigned; (iii) any assignment must be approved with the prior written consent of (A) the Agent and (B) the
Borrower (each such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such approval, in the case of the Borrower, to be deemed to have been given if a response
is not received within ten Business Days from the date on which request for approval was received by the Borrower); provided that no consent of the Borrower or the
Agent shall be required for an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, an Approved Fund or, in the case of the Borrower, if an Event of Default has occurred and
is  continuing;  (iv)  the  parties  to  each assignment  shall  (1)  electronically  execute  and deliver  to  the  Agent  an Assignment  and Acceptance  via  an electronic  settlement
system  acceptable  to  the  Agent  or  (2)  manually  execute  and  deliver  to  the  Agent  an  Assignment  and  Acceptance,  together  with  a  processing  and  recordation  fee  of
$3,500; provided that  only  one  such  fee  shall  be  payable  in  connection  with  simultaneous  assignments  to  or  by  two  or  more  Approved  Funds;  and (v) the  Eligible
Assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Agent an Administrative Questionnaire and if required, applicable tax forms.

Subject  to  acceptance  and  recording  thereof  by  the  Agent  pursuant  to paragraph (c) of  this Section 9.07,  from  and  after  the  effective  date
specified in  each Assignment and Acceptance,  the Eligible Assignee thereunder  shall  be a  party  to this  Agreement and,  to the extent  of  the interest  assigned by such
Assignment and Acceptance, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest
assigned by such Assignment and Acceptance, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Acceptance covering all of
the  assigning  Lender’s  rights  and obligations  under  this  Agreement,  such  Lender  shall  cease  to  be  a  party  hereto)  but  shall  continue  to  be  entitled  to  the  benefits  of
Section 2.11, 2.16, 2.19 and 9.04 with respect to facts and circumstances occurring prior to the effective date of such assignment.

(c) The Agent,  acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, shall  maintain a copy of each Assignment and
Acceptance delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitments of, and principal amounts of Loans owing
to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time (the “register”).  The entries in the register shall  be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Agent and the
Lenders  shall  treat  each  Person  whose  name  is  recorded  in  the  register  pursuant  to  the  terms  hereof  as  a  Lender  hereunder  for  all  purposes  of  this  Agreement,
notwithstanding notice to the contrary.  The register shall  be available for inspection by the Borrower at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable
prior notice. Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Acceptance executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee’s completed Administrative
Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section 9.07
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and  any  written  consent  to  such  assignment  required  by paragraph (b) of  this Section 9.07,  the  Agent  shall  accept  such  Assignment  and Acceptance and record  the
information contained therein in the register. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the register as provided in
this paragraph.

(d) Any  Lender  may  at  any  time,  without  the  consent  of,  or  notice  to,  the  Borrower  or  the  Agent,  sell  participations  to  any  Person
(other than a natural person or the Borrower or any of the Borrower’s Affiliates or Subsidiaries) (each, a “Participant”) in all or a portion of such Lender’s rights and/or
obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Commitment and/or Term Credit Exposure owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under
this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) the
Borrower, the Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this
Agreement. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this
Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that
such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver with respect to (A) reducing the principal of, or interest on,
the Loans made by such Lender or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder to such Lender, (B) postponing any date fixed for any payment of interest on the Loans
made by such Lender or any fees or other amounts payable hereunder to such Lender that affects  such Participant or (C)  extending the Termination Date.  Subject  to
paragraph (e) of this Section 9.07, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of, and subject to the limitations of, Sections 2.11 and 2.16 to
the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section 9.07. To the extent permitted by law, each
Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 9.05 as though it were a Lender, provided such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.18 as though it
were a Lender. Each Lender that sells a participation, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower, shall maintain a register on which it enters
the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts of each Participant’s interest in the Loans or other obligations under this Agreement (the “Participant
register”); provided that  no  Lender  shall  have  any  obligation  to  disclose  all  or  any  portion  of  the  Participant  register  to  any  Person  (including  the  identity  of  any
Participant or any information relating to a Participant’s interest in any Commitments, Loans or its other obligations under this Agreement) except to the extent that such
disclosure  is  necessary  to  establish  that  such  Commitment,  Loan or  other  obligation  is  in  registered  form  under  Section  5f.103-1(c)  of  the  United  States  Treasury
regulations. The entries in the Participant register shall be conclusive, and such Lender, the Borrower and the Agent shall treat each person whose name is recorded in
the Participant register pursuant to the terms hereof as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary.

(e) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Sections 2.11 and 2.16 than the applicable Lender would
have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower’s
prior  written  consent.  No  Participant  shall  be  entitled  to  the  benefits  of Section 2.16 unless  such  Participant  agrees,  for  the  benefit  of  the  Borrower,  to  comply  with
Section 2.16(e) as though it were a Lender.

(f) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all  or any portion of its  rights under this  Agreement to secure
obligations  of  such  Lender,  including  without  limitation any pledge or  assignment  to  secure  obligations  to  a  Federal  reserve  Bank or  other  central  banking  authority;
provided that no such pledge or assignment shall release such Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as
a party hereto.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein,  any Lender that is  a Fund may create a security interest in all  or any portion of the Loans
owing to it and the Notes, if any, held
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by it to the trustee for holders of obligations owed, or securities issued, by such Fund as security for such obligations or securities, provided that unless and until such
trustee  actually  becomes  a  Lender  in  compliance  with  the  other  provisions  of  this Section 9.07, (i) no  such  pledge  shall  release  the  pledging  Lender  from  any  of  its
obligations under this Agreement and (ii) such trustee shall not be entitled to exercise any of the rights of a Lender under this Agreement and the Notes even though such
trustee may have acquired ownership rights with respect to the pledged interest through foreclosure or otherwise.

(g) Notwithstanding  anything  to  the  contrary  contained  herein,  any  Lender  (a  “granting  Lender”)  may  grant  to  a  special  purpose
funding vehicle (a “SPC”), identified as such in writing from time to time by the granting Lender to the Agent and the Borrower, the option to provide to the Borrower all
or any part of any Loan that such granting Lender would otherwise be obligated to make the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement; provided that (i) nothing herein shall
constitute a commitment by any SPC to make any Loan and (ii) if an SPC elects not to exercise such option or otherwise fails to provide all or any part of such Loan, the
granting Lender shall  be obligated to make such Loan pursuant to the terms hereof.  The making of an Loan by an SPC hereunder shall  utilize the Commitment of the
granting  Lender  to  the  same  extent,  and  as  if,  such  Loan  were  made  by  such  granting  Lender.  Each  party  hereto  hereby  agrees  that  no  SPC  shall  be  liable  for  any
indemnity or similar payment obligation under this Agreement (all liability for which shall remain with the granting Lender). In furtherance of the foregoing, each party
hereto hereby agrees (which agreement shall survive the termination of this Agreement) that, prior to the date that is one year and one day after the payment in full of
all  outstanding  commercial  paper  or  other  senior  indebtedness  of  any  SPC,  it  will  not  institute  against,  or  join  any  other  person  in  instituting  against,  such  SPC  any
bankruptcy,  reorganization, arrangement,  insolvency or liquidation proceedings under the laws of the United States or any State thereof.  In addition,  notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Section 9.07, any SPC may (i) with notice to, but without the prior written consent of, the Borrower and the Agent and without
paying any processing fee therefore, assign all or a portion of its interests in the Loan to the granting Lender or to any financial institutions (consented to by the Borrower
and Agent) providing liquidity and/or credit support to or for the account of such SPC to support the funding or maintenance of Loans and (ii) disclose on a confidential
basis  any  non-public  information  relating  to  its  Loans  to  any  rating  Agency,  commercial  paper  dealer  or  provider  of  any  surety,  guarantee  or  credit  or  liquidity
enhancement to such SPC. This Section 9.07 may not be amended without the written consent of each SPC that holds any Loans at the time of the proposed amendment.

(h) Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, the Borrower shall not have the right to assign its rights hereunder or any interest
herein without the prior written consent of each Lender and the Agent.

Section 9.08 governing Law. This Agreement and the Notes and any claims, controversy, dispute or cause of action (whether in contract or tort or
otherwise) shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, provided, however that (a) the interpretation of the definition of
“Company Material Adverse Effect” (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) (and whether or not a Company Material Adverse Effect has occurred or would reasonably
be  expected  to  occur),  (b)  the  determination  of  any  Acquisition  Agreement  representations  and  whether  as  a  result  of  any  inaccuracy  of  any  Acquisition  Agreement
representation there has been a failure of a condition precedent to the Borrower’s (or its Affiliates’) obligation to consummate the Acquisition or such failure gives the
Borrower  the  right  to  terminate  its  (or  its  Affiliates’)  obligations  under  the  Acquisition  Agreement;  and  (c)  the  determination  of  whether  the  Acquisition  has  been
consummated in accordance with the terms of the Acquisition Agreement shall,  in each case,  be governed by,  and construed and interpreted in accordance with,  the
internal  laws and judicial  decisions  of  the State  of  Delaware applicable  to agreements  executed and performed entirely  within  such state  without  giving  effect  to any
choice or conflict of laws provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of laws of any jurisdiction other
than the State of Delaware.
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Section 9.09 Counterparts; Integration; Electronic Execution. (a) This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in
different  counterparts),  each  of  which  shall  constitute  an  original,  but  all  of  which  when  taken  together  shall  constitute  a  single  contract.  This  Agreement  and  any
separate  letter  agreements  with  respect  to  fees  payable  to  the  Agent  constitute  the  entire  contract  among  the  parties  relating  to  the  subject  matter  hereof  and
supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature
page of this Agreement or any document or instrument delivered in connection herewith by telecopy or other electronic means, including by email with a .pdf or .tif copy
thereof attached, shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Agreement or such other document or instrument, as applicable.

(b) The  words  “execution,”  “signed,”  “signature,”  and  words  of  like  import  in  any  Assignment  and  Acceptance  shall  be  deemed  to
include electronic signatures or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed
signature or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic
Signatures  in  global  and  National  Commerce  Act,  the  New  York  State  Electronic  Signatures  and  records  Act,  or  any  other  similar  state  laws  based  on  the  Uniform
Electronic Transactions Act; provided that notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary none of the Agent or any Lender is under any obligation to agree to
accept  electronic  signatures  in  any  form  or  in  any  format  unless  expressly  agreed  to  by  the  Agent  or  such  Lender  pursuant  to  procedures  approved  by  it; provided,
further, that without limiting the foregoing, upon the request of any party, any electronic signature shall be promptly followed by such manually executed counterpart.

Section 9.10 Jurisdiction, Etc. (a) The Borrower irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of
the courts of the State of New York sitting in New York City in the Borough of Manhattan and of the United States District Court sitting in New York City in the Borough of
Manhattan, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or for recognition or enforcement of any
judgment, and each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined
in such New York State court or, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, in such Federal court. ThE BOrrOwEr IrrEVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY AgrEES
ThAT IT wILL NOT COMMENCE ANY ACTION, LITIgATION Or PrOCEEDINg OF ANY kIND Or DESCrIPTION, whEThEr IN LAw Or EQUITY, whEThEr IN CONTrACT Or IN
TOrT Or OThErwISE, AgAINST ThE AgENT, ANY LENDEr, Or ANY rELATED PArTY OF ThE FOrEgOINg IN ANY wAY rELATINg TO ThIS AgrEEMENT Or ThE NOTES Or
ThE TrANSACTIONS rELATINg hErETO, IN ANY FOrUM OThEr ThAN ThE UNITED STATES DISTrICT COUrT FOr ThE SOUThErN DISTrICT OF NEw YOrk SITTINg IN ThE
BOrOUgh OF MANhATTAN (Or IF SUCh COUrT LACkS SUBJECT MATTEr JUrISDICTION, ThE SUPrEME COUrT OF ThE STATE OF NEw YOrk SITTINg IN ThE BOrOUgh
OF MANhATTAN) AND ANY APPELLATE COUrT FrOM ANY ThErEOF. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be
conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement or the Notes or in any
shall affect any right that the Agent or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Notes against the Borrower or
its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.

(b) The Borrower irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which it may
now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the Notes in any court referred to in paragraph (a)
of this Section 9.10. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the
maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.
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(c) Each  party  hereto  irrevocably  consents  to  service  of  process  in  the  manner  provided  for  notices  in Section 9.02.  Nothing  in  this
Agreement will affect the right of any party hereto to serve process in any other manner permitted by applicable law.

Section 9.11 waiver of Jury Trial.  EACh PArTY hErETO hErEBY IrrEVOCABLY wAIVES, TO ThE FULLEST EXTENT PErMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAw,
ANY rIghT IT MAY hAVE TO A TrIAL BY JUrY IN ANY LEgAL PrOCEEDINg DIrECTLY Or INDIrECTLY ArISINg OUT OF Or rELATINg TO ThIS AgrEEMENT Or ThE NOTES
Or ThE TrANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED hErEBY Or ThErEBY (whEThEr BASED ON CONTrACT, TOrT Or ANY OThEr ThEOrY). EACh PArTY hErETO (A) CErTIFIES ThAT
NO rEPrESENTATIVE, AgENT Or ATTOrNEY OF ANY OThEr PErSON hAS rEPrESENTED, EXPrESSLY Or OThErwISE, ThAT SUCh OThEr PErSON wOULD NOT, IN ThE
EVENT OF LITIgATION, SEEk TO ENFOrCE ThE FOrEgOINg wAIVEr AND (B) ACkNOwLEDgES ThAT IT AND ThE OThEr PArTIES hErETO hAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTEr
INTO ThIS AgrEEMENT AND ThE NOTES BY, AMONg OThEr ThINgS, ThE MUTUAL wAIVErS AND CErTIFICATIONS IN ThIS SECTION.

Section 9.12 Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except
that Information may be disclosed (a) to it, its Affiliates’ and their respective partners, directors, officers, employees, advisors and representatives (it being understood
that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential),
(b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority (including any self-regulatory authority, such as the National Association of Insurance Commissioners), (c) to the
extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party hereto, (e) in connection with the exercise of any
remedies hereunder or under the Notes or any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Notes or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f)
subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section 9.12, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of
or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement or (ii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction
or to any credit insurance provider relating to the Borrower and its obligations, (g) with the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed) or (h) to the extent such Information (x) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section 9.12 or (y) becomes available to the Agent
or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Borrower.

For purposes of this Section 9.12, “Information” means all information received from (or on behalf of) the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries
relating to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective businesses, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a
nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower, provided that, in the case of information received from the Borrower after the date hereof, such information is
clearly  identified  at  the  time  of  delivery  as  confidential.  Any  Person  required  to  maintain  the  confidentiality  of  Information  as  provided  in  this Section 9.12 shall  be
considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such
Person would accord to its own confidential information.

Section 9.13 Patriot Act Notice. Each Lender and the Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to
the requirements of the Patriot Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address
of the Borrower and other information that will allow such Lender or the Agent, as applicable, to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Patriot Act. The Borrower
shall provide, to the extent commercially reasonable, such information and take such actions as are reasonably requested by the Agent or any Lenders in order to assist
the Agent and the Lenders in maintaining compliance with the Patriot Act.
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Section 9.14 Interest  rate  Limitation.   Notwithstanding  anything  herein  to  the  contrary,  if  at  any  time  the  interest  rate  applicable  to  any Loan,
together  with all  fees,  charges  and other  amounts  that  are treated as  interest  on such Loan under applicable law (collectively,  “charges”),  shall  exceed the maximum
lawful rate (the “Maximum rate”) that may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender holding such Loan in accordance with applicable law,
the rate of interest payable in respect of such Loan hereunder, together with all charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum rate.  To the extent
lawful, the interest and charges that would have been paid in respect of such Loan but were not paid as a result of the operation of this Section shall be cumulated and
the  interest  and charges  payable  to  such  Lender  in  respect  of  other Loans or  periods  shall  be  increased  (but  not  above  the  amount  collectible  at  the  Maximum rate
therefor)  until  such  cumulated  amount,  together  with  interest  thereon  at  the  Federal  Funds  Effective  rate  for  each  day  to  the  date  of  repayment,  shall  have  been
received by such Lender.  Any amount collected by such Lender that exceeds the maximum amount collectible at the Maximum rate shall be applied to the reduction of
the principal  balance of  such Loan or  refunded to  the  Borrower so  that  at  no time shall  the  interest  and charges  paid  or  payable  in  respect  of  such Loan exceed the
maximum amount collectible at the Maximum rate.

Section 9.15 Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions, Etc.  

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, each Note or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding
among any such parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any Affected Financial Institution arising under this Agreement or any Note, to the extent
such  liability  is  unsecured,  may  be  subject  to  the  write-down  and  conversion  powers  of  the  applicable  resolution  Authority  and  agrees  and  consents  to,  and
acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:

(i) the application of any write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable resolution Authority to any such liabilities
arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution; and

(ii) the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:

(iii) a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(iv) a  conversion  of  all,  or  a  portion  of,  such  liability  into  shares  or  other  instruments  of  ownership  in  such  Affected
Financial Institution, its parent undertaking,  or a bridge institution that may be issued to it  or otherwise conferred on it,  and that such shares or other instruments of
ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement or any Note; or

(v) the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the write-down and conversion powers of
the applicable resolution Authority.

(b) If  this  Agreement  is  or  becomes  a  “covered  contract”  (within  the  meaning  of  the  Financial  Institutions  (resolution)  (Contractual
recognition of Suspension of Termination rights - Banking Sector) rules (Cap, 628C) of hong kong (the “Stay rules”)), notwithstanding any other term or condition of this
Agreement, each of the parties hereto acknowledges that, to the extent applicable, it will be bound by a suspension of a “termination right” (within the meaning of the
Stay rules) in relation to this Agreement imposed by the hong kong Monetary Authority under section 90(2) of the Financial Institutions (resolution) Ordinance (Cap 628)
of hong kong.

 

 

[Signature pages follow]
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IN wITNESS whErEOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date
first above written.

  ORACLE CORPORATION
     
   By:  /s/  grEgOrY hILBrICh

 
 
 

 
Name: gregory hilbrich
Title: Executive Vice President, Taxation and Treasurer

 
 



 
 
  BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.,
    as Agent and a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  LAwrENCE ChAO

 
 
 

 
Name: Lawrence Chao
Title: Vice President

 
 



 
 

 BANCO SANTANDER, S.A., NEW YORK
BRANCH,

  as a Lender
   
  By:  /s/  PABLO UrgOITI

 
 

 
Name: Pablo Urgoiti
Title: Managing Director

      
  By:  /s/  ANDrES BArBOSA

 
 

 
Name: Andres Barbosa
Title: Managing Director

 
 



 
 
  BNP PARIBAS,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  BrENDAN hENEghAN

 
 
 

 
Name: Brendan heneghan
Title: Director

         
    By:  /s/  NICOLAS DOChE

 
 
 

 
Name: Nicolas Doche
Title: Vice President

 
 



 
 
  CREDIT AGRICOLE CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT BANK
     
     
   By:  /s/  rOSE MArY PErEz

 
 
 

 
Name: rose Mary Perez
Title: Managing Director

         
    By:  /s/  JAIME FrONTErA

 
 
 

 
Name: Jaime Frontera
Title: Managing Director

 
 



 
 
  CITIBANK, N.A.,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  SUSAN M. OLSEN

 
 
 

 
Name: Susan M. Olsen
Title: Vice President

 

 
 



 
 
  CITICORP NORTH AMERICA, INC.,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  SUSAN M. OLSEN

 
 
 

 
Name: Susan M. Olsen
Title: Vice President

 

 

 

 
 



 
 
  DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  MINg k. ChU

 
 
 

 
Name: Ming k. Chu
Title: Director

         
    By:  /s/  MArkO LUkIN

 
 
 

 
Name: Marko Lukin
Title: Vice President

 
 



 
 
  HSBC BANK USA, N.A.,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  ALEEM ShAMJI

 
 
 

 
Name: Aleem Shamji
Title: Managing Director

 

 

 
 



 
 
  ING Bank N.V., Dublin Branch
     
   By:  /s/  SEAN hASSETT

 
 
 

 
Name: Sean hassett
Title: Director

         
    By:  /s/  COrMAC LANgFOrD

 
 
 

 
Name: Cormac Langford
Title: Director

 
 



 
 
  JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  JOhN kOwALCzUk

 
 
 

 
Name: John kowalczuk
Title: Executive Director

 

 

 
 



 
 
  National Westminster Bank plc
     
   By:  /s/  JONAThAN EADY

 
 
 

 
Name: Jonathan Eady
Title: Director

 
 



 
 
  PNC Bank, National Association,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  SEAN PIPEr

 
 
 

 
Name: Sean Piper
Title: Vice President

 
 



 
 
  Standard Chartered Bank,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  krISTOPhEr TrACY

 
 
 

 
Name: kristopher Tracy
Title: Director – Financing Solutions

 
 



 
 
  SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  IrLEN MAk

 
 
 

 
Name: Irlen Mak
Title: Director

 
 



 
 
  TORONTO-DOMINION BANK, NEW YORK BRANCH,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  JINg YE

 
 
 

 
Name: Jing Ye
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
 



 
 
  THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  TAk ChENg

 
 
 

 
Name: Tak Cheng
Title: Vice President

 
 



 
 
  The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited,
    as a Lender
     
   By:  /s/  SArA DIAS

 
 
 

 
Name: Sara Dias
Title: Managing Director

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
  

Exhibit 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE AND FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Oracle Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based  on  my knowledge,  the  financial  statements,  and  other  financial  information  included  in  this  report,  fairly  present  in  all  material  respects  the  financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. I  am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))  and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that  material  information  relating  to  the  registrant,  including  its  consolidated  subsidiaries,  is  made  known  to  us  by  others  within  those  entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial  statements  for  external  purposes  in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 d) disclosed in this  report any change in the registrant’s internal  control over financial  reporting that occurred during the registrant’s  most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. I  have  disclosed,  based  on  our  most  recent  evaluation  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  to  the  registrant’s  auditors  and  the  Finance  and  Audit
Committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: March 11, 2022 By:   /s/  SAFrA A. CATz

      Safra A. Catz

     
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

      
 

 



 
Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE AND FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Oracle Corporation for the purpose of complying with rule
13a-14(b) or rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Safra A. Catz, the Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive and Financial Officer) of Oracle Corporation, certifies that, to the best of her knowledge:

1. the quarterly report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the quarterly report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Oracle Corporation.
 
Date: March 11, 2022 By:   /s/  SAFrA A. CATz

      Safra A. Catz

     
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive and Financial Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. It is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and it is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Oracle Corporation, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

 


